

Alkhalaf, Majid M. (2017) Nutrition and body composition as risk factors of non-communicable diseases in Saudi Arabia. PhD thesis.

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/8533/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given



Nutrition and body composition as risk factors of non-communicable diseases in Saudi Arabia

Majid M. Alkhalaf BSc, MSc

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy to

The University of Glasgow

February, 2017

From research conducted at the School of Medicine, Human Nutrition University of Glasgow Glasgow, Scotland

© M. Alkhalaf 2017

Dedication

"To my mother (Moneerah) who left me too early

Before she could see this happening"

Abstract

Background: Saudi Arabia is an affluent nation faced with steep population increase (~75% in just over 10 years) and a young population (63% aged under 30) in the context of globalized dietary habits and food supply leading to increase the trend of consumption junk food use. However, there are no national dietary surveys to give more accurate details. With existing high prevalence of obesity, it is foreseeable that Saudi Arabia (SA) will face a significant increase in the burden of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) in a short space of time. Reducing the behavioural and environmental risk factors associated with NCDs (physical activity, alcohol overuse, exposure to tobacco smoke, and low nutritionally balanced diet including high salt and energy intake and low intake of fruit and vegetables) requires cross-community sectors, including health, education, agriculture, and planning. Early detection and intervention also require reliable and cost effective tools. The relationship between chronic high salt intake and CVDs has already been established. This thesis examines the relationship between body composition and nutrition, and NCDs using techniques from the full breadth of Human Nutrition Research.

Methods: The first cross-sectional study focused on developing and validating a culturespecific FFQ for salt intake against 24-h urinary outputs and repeated 24-h dietary recall, to identify relationships between salt intake, socio-economic factors and blood pressure (BP); and explore dietary sources of salt intake.

In the second study, a secondary analysis of integrated data from five Saudi National Surveys assessed the performance of different anthropometric measures (body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), waist to hip ratio (WHR) and waist to height ratio (WHR)) and body composition indices (estimated skeletal muscle mass (SMM), the percentage of skeletal muscle mass to body weight (%SMM) and Skeletal Muscle Mass Index (SMI)) in predicting metabolic diseases. Saudi nationals only were included in the study. ROC analysis was used to explore the best predictor of metabolic diseases and develop new thresholds. To assess the agreement and misclassification of overweight and obesity using BMI and WC measurements, BMI in combination with WC measurements were used to classify participants as [High-Risk Adiposity by BMI and WC], [High-Risk Adiposity by BMI only], and [High Risk Adiposity by WC only] based on the action levels. Each anthropometric and muscle mass indices were categorised to deciles. Additionally calculated were age-adjusted odds ratios by applying logistic

regression models of the different metabolic risk factors in case of an increase of one decile of the respective anthropometric and estimated SMM parameter.

In the third study, a cross-sectional survey was developed using the Theory of Planned Behaviour to provide a holistic understanding of factors that may influence food choices and behaviours, and in particular, intentions of adopting a nutritionally-balanced diet. External variables including age, gender, socio-economic status, and being aware of health and nutrition policies and others were included into the model as they were potentially related to TPB constructs. Attitude toward behaviour, subjective norms, perceived behavioural control and knowledge as actual barriers to behaviour were assessed.

Results: In the first study, the newly developed Saudi FFQ was found to be of moderate validity in ranking people based on their estimated salt intake, and performed as well as other salt FFQ developed for other nations. The Riyadh population used in this survey consumed 8.7 g salt per day (estimate), higher than the recommended level of salt (>5 g/d for salt). A minority (18%) met the recommended level. The main sources of salt were, surprisingly, vegetables and un-processed foods, and a positive relationship between income and salt intake was observed. Meanwhile, salt intake, defined by FFQ, was associated with systolic BP only (R=0.089, p=0.036), an association which disappeared when adjusted for age, WC and gender.

The second study highlighted that a majority of Saudi adults could be categorized as overweight or obese (72%). Worryingly, short of half of those with a normal BMI (18.5–25) aged over 45 also had a large waist. Combining WC and BMI did not improve their value as predictors of metabolic diseases and WC was the best overall predictor of metabolic diseases while BMI was the poorest. This study suggests new cut-off points for WC in SA, in a context of metabolic diseases, ranging between 90 to 92 cm (women) and 94 to 99 cm (men). The newly developed WC cut-offs are higher than the cut-offs for Asian men and women (90 and 80 cm, respectively). The new WC cut-off for women is higher than the cut-off for Caucasian women (88 cm); and the WC cut-off for men is lower than the cut-offs for Caucasian men (102 cm).

The obesity prevalence based on BMI and WC also increased proportionately with both SMM (kg) and SMI (kg/m²) increase while the obesity decreased proportionately with %SMM increase. SMI was a poor predictor of metabolic diseases while %SMM was the best, having the highest AUC levels. New (defined) cut-off points for %SMM for

metabolic diseases were defined, ranging from 29 to 32% for men and 26 to 28% for women.

The third study highlighted that very few SA adults have been exposed to national nutrition and health guidelines (18%). Awareness of these was the strongest predictor of attitude toward behaviour, social norms and knowledge of nutritionally-balanced diet whilst perceived social pressure to engage in behaviour toward a more nutritionally balanced diet (SN) was the strongest predictor of subjects' intention.

Conclusion: Study 1 added a new and unexpected source of salt intake including vegetables and unprocessed foods. These findings raise a concern regarding the encouragement to increase intake of vegetables without including advice regarding cooking advice, in light of the risk of higher salt intake in SA. It would be worthwhile to consider education strategies towards the use of alternative ingredients or dressings in salad and cooked vegetables.

Study 2 added an evidence about the weakness of BMI and SMI in predicting metabolic diseases and misclassifying the population. The study suggests using WC and %SMM as alternative measures and adopting the newly developed cut-offs.

Study 3 sheds the light on possible avenues for policies, health promotions and nutrition interventions to focus on Saudi adults, in order motivate the population to adopt nutritionally balanced diet by increasing population knowledge and awareness.

Table of contents

DEDICATION	II
ABSTRACT	III
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VI
LIST OF TABLES	XI
LIST OF FIGURES	XVII
	····· A V II
PUBLICATIONS	AA
ABBREVIATIONS	XXI
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	XXII
AUTHOR'S DECLARATION	XXIII
CHAPTER ONE	0
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	0
1.1 INTRODUCTION	
1.2 OBESITY AND OVERWEIGHT	5
1.2.1 AETIOLOGY OF OBESITY AND OVERWEIGHT	
1.2.2.1 Worldwide	
1.2.2.2 In Saudi Arabia (SA)	
1.2.3 METABOLIC FEATURES OF OBESITY	
1.2.3.1 Insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)	
1.2.3.2 Elevated blood pressure hypertension	
1.3 BODY COMPOSITION MEASUREMENT INSTRUMENTS (ADIPOSITY AND	MUSCLE
MASS ASSESSMENT TOOLS)	
1.2.1 IMACING SCANNING AND IMPEDANCE ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES	24
1.3.1 IMAGING, SCANNING AND IMPEDANCE ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES	
1 3 1 2 Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA)	25
1.3.1.3 Body impedance analysis (BIA)	
1.3.2 ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES	
1.3.2.1 Body mass index (BMI)	
1.3.2.2 Waist Circumference (WC)	
1.3.2.3 Waist to hip ratio (WHR)	
1.3.2.4 Waist to height ratio (WHtR)	
1.3.3 DERIVED EQUATIONS	38
1.3.3.1 Percentage of Body fat (%BF) and Total Adipose Tissue Mass (TATM)	
1.3.3.2 Skeletal Muscle mass (SMM)	40
1.4 NUTRITIONAL PREVENTION AND MANAGEMENT OF NCDS	46
1.4.1 THE ROLE OF DIETARY MODIFICATION IN PROTECTING AGAINST NCDS	47
1.4.1.1 Salt reduction	47
1.4.2 FACTORS INFLUENCING FOOD CHOICES, BEHAVIOR AND NUTRITION	
1.4.2.1 Social and psychosocial determinants	
1.4.2.2 Nutrition and health guidelines in SA	
1.5 ASSESSING DIETARY INTAKE	51
1.5.1 24-hours diet recall	
1.5.2 DIETARY RECORDS	52
1.5.3 FOOD FREQUENCY QUESTIONNAIRE (FFQ)	53
CHAPTER TWO	57
GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 OVERVIEW	58

2.2	DIETARY SALT INTAKE STUDY	. 60
2	2.1 The study rationale	60
2	2.2 Study design and sampling	. 60
2	2.3 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	. 62
2	2.4 DATA COLLECTION	. 62
2.3	BODY COMPOSITION STUDY	. 64
2	3.1 STUDY RATIONALE	. 64
2	3.2 STUDY DESIGN AND SAMPLING	. 03
2	3.4 DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS	. 66
2.4	KNOWLEDGE AND PERCEPTIONS STUDY	. 67
2	4.1 The study rationale	67
2	4.2 Study design and sampling	. 68
2	4.3 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	. 68
2	1.4 DATA COLLECTION	. 68
2.5	GENERAL STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	. 69
CHA	PTER THREE	. 70
VAI	IDATION OF A FOOD FREQUENCY QUESTIONNAIRE SPECIFIC FOR SALT INTAKI	Ε
IN S	AUDI ARABIAN ADULTS, AGAINST URINARY BIOMARKER AND MULTIPLE PASS 2	24-
HO	R DIETARY RECALLS	. 70
3.1	INTRODUCTION	. 71
3.2	METHODOLOGY AND MATERIALS	. 75
3	2.1 POPULATION	. 75
3	2.2 DATA COLLECTION	. 76
3	2.2.1 SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHICS AND BLOOD PRESSURE	76
3	2.2.2 DIETARY DATA	. /6
	3.2.2.2.1 Suudi Food Frequency Questionnaire	. //
	3.2.2.2.3 Dietary data analysis	. 79
	3.2.2.2.4 The FFQ pre-testing	. 80
3	2.2.3 URINE COLLECTION (24 HOURS)	. 80
3	2.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	. 81
3.3	RESULTS	. 83
3	3.1.1 Study participants	. 83
3	3.1.2 ESTIMATED SALT INTAKE	. 86
3	3.1.3 RELATIVE VALIDITY OF FFQ	. 87
3	3.1.4 RELATIVE RELIABILITY OF FFQ	. 90
3.4	DISCUSSION	. 93
3	4.1.1 Reliability	94
3	4.1.2 STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS	. 99
3.5	CONCLUSION	101
CHA	PTER FOUR	103
SAL	F INTAKE AND HYPERTENSION IN RIYADH CITY	103
4.1	INTRODUCTION	104
4.2	METHODOLOGY AND MATERIALS	105
4	2.1 POPULATION	105
4	2.2 DATA COLLECTION	105
4	2.2.1 SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHICS	105
4	2.2.2 BLOOD PRESSURE	106
4 ⊿	2.2.5 DIETARY DATA	106
т Д 2	RESULTS	107
-1. J		101

4	4.3.1.1	STUDY PARTICIPANTS	. 107
4	4.3.1.2	ESTIMATED SALT INTAKE	. 109
4	4.3.1.3	SALT INTAKE PATTERNS	. 109
	4.3.1.3	5.1 Salt intake and current health recommendations	. 110
	4.3.1.3 4314	Socio-fconomic factors and salt intake	112
	4.3.1.5	ESTIMATED AND MEASURED DAILY SALT INTAKE AND BLOOD PRESSURE (WITHOUT ANTI-	. 112
]	HYPERTEN	VSIVE MEDICATION)	. 112
44	DISCI	USSION	114
			114
4	4.4.1.1	SALT INTAKE LEVELS AND PATTERNS	. 114
· · · ·	4.4.1.2 4 / 1 /	SALT INTAKE AND DLOOD DESSUDE	. 113
	4.4.1.4	SALT INTAKE AND BLOOD PRESSURE	. 117
			. 110
4.5	CONC	LUSION	. 119
CH	IAPTER	FIVE	. 120
BO BO	DY CON	APOSITION ASSESSMENTS FROM SURVEYS IN SAUDI ARABIA: RELIABILI E DISTRIBUTIONS AND AGE	ГY, . 120
51	INTD		101
5.1	INTR		.121
5.2	METH	HODOLOGY AND MATERIALS	. 122
	5.2.1 \$	SURVEYS AND POPULATIONS	. 122
	5.2.2 I	DATA COLLECTION	. 123
	5.2.2.1	Anthropometric measures and body composition estimations	. 123
	5.2.2.2	Anthropometric measures classifications	. 123
	5.2.2.3	Body composition estimations	. 124
	5.2.2.4	Statistical analysis	. 120
5.3	RESU	LTS	. 127
	5.3.1 \$	SURVEY CHARACTERISTICS	. 127
	5.3.2 \$	SUBJECT CHARACTERISTICS (POOLED DATA)	. 129
	5.3.2.1	Simple anthropometric measures	. 129
	5.3.2.2	Estimated skeletal muscle mass (SMM)	. 129
	5.3.2.3	Estimated body fat (BF) and adipose tissue mass (ATM)	. 130
-	5.3.3 I	IMPACT OF AGEING ON BODY COMPOSITION	. 131
	5337	Simple anthropometric measures	. 131
	5333	Estimated body fat percentage (BF) and total adjnose tissue mass (TATM)	. 132
	534	ADIPOSITY PREVALENCE	136
	5.3.4.1	Misclassification and agreement between different body composition measurements.	. 139
1	5.3.5 N	MUSCLE MASS INDICES (SMM) AND OBESITY RELATED INDICES	. 142
5.4	DISCI	USSION	. 146
	5/1	MURCLE MARS INDICES (SMM) AND ODERITY DELATED INDICES	1/18
	54.1 1	VIOSELE MASS INDICES (SIMIN) AND OBESITT KELATED INDICES	1/10
	543 (ONCLUSION	150
CT.			. 150
CH	IAPTER	51X	. 151
MU	JSCLE N	IASS AND NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES IN SAUDI ARABIA	. 151
6.1	INTR	ODUCTION	. 152
6.2	METH	HODOLOGY AND MATERIALS	. 152
	6.2.1 I	POPULATION AND SURVEYS	. 152
	6.3 DA	TA COLLECTION	. 153
	6.3.1	Anthropometric and body composition measures estimations	. 153
	6.3.2	Biochemical and blood pressure measurements	. 153
	0. <i>3</i> .3	Biocnemical and blood pressure classifications	. 153
	0.3.4 6 / Dre	Statistical analysis	. 154
	6A1	Prevalence of metabolic diseases	. 134
	0.7.1	1 reviewe of memorie discuses	. 155

	6.4.2	Muscle mass indices and metabolic risks – risk factors prediction (blood pressure; blood	!
	profile) 6.4.3	Prediction of the body composition-related metabolic risks as categorical variables	
	(deciles) 163	
	6.4.4 6.4.5	Prediction trends of metabolic risks among the deciles of muscle mass measures Best predictors and optimal cut-points for different muscle mass indices in relation to	167
	metabol	ic diseases using ROC curve	171
6	5.5 DISC	USSION	175
	6.5.1	Strength and limitation	177
e	0.6 CON	CLUSION	1/8
СН	APTER S	EVEN	180
AN AN	THROPO D PREDI	METRIC MEASUREMENTS IN SAUDI ARABIA: OPTIMAL CUT-OFF VALUE CTION OF METABOLIC DISEASES	5 180
7.1	INTRO	DUCTION	181
7.2	METH	ODOLOGY AND MATERIALS	182
-	122 Pa	YPHI ATION AND SURVEYS	182
7	.2.2 D	ATA COLLECTION	182
	7.2.3.1	Anthropometric and body composition measures estimations	182
	7.2.3.2	Biochemical and blood pressure measurements	183
	7.2.3.3	Statistical analysis	183
7.3	RESUL	TS	183
7	7.3.2 A	SSOCIATION BETWEEN ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES USING CONVENTIONAL CUT-OFF POINT	S
Ā	AND METAI	BOLIC DISEASES	184
	[£] All var	iables were adjusted for age	190
7	7.3.3 Ph	REDICTION OF THE BODY COMPOSITION-RELATED METABOLIC RISKS AS CATEGORICAL	
۷	ARIABLES	(DECILES)	191
7	7.3.4 Ph	REDICTION TRENDS OF METABOLIC RISKS AMONG THE DECILES OF ANTHROPOMETRIC AND	
E	BODY COM	POSITION MEASURES	193
7	7.3.5 D	EFINING SAUDI SPECIFIC CUT-OFF POINTS FOR BMI , WC , and waist to hip / height ratio	IN
F	RELATION 7	TO ESTIMATED METABOLIC RISK	199
7.4	DISCU	SSION	204
	7.4.2	Combining WC and BMI to predict disease risk	204
	7.4.3	Best predictors of metabolic diseases among anthropometric measures using a greater a	rea
	under th	e curve (AUC)	205
	7.4.4 7.2.2	<i>Optimal cut-points for anthropometric measures to predict metabolic diseases</i> <i>Trends of prediction of metabolic diseases by anthropometric and body composition</i>	206
	measure	25	209
_	7.2.3	Strength and limitation	210
7	7.3 CONO	CLUSION	210
СН	APTER E	IGHT	211
KN	OWLED	GE AND PERCEPTIONS OF SAUDI ADULTS TOWARDS FOOD AND HEALTH	211
8	8.1 INTR	ODUCTION	212
8.2	METH	ODOLOGY AND MATERIALS	213
8	8.2.1 Po	DPULATION	213
8	3.2.2 D	EMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	214
8	3.2.3 FA	ACTORS INFLUENCING FOOD CHOICE, AND THE THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOUR (TPB)	214
8	3.2.4 Q	UESTIONNAIRE PRE-TESTING	216
5	s.2.5 PC 21	OPULATION AWARENESS OF NUTRITION AND HEALTH GUIDELINES AND ITS RELATED FACTOR	S
8	3.2.6 PH	ERCEIVED USUAL DIET, DIETARY SUPPLEMENTS USE, HEALTH, PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, SMOKING	3
S	STATUS, AN	ID ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASUREMENTS	217
8	3.2.7 ST	ATISTICAL ANALYSIS	217
8.3	RESUL	TS	218
	8.3.1.1	Socio-demographic	218
	8.3.1.2	Usual diet, dietary supplements, health, physical activity and smoking status	219

8	.3.2	INFLUENCING FACTORS IN THE THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOUR (TPB) CONSTRUCT	220
	8.3.2.	1 Internal consistency of TPB components	220
	8.3.2.	2 Impact of external determinants on the TPB constructs	225
	8.3.2	3 Impact of the TPB constructs on intention	228
	8.3.2.4	4 Population awareness of nutrition and health guidelines and related factors	229
8.4	DISC	USSION	229
3	.3.1	TPB MODEL AND INTENTION TOWARDS ADOPTING A NUTRITIONALLY BALANCED DIET	230
8	.4.1	AWARENESS, KNOWLEDGE AND INTENTION TOWARDS NUTRITIONALLY BALANCED DIET	231
8	.4.2	STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS	233
8.5	CON	CLUSION	234
СН	APTER	NINE	236
GE	NERAL	DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS FOR STAKEHOLDERS	236
9	.1 RE	SEARCH OUESTIONS	237
9	.2 Ім	PLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH	244
9	.2.1	SALT INTAKE	244
9	.2.2	BODY COMPOSITION	244
9	.2.3	AWARENESS AND KNOWLEDGE	245
9	.3 Fu	TURE RESEARCH	245
9	.3.1	SALT INTAKE	246
9	.3.2	BODY COMPOSITION	247
9	.3.3	AWARENESS AND KNOWLEDGE	247
LIS	T OF R	EFERENCES	249
API	PENDI	CES:	279
A	APPENDI	x1: Ethical Approval	279
A	APPENDI	x2: Consent Form	281
A	APPENDI	x3: Saudi-FFQ	282
A	APPENDI	x4: 24- HOURS URINE COLLECTION RECORD	292
A	APPENDI	x5: Estimation of mis-reporters of Actual Energy Intake (AEI):	293
	Mis-re	eporting results of Actual Energy Intake (AEI):	294

List of tables

Table 1.1-1: Prevalence (%) of NCDs risk factors in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, by
sex
Table 1.2-1: Obesity prevalence in Saudi Arabian men and women (whole country) from
1985 to 2013
Table 1.2-2: Obesity prevalence in Saudi Arabian men and women in Riyadh region from
1985 to 20139
Table 1.2-3: Evidence table of T2DM prevalences in Saudi Arabian men and women in
Riyadh region from 1989 to 2013
Table 1.2-4: The WHO/ISH blood pressure classification. 13
Table 1.2-5: Hypertension prevalences in Saudi Arabian men and women in Riyadh
region from 1985 to 201322
Table 1.3-1: Body mass index and waist circumference cut-offs for health promotion and
risk classification (Lean, Han et al. 1995; NIH 2001; Lean and Han 2002; WHO 2008).
Table 1.3-2: Body composition classifications 32
Table 1.3-3: Diagnostic performance of body mass index (BMI) in predicting health
morbidities using optimal BMI cut-off values as defined by authors, based on the shortest
distance in ROC curves in Arab adults
Table 1.3-4: Diagnostic performance of waist circumference (WC) in predicting health
morbidities using optimal WC cut-off values based on the shortest distance in ROC
curves in Arab adults
Table 1.3-5: Diagnostic performance of waist to hip ratio (WHR) in predicting health
morbidities using optimal WHR cut-off values based on the shortest distance in ROC
curves in Arab adults
Table 1.3-6: Diagnostic performance of waist to height ratio (WHtR) in predicting health
morbidities using optimal WHtR cut-off values based on the shortest distance in ROC
curves in Arab adults
Table 1.3-7: Body Fat percentage (%BF) classifications
Table 1.3-8: Skeletal Muscle Mass Cut-offs (kg/m ²) based on gender and ethnic groups.
Table 1.3-9: Evidence table for association between diabetes status and hypertension, and
low muscle mass defined by various indices (SMI (kg/m ²), SMM (kg) and %SMM)45
Table 1.4-1: Recommendations for reduction of salt (sodium) Intake for general
population47

Table 1.5-1: Comparison of validation results of FFQ against 24h dietary recall (MP24-
HR), food records (FR), and 24h urinary excretion (UE) to assess salt (sodium) intake .55
Table 2.2-1: Variables assessed within the study
Table 3.2-1: Food categories and items in the Food Frequency Questionnaire
Table 3.2-2: Pre-Testing Comments and suggestions
Table 3.3-1: Characteristics of study participants (n=581)
Table 3.3-2: Comparison of medians (IQR) of intake and urinary excretions of energy,
macro- and micronutrients obtained from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581), repeated MP-24-Hour
Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (n=206) and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) among
Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia86
Table 3.3-3: Comparison of medians (IQR) of sodium from the 24-hour urinary
excretions (n=71) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia
Table 3.3-4: Spearman's correlation (95% CI) between salt (Na) obtained from the Saudi-
FFQ (n=581), repeated multiple pass 24-Hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (n=206) and
24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia
Table 3.3-5: Spearman's correlation coefficient (95% bootstrap CI) between salt (Na)
obtained from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581), repeated multiple pass 24-Hour Dietary Recalls
(24-HDRs) (n=206) and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) among Riyadh city adults,
Saudi Arabia
Table 3.3-6: Tertile salt intake classification comparing the Saudi-FFQ with 24-hour
urinary excretions (n=48) and the Saudi-FFQ with repeated 24-Hour Dietary Recalls (24-
HDR) (n=202) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia92
Table 3.3-7: Tertile salt intake from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581), repeated MP-24-Hour
Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (n=206), and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) among
Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia92
Table 3.3-8: The prevalence of subjects with high salt intake (g/day) from the Saudi-FFQ
(n=581), repeated multiple pass 24-hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (202), and 24-hour
urinary excretions (n=48) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia
Table 3.4-1: Comparison of validation results of FFQ against 24 H dietary recall (24-
HDR), food records (FR), and 24-H urinary excretion (UE) to assess salt (sodium) intake.
Table 4.3-1: Characteristics of study participants (n=581)108
Table 4.3-2: Socio-demographic scores of Riyadh study participants (n=579) who
completed the first and second interviews

Table 4.3-3: Patterns of table salt use and salt amount in each component of salt use from
the Saudi-FFQ (n=581) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia
Table 4.3-4: Sources of salt (g salt/day) intake based on Saudi-FFQ among Saudi adults
in Riyadh city, Saudi Arabia (n=581)111
Table 4.3-5: Salt intake (g/day) from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581) among socioeconomic
groups in Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia (n=581)112
Table 4.3-6: Systolic and diastolic blood pressure associated with the increase of
estimated salt intake (g salt/day) using Saudi-FFQ (n=581) among Saudi adults living in
Riyadh city using multiple regression analysis113
Table 5.2-1: Body composition classifications 124
Table 5.3-1: Comparison of five health surveys in Saudi Arabia in 10 years period (2004-
2014)
Table 5.3-2: Measured and estimated body composition characteristics
Table 5.3-3: Association between tertiles of age and measured and estimated body
composition among Saudi adults (n=23,968)
Table 5.3-4: Anthropometric and body composition factors associated with age (years)
increase among Saudi adults using linear regression analysis
Table 5.3-5: Proportion of adult Saudi women and men with unhealthily elevated WC
categories among those with normal-BMI (BMI 18.5–25 kg/m ²) (n=5,410)141
Table 5.3-6: Partial correlation coefficients, controlled for age, between skeletal muscle
mass indices and body composition
Table 5.3-7: Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for obesity prevalence using BMI
and WC conventional cut-off points according to increasing deciles of each SMM
parameter
Table 6.2-1: Blood profile characteristics of the study participants (n=23,968)157
Table 6.2-2: Prevalence metabolic risks among Saudi adult men and women (n=23,968).
Table 6.2-3: Body composition factors associated with HbA1c (mmol/l) increase among
Saudi adults using multiple linear regression
Table 6.2-4: Body composition factors associated with SBP (mmHg) increase among
Saudi adults using normal linear regression160
Table 6.2-5: Body composition factors associated with DBP (mmHg) increase among
Saudi adults using normal linear regression161
Table 6.2-6: Body composition factors associated with cholesterol (mmol/l) increase
among Saudi adults using normal linear regression161

Table 6.2-7: Body composition factors associated with HDL-cholesterol (mmol/l)
increase among Saudi adults using normal linear regression162
Table 6.2-8: Body composition factors associated with TGA (mmol/l) increase among
Saudi adults using normal linear regression162
Table 6.2-9: Odds ratios (95% CI) for development of metabolic diseases (hypertension,
T2DM, and dyslipidemia) according to increasing deciles of each anthropometric and
body composition parameters (age-adjusted)164
Table 6.2-10: Odds ratios (95% CI) for development of metabolic diseases (any
morbidity or more) according to increasing deciles of each anthropometric and body
composition parameters (age-adjusted)166
Table 6.2-11: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing %SMM in Saudi
women, based on regression (adjusted for age)169
Table 6.2-12: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing %SMM in Saudi
men, based on regression (adjusted for age)
Table 6.2-13: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing SMI (kg/m^2) in
Saudi women, based on regression (adjusted for age)
Table 6.2-14: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing SMI (kg/m^2) in
Saudi men, based on regression (adjusted for age)170
Table 6.2-15: Diagnostic performance of skeletal muscle mass (SMM) measures in
predicting co-morbidity* (hypertension, T2DM, dyslipidemia, any morbidity, any 2 co-
morbidities and any 3 co-morbidities) using optimal SMM cut-off values based on the
shortest distance in ROC curves in Saudi adults ^{\$}
Table 7.3-1: Anthropometric factors associated with metabolic risks among Saudi adults
using logistic regression (n=23,968)186
Table 7.3-2: Odds ratios (and 95% CIs) for metabolic risks (normal weight, overweight,
and obese adults) after multinomial regression with BMI and WC187
Table 7.3-3: Anthropometric factors associated with metabolic risks among Saudi adults
using logistic regression (n=23,968) (model: 0=Normal BMI, 1=Overweight and
2=Obese, and 0=Normal WC, 1=Risk1 WC and 2=Risk2 WC)189
Table 7.3-4: Odds ratios (and 95% CIs) for metabolic risks (normal weight, overweight,
and obese adults) after combination of BMI and WC (categorical)190
Table 7.3-5: Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for development of metabolic
diseases (any morbidity or more) according to increasing deciles of each anthropometric
and body composition parameters (age-adjusted)

Table 7.3-6: Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for development of metabolic
diseases (any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities and any 3 co-morbidities) according to
increasing deciles of combined WC and BMI (age-adjusted)192
Table 7.3-7: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WC in Saudi women,
based on regression (adjusted for age)
Table 7.3-8: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WC in Saudi men,
based on regression (adjusted for age)194
Table 7.3-9: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing BMI in Saudi women,
based on regression (adjusted for age)195
Table 7.3-10: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing BMI in Saudi men,
based on regression (adjusted for age)195
Table 7.3-11: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WHR in Saudi
women, based on regression (adjusted for age)197
Table 7.3-12: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WHR in Saudi men,
based on regression (adjusted for age)197
Table 7.3-13: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WHtR in Saudi
women, based on regression (adjusted for age)198
Table 7.3-14: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WHtR in Saudi men,
based on regression (adjusted for age)198
Table 7.3-15: Diagnostic performance of anthropometric measures in predicting co-
morbidity* (hypertension, T2DM, dyslipidemia, any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities and
any 3 co-morbidities) using optimal anthropometric cut-off values based on the shortest
distance in ROC curves in Saudi adults (n=23,968). ^{\$} 201
Table 7.4-1: Comparisons between obesity indices cut off points from cross-sectional
studies in selected local, regional and Arab countries and the suggested cut-off points
obtained in this study
Table 8.3-1: Socio-demographic characteristics of the study participants (n=1045)219
Table 8.3-2: The main TPB constructs and Cronbach α for internal consistency (n=1045).
Table 8.3-3: The percentage of correct answers in knowledge items among the study
population (n=1045)
Table 8.3-4: Questions covered in the main TPB constructs, mean scores and standard
deviations (sd), and Cronbach's α (n=1045)222
Table 8.3-5: Median and Interquartile range (IQR) for each construct for the study
sample by gender (n=1045)225

Table 8.3-6: Multiple regression analyses of external factors onto TPB components
(n=1042)
Table 8.3-7: Multiple regression analyses of TPB components onto intentions among
study population (n=1,042)
Table 0-1 Schofield prediction equations for estimating basal metabolic rate (BMR)
(kcal/day)
Table 0-2: Medians (IQR) of intake and urinary excretions of energy, macro- and
micronutrients obtained from the Saudi-FFQ (n=601), repeated MP-24-Hour Dietary
Recalls (24-HDRs) (n=213) and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=23) among Riyadh city
adults, Saudi Arabia296
Table 0-3: General characteristic of under-, plausible and over-reporters by gender for
Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia based on MP-24-Hour Dietary Recall (n=213) and
Saudi-FFQ (601) methods
Table 0-4: General characteristic of under-, plausible and over-reporters by age group
for Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia based on MP-24-Hour Dietary Recall (n=213) and
Saudi-FFQ (601) methods

List of figures

Figure 1.1-1: Model describing the relationship between low levels of physical activity
and high energy and salt intakes, T2DM mellitus and cardiovascular diseases2
Figure 1.2-1: Age-standardised prevalence of overweight and obesity and obesity alone,
aged \geq 20 years, by gender, 1980–2013 (Adopted from Ng M et al 2014 (Ng, Fleming et
al. 2014))
Figure 1.2-2: Estimated prevalence by year-period of obesity (BMI≥30 kg/m ²) among
Saudi population, based on the studies outlined in Table 1.2-17
Figure 1.2-3: Adipose tissue-resident cells, hormones and cytokines: role in insulin
sensitivity and metabolic stress (adapted and updated from Makki K et al (2013) (Makki,
Froguel et al. 2013))
Figure 1.2-4: Percentage of deaths related to high blood glucose that occur at ages 20–69
years, by sex and country income group in 2012 (adopted from (WHO 2016))12
Figure 1.2-5: The mechanism of blood pressure homeostasis and sodium regulation in
human body (adopted from Lewis et al 2014 (Lewis, Dirksen et al. 2014))14
Figure 1.2-6: Burden of disease attributable to 20 leading risk factors in 2010, expressed
as a percentage of global disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for both men and
women (adapted from Lim SS et al 2013 (Lim, Vos et al. 2013)19
Figure 1.2-7: Total ischemic heart disease mortality rates (a) and cerebrovascular disease
mortality rates (b) adopted from WHO report (WHO 2013)21
Figure 1.2-8: Prevalence of raised blood pressure (SBP>140 OR DBP>90)* based on
categorised income countries (age-standardized estimate) (Figure was created based on
the Global Health Observatory Data Repository, WHO (WHO 2015)) $^{\pm \$}$ 21
Figure 1.4-1: The theory of planned behaviour (TPB) model - adapted from (Conner and
Sparks 2005)
Figure 2.1-1: General study design and relevant analysis for studies 1, 2 and 359
Figure 2.2-1: Study procedures
Figure 3.3-1: Study sample derivation
Figure 3.3-2: Graphical representation of the Triads method used to estimate the validity
coefficient between the true salt intake (S), at the centre, and the intakes estimated by the
Saudi-FFQ (Q), 24-HDR(D) and urinary salt (U) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi
Arabia. The relationships between each two estimation method is denoted by the
correlation coefficient r (rQU, rQD, rDU) outside the triangle, whereas validity
coefficients between each estimate and the true intake S are shown inside the triangle
(pQS, pDS, pUS) (Yokota, Miyazaki et al. 2010)

Figure 3.3-3: Bland-Altman plots showing the bias between the food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) and urinary salt (a) (n=48) and FFQ and 24-H Recall (b) (n=202) Figure 4.3-1: Correlation between estimated salt intake using FFQ, and the SBP and DBP Figure 5.3-2: Characteristics of body mass index (BMI) (A) (n=22,416), waist circumference (WC) (B) (n=21,062), waist to hip Ratio (WHR) (C) (n=12,552), and waist to height Ratio (WHtR) (D) (n=20,854) among Saudi Arabian adults by gender.137 Figure 5.3-3: Prevalence by age of BMI 18.5–24.9, BMI 25-29.9 and BMI \geq 30 among women (A) and men (B) (n=12,231 \bigcirc and n=10,185 \bigcirc) and of WC<80 cm, WC 80-88 cm and WC>88 among women (C) (n=11,440), and WC WC<94 cm, WC 94-102 cm and Figure 5.3-4: Adiposity misclassification among Saudi adult: (A) women (n=6,618) and Figure 5.3-5: Prevalence by age of elevated WC (>80 cm for women, >94 cm for men) Figure 5.3-6: (A) Prevalence of obesity (BMI>30 kg/m²) in each decile of %SMM and SMI (kg/m²); (B) prevalence of high-risk WC (Risk2, >88cm for women and >102cm for men) in each decile of %SMM and SMI (kg/m^2) ; (C) median of BMI (kg/m^2) in each decile of %SMM and (D) median of WC (cm) in each decile of SMI (kg/m^2) in women. Figure 5.3-7: (A) Prevalence of obesity (BMI>30 kg/m²) in each decile of %SMM and SMI (kg/m²); (B) prevalence of high-risk WC (Risk2, >88cm for women and >102cm for men) in each decile of %SMM and SMI (kg/m^2); (C) median of BMI (kg/m^2) in each decile of %SMM; and (D) median of WC (cm) in each decile of SMI (kg/m²) in men. 145 Figure 6.2-1: Prevalence of measured, diagnosed, and total measured and/ or diagnosed Figure 6.2-2: Prevalence of measured, diagnosed, and total measured and/ or diagnosed

Publications

Published abstracts

- Alkhalaf M. M., Edwards C. A. and Combet E. (2015) Current reported and observed hypertension status, sodium intake practices and body composition of adults in Riyadh city, Saudi Arabia. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 74 (OCE1), E22.
- Alkhalaf M. M., Edwards C. A., Lean MEJ and Combet E. (2015) Skeletal muscle mass estimation in Saudi adults – relationship with obesity and hypertension. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 74 (OCE2), E170.
- Alkhalaf M. M., Edwards C. A. and Combet E. (2015) Validation of a food frequency questionnaire specific for salt intake in Saudi Arabian adults using urinary biomarker and repeated multiple pass 24-hour dietary recall. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 74 (OCE5), E337.
- Alkhalaf M. M., Lean MEJ., Edwards C. A., and Combet E. (2016) Skeletal muscle mass characteristics and elevated noncommunicable diseases in Saudi adults. FASEB 30 (1), Supplement 678.23.
- Alkhalaf M. M., Edwards C. A., Lean MEJ. and Combet E. (2016) Risk classification paradox of anthropometric measurements in Saudi Arabia: need for further consideration. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 75 (OCE3), E43.
- Alkhalaf M. M., Edwards C. A., Lean MEJ. and Combet E. (2016) Diet and obesity

 driving the rise of non-communicable diseases in Saudi Arabia. ESPEN SUN-P190.

Oral Presentaions

- Body composition, sodium intake practices and hypertension status of adults in Riyadh city, Saudi Arabia (Food and Obesity Forum, 2014) Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.
- Body Composition Assessments from Surveys in Saudi Arabia: body size distributions and age (RDC-2016) Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

Abbreviations

24-HDR	multiple pass 24-hour dietary recall					
ATT	attitudes towards behaviour					
AUC	area under curve					
BF	body fat					
BMI	body mass index					
BP	blood pressure					
CI	confidence interval					
CVDs	cardiovascular diseases					
DBP	diastolic blood pressure					
FFQ	food frequency questionnaire					
HbA1c	Glycated haemoglobin					
HDL	high density lipoprotein					
IDF	the International Diabetes Federation					
IQR	inter quartile range					
LOA	limits of agreement					
NCDs	non-communicable diseases					
OR	odds ratio					
PABA	para-aminobenzoic acid					
PBC	perceived behavioural control					
ROC	the receiver operating characteristic curves					
RS	Spearman's Correlation					
SBP	systolic blood pressure					
SE	standard error					
SMI	skeletal muscle mass index					
SMM	skeletal muscle mass					
SN	subjective norms					
T2DM	type 2 diabetes mellitus					
TATM	total adipose tissue mass					
TATFM	total adipose tissue fat mass					
TPB	theory of planned behaviour					
TGA	triglycerides					
WC	waist circumference					
WHR	waist to hip ratio					
WHtR	waist to height ratio					
WHO	World Health Organization					

Acknowledgement

First I would like to thank and praise Allah the Almighty, Creator of humankind, Who has granted me all these graces to complete this research. Then, I would like to thank all who helped in my Ph.D. journey to make my dreams real.

I would like to thank my great supervisors, Dr. Emilie thank you so much for your guidance, support, inspiration and encouragements during all my Ph.D. journey, you are amazing! Prof. Christine thank you so much for your help and encouragement, Prof. Lean thank you so much, I'm so grateful for your comments and ideas.

Many thanks to my family for being 'half father, husband and son' (as we say in Saudi) for four years. Thank you so much DAD for your advice, inspiration and patience. Thank you so much Eman for your love, help, patience and prayers. Thank you my inspiring angels, Faisal and Abdullah.

I would like to thank also the Saudi Food and Drug Authority for giving me this amazing opportunity and their support during my Ph.D. journey.

Many thanks to my friends in the university nutrition department: Abbe Maliki, Chaitong (Bir) Churuangsuk, Clare Clark, Hani Alfehaid, Hannah Harris, Maira Bouga, Mhairi McGowan, Michael Logan, Min Hou, Muhammed Jaffar, Muhammad Shahzad, Nora Alshammari, Nouf Alghamdi, Nuraiza Meutia, Sadia Fatima, Sulaiman Alharbi, and others.

I would like to thank the dietitians who helped me during my data collection.

I would like to thank my friend in the Saudi Food and Drug Authority who helped me in logistic preparation for my data collection.

I would like to thank all my participants for their patience and help.

Author's Declaration

I declare that I am the author of this thesis, and that no part of the work in this thesis has formed part of any other thesis.

Urine analyses were conducted by the staff of the IDAC Laboratory in Riyadh city, Saudi Arabia. I am familiar with all the procedures, and have conducted the majority of them under supervision. The data entery of 24-HDR were entered by Seham Eid S. Almasoudi as part of her master degree work.

I alone completed all other work reported in this thesis. The research for this thesis was carried out between February 2013 and February 2017.

Majid M. Alkhalaf

Chapter One

General Introduction

1.1 Introduction

Non-communicable diseases (NCDs), including type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), cancer and chronic respiratory diseases are responsible for approximately 75% of death worldwide, causing more than 38 million deaths annually (WHO 2015). In the past four decades, the incidence of NCDs has risen dramatically, mainly in low- and middle-income countries (74%) (Miranda, Kinra et al. 2008). Sixteen million NCD deaths (42% of total NCD deaths) occured before the age of 70, and 82% of these "premature" deaths occurred in low- and middle-income countries. Most of NCDs deaths were caused by CVDs and T2DM (17.5 million (46%); and 1.5 million (4%), respectively). The increasing burden of NCDs is considered the main barrier to global development goals including economic stability, poverty reduction, health equity, and human security (Beaglehole, Bonita et al. 2011). NCDs can lead to continued expenditures that snare poor households in cycles of debt and illness, and continuing economic and health inequalities. They also delay a family's ability to provide for and educate children by diminishing household earnings (Mahal, Karan et al. 2010).

Although this increase is associated with metabolic, hormonal and genetic risk factors (WHO 2003; James, Jackson-Leach et al. 2004; Farooqi and O'Rahilly 2006; Kyrou, Chrousos et al. 2006; Srivastava, Lakhan et al. 2007; Kaila and Raman 2008; Miranda, Kinra et al. 2008), an overwhelming body of research indicates that much of the burden of NCDs is attributable to behavioural and environmental factors, including a diet of low or imbalanced nutrition, decreased physical activity, and exposure to tobacco smoke (Lau, Douketis et al. 2007; James 2008; Miranda, Kinra et al. 2008; Tsigos, Hainer et al. 2008). Behavioural and environmental factors lead to key metabolic and physiological changes, such as elevated blood pressure, adiposity, hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia (WHO 2011). These "intermediate risk factors" can lead to CVDs and T2DM (WHO 2015) (Figure 1.1-1).



Figure 1.1-1: Model describing the relationship between low levels of physical activity and high energy and salt intakes, T2DM mellitus and cardiovascular diseases.

Abbreviations: NCDs: Non-communicable diseases; T2DM: type2 diabetes mellitus; CVD: cardiovascular diseases.

This thesis focuses on prevention and future management of NCDs in Saudi Arabia (SA) through salt intake, body composition and psychological factors such as intention, knowledge and awareness. Socioeconomic status and lifestyle (including dietary habits) have dramatically changed in SA (Alwan 1997; Khatib 2004) following the discovery of oil in the Gulf region in the 1950's (MOPM 2014). As SA also imports nearly two-thirds of its food (Al-Kandari and Jukes 2012), rapid unplanned urbanisation has been accompanied by globalization of nutritionally poor diets and sedentary lifestyles. Currently, SA suffers from a high burden of NCDs and related risk factors (Al-Nozha 2004; Al-Nozha 2004; Al-Nozha, Abdullah et al. 2007; Kilpi 2014) (Table 1.1-1). National surveys in SA indicated that most of the population are physically inactive (68%) and eating less fruits and vegetables (84%) than recommended (WHOSTEPwise 2005). The recent National Health Survey (SHIS) (El Bcheraoui, Basulaiman et al. 2014; El Bcheraoui, Memish et al. 2014; Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014) in 2013 revealed that the prevalence of hypertension, T2DM, and obesity in SA are 15.2%, 13.4% and 28.7%, respectively. These high prevalence levels in the Saudi population are consistent with data from other Arabian Gulf countries (Musaiger and Al-Mannai 2001; Al Rashdan and Al Nesef 2010; Ng, Zaghloul et al. 2011; Musaiger and Al-Hazzaa 2012) such as Kuwait and Bahrain (Musaiger and Al-Mannai 2001). These results are also comparable

with results from the United States of America (USA) and Mexico (OECD 2014; WHO 2014).

In addition, the Ministry of Health (MOH) database indicated that from 1992 to 2010, T2DM diagnosis increased two-fold (Alhowaish 2013). The population of SA has increased by approximately 75% since 2004, with 60% of the current population aged less than 30 years (MOEP 2015). This is as a result of death rate of SA population falling gradually down from 17.7/1,000 people in 1960s to 3.4/1,000 people in 2015 (Knoema 2017). Furthermore, infant mortality rate (per 1000 live births) went gradually down from 45 per 1000 live births in 1990 to 18 per 1000 live births in 2012 (WHO 2012). Life expectancy at birth has increased from 53.9 years in 1970 to 73.8 years in 2013, with a 2.9% growth rate (MOH 2013) which is high in comparision with western countries such as the UK and the USA (0.80%) (The World Bank Group 2017). There is concern that this steep rise in the youthful population will escalate the burden of NCDs in the forthcoming decades alongside the increase of NCDs risk factors (elevated blood pressure, adiposity, hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia). Evidently, this will cause a financial burden on health care expenses in SA.

Although the primary causes have not been fully elucidated, many of the risk factors associated with NCDs are lifestyle-related and thus, modifiable (WHO/FAO 2003). There is a large body of evidence suggesting that NCDs are potentially preventable providing the risk factors are identified, and prevented early (WHO 2003). Appropriate lifestyle modifications such as diet, physical activity and weight loss are recognised to be similar in effect, or even better, than medical interventions in preventing or delaying the onset of NCDs in high risk people (Goldman and Cook 1984; Tuomilehto, Lindström et al. 2001; Group 2002; Appel, Champagne et al. 2003; Molitch, Fujimoto et al. 2003; Elmer, Obarzanek et al. 2006).

	Year	A	Total	Women	Men
NCDS Factors		Age range	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)
Current daily Smoking ⁽¹⁾ (WHOSTEPwise 2005)	2005	15-64	11 (517/4,750)	1.2 (28/2,414)	21 (489/2,336)
Physical inactivity ⁽²⁾ (WHOSTEPwise 2005)	2005	15-64	68 (3,109/4,592)	74 (1,740/2,343)	61 (1,369/2,249)
Overweight ⁽³⁾ (Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014)	2013	≥15	33 (3457/10,347)	30 (1,599/5,249)	36 (1,858/5,098)
Obesity ⁽⁴⁾ (Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014)	2013	≥15	29 (3,040/10,347)	34 (1,767/5,249)	25 (1,273/5,098)
Increased-risk WC ⁽⁵⁾ (Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014)	2013	≥15	17 (1,808/10,473)	16 (867/5,327)	18 (941/5,146)
High-risk WC ⁽⁶⁾ (Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014)	2013	≥15	34 (3,541/10,473)	44 (2,355/5,327)	23 (1,186/5,146)
Low fruit/vegetables intake ⁽⁷⁾ (WHOSTEPwise 2005) (<5 servings/day)	2005	15-64	99 (4,464/4,528)	99 (2,342/2,360)	98 (2,122/2,168)
Low fruit/vegetables intake ⁽⁸⁾ (WHOSTEPwise 2005) (≤ 1 servings/day)	2005	15-64	84 (3,799/4,528)	84 (1,983/2,360)	83 (1,816/2,168)

Table 1.1-1: Prevalence (%) of NCDs risk factors in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, by sex.

⁽¹⁾ Current daily smoking: the percentage of the population who smoke tobacco on a daily basis; ⁽²⁾ Physical inactivity: the percentage of the population engaging in less than 30 minutes of moderate activity per week or less than 20 minutes of vigorous activity three times per week, or the equivalent based on Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ); ⁽³⁾ Overweight: the percentage of the population having a BMI between 25 and 29.99 kg/m²; ⁽⁴⁾ Obesity: the percentage of the population having a BMI \geq 30 kg/m²; ⁽⁵⁾ Increased-Risk WC: the percentage of the population having a WC between 94 and 102 cm for men; ⁽⁶⁾ High-Risk WC: the percentage of the population having a WC >88 cm for women, and WC >102 cm for men; ⁽⁷⁾ Low fruit and vegetable intake: less than 5 servings of fruit/vegetables per day.

WC: waist circumference; BMI: body mass index (weight in kg/height in m²).

1.2 Obesity and overweight

1.2.1 Aetiology of obesity and overweight

The primary function of adipose tissue is to store excess nutrients as triacylglycerols and to release free fatty acids during fasting (Makki, Froguel et al. 2013). However, when adipose tissue is in excess, chronic metabolic disease such chronic low-grade inflammation, insulin resistance, T2DM and cardiovascular disease (CVD) occurs (Minihane, Vinoy et al. 2015). Therefore, obesity has been defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a condition of abnormal and excessive fat accumulation in adipose tissue to the extent that health may be adversely affected (WHO 2000). The increase of body fat appears when daily energy intake (EI) is higher than daily energy expenditure (EE). Total energy expenditure under normal conditions is as follows: 75% of total energy expenditure comes from inactive energy expenditure, indicated by the Basal Metabolic Rate (BSR); 10–15% from thermogenic activities; and 10–15% from physical activity or exercise (Yu, Teoh et al. 2006). The increase of body fat is multifactorial and is the result of a complex interaction between behavioural, environmental (including stress), metabolic, hormonal and genetic risk factors (James, Jackson-Leach et al. 2004; Farooqi and O'Rahilly 2006; Kyrou, Chrousos et al. 2006; Srivastava, Lakhan et al. 2007; Kaila and Raman 2008). However, the dramatic increase in the prevalence of obesity over the last three decades is postulated to be mainly a result of behavioural and environmental factors which lead to the adoption of a sedentary lifestyle and increased food energy intake (Lau, Douketis et al. 2007; James 2008; Tsigos, Hainer et al. 2008).

1.2.2 Epidemiology of obesity and overweight

1.2.2.1 Worldwide

The worldwide prevalence of obesity and overweight has nearly doubled in the past 3 decades (Ng, Fleming et al. 2014) (Figure 1.2-1) and is now estimated to affect over 600 million people (WHO 2016). The incidence of obesity and overweight has risen dramatically, not only in high-income countries, but also in low- and middle-income countries (WHO 2014). Obesity and overweight are responsible for more than 36 million deaths annually (63% of global deaths) (Flegal, Kit et al. 2013; WHO 2014) and are considered to be major contributors to the development of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) (NIH-NHLBI 2000; WHO 2000; WHO 2008).



Figure 1.2-1: Age-standardised prevalence of overweight and obesity and obesity alone, aged ≥20 years, by gender, 1980–2013 (Adopted from Ng M et al 2014 (Ng, Fleming et al. 2014))

1.2.2.2 In Saudi Arabia (SA)

Two household cross-sectional studies were conducted covering the whole of SA, in 2004 and 2013, to estimate the prevalence of some of the risk factors of NCDs through interview, physical examination and laboratory examination of blood samples of study participants (WHOSTEPwise 2005; Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014). The recent National Health Survey (SHIS) in SA (2013) (Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014) revealed that the prevalence of obesity in SA is 24 and 34% in men and women, respectively which is lower than that found by the Saudi National Health Survey (SNHS) (28% and 44%, in men and women respectively) (WHOSTEPwise 2005). A multistage stratified cluster random sampling technique was used in both SHIS and SNHS. Although the studies used different methodology and inclusion criteria (poststratification technique) for their study samples, all studies followed a multistage stratified cluster random sampling of private households considering age and gender of the population. Table 1.2-1 shows the prevalence of obesity (BMI≥30 kg/m²) in SA from 1985 to 2013. The prevalence of obesity by year-period of obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) nearly doubled since 1985s in SA (Figure 1.2-2). Table 1.2-2 shows the prevalence of obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) in Riyadh region from 1985 to 2013.



Figure 1.2-2: Estimated prevalence by year-period of obesity (BMI≥30 kg/m²) among Saudi population, based on the studies outlined in Table 1.2-1.

*These findings in this survey cannot be compared with the previous surveys, the prevalence were calculated based on post-stratification technique which eliminates some participants with morbidities.

		Sample Size		Obesity			
Reference*	Year		Age Range	(BN	Comments		
	(CE)	(N)	(Years)	Overall Obesity (%)	Men (%)	Women (%)	
(Al-Othaimeen, Al-Nozha et al. 2007)	1985-1988	19598	≥18	-	14.2	23.6	(Women: 58%)
(Osman and Al Nozha 2000)	1989-1994	19598	≥18	20.5	15.6	21	(Women: 58%)
(al-Nuaim, al-Rubeaan et al. 1996; Al-Nuaim 1997)	-	13177	15-95	-	16	24	(Women: 48%)
(al-Nuaim, Bamgboye et al. 1997; Alsaif, Khan et al. 2007);	1990-1993	10651	≥20	22.1	17.8	26.6	(Women: 48%)
(El-Hazmi and Warsy 1997; Warsy and El Hazmi 1999)	1992-1996	14660	>14	-	13.1	20.3	(Women: 57%)
(el-Hazmi and Warsy 2000)	1992-1996	14660	14-70	-	13.05	20.3	(Women: 57%)
(Al-Nozha, Al-Mazrou et al. 2005)	1995-2000	17232	30-70	35.6	26.4	44	(Women: 52%); Aged 30- 70 years
(WHOSTEPwise 2005)	2004-2005	4758	15-64	36.1	28.3	43.8	(Women: 51%)
(Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014)	2013	10,735	≥15	28.7%	24.1	33.5	(Women: 49%); Post- stratification applied

 Table 1.2-1: Obesity prevalence in Saudi Arabian men and women (whole country) from 1985 to 2013

* All above studies followed a multistage stratified cluster random sampling of private households.

	Veer	Sample Size	A go Dongo	Obesity			
Reference*	1 cai		Age Kange	(BMI≥ 30)			Comment
	(CE)	Ν	(Years)	Overall Obesity (%)	Men (%)	Women (%)	
(Al-Othaimeen, Al-Nozha et al. 2007)	1985-1988	-	≥18	21.7	-	-	-
(Osman and Al Nozha 2000)	1989-1994	1238	≥18	21.7	-	-	-
(al-Nuaim, al-Rubeaan et al. 1996; Al-Nuaim 1997);	-	3288	15-95	-	16	25	
(al-Nuaim, Bamgboye et al. 1997; Alsaif, Hakim et al. 2002);	1990-1993	2663	≥20	-	-	-	-
(al-Shammari, Khoja et al. 1994)	Sept. & Oct. 1992	1385	-	-	-	47	-
(Al-Shammari, Khoja et al. 1996)	May & June 1994	1580	-	-	28.6	-	-
(El-Hazmi and Warsy 1997; Warsy and El Hazmi 1999)	1992-1996	-	>14	-	16.03	24.4	-
(el-Hazmi and Warsy 2000)	1992-1996	1847	14-70		16.03	24.4	-
(Al-Nozha, Al-Mazrou et al. 2005)	1995-2000	-	30-70	40	-	-	Aged 30-70 years old
(WHOSTEPwise 2005)	2004-2005	-	15-64	-	-	-	-
(Al-Daghri, Al-Attas et al. 2011)	2010	9149	7-80	31.1	25.1	36.5	-
(Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014)	April-June 2013	-	≥15	-	-	-	Post-stratification was applied

Table 1.2-2: Obesity prevalence in Saudi Arabian men and women in Riyadh region from 1985 to 2013.

* All above studies followed a multistage stratified cluster random sampling of private households.

1.2.3 Metabolic features of obesity

1.2.3.1 Insulin resistance (IR) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)

1.2.3.1.1 Aetiology of insulin resistance and type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM)

Several studies support the concept that insulin resistance (IR) and T2DM are states of chronic and low-grade inflammation (Fernández-Real and Ricart 2003; Pickup 2004). In obesity, adipose tissue hypertrophy (especially white adipose tissue) leads to immune cell infiltration, in particular T-cells and macrophages; and increase circulating levels of a local pro-inflammatory cytokines including cytokine tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin-L (IL-6) and interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β). These inhibit the insulin signaling cascade and consequently impair the action of insulin on glucose metabolism in body tissues, mainly the liver and skeletal muscle (Weisberg, McCann et al. 2003; Lumeng, DelProposto et al. 2008; Makki, Froguel et al. 2013). Prospective studies show that insulin resistance precedes the onset of T2DM by 10 to 20 years (DeFronzo, Bonadonna et al. 1992; Imamura, Mukamal et al. 2013). Moreover, cross-sectional studies have revealed that all patients with T2DM are insulin-resistant (Lillioja, Mott et al. 1988). Figure 1.2-3 illustrates the role of adipose tissue in insulin sensitivity and metabolic stress.



Figure 1.2-3: Adipose tissue-resident cells, hormones and cytokines: role in insulin sensitivity and metabolic stress (adapted and updated from Makki K et al (2013) (Makki, Froguel et al. 2013))

Diabetes mellitus has been defined as "a chronic disease that occurs either when the pancreas does not produce enough insulin (a hormone that regulates blood sugar, or glucose), or when the body cannot effectively use the insulin it produces" (WHO 2016). Also, Alberti and Zimmet for the WHO Consultation (1998) defined T2DM as a "chronic hyperglycaemia with disturbances of carbohydrate, fat and protein metabolism resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both." (Alberti and Zimmet 1998). Moreover, insulin resistance is defined as "the inability of a known quantity of exogenous or endogenous insulin to increase glucose uptake and utilization in an individual as much as it does in a normal population." (Lebovitz 2001).

1.2.3.1.2 Epidemiology of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)

- Worldwide

Approximately 9% of adults worldwide have been diagnosed with T2DM in 2014 and it is responsible for more than 1.5 million deaths annually (WHO 2016). Approximately 43% of all deaths due to high blood glucose occur before the age of 70, and an estimated 422 million (9% of the adult population worldwide) adults were living with diabetes in 2014, compared to 108 million (4.7%) in 1980 (WHO 2016). The largest number of deaths resulting from high blood glucose (\geq 7.0 mmol/L) occur in upper-middle income countries (1.5 million) and the lowest number in low-income countries (0.3 million) (WHO 2016) (**Figure** 1.2-4). No data is available in SA regarding income and death as result of T2DM. However, the Saudi government provided healthcare for every citizen as stated in Article 31 of the Basic Law of SA, "the State shall protect public health and provide healthcare to every citizen" (BECM 1992). Bloom and colleagues (2012) estimated that losses due to diabetes burden, in GDP, worldwide, from 2011 to 2030, will total US\$ 1.7 trillion (including both the direct and indirect costs of diabetes). This comprises US\$ 900 billion for high-income countries and US\$ 800 billion for low- and middle-income countries (Bloom, Cafiero et al. 2012).


Figure 1.2-4: Percentage of deaths related to high blood glucose that occur at ages 20–69 years, by sex and country income group in 2012 (adopted from (WHO 2016)).

- In Saudi Arabia (SA)

In SA, the recent National Health Survey (SHIS) (2013) revealed that the prevalence of T2DM reached 13.4% (14.8 and 11.7% in men and women, respectively) lower than previously reported by the Saudi National Health Survey (SNHS) (15.3%; 15.8% and 14.9%, in men and women respectively) (WHOSTEPwise 2005; El Bcheraoui, Basulaiman et al. 2014). However, this significant difference in T2DM prevalence came from using different methodology and inclusion criteria for their study sample (Table 1.2-3). Despite differences between the two surveys, the prevalence of T2DM among Saudi adults is still high (WHOSTEPwise 2005; El Bcheraoui, Basulaiman et al. 2014) compared to other countries such as England (6%) in 2014 (PHE 2014). The Ministry of Health database in SA indicated that from 1992 to 2010, T2DM diagnosis increased two-fold (Alhowaish 2013), with a further increase from 12.3% in 2010 to 14.4% in 2014 (raised fasting blood glucose (≥7.0 mmol/L or on medication)) (WHO 2016). The estimated deaths (per 100,000) caused by T2DM increased from 29% (24% in women and 33% in men) in 2000 to 35% (27% in women and 43% in men) in 2012 (WHO 2016). In addition, Alhowaish estimated that the people diagnosed with T2DM have medical healthcare expenditures ten times higher (\$3,686 vs. \$380) than those without T2DM (Alhowaish 2013).

Reference	Year	Sample Size	Age Range	Cut-off Level	T2DM Prevalence		Comment	
	(CE)	(N)	(Years)	mmol/L	Overall T2DM (%)	Men (%)	Women (%)	
(Al-Nozha M 1996)	1989- 1994	13700	≥18	≥6.1	12.9	-	-	Measured fasting blood sugar only
(El-Hazmi, Warsy et al. 1996); (Warsy and El Hazmi 1999)	1992- 1996	14660	14-70	≥7.0	-	7.0	9.7	Measured fasting blood sugar only
(Al-Nozha, Al- Maatouq et al. 2004)	1995- 2000	17232	30-70	≥7.0	23.7 (21.9*)	26.2 (22.4*)	21.5 (21.5*)	Measured fasting blood sugar only
(Saeed, Al-Hamdan et al. 2011) ; (WHOSTEPwise 2005)	2004- 2005	4758	15-64	≥7.0	15.3	15.8	14.9	Diagnosed only
(El Bcheraoui, Basulaiman et al. 2014)	2013	10,735	≥15	≥8.5 (≥ 6.5%)	13.4	14.8	11.7	Measured blood sugar and/or having diabetes medications

Table 1.2-3: Evidence table of T2DM prevalences in Saudi Arabian men and women in Riyadh region from 1989 to 2013.

* Adjusted with the census data in Saudi Arabia 2000; SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure

1.2.3.2 Elevated blood pressure hypertension

Hypertension or elevated blood pressure (BP) is a condition in which the blood vessels have persistently raised pressure above certain threshold values (Giles, Materson et al. 2009) (Table 1.2-4). The World Health organization and The International Society of Hypertension (WHO/ISH) Guideline (WHO/ISH 2003) classified blood pressure to 3 grades of hypertension as illustrated in Table 1.2-4.

Table 1.2-4: Th	e WHO/ISH	blood j	pressure	classification.
-----------------	-----------	---------	----------	-----------------

Blood Pressure	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3
SBP (mm Hg)	140-159	160-179	\geq 180
DBP (mm Hg)	90-99	100-109	≥110

SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure.

1.2.3.2.1 Aetiology of hypertension

The kidneys and hormones have a central role in maintaining sodium, water balance and blood pressure in human body through the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) (Lewis, Dirksen et al. 2014). Cells in the kidney release the enzyme called renin when blood volume or sodium levels in the body are low, or blood potassium is high. Renin converts angiotensinogen (produced in the liver) to the hormone angiotensin I. Then, angiotensin-converting enzyme (found in the lungs) metabolizes angiotensin I into angiotensin II. This causes blood vessels to be constricted and blood pressure increases due to the effect of the Angiotensin II. Also, Angiotensin II stimulates the release of aldosterone hormone (found in the adrenal glands). This causes the renal tubules to retain water and sodium and excrete potassium (Wilken and Juneja 2008; de Kloet, Krause et al. 2010). Figure 1.2-5 illustrates the mechanism behind blood pressure homeostasis and sodium regulation in the human body. However, some factors such as excess body fat and salt intake can affect this regulation, causing elevated blood pressure (hypertension). This relationship is complex, with multiple interconnected factors such as sodium intake and body fat participating in the pathophysiology of hypertension.



Figure 1.2-5: The mechanism of blood pressure homeostasis and sodium regulation in human body (adopted from Lewis et al 2014 (Lewis, Dirksen et al. 2014))

1.2.3.2.1.1 Excess adipose tissue and hypertension

Excess adipose tissue is an established risk factor for hypertension, insulin resistance and T2DM (Hotamisligil and Erbay 2008). In 1966, Welborn et al. first reported an association of elevated blood pressure and insulin resistance or hyperinsulinemia (Welborn, Breckenridge et al. 1966). Insulin has important effects on the endothelial cells by increasing production of nitric oxide (NO) and stimulating vasodilatation (Ritchie, Ewart et al. 2004). However, in insulin resistance state, reduction of NO bioavailability occurs, resulting in an endothelial dysfunction such as a defect on endothelial surface, intimal growth and inflammation (Steinberg, Chaker et al. 1996; Villela, Kramer-Aguiar et al. 2009).

Adipose tissue, considered the major source of angiotensinogen after the liver, is a peptide hormone that causes vasoconstriction and could contribute to the elevation of blood pressure and thus cardiovascular diseases (Umemura, Nyui et al. 1997; Van Harmelen, Ariapart et al. 2000). Adiponectin regulates lipid and glucose metabolism, increases insulin sensitivity, protects against metabolic inflammations, and regulates body weight (Dridi and Taouis 2009; Liu and Liu 2010; Makki, Froguel et al. 2013). Adiponectin also increases NO production in endothelial cells and consequently enhances endothelial cell proliferation (angiogenesis) (Chen, Montagnani et al. 2003). However, levels of adiponectin were found to be significantly lower in obese people than healthy (Arita 2012). A prospective study among 18,225 males found that the highest quintile of adiponectin levels had a significantly decreased risk of Myocardial Infarction (relative risk [RR], 0.39; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.23-0.64; P= 0.001) (Pischon, Girman et al. 2004). In addition, a prospective study on nearly 4,500 Caucasian men and women found that a low level of adiponectin is associated with hyperglycemia (impaired fasting glycaemia or T2DM) (p=0.005) (Fumeron, Aubert et al. 2004). Moreover, a cross-sectional study among 33 hypertensive and 33 normotensive BMI-matched subjects found a negative correlation between plasma adiponectin concentration and mean, systolic, and diastolic blood pressure (9.1 μ g/mL (±4.5) and 13.7 μ g/mL (±5.2) in hypertensive and normotensive subjects, respectively; p<0.001) (Adamczak, Wiecek et al. 2003).

-High salt intake, hypertension and NCDs

There is a strong body of evidence supporting the association between chronic highsodium intake (in the form of salt (NaCl)), and hypertension (Meneton, Jeunemaitre et al. 2005; He and MacGregor 2009; Blaustein, Leenen et al. 2012; He and MacGregor 2015; Johnson, Raj et al. 2015), which is one of the main influential factors in the development of cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) such as stroke and heart diseases (independent from those adjusted for BMI, age and alcohol intake) (He, Burnier et al. 2011; Soga and Pandey 2011).

Intervention studies on normal Sprague-Dawley rats found that a prolonged high-salt diet decreased renal expression (mRNA) of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by 45% compared to the normal salt group (0.55 ± 0.12 versus 1.0 ± 0.16 ; n= 6;p<0.01) (Gu, Bailey et al. 2008; Gu, Young et al. 2009). A study on the same animal model found that inhibition of the VEGF receptor by high salt intake enhances -induced hypertension by increasing blood pressure (157.6 ± 3.9 versus 125.9 ± 4.3 mmHg, p<0.01); and increasing VEGF (10 ng/ml) significantly increased endothelial nitric oxide synthase protein levels by 29% in cultured human glomerular microvessel endothelial cells (HGMEC) (Gu, Manning et al. 2009).

The INTERSALT study assessed the association between salt intake (using 24 hour urine samples) and blood pressure in over 10,000 subjects in 52 locations worldwide (Elliott 1988). This cross-sectional study found a significant positive association between 24 hour urinary sodium excretion and systolic blood pressure after adjustment for age, sex, BMI, and alcohol intake (regression coefficient: 0.003 mm Hg/year/mmol sodium; p<0 001). However, when 4 centres with low urinary sodium excretion (0.2-50 mmol/24 hour) were excluded, the effect was lost. The rank order (Spearman) correlation coefficients were significant in the analyses for both n=52 and n=48 centres (r=0.451, p<0 001; and r=0 305, p=0.03, respectively). The study results were re-analysed in 1996 and confirmed the relationships between sodium excretion and blood pressure across and within-population (Elliott, Stamler et al. 1996). Individual 24 hour urinary sodium excretion higher than 100 mmol (5.8 gram salt/day) was associated with systolic/diastolic blood pressure higher on average by 3/0 to 6/3 mm Hg (with and without BMI adjustment). Across populations (n=52), a sample median 24 hour sodium excretion higher than 100 mmol (5.8 gram salt/day) was associated with median systolic/diastolic pressure higher on average by 5-7/2-4 mm Hg than those with 24 hour sodium excretion less than 100 mmol (Elliott, Stamler et al. 1996).

In most recent meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials (2013) (He, Li et al. 2013) a longer-term modest reduction in salt intake (4.4 g/day) resulted in significant reduction in

blood pressure in both men and women, hypertensive and normotensive individuals, in all ethnic groups, and in all age groups (He, Li et al. 2013). In normotensive people, the mean effect was -2.4 mm Hg (-3.5 to -1.3, $I^2=66\%$) for SBP and -1.00 mm Hg (-1.85 to -0.15, $I^2=66\%$) for DBP. Also, in people with hypertension the mean effect was -5.4 mm Hg (-6.62 to -4.15, $I^2=61\%$) for SBP and -2.8 mm Hg (-3.54 to -2.11, $I^2=52\%$) for DBP, respectively. All above heterogeneity results (I^2) were above 50% which is considered to be important. Although there was a variation in the extent of the fall in BP among different groups, the significant effect of salt reduction on BP was demonstrated.

In 2014, the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study, the largest cohort in 18 countries enrolling 102,216 subjects, showed increments of 2.1 mm Hg in systolic blood pressure and 0.78 mm Hg in diastolic blood pressure for each 1 g increment in estimated sodium excretion (Mente, O'Donnell et al. 2014). However, the slope of association was steeper for those with hypertension (2.49 mm Hg/gram) than those without (1.30 mm Hg/gram, P<0.001 for interaction). The most recent analysis of 133,118 individuals from 49 countries in four large prospective studies found that increased sodium intake was associated with greater increases in systolic blood pressure in individuals with hypertension (2.08 mm Hg change per gram sodium increase) compared with individuals without hypertension (1.22 mm Hg change per g; P<0.0001 for interaction). However, both of these studies (Mente, O'Donnell et al. 2014; Mente, O'Donnell et al. 2016) (above) used a formula-derived estimate of 24h urinary sodium excretion from spot urine sample, not actual 24-H urinary excretion measurements which may affect the accuracy of salt intake (He, Ivkovic et al. 2015). In contrast, a systematic review (2015) of 11 clinical salt studies; and 186,357 individual) confirmed a causal relationship between increasing dietary salt and increased blood pressure (Johnson, Raj et al. 2015) and the authors concluded that the findings of the systematic review were consistent with previous data relating increased dietary salt to increased blood pressure and adverse health outcomes.

In SA, there is little information on habitual salt intake apart from one study in the Eastern region (8.1 g/day) using 24-Hour urinary samples, not representative of the general population (Alkhunaizi, Al Jishi et al. 2013). Some samples from potential kidney donors and patients who underwent work-up for nephrolithiasis were used in this study.

Several studies have linked hypertension and elevated blood pressure with NCDs and premature death. A meta-analysis of individual data for 1 million adults in 61 prospective studies found that the blood pressure (SBP/DBP) starting at 115/75 mm Hg is a major cause of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (Lewington, Clarke et al. 2002). These authors also concluded that, at ages 40-69 years, each difference of 20 mm Hg usual SBP (or 10 mm Hg usual DBP) is associated with more than a twofold difference in the stroke death rate, and with twofold differences in the death rates from IHD and from other vascular causes. A longitudinal study (n=6,859) (the Framingham Heart Study) also revealed that blood pressure values in the 130/85 to 139/89 mm Hg range are associated with a more than 2-fold increase in relative risk from CVDs compared with those with blood pressure levels less than 120/80 mm Hg (Vasan, Larson et al. 2001).

In 2010, a recent updated analyses of the Global Burden of Disease Study (GBD) revealed that 10% (1.7 million/17.5 million) of annual deaths from CVD causes have been attributed to excess sodium (salt) intake (>2 g sodium/day, equivalent to 5 g salt/day); more deaths occur in men than women (Mozaffarian, Fahimi et al. 2014). The GBD study also considered high blood pressure as a leading risk factor in 2010 causes of adult chronic disease, especially cardiovascular diseases and cancers and followed by tobacco smoking, household air pollution, diets low in fruits, and alcohol use (**Figure** 1.2-6) (Lim, Vos et al. 2013). High blood pressure was also considered the first leading risk factor in 2010 for global disease burden (7.0% (95% uncertainty interval 6.2-7.7) of global DALYs). In this analysis, 1.65 million deaths in 2010 were linked to dietary salt in excess of 5 g of salt per day (>2.0 g sodium/day) (Lim, Vos et al. 2013).



Figure 1.2-6: Burden of disease attributable to 20 leading risk factors in 2010, expressed as a percentage of global disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for both men and women (adapted from Lim SS et al 2013 (Lim, Vos et al. 2013).

In the most recent study among 133,118 individuals from 49 countries in four large prospective studies, (Mente, O'Donnell et al. 2016) found a U-shape association between salt intake, and CVDs and death. There was also a higher risk (HRs) of CVDs and death only in individuals with hypertension (prescribed antihypertensive drugs or 140/90 mm Hg or greater) consuming more than the recommended levels (>6 g salt/day) using Cox proportional hazards models. This study concluded that the lowering sodium efforts should target those individuals with high sodium intake and who are hypertensive. However, both of these studies (above) used a formula-derived estimate of 24-H urinary sodium excretion from spot urine sample, not actual 24-H urinary excretion measurement was validated (He, Ivkovic et al. 2015). Salt intake varies from day to day – that even a single 24 hour urine collection cannot account for (Cappuccio and Campbell 2016). Also, when people are dying their salt intake is low due to low food intake or no food at all. Therefore, it is their illness that is causing their low salt intake and death, not their low salt intake causing their death (Cappuccio and Campbell 2016).

1.2.3.2.2 Epidemiology of hypertension

In 2008, approximately 40% of adults worldwide, aged 25 and above, were diagnosed with hypertension, which is responsible for more than 9 million deaths annually (WHO

2013). Hypertension is responsible for at least 51% of deaths due to stroke and 45% of deaths due to heart disease (WHO 2011; WHO 2013) (Figure 1.2-7). In 2014, high-income countries had a lower prevalence of hypertension than other income groups (Low-income, Lower middle income, and Upper middle income countries) (WHO 2011; WHO 2015) (Figure 1.2-8). The recent National Health Survey (SHIS) in SA (2013) (El Bcheraoui, Memish et al. 2014) revealed a prevalence of hypertension of 15 (18 and 13% in men and women, respectively) which is lower than that been found by the Saudi National Health Survey (SNHS) (21%; 24% and 19%, in men and women respectively) (WHOSTEPwise 2005) (Table 1.2-5). However, the prevalence of hypertension is still high (El Bcheraoui, Memish et al. 2014; MOH 2014).



(a)



Figure 1.2-7: Total ischemic heart disease mortality rates (a) and cerebrovascular disease mortality rates (b) adopted from WHO report (WHO 2013).





* SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure.

^{\$} Countries were categorised to four different groups; Low-income countries (e.g. Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Malawi and Nepal); Lower-Middle-income countries (e.g. Armenia, Brazil; Pakistan and Sri Lanka); Upper middle income countries (e.g. Albania, Algeria, Angola, Argentina); and High income (e.g. Australia, Austria, Bahamas, Bahrain). [‡] This regional grouping classifies countries, areas and territories according to the World Bank analytical income of economies based on the 2015 Atlas gross national income per capita estimates (World Bank list of economies, July 2016 (WHO 2016)).

Reference	Year	Sample Size	Age Range	Cut-off Level	Hypert	ension Prev	alence	Comment
	(CE)	(N)	(Years)	mmHg	Overall (%)	Men (%)	Women (%)	
(Al-Nozha, Ali et al. 1997); (Al- Nozha and Osman 1998)	1989- 1994	13700	≥18	≥160/≥95	5.2(SBP) & 7.3(DBP)	5.3(SBP) & 8.2 (DBP)	5.2(SBP) & 6.6 (DBP)	Measured blood pressure only
(Al-Nozha, Ali et al. 1997); (Al- Nozha and Osman 1998)	1989- 1994	13700	≥18	≥140/≥90	20.4(SBP) & 25.9(DBP)	-	-	Measured blood pressure only
(Al-Nozha, Abdullah et al. 2007)	1995- 2000	17230	30-70	≥140/≥90	26.1 (24.3*)	28.6	23.9	Adjusted with the census data in SA 2000
(El-Hazmi and Warsy 1999); (Warsy and El Hazmi 1999)	1992- 1996	14660	14-70	≥140/≥90	-	5.39	3.65	Measured blood pressure only
(Saeed, Al- Hamdan et al. 2011) ; (Saeed and Al-Hamdan 2013); (WHOSTEPwise 2005)	2004- 2005	4758	15-64	≥140/≥90	21.3	24.2	18.5	Measured blood pressure and/or having hypertensive medications
(El Bcheraoui, Memish et al. 2014; MOH 2014)	2013	10,735	≥15	>139/>89	15.2	17.7	12.5	Measured blood pressure and/or having hypertensive medications

Table 1.2-5: Hypertension prevalences in Saudi Arabian men and women in Riyadh region from1985 to 2013.

* Adjusted with the census data in Saudi Arabia 2000; SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure.

- Salt reduction and NCDs

Several clinical studies, meta-analysis and systematic reviews of the impact of salt intake reduction show improved flow-mediated vasodilation and aortic stiffness, reduction in systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and reduction in stroke and ischaemic heart disease (IHD) prevalence.

A systematic review of clinical salt studies shows that the reduction of salt intake improved flow-mediated vasodilation and aortic stiffness (Johnson, Raj et al. 2015). In a meta-analysis of randomized trials (2002) (He and MacGregor 2002) (17 trials in hypertensives (n=734) and 11 trials in normotensives (n=2,220)) found a reduction of 100 mmol/day (6 g salt/day) in salt intake based on 24-h urinary sodium excretion predicted a fall in blood pressure of 7/4 mmHg (P<0.001 for both SBP and DBP) in hypertensives and 3.6/1.7 mmHg in normotensive individuals (SBP: P<0.001; DBP: P<0.05). This meta-analysis estimated that a reduction of 6 g/day in salt intake would

reduce stroke by 24% and ischaemic heart disease (IHD) by 18%. It would also be predicted to reduce stroke deaths immediately by $\approx 6\%$ and coronary deaths by $\approx 4\%$ in normotensives, and reduce stroke and coronary deaths by ≈ 14 and $\approx 9\%$, in hypertensives, respectively (He and MacGregor 2002).

The Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet trial (Sacks, Svetkey et al. 2001) is a well-conducted clinical trial in total of 412 subjects who were provided the DASH diet (rich in fruits and vegetables and low fat dairy products) compared to a typical American diet for 30 consecutive days. Reduction in salt intake to below the current recommendation of 5.8 g salt per day (<100 mmol/day) and the DASH diet both were significantly associated with lower systolic blood pressure by 2.1 mm Hg (P<0.001) for controlled diet and 1.3 mm Hg (P=0.03) for DASH diet.

Cook and colleagues (2014) conducted a reanalysis of a cohort study that examined the relationship between sodium intake and CVD (Cook, Appel et al. 2014). This analysis included 1,855 pre-hypertensive subjects aged 30 to 54 years from 1987 to 1990, and 1,191 subjects from 1990 to 1995 from phases 1 and 2 of the Trials of Hypertension Prevention (TOHP). The cohort findings showed that risk of CVD for subjects whose salt intake was <5.75 g per 24 hours (sodium <2300 mg) was 32% lower compared with those who had salt intakes from 9 g to <12 g per 24 hours (sodium 3600–<4800 mg). Also, findings showed a linear 17% increase in risk per 2.5-g increase in salt (sodium 1000 mg and concluded that the study findings were consistent with overall health benefits of reducing salt intake to between 3.75 g and 5.75 g/day (sodium 1500– 2300 mg/day) agreeing with current guidelines.

Analysis of the data from the Health Survey for England (n=31,672) was conducted to determine the relationship between reduction in population salt intake and fall in BP and mortality from stroke and ischaemic heart disease (IHD) during 2003 to 2011 (He, Pombo-Rodrigues et al. 2014). The authors analyzed the Health Survey data for England for subjects aged 16 years and older. The study revealed a reduction in mortality from stroke by 42% and from IHD by 40% from 2003 to 2011. There was also a fall in systolic (3.0 ± 0.33) and diastolic blood pressure (1.4 ± 0.20 mmHg), an increase in fruit and vegetable consumption of 0.2 (± 0.05) per day, a reduction in smoking prevalence from 19% to 14%, a reduction in blood cholesterol levels (of 0.4 ± 0.02 mmol/L), and an increase in body mass index (BMI) of 0.5 ± 0.09 kg/m². After adjusting for age, alcohol consumption, BMI, education, ethnic group, sex, fruit and vegetable intake, and

household income in subjects not treated for hypertension, there was a fall in systolic (2.7 ± 0.34) and diastolic blood pressure (1.1 ± 0.23 mm Hg). At the same time, there was a reduction of salt intake (24-hour urinary sodium) by 1.4 g salt/day (sodium 560 mg/day) between 2003 and 2011. It was concluded that the reduction in salt intake between 2003 and 2011 was likely to be an important contributor to the fall in blood pressure. As a result of this, the reduction of salt intake could have played an important role in the mortality reduction of stroke and IHD during this period (He, Pombo-Rodrigues et al. 2014).

1.3 Body composition measurement instruments (adiposity and muscle mass assessment tools)

1.3.1 Imaging, scanning and impedance analysis techniques

1.3.1.1 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and Computed tomography (CT)

Computed tomography (CT) and Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can measure skeletal muscle mass (SMM) and adipose tissue volumes accurately (Fosbøl and Zerahn 2015). CT been validated for body composition measurement by studies of human cadavers (Rössner, Bo et al. 1990; Engstrom, Loeb et al. 1991; Mitsiopoulos, Baumgartner et al. 1998). Moreover, MRI been validated for body composition measurement by studies of human cadavers, phantoms and animals, showing good agreement with values produced by dissection and chemical analysis (Fowler, Fuller et al. 1991; Ross, Leger et al. 1991; Abate, Burns et al. 1994; Mitsiopoulos, Baumgartner et al. 1998). Ross et al. (1991) shows that MRI was correlated strongly with CT in predicting visceral fat (r=0.98, standard error of estimate (SEE) = 6.8 cm^2), subcutaneous fat (r=0.98, SE=6.5 cm²) and total adipose tissue volumes (r=0.99, SE=9.0 cm²) (P <0.001) in rodents. MRI also correlated strongly with lipid values (r=0.99, SE=6.9) (Ross, Leger et al. 1991). Human cadavers were used to examine the validity of MRI abdominal subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue estimates. The overall agreement between dissection weight and MRI-estimated adipose tissue weights was 6% with less than 5% bias (Abate, Burns et al. 1994). Human cadavers were also used by to examine the validity of MRI and CT adipose tissue-free skeletal muscle (ATFSM) (Mitsiopoulos, Baumgartner et al. 1998). This study shows that both MRI and CT estimates of ATFSM

were highly correlated with corresponding cadaver values (MRI: r =0.99, SEE= 3.9 cm^2 , P<0.001; and CT: r=0.99, SEE= 3.8 cm^2 , P<0.001). Also, this study found a strong correlation between MRI-ATFSM and the cadaver values (r=0.99, SEE= 8.7 cm^2 , P<0.001).

Nevertheless, these methods are not feasible for large epidemiologic studies and in clinical settings because of the high cost, high radiation exposure in CT, and they are time consuming (Springer, Ehehalt et al. 2012; Fosbøl and Zerahn 2015). MRI measurement is difficult to perform in subjects with extreme adipose tissue and skeletal muscle (Peeters, Tanamas et al. 2016) and cannot measure variations in fat within cells (e.g. the muscle or liver) (Peeters, Tanamas et al. 2016).

1.3.1.2 Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA)

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) has been used to measure bone mineral content, bone mineral density, and body composition including body fat and fat-free mass in vivo (FSANZ 1998; Peeters, Tanamas et al. 2016). Body fat and appendicular portion of skeletal muscle mass can be measured with good precision using DEXA (with $\approx 5.1\%$ bias) (Heymsfield, Smith et al. 1990; Wang, Visser et al. 1996) which accounts for >75% of total body skeletal muscle and \approx 83% for total body fat (Snyder, Cook et al. 1974; Plank 2005; Chen, Wang et al. 2007). DEXA is based on deriving total body volume by integrating information obtained from several cross-sectional CT images computerized axial tomography (CT) images. However, DEXA is not suitable for a routine body composition assessment because of its associated radiation exposure (ionizing radiation) and cost (Wang, Visser et al. 1996). Gradmark et al. (2010) found that simple anthropometric measures, especially waist circumference (r=0.85; P<0.0001) vielded better estimates of visceral adipose tissue than DEXA (r=0.70; P<0.0001) using CT as a validation tool (Gradmark, Rydh et al. 2010). However, Micklesfield et al. (2012) (Micklesfield, Goedecke et al. 2012) and Kaul et al. (2012) (Kaul, Rothney et al. 2012) confirmed the validity of DEXA (r=0.93) in assessing visceral adipose tissue against CT.

1.3.1.3 Body impedance analysis (BIA)

Body impedance analysis (BIA) method is the most commonly used body composition technique in published studies to derive data on both body fat and lean tissues (Ellis and Wong 1998). BIA is an indirect method to measure body composition. It is inexpensive,

low maintenance, portable, and has quick and safe application, and needs minimal operator training (Kushner 1992; Ellis and Wong 1998). BIA analysis is based on the principle that electric current flows at different rates through the body and depends on the water content of body composition. (Peeters, Tanamas et al. 2016). As adipose tissue is significantly less conductive than muscle or bone (Scharfetter, Schlager et al. 2001), the electric current flows are proportional to total body water and to high water concentration tissues such as skeletal muscles. Therefore, the percentage fat mass and fat-free mass from BIA are estimated based on derived equations age, height, gender and weight (Dehghan and Merchant 2008). ESPEN guidelines suggest that BIA works well in healthy subjects as well as in patients with a stable balance of water and electrolytes and with a validated BIA equation that is appropriate regarding to age, sex and race (Kyle, Bosaeus et al. 2004).

Malavolti and colleagues show that eight-polar BIA provides valid and accurate estimates of total and appendicular body composition when validated against DEXA (Malavolti, Mussi et al. 2003). However, they raised questions about the accuracy of using BIA in body composition research. BIA estimated results (e.g. fat-free mass) can be affected by body position, dietary intake, hydration status, previous exercise and skin temperature (Konings, Kooman et al. 2003; Peeters, Tanamas et al. 2016), and the quantitative evaluation of body fat such as visceral adipose tissue may not be performed accurately (Springer, Ehehalt et al. 2012). BIA analysis has less reliable estimates with individuals with relatively high or low fat mass (Fosbøl and Zerahn 2015; Otto, Färber et al. 2015). As it is known that the body fat outcomes from BIA are highly dependent on these equations (Fosbøl and Zerahn 2015; Peeters, Tanamas et al. 2016), there is an intra-individual (ranging from 2% to 3.5%) variability (Lukaski, Johnson et al. 1985; Segal, Gutin et al. 1985; Ward, Byrne et al. 1997) even though some equations in specific populations were validated and have minimal bias (Kyle, Bosaeus et al. 2004).

1.3.2 Anthropometric measures

This section discusses the obesity-related anthropometric measures such as body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), waist to hip ratio (WHR) and waist to height ratio (WHtR).

1.3.2.1 Body mass index (BMI)

Body mass index (BMI) was first developed in 1832 by the Belgian astronomer and statistician Adolphe Quetelet, for use in comparing populations (Eknoyan 2008). Keys et al (1972) performed a study examining the efficacy of several height-weight formulas in relation to body fat percentage (Keys, Fidanza et al. 1972). The authors found Quetelet's formula to be the best predictor of body fat percentage at that time and renamed it as "body mass index". In 1988, Garrow *et al.* introduced BMI ideal weight range categories based on mortality rates (Table 1.3-2) (Garrow 1988). In 1997, WHO revised these categories and added two new categories as follows: class I obesity (30.0-34.9), class II obesity (35.0-39.9), and class III obesity (\geq 40.0), overweight (pre-obese, 25.0-29.9), normal (18.5- 24.9), and underweight (<18.5) (WHO 2000). BMI is the most commonly used in assessing obesity in population health surveys (Peeters, Tanamas et al. 2016).

BMI does not take into account age, ethnicity, gender and physical activity level (Heymsfield and Cefalu 2013). BMI also does not discriminate between body fat and muscle mass, which have contradictory health effects on human body (Prentice and Jebb 2001; Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013) and significantly underestimated visceral adipose tissue (VAT) in non-European groups including Chinese and South Asians (Lear, Humphries et al. 2007). In 2010, a meta-analysis estimated the sensitivity of BMI to identify high adiposity at around 50% (CI: 43%–57%) (Okorodudu, Jumean et al. 2010). Furthermore, a meta-analysis of 82,864 participants from nine cohort studies found that BMI was the poorest predictor of cardiovascular disease mortality (hazard ratio (HR) 1.05, 95% CI 0.98–1.14)) compared to WC (1.15, CI 1.04–1.27) and waist to hip ratio (1.15, CI 1.05–1.25) (Czernichow, Kengne et al. 2011). The HR is used in survival analysis (Cox regression) which is the ratio of the hazard rates corresponding to the conditions described by two levels of an explanatory variable (Stare and Maucort-Boulch 2016). The odd ratio (OR) using logistic regression represents the odds that an outcome will occur given a particular exposure, compared to the odds of the outcome occurring in the absence of that exposure (Scotia 2010; Stare and Maucort-Boulch 2016).

A cross-sectional study among 6,123 white participants found that 29% of subjects were classified as lean and 80% of individuals classified as overweight according to BMI had a body fat percentage within the "obesity range" (\geq 25% for men and \geq 35% for women) (Gómez-Ambrosi, Silva et al. 2012). Some studies amended BMI to strengthen the relationship of BMI and body fat percentage for specific populations. Goh et al. (2004)

changed BMI from 30 kg/m² to 25 kg/m² for women and 27 kg/m² for men, which increased the sensitivity and specificity for Asian populations from 7% and 13% to 47% and 61%, respectively to predict body fat percentage (Goh, Tain et al. 2004). However, the sensitivity and specificity of the new cut-off levels are still poor.

As will be explained below that WC was found to be a better indicator of total body fat than BMI (Lean ME 1996). Therefore, a recent study using national Scottish and English data found that approximately 41% of older adults with normal BMI (65 years and over, BMI=18.5–25 kg/m²) had elevated waist circumference (WC>94cm for men, WC>80cm for women) (Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013). In the Australian Diabetes, Obesity, and Lifestyle (AusDiab) study, 40% of individuals with BMI<30 kg/m² had a high-risk WC (WC (\mathcal{Q})>88cm and WC (\mathcal{A})>102cm) (Tanamas, Shaw et al. 2014). For the above reasons, there are some drawbacks of using BMI as a health indicator. In SA, BMI had a weak performance with poor sensitivities and specificities (<0.63 and <0.62, respectively) in predicting chronic health risks (diabetes mellitus and hypertension) among 197,681 Saudi adults in the east province of Saudi Arabia (Almajwal, Al-Baghli et al. 2009). This study also highlights that the optimal BMI cut-offs using the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis (BMI=30.50-31.50 kg/m² in women and BMI=28.50 - 29.50 kg/m² in men) had both poor sensitivity (<0.63) and poor specificity (0.62), with an unacceptably high level of overall misclassification (>80). Furthermore, this study reported that despite a significant increase in odds ratio of hypertension and diabetes from BMI values as low as 21-23, this did not improve on the diagnostic performance of BMI measurements. BMI however, is the most common method used for obesity assessment among dietitians in Saudi Arabia (87%) (Almajwal, Williams et al. 2009). Studies in Arab adults provided WC cut-off points for metabolic diseases ranging from 22.9 to 31.5 in women and 22.6 to 30 in men (Table 1.3-3). Table 1.3-3 illustrates the cut-off points for BMI based on sensitivity being equal to specificity among Arab ethnic groups.

1.3.2.2 Waist Circumference (WC)

Even though BMI has been used widely in research and clinical practice, WC is a marginally better indicator of total body fat than BMI (Lean ME 1996) and that chronic health risks are predicted better by WC than by BMI (Pouliot, Despres et al. 1994; Lean, Han et al. 1995; Lean ME 1996).

Lean and Han (1995) (Lean, Han et al. 1995; Lean and Han 2002) defined WC action levels ("Action level 1" and "Action level 2") which have been adopted by the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN 1996; SIGN 2010), and more widely by the NCEPATP-III (2001) (NIH 2001) and WHO (1998) (WHO 2000; WHO 2008). The authors determined by cross tabulation between variables two action levels for WC for weight management to identify most subjects with a BMI>25 (action level 1) and >30 (action level 2). The "action level 1" (with 80 cm for women and 94 cm for men) was intended as a first warning which individuals need to take action to prevent further weight gain (**Table** 1.3-1). The "action level 2" (with 88 cm for women and 102 cm for men) was intended as a warning which meant that individuals should demand professional help to achieve sustained weight/waist loss. However, it should be borne in mind that these cut-off values were derived by corresponding these action levels with BMI categories, which are questionable.

Zhu et al. (2004) suggested combining WC with BMI to predict the metabolic risks more efficiently than by BMI alone (Zhu, Heshka et al. 2004). This suggestion was adopted by different clinical guidelines (e.g. the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE), NHLBI Obesity Education Initiative (NIH-NHLBI), and Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN)) as health-risk scores through categorical combinations of BMI and WC as shown in **Table** 1.3-1 (NIH-NHLBI 2000; NHS-NICE 2006; SIGN 2010; NHMRC 2013).

Classification	Ris	sk of co-morbid Caucasian	ities*	Risk of co-morbidities Asian				
	BMI (kg/m ²)	Waist circur	nference (cm)	BMI (kg/m ²)	iference (cm)			
	_	Men 94-102	Men >102		Men<90	Men ≥90		
		Women 80- 88**	Women>88***		Women <80	Women ≥80		
Normal weight	18.5 - 24.9	_	_	18.5 – 22.9	Average	Increased		
Overweight	25.0 - 29.9	Increased	High	23.0 - 24.9	Increased	Moderate		
Obese								
Class I	30.0 - 34.9	High	Very high			Sourro		
Class II	35.0 - 39.9	Very high	Very high	25.0 - 29.9	Moderate	Voru		
Class III	\geq 40.0	Extremely high	Extremely high	≥ 30.0	Severe	severe		

Table 1.3-1: Body mass index and waist circumference cut-offs for health promotion and risk classification (Lean, Han et al. 1995; NIH 2001; Lean and Han 2002; WHO 2008).

* Disease risk for T2DM, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease

** Action level 1: for individuals to take personal steps to control weight/waist gain

*** Action level 2: professional input is required to achieve sustained weight/waist loss.

However, several studies are in disagreement (Janssen, Katzmarzyk et al. 2004; Lee, Huxley et al. 2008). Lee and colleagues (2008) conducted a meta-analysis of 10 studies including 88,514 individuals, to determine which of the four indices (BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR) is the best predictor of major cardiovascular risk factors (hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidaemia) (Lee, Huxley et al. 2008). The study results showed that combinations of BMI and WC, WHR, or WHtR, did not increase the discriminatory capability of BMI for hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidaemia in this group of multi-ethnic adults. Also, the study found that BMI was the poorest discriminator for cardiovascular risk factors. Combining body mass index with any measure does not improve upon its discriminatory capability (Lee, Huxley et al. 2008).

Janssen et al.(2004) conducted a study using the data of 14,924 adult individuals from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) in the United States (Janssen, Katzmarzyk et al. 2004). This study found that WC and not BMI explained obesity related health risk. Overweight (BMI 25-29.9 kg/m²) and obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) subjects were more likely to have hypertension, dyslipidaemia, and the metabolic syndrome than were normal weight subjects (BMI< 25 kg/m²). However, after adjustment for WC category (normal or high (WC values \geq 102 and \geq 88 cm for men and women, respectively)), the odds of comorbidity reduced but remained higher in overweight and obese subjects than in normal-weight subjects. After adjustment for WC as a continuous variable, the likelihood of the metabolic syndrome, hypertension and dyslipidaemia was similar in both BMI and WC. When WC and BMI were used as continuous variables in the same regression model, WC alone was a significant predictor of comorbidity (the metabolic syndrome, hypertension and dyslipidaemia).

SA still uses the conventional reference cut-off points for BMI and WC which were derived from data based on European Caucasian populations (MOH 2014). These cut-off points have been adopted by the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) (Alberti, Zimmet et al. 2007) and the World Health Organization (WHO) (WHO 2008), and IDF recommends that researchers from Eastern Mediterranean and the Middle Eastern (Arab) populations utilise European cut-points for BMI and WC measurements for both genders until more ethnic-specific data is available.

These action levels of WC and BMI conventional cut-off points were derived from data on European Caucasian populations; and several studies have documented that Asians have higher morbidity than Caucasians at lower cut-off points for BMI (WHO 2000; Snehalatha, Viswanathan et al. 2003; Vikram, Pandey et al. 2003; Razak, Anand et al. 2007) and WC (Snehalatha, Viswanathan et al. 2003; Vikram, Pandey et al. 2003; Collaboration 2007; Diaz, Mainous et al. 2007; Huxley, James et al. 2008). Since the reference BMI limits against which WC sensitivity and specificity profile were calculated do not apply to non-Caucasian populations including Asians, certain reference limits were predicted based on health outcomes and these anthropometric measures (WHO 2008). For example, reference cut-off points for BMI and WC were predicted and applied for Asians and Pacific Islanders. Studies in Arabs adults provided WC cut-off points for metabolic diseases ranged from 84.5 to 99 for women and from 78.5 to 102 for men (Table 1.3-4). Table 1.3-4 illustrates the cut-off points for WC based on sensitivity being equal to specificity among Arab ethic groups.

1.3.2.3 Waist to hip ratio (WHR)

Various ratios which include WC (waist-hip ratio (WHR), and waist-height ratio (WHtR)) have been used and evaluated in several studies (Molarius and Seidell 1998). WHR is an inexpensive indicator of body fat distribution for adult men and women (Huxley, Mendis et al. 2010). However, some studies found that WHR is less predictive of total body fat or visceral fat (Ross, Leger et al. 1992; González, Bellido et al. 2007).

The relationship between WHR and metabolic diseases performs consistently for most ethnic groups including Arabs (Al-Lawati and Jousilahti 2008; Huxley, Mendis et al. 2010). In 2007, a meta-analysis on WC and WHR as predictors of cardiovascular (CVD) events from prospective studies (15 articles (n=258,114 participants, 4,355 CVD events)) found that increased WC or WHR were related to an increased risk of cardiovascular events in men and women (Relative risk: 1.02 (95% CI: 1.01 to 1.03) for WC and (RR: 1.05 (95% CI: 1.04 to 1.07)) for WHR (De Koning, Merchant et al. 2007). WHO Expert Consultation Report (2008) recommended health professionals to use waist circumference and waist-hip ratio (WHO 2008). However, the North American Association for the study of obesity has stated that "the measurement of waist-to hip ratio provides no advantage over waist circumference alone" (NIH-NHLBI 2000). It has been claimed that the interpretation of WHR with cardiovascular risk and metabolic outcomes (Peeters, Tanamas et al. 2016). Studies in Arabs adults provided WHR cut-off points for metabolic diseases ranged from 0.81 to 0.98 for women and from 0.89 to 0.96

for men (Table 1.3-5). Table 1.3-5 illustrates the cut-off points for WHR based on sensitivity being equal to specificity among Arab ethic groups.

1.3.2.4 Waist to height ratio (WHtR)

WHtR is also an inexpensive indicator of body fat distribution for adult men and women (Ashwell, Cole et al. 1996; González, Bellido et al. 2007). A recent meta-analysis in 2012 suggested that WHtR proved to be significantly better than BMI and WC in the prediction of all health outcomes including T2DM, hypertension, and CVD (P < 0.005) in both men and women (Ashwell, Gunn et al. 2012). Also, Lee and colleagues (2008) conducted a meta-analysis involving 10 studies of 88,514 individuals, to determine which of the four indices (BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR) was the best predictor of major cardiovascular risk factors (hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidaemia (Lee, Huxley et al. 2008). The study results showed that WHtR was the best discriminator for hypertension, diabetes, and dyslipidaemia in both sexes. Furthermore, a meta-analysis from the Diabetes Epidemiology: Collaborative Analysis of Diagnostic Criteria in Asia Study (DECODA) was conducted to examine the strength of association between BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR to predict T2DM (Nyamdorj 2008). This study involved data from 16 cross-sectional studies. This study found a slightly stronger association between T2DM and WHtR in both men and women than BMI, WC, WHR. Ashwell and Gibson (2014) proposed a primary screening tool to use WHtR as a health promotion tool for all ethnic groups, suggesting that WC should be less than half (<0.5) of body height (Ashwell and Gibson 2014). Studies in Arabs adults provided WHtR cut-off points for metabolic diseases ranged from 0.50 to 0.61 for men and women (Table 1.3-6). Table 1.3-6 illustrated the cut-off points for WHtR based on sensitivity being equal to specificity among Arab ethic groups.

Category	Women	Men
BMI		
Non-obese (kg/m ²)	18.5-24.9	18.5-24.9
Overweight (kg/m ²)	25-29.9	25-29.9
Obese (kg/m^2)	≥ 30	≥ 30
WC		
Normal WC (cm)	<80	<94
Risk I WC (cm)	80-88	94-102
Risk II WC (cm)	>88	>102
WHR		
High risk WHR	≥ 0.85	≥ 0.90
WHtR		
High risk WHtR	≥0.5	≥ 0.5

Table 1.3-2: Body composition classifications

BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; WHR: Waist to hip ratio; WHtR: waist to height ratio.

It has been suggested that the prediction of body composition (e.g.WC and BMI) cut-off points in clinical and public health settings should be based on the associations between the anthropometric data and health outcomes such as T2DM, hypertension, and dyslipidemia rather than to associations with body fat (WHO 2008). This is because the risk prediction is more straightforward if based on health outcomes. Ethnic and racial differences have also been observed between body (visceral) fat and metabolic risk factors (Snehalatha, Viswanathan et al. 2003; Vikram, Pandey et al. 2003; Misra, Wasir et al. 2005).

The optimal sensitivity and specificity using different body composition cut-off values to predict the presence of metabolic disease are used by implementing receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) analysis. A greater area under the curve (AUC) indicates a better predictive capability. AUC=1.0 indicates perfect discrimination, and AUC<0.5 indicates that the test performs no better than chance (noninformative). To find out the optimal body composition cut-off points (e.g. WC and BMI), the shortest distance between any point on the curve and the top left corner on the y-axis is determined. Distance is estimated at each one-half unit of BC measures according to the following equation (Weng, Liu et al. 2006; Sung, Yu et al. 2007; Almajwal, Al-Baghli et al. 2009; Zeng, He et al. 2014):

Distance in ROC = $\sqrt{(1 - \text{sensitivity})^2 + (1 - \text{specificity})^2}$

Health Risks	Country	Age	Gender	Sample size (n)	Cut- off	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC	Comments
(Assaad-Khalil,	Egypt	18-	Ŷ.	1642	-	-	-	0.619	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDE
Mikhail et al. 2015)	Egypt	80	8	1567	-	-	-	0.610	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syncrome according to IDF.
(Chedid, Gannagé-	Labanon	18-	Ŷ	180	27.5	95	89	0.95	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDE
Yared et al. 2009) *	Lebanon	30	8	201	27.5	95	89	0.95	resence of at least two other components of the metabolic syncrome according to inst
(Bener, Yousafzai et	Qatar	>20	Ŷ	794	28.4- 30	73.7-66.4	64.8-67.1	0.70	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDF.
ai. 2013)			ð	758	28-30	58-38.5	52.9-66.7	0.56	
(Al-Odat, Ahmad et al.	Iordan	20-	Ŷ	288	30.3	59	74.2	0.67	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDE
2012)	Joidan	85	8	212	28.4	61.2	59.1	0.59	resence of at least two other components of the metabolic syncrome according to 151%.
(Al-Lawati and	Oman	>20	Ŷ	725	26.8	46.8	76.5	0.66	Prevalent CVD risk was defined as the presence of at least two of the following three risk
Jousilahti 2008)	Oman	≥20	8	695	23.2	71.0	53.7	0.65	factors: hyperglycaemia, hypertension and dyslipidaemia
(Al-Lawati, Barakat et	Oman	>20	Ŷ	725	22.9	84.2	45.1	0.639	The Framingham rick score (Anderson, WOI SON et al. 1001)
al. 2008)	Olliali	<u>≥</u> 20	8	695	22.6	80.3	37.3	0.601	The Franningham fisk score (Anderson, WOESON et al. 1991)
(Bouguerra, Alberti et	Tunicia	>20	4	2191	27	55-66	62-74	0.64-0.71	Any presence of high blood pressure, hyperglycaemia, high blood cholesterol and
al. 2007)	Tunisia	<u>≥</u> 20	ð	1244	24	52-67	63-69	0.63-0.70	hypertriglyceridaemia
(Almajwal, Al-Baghli	Saudi	>30	4	95,905	30.5	0.63	0.58	0.640	Presence of T2DM or hypertension
et al. 2009)	Arabia	<u>~</u> 50	8	99,946	28.5	0.58	0.56	0.594	Tresence of T2DW of hypertension
(Almajwal, Al-Baghli	Saudi	>30	4	95,905	31.5	0.61	0.59	0.643	Presence of T2DM and hypertension
et al. 2009)	Arabia	<u>~</u> 50	8	99,946	29.5	0.55	0.62	0.618	Fiesence of 12DW and hypertension
(Almajwal, Al-Baghli	Saudi	>30	9	95,905	31.5	0.58	0.61	0.618	Presence of T2DM
et al. 2009)	Arabia	<u>~</u> 50	8	99,946	28.5	0.55	0.54	0.566	Tresence of T2DW
(Mansour and Al-	Iraa	30-	4	6293	26.1	66.3	47.4	0.59	Processo of T2DM ^{\$}
Jazairi 2007)	naq	62	ð	6693	25.4	66	53.9	0.63	Fiesence of 12DW
(Mansour and Al-	Iraa	30-	4	6293	26.5	71.7	51.9	0.65	Processo of hypertension [£]
Jazairi 2007)	naq	62	ð	6693	24.9	78.1	51.9	0.70	Presence of hypertension
(El Din, Zaki et al.	Fount	20-	Ŷ	2670	30.1	69.1	60.7	0.678	Presence of hypertension f
2014)	Lgypt	75	8	2880	28	62.8	59.9	0.664	Presence of hypertension
(Almajwal, Al-Baghli	Saudi		Ŷ.	95,905	31.5	0.60	0.62	0.645	Presence of hypertension f
et al. 2009)	Arabia		3	99,946	29	0.59	0.58	0.625	Presence of hypertension

Table 1.3-3: Diagnostic performance of body mass index (BMI) in predicting health morbidities using optimal BMI cut-off values as defined by authors, based on the shortest distance in ROC curves in Arab adults.

AUC: Area under curve; BMI: Body mass index; CFBG: Capillary Fasting Blood Glucose; CRBG: Capillary Random Blood Glucose; FPG: Fasting Plasma Glucose; IDF: The International Diabetes Federation 2005; MetS: Metabolic syndrome; RFs: cardiometabolic risk factors.

According to IDF (Alberti, Zimmet et al. 2006), a participant has the MetS if WC \geq 94 cm in men and \geq 80 cm in women) plus any two of these risk factors: (a) FPG \geq 100mg/dL (5.6mmol/L) or previously diagnosed impaired fasting glucose (b) blood pressure \geq 130/85mmHg or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.7mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol: Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.29mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol: Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.29mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol: Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.29mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol: Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.29mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol: Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.29mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol: Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.29mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol: Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L); Women < 50mg/

* The analysis were performed with combined data of men and women.

 $^{\text{S}}$ FPG \geq 126 mg/dL on two occasion or symptoms of diabetes and a casual plasma glucose \geq 200 mg/d (11.1 mmol/L) and/or diagnosed with diabetes.

[£] Blood pressure \geq 140/90mmHg and/or diagnosed with hypertension.

CFBG was \geq 126 mg/dl (\geq 7.0 mmol/l) or the CRBG was \geq 200 mg/dl (\geq 11.0 mmol/l) and/or diagnosed with diabetes.

Health Risks	Country	Age	Gender	Sample size (n)	Cut- off	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC	Comments
(Assaad-Khalil, Mikhail et	Equat	18-	Ŷ	1642	96.25	71.8	55.4	0.683	Drasance of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDE
al. 2015)	Egypt	80	8	1567	100.5	59.1	69	0.693	resence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDF.
(Ronor Vousafzai at al			Ŷ	794	91-88	86.5-94.4	64.7-53.2	0.81	
(Bener, 100sarzar et al. 2013)	Qatar	>20	8	758	99.5- 102	81.6-75.9	63.9-67.3	0.78	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDF.
(Al-Odat, Ahmad et al.	Iondon	20-	Ŷ	288	95.6	62.6	77.4	0.74	Pressnan of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDE
2012)	Jordan	85	3	212	97.8	51.8	72.4	0.64	Presence of at least two other components of the metadonic syndrome according to IDF.
(Chedid, Gannagé-Yared	Lahanan	18-	Ŷ	180	91	100	98	0.99	Pressnan of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDE
et al. 2009)	Lebanon	30	3	201	99.5	87	90	0.92	Presence of at least two other components of the metadonic syndrome according to IDF
(Mansour, Al-Hassan et	Iroa	>19	Ŷ	300	99	70	45	-	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDE
al. 2007)	Iraq	218	8	700	97	70	50	-	Presence of at least two other components of the metadolic syndrome according to IDF.
(Ibrahim, Elamragy et al.	Fount	>25	Ŷ	1332	91.5	-	-	0.697	Presence of RFs (diabetes mellitus, decrease in HDL-C and increase in LDL-C, triglycerides and
2011)	Egypt	225	ð	981	93.5	-	-	0.78	left ventricular mass index by echocardiography) among Normotensives
(Ibrahim, Elamragy et al.	Favnt	>25	P	1332	92.5	-	-	0.63	Presence of RFs (diabetes mellitus, decrease in HDL-C and increase in LDL-C, triglycerides and
2011)	Lgypt	225	ð	981	93.5	-	-	0.668	left ventricular mass index by echocardiography) among Hypertensives
(Al-Lawati and Jousilahti	Oman	>20	P	725	84.5	71.9	61.6	0.71	Prevalent CVD risk was defined as the presence of at least two of the following three risk factors:
2008)	Olliali	<u>~</u> 20	8	695	80	65.2	66.7	0.70	hyperglycaemia, hypertension and dyslipidaemia
(Al-Lawati, Barakat et al.	Oman	>20	9	725	84.5	89.5	52.8	0.727	The Framingham risk score (Anderson, WOI SON et al. 1991)
2008)	Ollian	-20	ð	695	78.5	83.8	50.1	0.710	
			0	2191	85	55-76	67-78	0.65-	
(Bouguerra, Alberti et al.	Tunisia	>20	+	2171	05	55 10	07 70	0.76	Any presence of high blood pressure, hyperglycaemia, high blood cholesterol and
2007)	i unisiu	_20	ð	1244	85	52-71	63-70	0.64-	hypertriglyceridaemia
		• •	0					0.72	
(Mansour and Al-Jazairi	Iraq	30-	Ŷ	6293	91	79.6	47.2	0.67	Presence of T2DM ^{\$}
2007)	1	62	<u> </u>	6693	90	79.5	49.4	0.69	
(Mansour and Al-Jazairi	Iraq	30-	¥,	6293	95	73.2	58.4	0.71	Presence of hypertension f
2007)	~1	62	<u> </u>	6693	95	/4.2	64.3	0.75	
El Din AMS et al 2014 (El	Egypt	20-	¥,	2670	87.8	80.9	48.6	0.693	Presence of hypertension f
Din, Zaki et al. 2014)	-0/r-	75	6	2880	95.8	71.9	51.9	0.681	

Table 1.3-4: Diagnostic performance of waist circumference (WC) in predicting health morbidities using optimal WC cut-off values based on the shortest distance in ROC curves in Arab adults.

AUC: Area under curve; WC: waist circumference; FPG: Fasting Plasma Glucose; IDF: The International Diabetes Federation 2005; MetS: Metabolic syndrome; RFs: cardiometabolic risk factors. According to IDF (Alberti, Zimmet et al. 2006), a participant has the MetS if WC \geq 94 cm in men and \geq 80 cm in women) plus any two of these risk factors: (a) FPG \geq 100mg/dL (5.6mmol/L) or previously diagnosed impaired fasting glucose (b) blood pressure \geq 130/85mmHg or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.7mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol:Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L);Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for low HDL.

[§] FPG \geq 126 mg/dL on two occasion or symptoms of diabetes and a casual plasma glucose \geq 200 mg/dL.

[£] Blood pressure \geq 140/90mmHg and/or diagnosed.

Health Risks	Country	Age	Gender	Sample size (n)	Cut- off	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC	Comments
(Assaad-Khalil,	Equat	18-	Ŷ	1642	-	-	-	0.619	Presence of at least two other components of the matchelic syndrome according to IDE
Mikhail et al. 2015)	Egypt	80	8	1567	-	-	-	0.610	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDF.
(Bener, Yousafzai et al.	Oatar	>20	Ŷ	794	0.88	75.4	71.5	0.75	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDE
2013)	Qatai	>20	3	758	0.90	70.1	69.9	0.75	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDF.
(Al-Odat, Ahmad et al.	Iordan	20-	Ŷ	288	0.84	62.1	77.4	0.76	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDE
2012)	Joittall	85	3	212	0.89	44.7	90.6	0.71	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDF.
(Al-Lawati and	Oman	>20	Ŷ	725	0.91	67.2	73.7	0.76	Presence of CVD risk was defined as the presence of at least two of the following three risk factors:
Jousilahti 2008)	Olliali	220	8	695	0.91	58	71.6	0.68	hyperglycaemia, hypertension and dyslipidaemia
(Al-Lawati, Barakat et	Oman	>20	Ŷ	725	0.98	68.4	86.1	0.80	Presence of CVD rick using the Framingham rick score (Anderson WOI SON at al. 1991)
al. 2008)	Oman	≥20	3	695	0.96	60.7	80.6	0.77	Tresence of CVD fisk using the Hamingham fisk score (Anderson, wOLSON et al. 1991)
(Mansour and Al-	Iraa	30-	Ŷ	6293	0.91	71.5	63.4	0.73	Presence of T2DM ^{\$}
Jazairi 2007)	naq	62	3	6693	0.92	76.9	60.5	0.74	Presence of 12D/M
(Mansour and Al-	Iraa	30-	Ŷ	6293	0.91	66.3	63.3	0.70	Presence of hypertension f
Jazairi 2007)	naq	62	3	6693	0.92	75.3	60.4	0.73	Presence of hypertension
(El Din, Zaki et al.	Favot	20-	Ŷ	2670	0.81	65.3	53.4	0.62	Presence of hypertension [£]
2014)	Lgypt	75	3	2880	0.92	64.6	55.8	0.64	resence of hypertension

Table 1.3-5: Diagnostic performance of waist to hip ratio (WHR) in predicting health morbidities using optimal WHR cut-off values based on the shortest distance in ROC curves in Arab adults.

AUC: Area under curve; WHR: waist to hip ratio; FPG: Fasting Plasma Glucose; IDF: The International Diabetes Federation 2005; MetS: Metabolic syndrome; RFs: cardiometabolic risk factors; According to IDF (Alberti, Zimmet et al. 2006), a participant has the MetS if WC \geq 94 cm in men and \geq 80 cm in women) plus any two of these risk factors: (a) FPG \geq 100mg/dL (5.6mmol/L) or previously diagnosed impaired fasting glucose (b) blood pressure \geq 130/85mmHg or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.7mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol: Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for low HDL.

[§] FPG≥126 mg/dL on two occasion or symptoms of diabetes and a casual plasma glucose ≥200 mg/dL.

[£] Blood pressure \geq 140/90mmHg and/or diagnosed.

Health Risks	Country	Age	Gender	Sample size (n)	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC	Comments	
(Assaad-Khalil, Mikhail et al. 2015)	Errent	18-80	Ŷ	1642	-	-	-	0.631	December of the sector of the sector of the sector balls and have a sector of the top	
	Едурі		ð	1567	-	-	-	0.674	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDF.	
(Bener, Yousafzai et al. 2013)	Oatar	> 20	Ŷ	794	0.63-0.50	77.6-96.1	71.5-20.1	0.79	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic sundrome according to IDE	
	Qatar	>20	ð	758	0.58-0.50	75.1-96.6	64.8-24.5	0.74	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syndrome according to IDF.	
(Al-Odat, Ahmad et al. 2012)	Iordan	n 20–85	Ŷ	288	0.61	60.5	78.7	0.75	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic surdrome according to IDE	
	Jordan		ð	212	0.61	69.4	58.3	0.67	Presence of at least two other components of the metabolic syncrome according to DF.	
(Mansour and Al-Jazairi	Iraa	20.62	Ŷ	6293	0.56	82.6	45.1	0.68	Presence of T2DM ^{\$}	
2007)	naq	30-02	ර	6693	0.52	82.2	48.4	0.70		
(Mansour and Al-Jazairi	Iraa	30.62	Ŷ	6293	0.59	78.6	54	0.73	Presence of hypertension [£]	
2007)	naq	30-02	ර	6693	0.55	75.6	63.5	0.76	Presence of hypertension	
(Fl Din Zaki at al. 2014)	Fount	20.75	Ŷ	2670	0.56	61.4	58.9	0.61	Presence of hypertension [£]	
(El Dill, Zaki el al. 2014)	Egypt	20-75	8	2880	0.57	59.7	55.8	0.58	riesence of hypertension	

Table 1.3-6: Diagnostic performance of waist to height ratio (WHtR) in predicting health morbidities using optimal WHtR cut-off values based on the shortest distance in ROC curves in Arab adults.

AUC: Area under curve; WHR: waist to height ratio; FPG: Fasting Plasma Glucose; IDF: The International Diabetes Federation 2005; MetS: Metabolic syndrome; RFs: cardiometabolic risk factors; According to IDF (Alberti, Zimmet et al. 2006), a participant has the MetS if WC \geq 94 cm in men and \geq 80 cm in women) plus any two of these risk factors: (a) FPG \geq 100mg/dL (5.6mmol/L) or previously diagnosed impaired fasting glucose (b) blood pressure \geq 130/85mmHg or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride \geq 150mg/dL (1.7mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol: Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for low HDL.

[§] FPG \geq 126 mg/dL on two occasion or symptoms of diabetes and a casual plasma glucose \geq 200 mg/dL.

[£] Blood pressure \geq 140/90mmHg and/or diagnosed.

1.3.3 Derived equations

1.3.3.1 Percentage of Body fat (%BF) and Total Adipose Tissue Mass (TATM)

The body composition variables including Total Adipose Tissue Mass (TATM), skeletal muscle mass (SMM) and total body fat percent (%BF) are estimated using simple anthropometric and demographic measures.

1.3.3.1.1 Body fat Percent (%BF)

In 1991, Deurenberg et al (Deurenberg, Weststrate et al. 1991) developed a prediction equation (E1) based on simple anthropometric variables (age, BMI and sex) using densitometry measurements to estimate total body fat percentage; this equation has high correlations with Under-Water Weighing measured total body fat (R^2 =0.79, SEE= 41% BF%).

$$(E1) = (1.2 \text{ BMI}) + (0.23 \text{ Age}) - (10.8 \text{ Sex}) - 5.4$$

Lean et al. (Lean, Han et al. 1996) developed regression equations (E2, E3) from waist circumference (WC) adjusted for age to predict total body fat. These equations were derived from body density measured by underwater weighing in 63 men and 84 women. Furthermore, they were tested and validated among independent validation group (146 men and 238 women) aged 18-83 years and obtained in a different population. These equations had the most robust prediction (R^2 =0.69 for men, R^2 =0.75 for women) (Lean, Han et al. 1996) against skin-fold measurements published by (Durnin and Womersley 1974), and found that WC provided almost identical predictive power.

$$(E2)(male) = (0.567 \text{ waist}) + (0.101 \text{ age}) - 31.8$$

$$(E3)(female) = (0.439 waist) + (0.221 age) - 9.4$$

The WHO and others / organisations have different thresholds to categorise individuals against %BF (Table 1.3-7).

	WHO	2004 ^a	AACE/A	ACE	Oreopoul	os et al
Category	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men
Non-obese (%)	<35	<22	-	-	<30	<20
Overweight (%)	35-40.9	22-27.9	-	-	30-37.9	20-24.9
Obese (%)	≥41	≥28	≥35	≥25	≥38	≥25

Table 1.3-7: Body Fat percentage (%BF) classifications

%BF: Body Fat percentage

^a Based on WHO technical report in 2004 (WHO Expert Consultation 2004).

^b Based on AACE/ACE technical report in 1998 (Dickey, Bartuska et al. 1998) recommendation.

^c Based on Oreopoulos et al 2011 (Ho-Pham, Campbell et al. 2011) findings.

AACE/ACE: American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists /American College of Endocrinology; WHO: World Health Organization.

1.3.3.1.2 Total Adipose Tissue Mass (TATM)

Al-Gindan et al (2015) developed new prediction equations (E4, E5) using simple anthropometric variables to estimate Total Adipose Tissue Mass (TATM) (Al-Gindan, Hankey et al. 2015). These equations were derived from magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) measurements in 194 men and 222 women aged 18-88 years. These equations were validated among separate validation groups (94 men and 110 women) aged 18-86 years and high correlations were shown with the validation groups (validation: $R^2 = 0.84$, CV=13%, SEE=3.0 kg). These equations correlated strongly with published anthropometric prediction equations, based on MRI and CT-scans ($R^2=0.70-0.82$). The estimated Total Adipose Tissue Mass (TATM) gave a good prediction power with published prediction equations for total body fat based on UWW ($R^2= 0.7-0.8$), with mean bias 2.5-4.9 kg. It has been assumed that the proportion by weight of the lipid fraction in adipose tissue is 80% (Snyder WS CM 1975; Sohlstrom, Wahlund et al. 1993; Wang, Zhu et al. 2003; Al-Gindan, Hankey et al. 2015). Therefore, the TATM outputs should be multiplied by 0.8 to generate Total Adipose Tissue Fat Mass (TATFM) (Snyder WS CM 1975; Sohlstrom, Wahlund et al. 2003).

(E4)(male) = -12.8 + 0.198 Body Weight (kg) + 0.478 Waist (cm) - 0.147 Height (cm)

(E5)(female) = 24.5 + 0.789 Body Weight (kg) + 0.0786 Age (y) - 0.342 Height (cm)

1.3.3.2 Skeletal Muscle mass (SMM)

Al-Gindan et al., (2014) developed equations (E6, E7) to estimate skeletal muscle mass (SMM) among adult men and women using regression analysis of simple anthropometric and demographic data (Al-Gindan, Hankey et al. 2014). These equations were derived from magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) measurements in 196 men and 227 women aged 18-81 years and were validated among separate validation groups (92 men and 105 women) aged 19-83 years. They had good prediction power with these validation groups (validation: $R^2 = 0.79$, SEE=2.7 kg in men; $R^2 = 0.59$, SEE=2.1 kg in women). However, the anthropometry predicts SMM better in men than in women since this predictor explains the greatest percentage of variation in SMM from MRI.

(E6) SM (male) = 39.5 + 0.665 Body Weight (kg) - 0.185 Waist (cm) - 0.418 Hip (cm) - 0.08 Age (y)

(E7)SM (female) = 2.89 + 0.255 Body Weight (kg) - 0.175 Hip (cm) - 0.038 Age (y) + 0.118 Height (cm)

Meanwhile, Lee et al., (2000) (Lee, Wang et al. 2000) developed an equation (E8) to estimate SMM using simple anthropometric and demographic measures. This equation was developed and cross-validated in non-obese adults (n=244, BMI < 30 kg/m²) and aged \geq 20 years. It gave a good prediction power with validation groups (R² = 0.79, P <0.0001, SEE = 3.0 kg).

(E8) SM (Kg) = 0.244 * body weight (kg) + 7.80 * height (m) - 0.098 * age (y) + 6.6 * sex + race - 3.3

(Sex = 0 for female and 1 for male, race = -1.2 for Asian, 1.4 for African American, and 0 for white and Hispanic).

Baumgartner et al., (1998) recommended generating Skeletal Muscle Mass Index (SMI) by dividing the skeletal muscle mass (kg) by height (m) squared (muscle mass (kg)/height (m)²) (Baumgartner, Koehler et al. 1998). The SMI outputs (kg/m²) are compared with the SMM cut-offs (kg/m²) to assess the low SMM situation for each subject (Chien, Huang et al. 2008). The SMI is defined according to different cut-offs from different ethnic groups as presented in **Table** 1.3-8. The SMI (SMM/square

height(m²)) is used to define low muscle mass using cut-off points (**Table** 1.3-8). Low muscle mass used to be defined as SMI less than 2 standard deviations (SD) below the mean of population. However, a low skeletal muscle mass (less than 2 SD cut-off points) showed low clinical usefulness because of the very low prevalence determined by this definition (Kim, Joh et al. 2014). Furthermore, SMM (kg) to height (m²) is highly correlated with body mass index (BMI) and may identify mostly thin people as having low muscle mass (Kim, Park et al. 2014). Therefore, this method (SMM/square height (m²)) may have limited power to identify low muscle mass in obese people. Weight-adjusted SMM can be used to overcome this limitation. Kim et al found that muscle mass (kg) to fat mass (kg) ratio was significantly associated with metabolic syndrome (Odds Ratio: 5.43, 95% Confidence Interval 2.56–13.34) and brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity (baPWV) (R² =0.57) (Kim, Park et al. 2011). The authors suggested that the muscle mass ratio is a new index of sarcopenic obesity.

Some studies found that the percentage of skeletal muscle mass to body weight (%SMM) was negatively predicting the metabolic risks in adults. %SMM was calculated for each subject by dividing the SMM (kg) by body weight (kg) and multiply the output by 100 as described by Janssen et al., 2002 (Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2002) and Kim et al., 2009 (Kim, Yang et al. 2009). Park and Yoon (2013) among the Korean population reported that %SMM was negatively associated with high triglycerides (Odds Ratio: 0.77; 95% Confidence Interval: 0.61-0.97), High BP (OR:0.72; CI:0.61-0.86), and development of metabolic syndrome (OR: 0.51; CI: 0.40-0.65) (Park and Yoon 2013). In contrast, the authors found that SMI (kg/m²) was positively associated with High TG (OR: 1.40; CI: 1.08-1.82), High BP (OR: 1.31; CI: 1.09-1.57), and development of metabolic syndrome (OR: 2.18; CI: 1.63-2.92) which raise a question regarding the use of SMI in predicting low muscle mass.

				SMM cut o	offs (kg/m ²)	
Code	Reference	Method	Sample Size	Male	Female	Reference group defined
A	Chien <i>et al.</i> , (2008) (Chien, Huang et al. 2008)	BIA ^a	41	<8.87	<6.42	Taiwanese (aged 22–90)
В	Janssen <i>et al.</i> , (2004) (Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2002; Janssen, Baumgartner et al. 2004)	BIA ^a	4,449	Severe: ≤8.50; Moderate: 8.51–10.75; Normal: ≥10.76	Severe: ≤ 5.75 ; Moderate: 5.76-6.75; Normal: ≥ 6.76	NHANES III data on older (≥60 years)
С	Baumgartner <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , (1998) (Rosetta Study) (Baumgartner, Koehler et al. 1998)	DXA (ALM)	199/883	<7.26	<5.45	Elderly Hispanic and non- Hispanic white men and women
D	Delmonico <i>et al.</i> , (2007) (Delmonico, Harris et al. 2007)	DXA	2,976	<7.25	<5.67	Elderly Black and white; Pennsylvania
E	Newman et al., (2003) (Newman, Kupelian et al. 2003) [£]	DXA	2,984	<7.23	<5.67	Elderly Black and white (aged 70-79); Pennsylvania
F	Kelly <i>et al.</i> , 2009 (Kelly, Wilson et al. 2009); (Bijlsma, Meskers et al. 2013)*	DXA (ALM)	1195	<6.19	<4.73	NHANES subjects Whites Americans aged ≥20
G	Kelly <i>et al.</i> , 2009 (Kelly, Wilson et al. 2009) ^{\$}	DXA (ALM)	1195	<6.54	<4.89	Non-Hispanic Whites, Non-Hispanic Blacks, and Mexican Americans aged >20
Н	Kim <i>et al.</i> , 2009 (Kim, Yang et al. 2009; Kim, Park et al. 2014)	DXA (ALM)	526	7.40	5.14	Korean population; These levels Less than two s.d. below the sex-specific normal mean for the young reference group

Table 1.3-8: Skeletal Muscle Mass Cut-offs (kg/m²) based on gender and ethnic groups.

^a Validated against MRI; BIA: Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis; DXA: dual energy X-ray absorptiometry; MRI: magnetic resonance imaging; NHANES III: Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey; ASMM: Appendicular skeletal muscle mass; ALM: Appendicular lean mass; * According to Bijlsma *et al.*, (2013) (Bijlsma, Meskers et al. 2013); [§] Our own calculation based on less than 2 standard deviations below the adult (aged 20-40 years) mean for all three ethnic groups as recommended by European Working Group of Sarcopenia in Older Persons (EWGSOP) (Cruz-Jentoft, Baeyens et al. 2010). [£] These levels were adopted by the International Working Group on Sarcopenia (IWGS)(Fielding, Vellas et al. 2011).

1.3.3.2.1 Low muscle mass and non-communicable diseases (NCDs)

Excess body fat increases pro-inflammatory cytokines and non-esterified fatty acids, which leads to the development of the metabolic diseases including insulin resistance (section 1.2.3.1.1). Several studies have shown strong associations between poor skeletal muscle mass (low muscle mass and poor strength) and NCDs (Table 1.3-9). Muscle is one of the main sites of insulin action, and fat and glucose oxidation (Stump, Henriksen et al. 2006; Han and Lean 2015). It handles from 75% to 95% of all insulin mediated glucose disposal (Stump, Henriksen et al. 2006).

T2DM and metabolic syndrome are associated with a relative reduction of type I muscle fibres (red muscle) (Stump, Henriksen et al. 2006; Han and Lean 2015). Particularly, reduction in skeletal muscle mass (SMM) leads to early onset of insulin resistance due to decreased muscle glycogen synthesis (Petersen, Dufour et al. 2007). As a result, atherogenic dyslipidemia is promoted by diverting energy derived from dietary carbohydrates away from muscle glycogen synthesis into increased hepatic de novo lipogenesis (Petersen, Dufour et al. 2007). Consequently, insulin resistance reduces the ability of insulin to decrease central aortic pressure which leads to premature stiffening of large arteries; and to develop of pulse pressure related complications and systolic hypertension (Choi, Lee et al. 2004). As people age, skeletal muscle decreases and fat mass may be preserved or even increased in people with low muscle mass (Gallagher, Visser et al. 1997; Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2000; Cesari, Kritchevsky et al. 2005; Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013).

Low body muscle mass (SMM) is associated with cardiovascular risk factors including arterial stiffness which may contribute to hypertension (Table 1.3-9) (Ferreira, Snijder et al. 2004; Sampaio, Sampaio et al. 2014). Also, Kim et al 2014 found that the risk of low muscle mass was approximately 2 to 4 folds higher in older adults with T2DM, even after adjusting for age, body mass index, current smoking and other risk factors (using SMI and %SMM) (Kim, Park et al. 2014).

Moreover, Leenders et al (2013) found that leg lean mass and appendicular skeletal muscle mass (kg) were significantly lower in older men (19.1 ±0.3 and 25.9 ±0.4 kg, respectively) with T2DM compared with normoglycemic controls (19.7 ±0.3 and 26.7 ±0.5 kg, respectively) (Leenders, Verdijk et al. 2013).

Muscle mass strength (skeletal muscle fitness) is inversely associated with cardiovascular disease, dyslipidaemia, hypertension, T2DM, metabolic syndrome, obesity as well as premature death (Artero, Lee et al. 2012; Leenders, Verdijk et al. 2013). The concurrence of both obesity and low SM has been reported to increase the risk of metabolic impairment and physical disability more than either low SM or obesity alone (Baumgartner 2000; Dominguez and Barbagallo 2007; Kim, Yang et al. 2009; Lim, Kim et al. 2010; Anoop, Misra et al. 2014). This condition is called sarcopenic obesity by Heber et al. in 1996 (Heber, Ingles et al. 1996). Kim et al found that muscle mass (kg) to fat mass (kg) ratio was positively significantly associated with blood pressure, glucose,

lipid profiles and brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity (baPWV) and been considered muscle mass/fat mass ratio as a new index of sarcopenic obesity (Kim, Park et al. 2011).

Reference	Study type	Country	Age	Gender	Sample size (n)	Comments
(Kim, Kim et al. 2015)	CSS	Korea	19-39	M/F	5,300	In the non-obese subjects ($<25 \text{ kg/m}^2$), the prevalence of MetS, high waist circumference, high triglycerides, and high BP was significantly greater in the low muscle mass group ($<1 \text{ SD}$ below the mean) than in the high muscle mass group.
(Anoop, Misra et al. 2014)	CSS	North India	53.8 ± 10.0	M/F	168	Low fat free mass is associated with arterial stiffening in Asian Indians with T2DM (using PWV)
(Kim, Park et al. 2014)	CSS	Korea	≥65	M/F	414	The risk of low muscle mass was approximately two- to fourfold higher in older adults with T2DM, even after adjusting for age, body mass index, current smoking and other risk factors (using SMI and %SMM).
(Sampaio, Sampaio et al. 2014)	CSS	Japan	≥65	M/F	175	Higher CAVI was positively associated with low SMI in older adults
(Leenders, Verdijk et al. 2013)	CSS	Netherlands	≥65	M/F	92	Leg lean mass and appendicular skeletal muscle mass (kg) were significantly lower in older men with T2DM compared with normoglycemic controls.
						SMM%: Negative association with High TG, Dysglycemia, High BP, Development of MetS.
						MFR: Negative association with High TG, Dysglycemia, High BP, Development of MetS.
(Park and Yoon 2013)	CSS	Korea	20-75	M/F	838	SMM (kg): positive association with High TG, Dysglycemia, High BP, Development of MetS.
						SMI: positive association with High TG, Dysglycemia, High BP, Development of MetS
(Abbatecola, Chiodini et al. 2012)	CSS (longitudinal)	USA (black & white)	70–79	M/F	1136	A positive association exists between PWV and age-related muscle mass decline using SMI, lean mass in arms, legs and skeletal muscle mass (over 6 year follow-up).
(Kohara, Ochi et al. 2012)	CSS	Japan	67.2±8.8	M/F	1024	Thigh muscle cross-sectional area was negatively associated with brachial-ankle PWV in men.
(Srikanthan and Karlamangla 2011) (NHANES III)	CSS	USA	≥20	M/F	13,644	The highest quintile of SMI (the ratio of total SMM to total body weight) and the ratio of total skeletal muscle mass (estimated by bioelectrical impedance) were associated with improved insulin sensitivity and lower risk of transitional/pre- or overt diabetes mellitus.
(Atlantis, Martin et al. 2009)	CSS	Australia	35-81	М	1195	Odds for present IDF MetS increased for lower muscle mass (Whole-body LM (%)). Significant PAR% due to lowest muscle mass was 31% for the IDF MetS.
(Ferreira, Snijder et al. 2004)	CSS (longitudinal)	Netherlands	36.5 ±0.6	M/F	336	Peripheral lean mass was inversely associated with stiffness of the carotido-femoral segment (over 23 year follow-up).

Table 1.3-9: Evidence table for association between diabetes status and hypertension, and low muscle mass defined by various indices (SMI (kg/m²), SMM (kg) and %SMM)

BP: blood pressure; CAVI: cardio-ankle vascular index; MFR: Muscle mass to body fat ratio; MetS: Metabolic syndrome; NHANES III: The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey; SMI: Skeletal muscle mass; PAR%: Population attributable risk (PAR%); PWV: Pulse wave velocity; SD: standard deviation; CSS: Cross-sectional study.

1.4 Nutritional prevention and management of NCDs

Although the primary causes have not been fully elucidated, many of the risk factors associated with NCDs are lifestyle related and thus, modifiable (WHO/FAO 2003). NCDs can be prevented early (WHO 2003). Appropriate lifestyle modifications such as diet, physical activity and weight loss have been recognised to be similar, or even more effective, than medical interventions in preventing or delaying the onset of NCDs in high risk people (Goldman and Cook 1984; Tuomilehto, Lindström et al. 2001; Group 2002; Appel, Champagne et al. 2003; Molitch, Fujimoto et al. 2003; Elmer, Obarzanek et al. 2006; Beaglehole, Bonita et al. 2011).

In 2012, a meta-analysis on 8 randomized controlled trials were conducted to evaluate the effect of lifestyle modifications (including dietary and physical activity modifications) on resolution of metabolic syndrome (MetS) and improvement of the values of MetS components (Yamaoka and Tango 2012). This meta-analysis reported that the relative proportion of subjects with resolved MetS in the lifestyle modification group was approximately 2.0 (95% CI 1.5 to 2.7) times greater in the modification group compared with the control group. The authors found also that the lifestyle modification significantly reduced mean values for Systolic BP by -6.4 mmHg (95% CI -9.7 to -3.2), Diastolic BP by -3.3 mmHg (95% CI -5.2 to -1.4), triglycerides by -12.0 mg/dl (95% CI -22.2 to -1.7), WC by -2.7 cm (95% CI -4.6 to -0.9), and fasting blood glucose by -11.5 mg/dl (95% CI -22.4 to -0.6). In 2007, a meta-analysis of 80 weight-loss clinical trials with a minimum 1-year follow-up found a mean weight loss of 5% to 9% was observed during the first 6 months from interventions involving a reduced-energy diet and/or weight-loss medications with weight plateaus at approximately 6 months (Franz, VanWormer et al. 2007). Also, it found that in studies extending to 48 months, a mean 3% to 6% of weight loss was maintained with none of the groups experiencing weight regain to baseline. However, it found that advice-only and exercise-alone groups had minimal weight loss at any time point.

WHO has recommended tobacco control, salt reduction, improved diets and physical activity, reduction in hazardous alcohol intake, and essential drugs as a top priority for tackling NCDs and has considered this a public health target (Beaglehole, Bonita et al. 2011). However, these targets will not be achieved without fully elucidating the factors affecting the behavioural change such as knowledge, perceptions and factors influencing food choices and food behaviours amongst the community.

1.4.1 The role of dietary modification in protecting against NCDs

1.4.1.1 Salt reduction

As discussed earlier (Section **1.2.3.2**), reducing salt intake for long term and less than 6 grams per day (<100 mmol salt per day) lowers the blood pressure and subsequently reduces the occurrence of cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) in general population including normotensive and hypertensive populations (He, Markandu et al. 2005; Cook, Cutler et al. 2007; He, Li et al. 2013; Johnson, Raj et al. 2015). Based on this body of evidence, national and international authorities have launched recommendations to reduce daily sodium intake to reduce blood pressure and risk of cardiovascular disease, stroke and coronary heart disease in adults.

The WHO strongly recommends that adults should not consume more than 5 g of salt per day (2 g sodium per day) (WHO 2007). In SA, this recommended level was adopted in the "Dietary Guidelines for Saudis: Healthy Food Palm" in 2012 (MOH 2012), and the national "Diet and Physical Activity Strategy (DPAS)" in 2014 (MOH 2014). In the United Kingdom, the Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN), in 2003, made a recommendation to reduce the average salt intake of the population to <6 g per day (2.3 g per day) (SACN 2003). In the United States, the 2015 Dietary Guidelines for Americans recommended a reduction of daily salt intake to 6 g salt per day (2.3 g sodium per day) and further reduction in salt intake to 3.8 g salt per day (1.5 g sodium per day) among individuals who are aged >51 years and those of any age who are African American or have diabetes, hypertension, or chronic kidney disease (USDA 2015) (Table 1.4-1).

Guideline	Sodium (Na)	Salt (NaCl)	Country
	(g/day)	(g/day)	
USDA (USDA 2015; DeSalvo, Olson et al. 2016)	< 2.3	< 6	USA
WHO (WHO 2007; WHO 2012)	<2	< 5	WHO
SACN (SACN 2003)	< 2.3	< 6	UK

Table 1.4-1: Recommendations for reduction of salt (sodium) Intake for general population.

WHO: World Health Organization; SACN: Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition; UK: United Kingdom; USA: USDA: United States of America; USDA: United States Department of Agriculture;
1.4.2 Factors influencing food choices, behavior and nutrition

1.4.2.1 Social and psychosocial determinants

Different reviews identified several determinants affecting food choices including social determinants such as education, marital status, having children and family peers; psychosocial determinants such as attitudes, beliefs, intention, self-efficacy, social support, motivation and knowledge; economic determinants such as cost and income; physical determinants such as accessibility, availability, cooking skills, living area and time; and biological determinants such as age, food properties (e.g. satiety, palatability) and gender (Sørensen, Møller et al. 2003; EUFIC 2005; Kamphuis, Giskes et al. 2006; Shaikh, Yaroch et al. 2008; Engler-Stringer 2010; Guillaumie, Godin et al. 2010; Krølner, Rasmussen et al. 2011; Mayén, Marques-Vidal et al. 2014; Higgs 2015).

1.4.2.1.1 Psychosocial determinants

There are many models that have been used to explore the psychosocial determinants of healthy lifestyle including healthy eating. The Theory Planned Behaviour (TPB), the Health Belief Model, the Theory of Reasoned Action and the Social Cognitive Theory, and Trans Theoretical Model are amongst the most commonly used models (EUFIC 2005).

The theory of Planned Behaviour (Ajzen 1988; Ajzen 1991) is one of social-psychological models frequently used to examine factors influencing behaviours and behavioural intensions (Ajzen 1991). This theory was considered to be one of the more relevant theories to design evidence-based interventions (Ajzen 2011; Ajzen 2015). It identifies these factors via the consideration of seven main constructs: socio-demographic, attitudes towards behaviour (ATT), subjective norms (SN), perceived behavioural control (PBC) (or self-efficacy), actual barriers to behaviour, intentions, and behaviours. The TPB model assumes that ATT, SN, and PBC lead to the foundation of a behavioural intention, and that intention is anticipated to be the direct former of behaviour (Figure 1.4-1). Consequently, behavioural intention occupies the motivational factors that influence behaviour, for example, to eat nutritionally balanced diet. Ajzen (2011) also has argued that other factors such as socio-demographic characteristics or a personal nature, are expected to indirectly influence intentions and behaviour by affecting the intention's determinants ATT, SN and PBC (Ajzen 2011). A schematic representation of the theory is shown in Figure 1.4-1.



Figure 1.4-1: The theory of planned behaviour (TPB) model - adapted from (Conner and Sparks 2005).

Understanding the determinants that induce behaviours and behavioural intensions towards healthier eating practices in adults will enhance the effectiveness of nutritional education interventions and food and nutrition policies in the prevention and mitigation of NCDs. Although many studies examine certain aspects of lifestyle and dietary behaviours amongst the Saudi population, the vast majority of these studies did not assess the influencing factors on food choices and food behaviours.

- Attitude towards the behaviour (ATT)

Intention is assumed to be determined by "behavioural beliefs" which refers to the perceived positive or negative consequences of performing the behaviour and the subjective values or evaluations of these consequences. Consequently, behavioural beliefs that are readily accessible in memory lead to the formation of a positive or negative attitude toward the behaviour (ATT) (Ajzen 2015).

- Subjective norms (SN)

Intention is assumed also to be determined by perceived behaviours and expectations of important referent individuals or groups, combined with the person's motivation to comply with these referents. These considerations are called "normative beliefs", and these normative beliefs are readily accessible in memory to produce "subjective norm" or perceived social pressure with respect to perform the behaviour. Therefore, "subjective norms" are a perceived social pressure to engage or not to engage in behaviour toward a more balanced diet (Ajzen 2015).

- Perceived behavioural control (PBC) (Self efficacy)

The perceived presence of factors that can influence a person's ability to perform the behaviour is called "control beliefs". These factors to facilitate or interfere with behavioural performance have a perceived power to produce a certain level of "perceived behavioural control" or as called "self-efficacy" (Bandura 1977) in relation to the behaviour (Ajzen 2015).

- Actual barriers to behaviour (ABB)

Actual barriers to behaviour (ABB) refer to objective barriers that influence whether or not a person can do certain behaviours, rather than the respondents' beliefs about barriers (Conner and Sparks 2005; d'Ardenne, McManus et al. 2011). In addition, actual barriers can control behaviour regardless of intention (e.g. level of knowledge toward the behaviour, lack of time or costs) (Conner and Sparks 2005).

In a recent systematic review and meta-analysis (2015), found TPB variables (ATT, SN and PBC) had medium to large associations with intention and behaviour (McDermott, Oliver et al. 2015). The authors found that the attitudes towards the behaviour had the strongest association with intention (ATT, r = 0.54) followed by perceived behavioural control (PBC, r = 0.42) and subjective norm (SN, r = 0.37). However, the authors stated that the associations between TPB key variables and behaviour were significantly lower both for choosing and avoiding nutritionally balanced diet; and they strongly suggest that researchers should carefully consider the nature of the behaviour being exhibited prior to selecting the theory (McDermott, Oliver et al. 2015). In 2011, a meta-analysis found that the TPB model provide strong predictions of intention and behaviour across a range of health behaviours (McEachan, Conner et al. 2011). The authors found that physical activity and dietary behaviours were better predicted by the model. In addition, Guillaumie et al., (2010) investigated the efficacy of these psychosocial different models in predicting fruit and vegetable consumption, the authors reported that the Theory of Planned Behaviour, as well as the Social Cognitive Theory are the preferable models to predict fruit and vegetable consumption in adults (Guillaumie, Godin et al. 2010).

1.4.2.2 Nutrition and health guidelines in SA

Nutrition and health guidelines (NHG) aimed at optimising the community health by promoting healthy eating and lifestyles (Willett 2013). Khan (2000) developed dietary recommendations, goals and guidelines for optimising health in SA, and it was expected

that these dietary recommendations and goals would be achieved by 2005 (Khan 2000). However, looking at the results of recent national surveys (Table 1.1-1) none of these recommendations were achieved. The "Dietary Guidelines for Saudis: Healthy Food Palm" in 2012 (MOH 2012), and the national "Diet and Physical Activity Strategy (DPAS)" in 2014 (MOH 2014) were introduced by the Ministry of Health (MOH) in SA to improve the quality of the Saudi lifestyle toward diet and physical activity. However, none of these guidelines has national dietary targets and goals to be achieved by a stated time and hence evaluated. Furthermore, SA developed a country cooperation strategy (CCS) with WHO (2012–2016) aimed at addressing the country's health priorities and challenges, including nutritional and dietary issues (WHO 2013).

As a result of the CCS, the Regional Office of Eastern Mediterranean in WHO (WHO/EMRO) organised and developed a consultation with the goal of establishing strategic interventions regarding the reduction of dietary salt and fat (including trans fats) in the Eastern Mediterranean Region (WHO/EMRO 2013). In the latter report, it was suggested that the national salt consumption should be reduced by 30% by 2025. The WHO/EMRO (2013) also proposed various work plans aimed at tackling these issues, namely: changing public behaviours through public awareness and education campaigns; establishing food and nutrition policies, including pricing policies; reformulating food products, and; improving research in this field.

1.5 Assessing dietary intake

Epidemiological studies demonstrate significant associations between dietary habits and chronic diseases such as obesity, cardiovascular diseases, hypertension, T2DM and cancer (WHO/FAO 2003; Wild 2004; Bingham 2007; Dodd 2008; Kastorini 2009; Koning 2011). In SA, there is increasing trend of fast food use (Naeem 2012; ALFaris, Al-Tamimi et al. 2015). ALFaris et al. showed that nearly 25% of adolescent girls and young adult girls consumed fast food twice or more weekly and nearly 56% of them consumed fast food daily. Burgers were the main kinds of fast food meals (70%) usually consumed by the study participants, followed by pizza (33%) and French fries (30%) (ALFaris, Al-Tamimi et al. 2015). However, there are no national dietary surveys to give more accurate details. Reliable information on actual levels of consumed foods has to be generated through representative consumption surveys (WHO/FAO 2003). Therefore, dietary assessment methods can be used to collect the dietary consumption data at the national, household or

the individual level and also at long-term and short-term stages (Block 1989; Rutishauser 2005; Bingham 2007; FAO 2008; Thompson 2013).

There are different methods been developed, implemented, and evaluated in a number of countries such as United Kingdom, some European Countries and United States of America for assessing dietary intake and nutritional status at a national and individual levels (Lester I H 1994; Jerome 1997; Ministry of Health 2003; Resano-Pérez 2003; Ashwell 2005; Ministry of Health 2006). The Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ), 24 Hour diet recall, and Dietary Record are the most commonly used methods in epidemiologic studies to assess long-term nutritional exposure to nutrients and its relation to some nutritional and health issues (Willett 1998; Rutishauser 2005; Rutishauser 2007; Thompson 2010; Sam 2012; Boeing 2013).

1.5.1 24-hour diet recall

The 24-Hour diet recall is interviewer administered, so literacy of the respondent is not required (Baranowski 2013). During the interview, the subject is asked to recall and report all the foods and beverages consumed in the preceding 24-hours or preceding day (Thompson 2013). The interview also can be done by phone (Posner, Borman et al. 1982; Casey, Goolsby et al. 1999) or computerized system (Slimani, Deharveng et al. 1999; Raper, Perloff et al. 2004; Subar, Thompson et al. 2007; Moshfegh, Rhodes et al. 2008). However, this method needs well trained dieticians and multiple interviews to reflect the usual dietary intake which is potentially increasing the cost, time, logistical, and personnel constraints (Baranowski 2013; Thompson 2013). This method also relies on subject's memory which is a source of error especially with people with minimum or impaired memory or cognitive functioning such as children and older people (Michael Nelson 2003; Thompson 2013). This limitation was minimised by developing a new multiple pass (steps) method to help the subject remember all consumed foods including additional foods (Conway, Ingwersen et al. 2003; Raper, Perloff et al. 2004).

1.5.2 Dietary Records

In the Dietary Record or diary method, the subjects are asked to record all consumed foods and beverages at the time that foods are eaten, to minimize reliance on memory for one or more days (Baranowski 2013; Thompson 2013). To represent the usual intake, the subjects need to record their diet for several days due to day-to-day variation. However, this may lead the subjects to change their eating behaviour in order to ease the burden of recording, or as a response to increased awareness of their food choices through their participation for long time (Johnson 2002; Pattersen 2013). Moreover, literacy is required in this method which may limit its application in some population groups (Baranowski 2013; Thompson 2013). There is also evidence that subjects tend to under-report their energy intake when using this method which may distort the links between dietary data and the health risks (Hill and Davies 2001; Trabulsi and Schoeller 2001; Rennie, Coward et al. 2007).

1.5.3 Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ)

The Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) is a commonly used instrument to evaluate long-term usual dietary intake and assess its relationship with chronic diseases (Margetts 1997; Willett 2012). FFQ is also considered to be one of the most practical methods used in epidemiological studies (Thompson 1994). Despite the low cost and ease of administration of this questionnaire, it suffers from random and systematic errors as other dietary intake assessment methods (Margetts 1997; Subar 2001; Westerterp 2002; Thompson 2010). However, these limitations can be minimised by using an accurate specific-population data such as selection of specific-population portion sizes; developing a representative food list based on other national studies (24-h method and Dietary Records); and creating a nutrient database based on national food composition tables; (Teufel 1997 ; Kroke A 1999; Cade 2002; Cade 2004; Subar 2004; Willett 2007; Dehghan 2012; Palmer 2012).

FFQ need to be developed and validated for specific populations because foods are culturedependent (Cade 2002). The validity of the FFQ data can be assessed by comparing its outcomes with repeated dietary recalls, human body biomarkers, and/or total energy expenditure data (Nelson 1997; Kroke A 1999; Cade 2004; Gibson 2005; Serra-Majem 2009; Willett 2012). It is required to validate the estimated nutrients by FFQ against recovery biomarkers, for example potassium by urinary potassium, sodium by urinary sodium and protein by urinary nitrogen (Bingham 2003; Tasevska, Runswick et al. 2006; Munehiro, Tsutomu et al. 2012). The 24-hour urine collection is considered as a "gold standard" method to measure sodium intake, capturing 85-90% of consumed sodium (Schachter, Harper et al. 1980; Holbrook, Patterson et al. 1984; Shepherd, Farleigh et al. 1985; Bingham 1987; Elliott and Brown 2007; Bates, Thurnham et al. 2009; Van Dam and Hunter 2013). FFQ are considered as sufficiently valid when the correlation coefficients between FFQ and the reference method whether estimated dietary intake or human body biomarker, is 0.50 and more (Willett 2012). Additionally, the Bland–Altman method should be implemented to determine if there is any systematic difference between the two methods (bias), and to what extent the two methods agree (limits of agreement) (Cade 2002).

Several FFQs were validated to assess salt intake in different countries apart from Saudi Arabia. Table **1.5-1** illustrates the reliability and validity of different FFQs against dietary assessment methods or 24-hour urinary collection method to assess daily salt intake.

Table 1.5-1: Comparison of validation results of FFQ against 24h dietary recall (MP24-HR), food records (FR), and 24h urinary excretion (UE)to assess salt (sodium) intake

Defense	Sample Size (n)	Ite	Valid	Age	Crude-r		Energy-adjusted r		LO	LOA (Lower- Upper)		Agre	Adjace		Sen	Spec	Ka	Weighte	Comments		
Reference		(n)	Sample Size (n)	(years)	24- HR	FR	U E	24- HR	FR	U E	24- HR	FR	U E	e (%)	nt (%)	Opp osite	(%)	(%)	рр а	d Kappa	Comments
(Jayawardena, Byrne et al. 2016)	77	85	77	≥18	-	NS	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	7-day weighed-intake dietary records (Sri Lanka)
(Freedman, Commins et al. 2015)	2265	-	2265	≥40	-	-	0. 16	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Pooled data, black, white/other, (United States)
(Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015)	120	22 9	120	30-70	0.38	-	-	0.2 9	-	-	-	-	-	38	56	6	-	-	-	0.29	Two MP24-HR and mean four FFQs Turkish adults
(Maruyama, Kokubo et al. 2015)	58	84	58	47-78	-	0.32- 0.39	-	-	0.43- 0.48	-	-	-	-	53- 55	31-38	16-7	-	-	-	-	Urban, Japanese, middle-aged population
(Pereira, Bensenor et al. 2015)	15,105	11 4	8,257	35-74	-	-	0. 1	-	-	-	-	-	-	23	35	42	-	-	-	0.18	12-hour urinary excretion
(Talegawkar, Tanaka et al. 2015)	468	11 0	468	26-95	-	-	-	-	0.27	-	-	-	-		72	28	-	-	-	-	3-d FR, Hispanic and non-Hispanic white (energy adjusted)
(Elorriaga, Irazola et al. 2015)	147	12 6	147	21-74	0.33	-	-	0.4 7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Three MP24-HR (Argentinan, Chile and Uruguay adults)
(Macedo-Ojeda, Vizmanos-Lamotte et al. 2013)	97	16 2	97	18-71	-	0.25	-	-	0.22	-	-	-	-		58	42	-	-	-	-	9-d FRs (men and women (Mexico))
(Dehghan, Ilow et al. 2012)	146	13 4	146	30-70	0.19- 0.46	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	66- 75	-	-	-	-	-	-	Four MP24-HDRs (Polish adults)
(Dehghan, del Cerro et al. 2012)	156	96	156	35-70	0.32- 0.40	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	29- 31	39-43	32- 26	-	-	-	-	Four MP24-HDRs (Argentinian adults)
(Na and Lee 2012)	305	13 8	305	≥40	-	0.59 8	-	-	0.51	-	-	-	-	55	27	18	-	-	0.2 6	0.42 (0.34- 0.49)	3-days FRs (Korean)
(Sam 2012)	132	14 7	132	30-59	-	0.36	-	-	0.27	-	-	49- 290 %	-	75	-	-	-	-	-	-	8-dWeight FRs and compare with previous studies
(Zhuang, Yuan et al. 2012)	207	86	207	30–75	0.34	-	-	0.3 2	-	-	-	-	-	37	37	26	-	-	-	0.2	Four MP24-HDRs
(Hong, Choi et al. 2010)	1478	85	85	33-70	-	0.41 7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.2 2	0.34 (0.19- 0.49)	3-days FRs (T2 DM Korean)
(Carithers, Talegawkar et al. 2009)	436	15 8	436	35-81	-	-	-	0.2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Four MP24-HDRs
(Ferreira-Sae, Gallani et al. 2009)	132	50	121	18-85	-	-	0. 19 £	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	24 H UE & 3-d FRs Low-income and low-literacy Brazilian hypertensive

*Continued overleaf

Defense	Sample Size (n)	Ite	Ite	Ite	Ite	Valid	Age		Crude-r	•	Ener	gy-adjus	ted r	LOA (Lower- Upper)			Agre	Adjace		Sen	Spec	Ka	Weighte	Commente
Reference		ms (n)	(n)	(years	24- HR	FR	UE	24- HR	FR	U E	24- HR	FR	U E	e (%)	nt (%)	Opp osite	(%)	(%)	ppa	d Kappa	Comments			
(Lassale, Guilbert et al. 2009)	74	17 4	74	31-60	-	-	0.35	-	-	-	-	-	-	31	53	16	-	-	-	0.31	Two 4-day Weight FRs (Australian women) (C-FFQ)			
(Lassale, Guilbert et al. 2009)	74	17 4	74	31-60	-	0.69	-	-	-	-	-	63- 215 %	-	37	55	8	-	-	-	0.55	Two 4-day WFR (Australian women) (C-FFQ)			
(Charlton, Steyn et al. 2008)	324	42	324	20-65	0.7 5	-	0.15	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Repeated 24 H UE (multi-ethnic South African)			
(Block, Wakimoto et al. 2006)	89	10 3	89	18-71	0.5 3	-	-	0.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Three MP24-HDRs Low- income (Hispanic)			
JACC Study 2005 (Date, Fukui et al. 2005)	110000	33	85	20-79	-	0.35	-	-	0.31	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	12-days weighed FRs			
(George, Milani et al. 2004)	95	19 5	95	18-38	-	-	-	-	0.24	-	-	-	-	21	69	10	-	-	-	-	3-day FRs (College women - multi-ethnic Americans)			
(George, Milani et al. 2004)	50	19 5	50	18-38	-	-	-	-	0.28	-	-	-	-	30	64	6	-	-	-	-	4-day FRs (low-income women - multi-ethnic Americans)			
(Sasaki, Ishihara et al. 2003)	89	11 0	89	-	-	-	NS	-	-	N S	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	28-Days FRs & two 24-H UE (Japanese)			
(Kabagambe, Baylin et al. 2001)	503	13 5	120	-	-	-	-	0.2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Seven MP24-HDRs & two FFQ (Hispanics)			
EPIC-Norfolk 2001(McKeown, Day et al. 2001)	204	13 0	146	45-74	-	0.45- 0.47	0.18- 0.20	-	0.44- 0.52	-	-	-	-	FR:3 4	FR:60	6	-	-	-	-	7-d FRs (European)			
(Sasaki, Yanagibori et al. 1998)	223	11 0	223	-	-	-	NS	-	-	0.2 3\$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Single 24-H UE(Japanese)			
(Sasaki, Yanagibori et al. 1998)	47	11 0	47	38-69	-	0.41	-	-	0.3	-	-	-	-	30	66	4	-	-	-	-	3-day FRs (Japanese women)			
(Männistö, Virtanen et al. 1996)	160	11 0	160	25-75	-	0.22	-	-	0.42	-	-	-	-		64	36	-	-	-	-	7-day FRs (Japanese women)			

⁵ Significant in women only.
 ⁶ Significant correlation when the discretionary salt was added to the FFQ.
 C-FFQ: computerised FFQ; K: Kappa; FFQ: food frequency questionnaire; MP24-HR: 24 H dietary recall; FR: food records; Sen: Sensitivity; Spec: Specificity; UE: 24-H urinary excretion; Valid: Validation; WK: Weight Kappa; LOA: Limit of Agreement.

Chapter Two

General Materials and Methods

2.1 Overview

This chapter outlines the general materials and methods used throughout this thesis. The thesis contains three main studies divided over six chapters (Chapter 3 to 8). This thesis was undertaken in the broad research area of nutritional assessment and management of NCDs in Saudi Arabia (SA) aiming to fill many gaps and answer various questions. Briefly, the first study examines the validity of salt intake using a newly developed FFQ and its relationship with hypertension among SA adults. The second study is a secondary data analysis examining the performance and reliability of body composition measures in predicting NCDs in a large sample in SA. The third study explores the factors impacted on the intention of people to adopt nutritionally balanced diet. Figure 2.1-1 shows the three studies which were carried out during this PhD and their relevant analyses. Methods specific to each study are described in detail in the relevant chapters.



Figure 2.1-1: General study design and relevant analysis for studies 1, 2 and 3.

2.2 Dietary salt intake study

2.2.1 The study rationale

As reviewed in Chapter 1, there is a strong body of evidence supporting the association between chronically high sodium intake (in the form of salt – NaCl) and occurrence of hypertension (Meneton, Jeunemaitre et al. 2005; He and MacGregor 2009; Blaustein, Leenen et al. 2012; He and MacGregor 2015; Johnson, Raj et al. 2015) as a major influential factor to the development of CVDs such as stroke and heart diseases (He, Burnier et al. 2011; Soga and Pandey 2011). SA experiences a high prevalence of CVDs including hypertension (Al-Nozha 2004; Al-Nozha, Al-Mazrou et al. 2005). Several studies have assessed the relationship between dietary salt intake and CVDs, and the main dietary sources of salt in different countries around the world. However, salt intake has not been assessed in Saudi Arabia and the main dietary sources of salt have not been examined. Thus, salt intake in SA should be assessed as well. Therefore, this study aims to answer the following research questions:

RQ1: Is the food frequency questionnaire a reliable and valid tool to assess salt intake in Saudi Arabia? (**Chapter 3**)

RQ2: Does salt intake vary with socio-economic characteristics; is salt intake related to blood pressure in SA; and what are the main sources of dietary salt in Saudi Arabia? (**Chapter 4**)

2.2.2 Study design and sampling

The study of the salt intake used a cross-sectional study design. This study was conducted in Riyadh city during October and November 2013 and included males and females aged 19 to 60 years. Subjects on kidney dialysis and pregnant women were excluded from this study. A FFQ was developed and pretested among participants similar to those who were included in the actual survey. The FFQ food list is culturally-based and expatriates have different eating patterns which may have affected the findings of this study (Amin, Al Sultan et al. 2014). Therefore, expatriates were not included in this study. The Kuwaiti Semi-Quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (Dehghan 2005) was used to design the present study questionnaire, as it is culturally relevant. Information describing Saudi food intakes is limited. Details of nutrient intakes from

broad food groups, (Al-Nozha M 1996) were collected in 1987 and published in 1996. More detailed food intake data from Saudi adults have not been published. Thus, 24-hour recalls from 19,598 men and women from all over SA (Al-Nozha M 1996) were used to derive the food lists for the Saudi Food Frequency Questionnaire whereas the Kuwaiti FFQ was used to design the main food groups of the present FFQ.

Repeated multiple pass 24-Hour dietary recalls (24-HDR) and urinary biomarkers for a sub-sample of the population were collected. The 24-HDR was carried out twice in non-consecutive days including weekends and to minimize the source of error of repeated food recalls, a standardization of interviewers was carried out to ensure that they trained dietitians on the proper ways to generate food intake using a multiple pass method. This was acquired using an interview similar to the USDA 5-Step Multiple (Conway, Ingwersen et al. 2003). If the participant was interviewed on the weekend the second interview was on a weekday and vice versa, by telephone. In every round of 24-HDR interview, each day was weighted appropriately to produce a synthetic week as the following equation (E2) (Liu, Wang et al. 2013):

E2: Mean daily intake =
$$\frac{(\text{weekday} \times 5) + (\text{weekend} \times 2)}{7}$$

The two main stages to collect the dietary intake data are clarified in Figure 2.2-1. More details clarified in chapter 3.



Figure 2.2-1: Study procedures.

2.2.3 Ethical considerations

The study was conducted in accordance with the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Saudi National Committee of BioEthics (Appendix 1). All procedures were approved by the Saudi Food and Drug Authority Ethical Committee (SFDA-IRB). Each volunteer was given an information sheet and the chance to discuss their participation before they agreed to take part. They were asked to sign two copies of a consent form. One was kept by the volunteer and the other kept by the researcher. All volunteers were informed that they could stop their participation at any time.

2.2.4 Data Collection

The survey tools (FFQ, and 24-HDR, socio-demographic, and 24-hour urinary instructions and record forms) were designed to fulfil the objectives of this survey. The tools were translated into Arabic and were back-translated by an independent translator to ensure the accuracy of translation. The Arabic FFQ was pre-tested on 52 eligible respondents for wording and understanding of the questions, and necessary adjustments were made in FFQ in light of the pre-test. In addition, the draft Saudi-FFQ was distributed among three senior dietitians in the Saudi Food and Drug Authority and King Saud University with known expertise in dietary assessment for review and comments. The components of the survey tools are shown in Table 2.2-1.

Table 2.2-1: Variables assessed within the study

Category	Variable	Measurement instrument
Demographic	Age, sex, marital status, children, family members,	Individual interview and interviewer-
characteristics	Socio-economic status (education, income, occupation, health insurance)	administered questionnaires at survey site
Medical history	Chronic health conditions and non-communicable diseases (hypertension, Type 2 Diabetes, High Triglyceride, High	Interviewer-administered questionnaires
	Cholesterol, Anemia, Osteomalacia, Heart Disease, Kidney Disease, Liver Disease, Stomach Ulcer, Cancer)	at survey site
Lifestyle-related factors	Physical activity (Sedentary Lifestyle, light activity, moderate activity, high activity and very high activity).	Interviewer-administered questionnaires at survey site
	Usual diet (No special diet, Vegetarian, Weight reduction diet, Diabetic diet, Low salt diet, Low Fat/Cholesterol diet,	Interviewer-administered questionnaires
	and other special diets.	at survey site
Dietary Intake	Food Frequency Questionnaire	Saudi Food Frequency Questionnaire
	Repeated 24-h dietary intake	Multiple Pass 24-Hour Dietary Recall
Physical measurements	Height	Stadiometers (Detecto, USA)
	Weight	Electronic scales (Seca, Germany)
	Waist and hip circumferences	Non-stretchable and pushbutton
	Blood pressure	Automatic sphygmomanometer (Omron M6 Comfort (HEM-7223-E), Japan)
Urine	Sodium	Atomic absorption
measurements		spectrophotometer (AA-6650, Shimadzu
(24- hour)		Co. Ltd., Japan)
	Potassium	Atomic absorption
		spectrophotometer (AA-6650, Shimadzu
		Co. Ltd., Japan)
	Creatinine	kinetic Jaffe´ technique
	Para-Amino Benzoic Acid	High performance liquid chromatography
		(HPLC)
	Nitrogen	Kjeldahl technique (Kjeltec 2300
		analyser, Foss, DK)
Participants	To assess which dietary method the participants preferred (FFQ or MP24-HDR) and why?	Interviewer-administered questionnaires
Burden	To assess whether the participants faced any difficulty in describing their food intake; describing the amount their food	at survey site
	intake; or facing other difficulties during the survey.	
	10 assess whether the answers of the participants reflecting their real intake [*]	

* Opinions of the dietitians who worked in the research field.

Three temporary investigation centres were built in large retail centres in areas of contrasting socio-economic status in Riyadh city. Each centre was divided to two investigation rooms for female and male participants. Each room was designed to ensure the privacy and comfort of the participants as well as investigators. Each room was fully equipped with the required research instruments as well as games for children who joined their parent in the investigation centres. For food portion sizes estimation, every room was equipped by household measures such as cups, spoons and Standardised Portioned Plates (SPP), and food models and printed visuals on the room wall. Stadiometers (DETECTO–8528-M063-O1, USA), electronic scales (SECA-813, Germany), non-stretchable and pushbutton measuring tapes, and Automatic sphygmomanometers (OMRON-HEM7223, Japan) were also provided. The study was conducted by the researcher with assistance of eleven trained dietitians.

A sub-sample (n=71) received verbal and written instructions on how to of collect the urine samples for 24 hours and how to use the Para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) tablets. PABA was used to verify the completeness of the urine collections. Urine collections with <85% PABA recovery were considered in-complete and removed from further data analyses (Bingham 1983). Also, used was a urinary creatinine index (UCI) to verify the completeness of the urine collections: urinary creatinine excretion (UCE) (mg) adjusted for body weight (kg) and time (24 hours). Any level of UCI falling outside the range of 11–20 and 14–26 (mg/kg) for women and men respectively was excluded (Hristova EN 2001; Burtis and Ashwood 2012).

2.3 Body composition study

2.3.1 Study rationale

As discussed in the introduction (Section 1.3.2), the performance and accuracy of BMI is questionable in assessing obesity and consequently in assessing its relationship with NCDs, especially among non-Caucasian population. Therefore, it is important to assess the performance and accuracy of BMI and other alternative obesity measures in Saudi Arabia and its relationship with NCDs. Also, muscle mass (SMM) has been advocated as one of the factors linked with NCDs and its related risk factors, such as T2DM and hypertension, in some epidemiological studies. However, this factor has not been fully examined in non-Caucasian populations especially in Arab populations. Therefore, it is

important to assess the performance and accuracy of SMM in Saudi Arabia and its relationship with NCDs. Therefore, this study aimed to answer the following research questions:

RQ3: Are body composition measures influenced by age; does the body mass index agree with waist circumference for predicting NCDs; and does skeletal mass index represent the muscle mass status in the body? (**Chapter 5**)

RQ4: Are skeletal muscle mass indices better metrics to estimate the likelihood of having metabolic diseases? (**Chapter 6**)

RQ5: Is BMI alone or a combination of BMI and WC the better metric to estimate the likelihood of having metabolic diseases in Saudi Arabs? (**Chapter 7**)

2.3.2 Study design and sampling

This study was a secondary analysis of integrated data from the Saudi National Surveys (Saudi Health Information Survey (SHIS) and Saudi National Health Survey (SNHS)), the Riyadh Region Surveys (two), and the Riyadh Validation Survey (RVS). Both Saudi National Health Surveys sample the population using a multistage stratified cluster random sampling of private households, using a national sampling frame maintained and updated by the SA Census Bureau, to provide nationally representative data on healthrelated variables (WHO-STEPwise 2005; Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014). Both Riyadh region surveys are the capital-wide Biomarker Screening in Riyadh region (BSR), a collaborative effort between the Biomarkers Research Program (BRP) of King Saud University (KSU) and the Ministry of Health in Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (RIYADH Cohort) (Al-Daghri, Al-Attas et al. 2011). Subjects were recruited randomly from their homes using the cluster sampling strategy and their information was taken from the existing database of more than 17,000 subjects in Rivadh region (Al-Daghri, Al-Attas et al. 2011). The RVS sampled the population at large retail centres in areas of contrasting socio-economic status in Riyadh city during October and November 2013 (Alkhalaf, Edwards et al. 2015).

In 2016, the SA Census Bureau revealed that nearly 11.6 million (36%; out of 31.7 million) non-Arab Saudis are living in Saudi Arabia from different ethnic groups such as

Indians, Pakistanis, Filipinos, etc. (MOEP 2016). However, Arab Saudi nationals only were included in the study.

2.3.3 Ethical considerations

All studies were conducted in accordance with the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Saudi National Committee of BioEthics. All procedures were by the local Institutional Review Boards (IRB). All volunteers provided written informed consent to participate in the study.

2.3.4 Data Collection and analysis

This secondary data analysis included males and females aged 18 years and over. Both SHIS and SNHS included younger age group 15-17 years old. However, we excluded this age group from our analysis. Pregnant women and expatriates (through National ID) were also not included in this analysis. The data were accessed after taking permission from BRP program in King Saud University and the Ministry Of Health, Public Health Deputy Minster, General Directorate for Control of Genetic & Chronic Diseases, SA.

Subjects of all surveys were interviewed by a trained interviewer to collect information on anthropometric measure, socio-demographic factors, dietary habits, lifestyle (smoking, physical activity), and health conditions. Height, weight, waist and hip circumferences (WC, HC) were measured by trained professionals (WHO-STEPwise 2005; Al-Daghri, Al-Attas et al. 2011; Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014; Alkhalaf, Edwards et al. 2015). All anthropometric measurements followed specified protocols using calibrated scales and non-stretchable plastic tapes. The body composition variables including Total Adipose Tissue Mass (TATM), skeletal muscle mass (SMM) and total body fat percent (%BF) were estimated using simple anthropometric and demographic measures. Consenting adults were asked to fast overnight (10-hour) before blood withdrawal. Blood samples were drawn, centrifuged and processed on the same day. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure was measured twice within 20 minutes using validated upper arm automatic sphygmomanometer.

Individual data sets of each survey were checked for consistency with previously published results. Then, all the samples were combined in one single dataset. The same collection methods and the same (or similar) sample design were used in all studies apart from RVS which is a convenience sample. However, RVS provided similar anthropometric results compared with SHIS (weight: 75.5 vs. 75.6 kg; height: 163.4 vs. 163.3 cm; WC: 88 vs. 90.4 cm, respectively). Also, the RVS (84% and 16%) closely represents the adult population in SA (20-44 and 45-60 years, respectively) compared to the adult population Saudi census (80% and 20%, respectively) in 2010 (Ministry of Economy and Planning 2010). These indicate suitability of surveys data to be combined. Biologically implausible values for anthropometric measures were excluded using two steps (details described in Chapter 5, Section 5.2).

2.4 Knowledge and perceptions study

2.4.1 The study rationale

As explained earlier (Chapter 1, Section 1.4), appropriate lifestyle modifications such as diet, physical activity and weight loss have been recognised to be similar, or even more effective, than medical interventions in preventing or delaying the onset of NCDs in high risk people. Nutritional knowledge is one of the main influential factors to improve behaviour of healthy eating and lifestyle towards health and overall wellbeing (McCullough, Feskanich et al. 2002; Kolodinsky, Harvey-Berino et al. 2007). Although many studies examine certain aspects of lifestyle and dietary behaviours amongst the Saudi population (Epuru and AlMuqrn ; Bani and Hashim 1999; Khattab, Abolfotouh et al. 1999; Al-Rethaiaa, Fahmy et al. 2010; ALFaris, Al-Tamimi et al. 2015), the vast majority of these studies did not assess the influencing factors including knowledge on food choices and behaviours. Therefore, the hypothesis is that the lack of knowledge and awareness is affecting the population intention toward nutritionally balance diet. Thus, this study aimed to answer the following research questions:

RQ6: Are Saudi adults aware of the existing nutrition and health guidelines and does their awareness best predict the psychosocial constructs to eat a nutritionally balanced diet? (**Chapter 8**)

RQ7: Is nutritional knowledge the best predictor of intention to eat a nutritionally balanced diet among the psychosocial constructs using TPB? (**Chapter 8**)

2.4.2 Study design and sampling

A cross-sectional study was conducted on a sample of Saudi men and women aged 18 years and older. No expatriates were included in this study since they have different eating patterns which may influence the current study outcomes (Amin, Al Sultan et al. 2014). Internet use in SA has increased from 13% of the total population (3 million) in 2005 to 64% (19.6 million) in 2014 (Al-Tawil 2001; Al-Saggaf 2004; CITC 2014). In 2010, 93% of Saudi people aged 19 to 25 years, and 70% of people older than 45 years are using the internet (Simsim 2011). Therefore, participants of the study were recruited online via email, social media (Twitter and Facebook) and snowball recruitment, in December 2015 and January 2016.

The sample size of the study was calculated based on the records of the 2010 census (Ministry of Economy and Planning 2010). In a total of 13,226,393 Saudi adults in SA aged 18 years and over (6,521,284 women and 6,705,109 men), with absolute precision on either side of the proportion (the margin of error) of 5%, 95% confidence interval and variance in population of 50% (having sufficient nutritional knowledge), calculations resulted in a sample size of 384 individuals (Lwanga S and S 1991; Systems 2015). Since men have poorer knowledge than women regarding nutritionally balanced diets (Parmenter, Waller et al. 2000), a cluster effect of 2 was applied on the primarily sample size. Based on pretesting sample, the completion rate of the questionnaire was 42% (Section 3.2.4). Therefore, the final sample size is 1090 which is able to represent the Saudi population.

2.4.3 Ethical considerations

The study was conducted in accordance with the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects provided online informed consent to participate in the study. All procedures were approved by the University of Glasgow College of Medicine, Veterinary Medicine and Life Sciences (MVLS) Ethical Committee.

2.4.4 Data collection

The survey questionnaire was developed to answer the research questions above (RQ 6 and RQ 7). This questionnaire included question assessing the awareness of survey participants towards existing government policies and guidelines in Saudi Arabia. Also, this questionnaire assessed the knowledge of the Saudi adults regarding a nutritionally

balance diet. Our study considered the knowledge of a nutritionally balance diet as a perceived barrier which is one of the components of Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) model. The term "nutritionally balanced diet or healthy eating" has been defined in this study as being a diet low in fat and salt, and high in fruit and vegetable consumption, based on current dietary recommendations. The questionnaire included also questions regarding socio-demographics, physical activity, medical condition, health insurance, demographics, and self-reported anthropometric measurements (height, weight, and waist and hip circumferences). The study questionnaire was piloted in a community group (n=40) not involved in the main study to ensure that the content, flow and number of questions were appropriate for the aims of the study as well as identifying technical problems which might occur using proposed methods. Detailed information regarding components of the study questionnaire is shown in Chapter 8, section 3.2.3.

2.5 General statistical analysis

Detailed presentations of the statistical analysis performed for each study is presented in relevant chapters. First, all thesis data were initially tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables were shown as median and interquartile range (IQR) or mean and standard deviation (SD) as appropriate. Differences in means or medians were assessed using the Student's T-test or ANOVA or the non-parametric equivalent tests. The Tukey post hoc test was applied in ANOVA tests. The Chi-Squared (χ^2) test was used to determine significant differences in proportions among categorical survey variables. Where the number of expected subjects in a cell was below five, Fisher's exact test was used.

Spearman's or Pearson correlations (as appropriate) were determined to see the relation between continuous variables (r \pm 1). Regression analysis (linear and logistic) was performed to explore potential relationships between study variables such as age and vs. salt intake; salt intake vs. blood pressure; age vs. body composition; and body composition vs. metabolic risks. The 95% confidence interval (95% CI) of correlation and regression outcomes was estimated. Kappa (k) analysis was performed (Sim and Wright 2005) to measure inter-tertile agreement between dietary methods. Statistical significance was set at P<0.05 except body composition chapters where Bonferroni correction test (p-value/n.of tests). All statistical tests were performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software, version 21.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Chapter Three

Validation of a food frequency questionnaire specific for salt intake in Saudi Arabian adults, against urinary biomarker and multiple pass 24-hour dietary recalls

3.1 Introduction

In 2008, approximately 40% of adults aged 25 and above, worldwide, were diagnosed with hypertension, which is responsible for more than 9 million deaths annually (WHO 2013). The incidence of obesity and overweight has risen dramatically, not only in high-income countries, but also in low- and middle-income countries (Flegal, Kit et al. 2013). Obesity represents a worldwide public health challenge as populations increase their per capita caloric intake and adopt sedentary lifestyles (Omari 2007). Obesity and overweight are estimated to be responsible for more than 36 million deaths annually (63% of global deaths) (WHO 2014) and they are considered major contributors to the development of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) including hypertension (WHO 2008).

SA suffers from a high burden of NCDs such as cardiovascular diseases, hypertension and T2DM (Al-Nozha 2004; Al-Nozha 2004; Al-Nozha, Abdullah et al. 2007; Kilpi 2014). In 2005, the Saudi National Health Survey (SNHS) found a high prevalence of hypertension (26%) in SA (Al-Nozha, Al-Mazrou et al. 2005), while the more recent National Health Survey (SHIS) a prevalence of 15.2% (El Bcheraoui, Memish et al. 2014). There is a strong body of evidence supporting the association between chronically high sodium intake (in the form of salt - NaCl) and occurrence of hypertension (Meneton, Jeunemaitre et al. 2005; He and MacGregor 2009; Blaustein, Leenen et al. 2012; He and MacGregor 2015; Johnson, Raj et al. 2015), a major influential factor to the development of CVDs such as stroke and heart diseases (He, Burnier et al. 2011; Soga and Pandey 2011).

A meta-analysis of randomized trials Long term reduction of salt intake to less than 6g/d lowered blood pressure by 7/4 mmHg (P<0.001 for both SBP and DBP) in hypertensives and 3.6/1.7 mmHg in normotensive individuals (SBP: P<0.001; DBP: P<0.05); and reduced cardiovascular diseases such as stroke by 24% and ischaemic heart disease (IHD) by 18% (He and MacGregor 2002; He, Li et al. 2013).

There is dearth of information on habitual salt intake in SA apart from one study which is not representative of the general population (Alkhunaizi, Al Jishi et al. 2013), further confounded by inclusion of samples from potential kidney donors and patients who underwent treatment for nephrolithiasis. It is important to better understand the relationship between diet, food consumption levels and patterns, and these emerging chronic diseases (Bingham 2007). This would allow the development and implementation of cost-effective interventions and preventive strategies in the community such as food fortification and nutrition education and awareness programmes, and lifestyle modification campaigns (West 2009). Reliable information on the actual levels of foods consumed should be generated through representative consumption surveys, using appropriate dietary assessment methods (WHO/FAO 2003).

Different methods have been developed, implemented, and evaluated in a number of countries (such as the UK, some European countries and the USA) to assess usual dietary intake and nutritional status at national levels (Lester I H 1994; Jerome 1997; Ministry of Health 2003; Resano-Pérez 2003; Ashwell 2005; Ministry of Health 2006). Food Frequency Questionnaires (FFQ), 24-hours diet recall, and dietary record are the most commonly used methods in epidemiological studies to assess long-term nutritional exposure to nutrients, and its relation to nutritional and health issues (Rutishauser 2007). However, it is important to develop more accurate and valid instruments to investigate the habitual food consumption of specific population because foods are culture-dependent.

The 24-Hours diet recall (24-HDR) is interviewer-administered, so is less dependent on the literacy of the respondent (Baranowski 2013). During the interview, the respondent is asked to recall and report all the foods and beverages consumed in the preceding 24-hours (Thompson 2013). The interview can be done by phone with valid data collection (Posner, Borman et al. 1982; Casey, Goolsby et al. 1999) or computerised system (Slimani, Deharveng et al. 1999; Raper, Perloff et al. 2004; Subar, Thompson et al. 2007; Moshfegh, Rhodes et al. 2008). However, this method needs well trained dietitians and multiple interviews to reflect the usual dietary intake increasing the cost, time, logistical, and personnel constraints especially in big national surveys (Baranowski 2013; Thompson 2013). This method also relies on the respondent's memory a source of error for diet recalls especially with people with minimum or impaired memory or cognitive functioning such as children and older people (Michael Nelson 2003; Thompson 2013). This limitation was minimised by developing a new multiple pass (steps) method to help subjects remember all consumed foods (Conway, Ingwersen et al. 2003; Raper, Perloff et al. 2004).

The Dietary Record or diary method requires subjects to record all consumed foods and beverages at the time that they are eaten for one or more days, to minimize reliance on memory (Baranowski 2013; Thompson 2013). To represent their current habitual intake subjects need to record their diet for several days (i.e. 2-7 days). A comparison of methods showed that a 7-day record (estimated record) showed the next highest correlation with biomarkers compared to a FFQ and a 24-HDR (Bingham, Gill et al. 1997). However, this may lead subjects to change their eating behaviour in order to ease the burden of recording, or as a response to increased awareness of their food choices through participation for long time (Johnson 2002; Pattersen 2013). Moreover, higher literacy levels are required from the subjects, limiting its application in some population groups (Baranowski 2013; Thompson 2013). There is also evidence that the subjects tend to under-report their energy intake when using this method, which may distort the links between dietary data and health risks (Hill and Davies 2001; Trabulsi and Schoeller 2001; Rennie, Coward et al. 2007).

The Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) is a commonly used instrument for evaluation of long-term dietary intake, over a defined period in the past (usually 3-12 months), and to assess relationships with chronic disease (Margetts 1997; Willett 2012). FFQ is especially practical for epidemiological studies as it is easier to analyse automatically and cheaper (Thompson 1994). However, the method suffers from higher risk of random and systematic errors than other dietary intake assessment methods (Margetts 1997; Subar 2001; Westerterp 2002; Thompson 2010). These limitations can be reduced by selection of specific-population portion sizes; developing a representative food list based on other national studies (24-h method and Dietary Records); and creating a nutrient database based on national food composition tables (Teufel 1997 ; Kroke A 1999; Cade 2002; Cade 2004; Subar 2004; Willett 2007; Dehghan 2012; Palmer 2012).

FFQs need to be developed and validated for specific populations because foods are culturespecific (Cade 2002). The validity of the FFQ data outcomes can be assessed by against repeated dietary recalls, human biomarkers, and/ or total energy expenditure (Serra-Majem 2009; Willett 2012). Nutrients estimated by FFQ should be validated against recovery biomarkers, for example potassium by urinary potassium, sodium by urinary sodium and protein by urinary nitrogen (Bingham 2003; Tasevska, Runswick et al. 2006; Munehiro, Tsutomu et al. 2012). The 24-hour urine collection is considered a "gold standard" method to measure sodium intake capturing 85-90% of consumed sodium (Bates, Thurnham et al. 2009; Van Dam and Hunter 2013). FFQ is considered as sufficiently valid when the correlation coefficients between FFQ and the reference method (whether estimated dietary intake or human body biomarker) is 0.50 and more (Willett 2012). However, correlation coefficients in method agreement studies can be misleading (Bunce 2009). The higher correlations typically depends on the range of measures being assessed, with wider ranges being assessed but not as a result of better agreement between the methods being assessed (Bland and Altman 1986; Bunce 2009). Alternatively, the Bland–Altman method (the limits of agreement (LoA) technique) should be implemented to determine if there is any systematic difference between the administration of FFQ and reference methods (bias), and to what extent the two administrations agree (limits of agreement) (Cade 2002). A few studies have characterized the performance of FFQ against validated biochemical measures of intake in Saudi Arabia but none for salt intake.

Information describing Saudi food intake is limited: data on energy and nutrient intakes from broad food groups were collected in 1987 by Al-Nozha, using a single 24h food recall (Al-Nozha M 1996). More detailed food intake data from the general population of Saudi adults at national level have not been published since, apart from one national study describing the food groups using a diet history method (Moradi-Lakeh, El Bcheraoui et al. 2016). Various small studies have been conducted on an irregular basis in SA, such as hospital-based which cannot be used as a proxy of general population. These studies did not represent the dietary behaviours or nutritional status of the population due to small sample size and targeted population. Some of these studies were conducted in SA using FFQs developed and validated among varied non-Saudi populations (Abalkhail 1998; Alamri F.A. 2014). To the knowledge of the researcher, there is no validated Saudi specific FFQ, apart from two semiquantitative FFQs for the assessment of vitamin A (Alissa 2005) and, zinc, phytic acid and protein intake (Alsufiani, Yamani et al. 2014). Furthermore, there are no data on habitual salt intake in SA, apart from one study in the Eastern region which is not representative for the general population and did not find any relationship between 24-hour urinary sodium excretion and blood pressure (BP) (Alkhunaizi, Al et al. 2013). Traditionally, some of Saudi traditional foods are rich in salt such as lentil soup, fava beans (foul medammes), shakshuka omelettes, and chick pea dishes (Al-Nozha M 1996). Therefore, the research question to be raised in this chapter is:

- Is the food frequency questionnaire a reliable and valid tool to assess salt intake in Saudi Arabia?

3.2 Methodology and materials

3.2.1 Population

A cross-sectional study was conducted in males and females (19 to 60 years). Those on kidney dialysis and pregnant women were excluded. No expatriates were included in this study. Participants were selected using a 2 stratified cluster sampling procedure, male and female being the strata because they have different salt intake (Sauvageot, Alkerwi et al. 2013). The participants were recruited at large retail centres in areas of contrasting socio-economic status in Riyadh, during October and November 2013.

The sample size of the study was calculated based on the records of the 2010 census (Ministry of Economy and Planning 2010). There were a total of 1,903,190 adults in Riyadh city aged 19-60 years (969,075 men and 934,115 women). The absolute precision on either side of the proportion (the margin of error) was estimated at 0.05 (5%) whereas the level of confidence was based on 95% confidence interval. The variance in population was estimated to be 0.5 (50%). Our calculations resulted in a primary sample size of 384 individuals. The non-completion rate was 19% based on pilot study (Section 3.2.2.2.4). The percentage of mis-reporting using FFQ is 29% (Subar, Kipnis et al. 2003). The final sample size was calculated as 568.

A power analysis was performed to estimate the sample size required to detect a correlation between sodium intake for FFQ and 24HDR with correlation coefficient (R) = 0.10 (Block, Wakimoto et al. 2006) which is the lowest correlation coefficient level between these methods to satisfy the all scientific power needs. With 95% power, and α of 0.05, samples ranging from 99 subjects would be needed for this study. Overall underreporting of energy intake using 24-HDR was 73% (Novotny, Rumpler et al. 2003). Therefore, the final sample size for analysis was estimated to be 171 subjects. Also, the power analysis was performed to estimate the sample size required to detect a correlation between sodium urinary excretion and sodium intake for FFQ with an R ranging from 0.19 (McKeown, Day et al. 2001) which is the lowest R to satisfy the all the scientific power needs. With 95% power, and α of 0.05,

it was calculated that samples ranging from 48 subjects would be necessary for this study. The response rate of 24-h urine was reported to be 58% and the completion rate of urine samples using para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) to verify the completeness of the urine collections among Scottish population were 25% (SCSR/FSA 2011). The final sample size for analysis was estimated to be 88 subjects.

Therefore, the sample sizes used in this study were n=171 to detect the relationship between sodium intake for FFQ and 24HDR, and n=88 to detect the relationship between sodium urinary excretion and sodium intake for FFQ.

The study was conducted in accordance with the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Saudi National Committee of BioEthics (Appendix 1). All volunteers provided written informed consent to participate in the study (Appendix 2). All procedures were approved by the Saudi Food and Drug Authority Ethical Committee (SFDA-IRB).

3.2.2 Data collection

3.2.2.1 Socio-demographics and blood pressure

The socio-demographic information was collected from the participants. Systolic and diastolic blood pressures were measured twice within 20 minutes in sitting position. More details in **Chapter 2.**

3.2.2.2 Dietary data

Forty-nine dietitians (28 females and 16 males) attended a two-day workshop, covering the background and purpose of the study, the methodology and procedures. This comprised teaching and practical sessions designed to familiarise them with the rationale for the study, the methodology and fieldwork procedures. This included practical demonstration of how to accurately; collect the participants' socio-demographic and dietary intake data using the Saudi-Food Frequency questionnaire (FFQ) and Multiple Pass 24-Hour Dietary Recall methods (24-HDR); and to measure the participants' height, weight, waist and hip circumferences, and blood pressure. Also, it included a practical elucidation of the para-amino benzoic acid (PABA) tablets, urine collection containers and hats, urine containers,

Urine Collection Record sheet and Urine Collection Instructions' sheet that participants would use for collecting 24-hour urine samples. It was followed by one-day workshop to ensure that each trainee was shown the instrument of the survey and allowed to practise using it. All the investigators were provided with the study procedures manual which contained full details of data collection and processing procedures such as standardized anthropometric, physical, biological and dietary assessment procedures used throughout the study.

3.2.2.2.1 Saudi Food Frequency Questionnaire

The validity of a FFQ is highly dependent on precise portion size estimation, representative food list selection, and nutrient content assumptions for each food item on the list (Block 1989; Thompson 2013). The Kuwaiti Semi-Quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (Dehghan 2005) was used to design the present study questionnaire, as it is culturally relevant. Information describing Saudi food intakes is limited. Details of nutrient intakes from broad food groups, (Al-Nozha M 1996) were collected in 1987 and published in 1996. More detailed food intake data from Saudi adults have not been published. Thus, 24-hour recalls from 19,598 men and women from all over SA (Al-Nozha M 1996) were used to derive the food lists for the Saudi Food Frequency Questionnaire whereas the Kuwaiti FFQ was used to design the main food groups of the present FFQ.

The Saudi-FFQ includes 133 foods or food groups and 9 adjustment questions, and was designed to assess typical dietary habits over the previous year in Riyadh city population (

Table 3.2-1). The Saudi- FFQ was double translated, from English to Arabic and then from Arabic to English by different translators) (Appendix 3). Mean nutrient intake were estimated from the Saudi-FFQ using the product-sum method with following equation (E1)(Willett 2009; Jaceldo-Siegl, Knutsen et al. 2010):

E1: Daily nutrient intake= Σ [(reported consumption frequency of a food item; converted to times per day) \times

(portion size consumed of that food)×(amount of that nutrient in a standard serving size of that food)]

Table 3.2-1: Food categories	and items in the Food	Frequency Questionnaire
------------------------------	-----------------------	--------------------------------

Food	Food items
Doing	Milly Labor Chasses White share (Este Meggaralle and Spread Chasses), Chadder Chasses Verwet
Dall y Products	Labrah: Ice cream: and Quashta (Cream)/Gaymar
Fruits	Fresh Fruit Salad; Tinned Fruits (all kinds); Apple; Banana; Strawberry and Raspberries; Oranges and Mandarin; Grapefruit; Plums, Peaches /Nectarines, or Apricots; Dates: Dry dates (<i>Tammer</i>), Fresh Dates (<i>Ruttab</i> , refrigerated); Pears, Pineapple, Kiwi, Figs, or Cherries; Grapes; Olives; Dried Fruits (e.g. Figs, Apricots, Raisins, Peaches); Watermelon; Other Melons (e.g. Canteloupe, Galia or Honeydew); Mango; and Pomegranate.
Vegetables	Cabbage (fresh and cooked); Mixed Vegetable Salad (fresh); Mixed Vegetables (cooked); Cauliflower, Broccoli or Brussels sprouts (cooked); <i>Tabouleh</i> ; Green leafy vegetables; (<i>Molokhia</i> , Spinach, Coriander), Okra & Green Beans; Peas (cooked)/ (<i>Bazelah</i>); Carrots; Tomatoes; Mushrooms; Leeks; Cucumber; Lettuce; Beetroots; Sweetcorn; Onion; Beans (Fava, Red, White and Soya beans), Lentils, Chickpeas (cooked); Baked beans; Boiled potatoes; Fried potatoes (French fries); and Potato crisps.
Meat, Fish and Eggs	Boiled Egg; Fried eggs, Scrambled eggs or Omelettes; Chicken or Turkey (boiled, grilled or fried); Lamb or Mutton as a sandwich or mixed dish (e.g. <i>Kabsah</i> , Stew, Casserole, Spaghetti, Lasagne etc.); Lamb or Mutton as a main dish (eg. Steak, roast, in gravy etc.); Beef as a sandwich or mixed dish (e.g. <i>Kabsah</i> , stew, casserole, Spaghetti, Lasagne etc.); Beef as a main dish (eg. Steak, roast, in gravy etc.); Camel Meat cubes; Burgers (beef burger or Chicken Burger); Fried fish; Grilled or steamed fish; Canned tuna, Salmon, Mackerel, or Sardine; Prawn or Shrimps; Mussels, Oysters, Scallops or Cockles; and Organ meat (liver, brain, heart).
Mixed Dishes	Vegetable soup; Chicken soup with cream; Lentil soup; Oat meal Soup; Jareesh (Gerish), Marqooq, Harees, Mataziz, or Qorsan; Saleeq; Marasia (Marassia); Aseeda (Asseda); Rice (Kabsah, Beriani, Bukhari or Mandi) without meat; Rice with Vegetables (Maqloobah) without meat; Kebbah; Mottabaque w/ egg (Muttabagh); Stuffed vegetables (Vine leaves, Cabbage, Squash); Eggplant (Aubergine), Zucchini (Marrow) (cooked) (Mussakaah or Moussaka); and Lasagne.
Breads, Cereals and Starches	Breakfast cereals (corn flakes); White bread (<i>Samoli, Tabonah, Tannor</i> , Toast, Pita); Brown bread (<i>Samoli, Tabonah</i> , toast, Pita); <i>Tamees</i> or Irani bread with sesame; Pasta Spaghetti and Macaroni; Dates Biscuits; and Other Biscuits and crackers.
Beverages, Juices and Drinks	Regular Coffee and Instant coffee (e.g. Nescafe); Arabic Coffee; Coffee Whiteners e.g. Coffee-mate; Regular fizzy soft drink (e.g. Cola, lemonade, etc.); Low calorie (diet) fizzy soft drink; (e.g. Cola, lemonade, etc.); Black Tea; Green tea; Fruit squash or cordial; Hot chocolate/ Cocoa drinks; Horlicks/ Ovaltine/ Nesquik/ Milo; Mineral water (not in other drinks) (<i>Sehha</i>); Tap water (not in other drinks); Pure fruit juice (orange, apple,etc.); and Energy drinks.
Sweet Baked Goods	Cream caramel; Halawah Tahinah (Tahini); Doughnuts; Basbousah and Konafah; Mohallabiah; Klijah & Lugimat Al-Ghadi (Lugimat); Cake; Arabic sweets Baklawa; Chocolate; Honey; Jam; and Mayonnaise.
Seeds and	Almond; Cashew nuts; Peanut; Pistachio; Walnut; Hazelnuts; Pecan nuts; Chestnuts; Mixed nuts; Seeds (Sunflower Melon Sesame seeds): Peanut butter
Fats, Oils (Spread on bread)	Butter; margarine; or other spread or oil on bread
Sugar	added to drinks and on cereals or deserts

3.2.2.2.2 Multiple Pass 24-Hour Dietary Recall (24-HDR)

Participants completed the interview administered and repeated Multiple Pass 24-Hour Dietary Recall (24-HDR) lists. The 24-HDR was carried out twice in non-consecutive days including weekends and to minimize the source of error of repeated food recalls, a standardization of interviewers was carried out to ensure that they trained dietitians on the proper ways to generate food intake using a multiple pass method. This was acquired using an interview similar to the USDA 5-Step Multiple (Conway, Ingwersen et al. 2003). This

includes five steps; Quick List, Forgotten Foods, Time and Occasions, Detailed Description of consumed food, and Review the recalled information. In Step one a quick list of foods and beverages consumed were collected. In step two, a review was made into foods that have been documented as frequently forgotten, such as milk with coffee or cereal. The time and occasion for the consumed foods were acquired in step three. In step 4, a description of foods and the amounts of consumed foods were obtained. Step 5 contains probes into completeness of the food recall. If the participant were interviewed in weekend day the second interview was in weekday and vice versa by telephone. In every round of 24-HDR interview, each day was weighted appropriately to produce a synthetic week as the following equation (E2) (Liu, Wang et al. 2013):

E2: Mean daily intake =
$$\frac{(\text{weekday} \times 5) + (\text{weekend} \times 2)}{7}$$

Fast food and hot takeaway meals contain more added salt, therefore eating fast food seems to have an adverse effect on diet quality (Rasmussen, Lassen et al. 2010; Jaworowska, Blackham et al. 2012). So, the participants been asked how frequently they eat from restaurants and takeaways.

3.2.2.2.3 Dietary data analysis

The FFQ and the 24-HDR were coded manually for calculations of total energy, energyyielding nutrients, minerals and vitamins, and food items. A dietary analysis database was developed especially to fulfil the objectives of present study using data from the Saudi food composition tables (Al-Nozha M 1996; KFSH&RC 2002). If any data on food composition did not exist, the Food composition tables for Arab Gulf countries (Gulfoods) (Musaiger 2012) or the McCance and Widdowson's Composition of Foods (Paul and Southgate 1991) were used to generate the alternative food composition variables. During the interview, participants were asked choose their portion sizes using household measures (e.g., cups, plates or spoons), and food models, Standardised Portioned Plate (SPP) (for food composite or mixed foods) and printed visuals to estimate portion sizes of consumed foods.

3.2.2.2.4 The FFQ pre-testing

The first version of the culture-specific Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) was tested among 52 Saudi students aged 19-60 years old living in the city of Glasgow, United Kingdom and Saudi citizens living in Riyadh city, Saudi Arabia. All the participants in this pretest were similar to those who were included in the actual survey. The draft Saudi FFQ was distributed among three senior dietitians with known expertise in dietary assessment to review and comment. Each subject was asked to answer all questions provided. The subjects were instructed to report on the following; questions difficulty, ambiguity, time taken, and the appropriateness and accuracy of the portion size measures. Subjects were also were instructed to report on the completeness of the food list, wording, sequence, form and layout of the FFQ. The completion rate of the subjects was also tested (81%) (Quigley 1997; Teufel 1997; O'Leary 2005; SA McNaughton 2005; Malhotra 2006; McNaughton 2007). The Pretesting comments and suggestions are illustrated in Table 3.2-2.

Pre-test criteria	Comments and Suggestions
Structure	Horizontal instead of vertical, frequency options should be in all pages, missed frequency
	squares (6.3 & 6.8), Rearrange the food items as the natural groups.
Frequency Options	Rearrange the Frequency options to start from day to month instead of month to day.
Repeated (Duplicated) food	Meat, grapes, pears.
items	
Food items Should be added	Shaborah (Rusk), Energy Drinks, brown sugar, corn sugar, green tea, weight reduction foods,
	soya milk, special dietary use formula, artificial sweeteners, sports foods, Ghurabah, Barazeq,
	Jelly, and Fish and Homourr (mixed dish).
Shortening the FFQ	The FFQ is so long, it should be shorten.
Portion sizes	It is difficult to estimate and mach some portion size measures with the targeted food item
	e.g.1 cup potatoes & meat in grams. It has been suggested to use table spoon instead of cup in
	butter portion; and <i>shawarma</i> portion size is missed.
Other suggestions	Use traditional names, queeker instead of oat meal soup and Pepsi or Coca Cola instead of
	cola.

3.2.2.3 Urine collection (24 hours)

A sub-sample received verbal and written instructions on how to of collect the urine samples for 24 hours (Appendix 4). Subjects were provided a container prefilled with 10g boric acid to collect urine. Urine samples were collected in an opaque container to prevent degradation of para-aminobenzoic acid compounds) and then stored in an insulated bag with ice. No incentives were provided to the participants. Para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) was used to verify the completeness of the urine collections (Bingham 1983). Subjects received verbal and written instructions on how to use para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) tablets (PABAcheck; Glostrup Apotek, Glostrup, Denmark). Urine collections with <85% PABA recovery were considered in-complete and removed from further data analyses (Bingham 1983).

Also, we used a urinary creatinine index (UCI) to verify the completeness of the urine collections which is urinary creatinine excretion (UCE) (mg) adjusted for body weight (kg) and time (24 hours) as the following equation. Any level of UCI falling outside the range of 11–20 and 14–26 (mg/kg) for women and men respectively was excluded (Hristova EN 2001; Burtis and Ashwood 2012). This approach for identifying the completeness of 24-Hour urine collection has been used in some previous studies (Malekshah, Kimiagar et al. 2006). The urine volume was recorded and urine aliquoted to three parts (50mls) each and immediately stored at –80°C until analyses of nitrogen, PABA, potassium and sodium were made.

E3: UCI (mg/kg) = UCE (mg)/body weight (kg) X 24

The urinary creatinine was determined by the kinetic Jaffé technique developed by Bartels and Böhmer (1971) (Bartels and Böhmer 1971). The concentration of sodium in urine was determined by atomic absorption spectrometry using an AA-6650 atomic absorption spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan). The median daily salt intake (NaCl) from urinary sodium (Na) excretion was estimated by the following equation (Dickinson BD 2007) considering that the most of the sodium in the diet is ingested in the form of sodium chloride (Elliott and Brown 2007); and the most ingested sodium is excreted via the kidneys (Dahl 1958).

E4: Nacl
$$(g/day) = (Na (mmol/day)x 58.5)/1000$$

3.2.3 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software, version 21.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Normality of variables was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Continuous variables were shown as median and

interquartile range (IQR) using descriptive statistics. The validity of the FFQ intake was assessed in terms of its ability to rank individuals according to estimate levels of nutrient intake. Thus, the differences in median intake of dietary components between the FFQ and each of the two other tools (24-HDR and 24-Hour urine excretions) were examined by using the Wilcoxon test to compare differences of continuous variables. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05. Spearman's correlation was performed to assess the relation between the FFQ and each of the two other tools (24-HDR and urinary sodium). Correlations were found to be moderate between 0.4 and 0.7 (Willett 2012). Validity coefficients were also calculated between the unknown true salt intake and the intake estimated from the FFQ, 24-HDR and urinary excretion (Figure 3.3-2) using the Triangulation method (Triad) (Ocke and Kaaks 1997; Yokota, Miyazaki et al. 2010) as implemented by others (McNaughton, Marks et al. 2004; Combet and Lean 2014). Bootstrap sampling was used to construct confidence intervals (CI) around the validity coefficients (Yokota, Miyazaki et al. 2010). A total of n=1,000 bootstrap of study sample to assess the validity coefficients between FFQ, and urinary excretions and 24-HDR (Efron 1987).

The Bland Altman method (Bland and Altman 1986) was used to evaluate the agreement between the FFQ, and 24-HDR and 24-Hour urine excretions which plots the individual differences between the two measurements against the mean of the measurements. Linear regression analysis was performed to test for the presence of proportional bias on the study variables. Linear and Quadratic weighted kappa (k) values (Sim and Wright 2005) were calculated to measure inter-tertile agreement between FFQ, and 24-HDRand 24-Hour urine excretions. The values obtained for k were interpreted according to the cut-off points proposed by Landis and Koch (1977) (Landis and Koch 1977); thus, values of less than 0.21 indicate poor agreement, 0.21 to 0.40 fair agreement, 0.41 to 0.60 moderate agreement, 0.61 to 0.80 substantial agreement, and greater than 0.80 almost perfect agreement. Also, the salt scores were cross-classified into tertiles to evaluate the ability of both methods to classify individuals similarly in broad categories of salt intake. Tertiles were defined for both assessment methods and urinary salt outputs separately. The overall percentage of individuals classified into same, adjacent or extreme (i.e. classified from one extreme category to the other extreme category of intake) tertiles was calculated. Subjects were categorised as having high or normal sodium (salt) intake according to a threshold of 2g sodium/day (equivalent to 5g salt/day) (WHO/FAO 2003). The sensitivity and specificity of the FFQ to identify respondents meeting or failing to meet recommended salt intakes (<5g salt/day) was also calculated against food recalls and urinary salt as gold standard methods, based on Dietary Guidelines for Saudis (MOH 2012) adapted from the WHO (WHO/FAO 2003). Sensitivity was defined as the proportion of subjects with an intake above the recommended level (5g salt per day), as defined by both the FFQ and the gold standard method. Specificity was defined as the proportion of subjects with an intake below the recommended level (5g salt per day), as defined by both the FFQ and the gold standard method. Specificity was defined as the proportion of subjects with an intake below the recommended level (5g salt per day), as defined by both the gold standard method. A post-hoc test was used using the G-power software to obtain the sample size and effect size to determine what the power was in the study.

3.3 Results

3.3.1.1 Study participants

A total of 601 individuals (336 women (56%) and 265 men (44%)) participated in the study, representing an overall completion rate of 78% (77% in women and 86% in men). Seventy (9.4%) participants withdrew during the 1st interview and 70 (9.4%) withdrew during the 2nd interview. Five (0.7%) participants were excluded from the analysis because they did not fulfil the inclusion criteria (subjects on kidney dialysis and pregnant women were excluded). All completed the FFQ and repeated 24-HDR (Figure 3.3-1). However, due to the time constraints, not all the 24-HDR forms were computed. A random selection of two-hundred and thirteen (n=213/601, 35%) participants was computed for 24-HDR. A subsample of 71 subjects (24 males, 47 females, median age 38, IQR 25-45) provided urine samples, 49 of which (18 males, 31 females) provided complete 24-h urine collections (creatinine index falling inside the range of 11–20 and 14–26 mg/kg body weight/ day for women and men, respectively) (Table 3.3-3). Urinary creatinine index (UCI) was used instead of PABA, as most the study subjects were not complying with the instructions on how to use the PABA tablets. Eighteen (25.4%) subjects did not comply in taking PABA tablets at all and seven subjects (10%) did not fill the record on whether they had taken the
tablets or not. Sixteen subjects (22%) did not return the urine collection records back, so, the PABA tablets intake for them was unknown. For this reason, it was decided to verify the completeness of the urine collections by using the UCI.



Figure 3.3-1: Study sample derivation

Subjects were excluded if their energy intake from Saudi-FFQ (3.3% (n=20)) or 24-hour recall (3.3% (n=7)) was below 500 kcal or above 5,000 kcal (Willett 1998). Four participants who provided 24-HDR and one who provided urine sample were considered implausible after excluding participants with implausible FFQ. Therefore, the final sample for analysis was n=581 for Saudi-FFQ, n=202 for 24-HDR and n=48 for 24 hour urinary samples. A post-hoc calculation of the final number of collected 24-HDR (n=202) using G-power software showed that the dietary salt data of the present study achieved a power of 99%. This calculation based lowest correlation coefficient level between these methods; r=0.10 (Block, Wakimoto et al. 2006). Also, the post-hoc calculation of the final number of collected urine samples (n=48) using G-power software showed that the urinary salt data of the present study achieved a power of 83%. The sample size was enough to estimate the validation and current salt intake patterns. Characteristics of the study population are

summarized in Table 3.3-1. The overall median age of participants was 29 (IQR 24-38) - 28 for females (IQR 23-28) and 30 for males, (IQR - 25-38)). Fifty-two percent of those participants were aged between 19-29 years and 25% between 30-39 years. The majority of participants were married (n=322, 55%). Most participants (59%) were educated to college level or higher; however, personal income was low (<42,000 SR/ year, equivalent to minimum wage) for nearly half (45%), potentially due to the proportion of females not in paid occupation in SA. Approximately half were employed (58%). Most participants (57%) had medium socioeconomic status.

Channe atomiction	All (581)	<i>Female (n=330)</i>	Male (n=251)	C
Characteristics	n. (%)	n.(%)	n. (%)	р
Age (year)				
19-29	302 (52)	182 (55)	120 (48)	
30-39	146 (25)	70 (21)	76 (30)	
40-49	76 (13)	40 (12)	36 (14)	
50-60	57 (10)	38 (12)	19 (8)	
Total	581	330 (57)	251 (43)	
Median Age (IQR)	29 (24-38)	28 (23-28)	30 (25-38)	0.146
Education				0.001
None or elementary	36 (6.0)	30 (9)	6.0 (2)	
Intermediate or secondary	202 (35)	104 (32)	98 (39)	
College or higher	341 (59)	195 (59)	146 (58)	
Marital Status				< 0.0001
Never Married	227 (39)	137 (42)	90 (36)	
Married	322 (55)	162 (49)	160 (64)	
Divorced	26.0 (5)	25 (8)	1 (0.4)	
Widowed	6.0(1)	6 (2)	0 (0.0)	
Income ^a				< 0.0001
<42,000	257 (45)	209 (64)	48 (20)	
42,000 - 100,000	176 (31)	76 (23)	100 (41)	
>100,000	139 (24)	42 (13)	97 (40)	
Occupational status				< 0.0001
Employed	334 (58)	135 (41)	199 (79)	
Student	114 (20)	79 (24)	35 (14)	
Household (Stay at Home)	87 (15)	87 (26)	0 (0)	
Unemployed	29 (5)	23 (7)	6 (2)	
Retired	17 (3)	6 (2)	11 (4)	
Socio-economic Status				< 0.0001
Low (2-3)	138 (24)	106 (32)	32 (13)	
Medium (4-5)	330 (57)	189 (57)	141 (56)	
High (6)	111 (19)	34 (10)	77 (31)	

Table 3.3-1: Characteristics of study participants (n=581)

^a IQR: Interquartile range; ^b In Saudi Riyals (SR) per year; ^c Value was significantly different between males and females (P < 0.05) bases on chi square and Man-Whitney analysis.

3.3.1.2 Estimated salt intake

Table 3.3-2 shows the results of daily sodium (salt) intake and urinary sodium (salt) excretions obtained from the Saudi-FFQ, repeated MP-24-Hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) and 24-hour urinary excretions. The median sodium intake using FFQ was 8.7 g salt/24 h (IQR 5.8-11.9 salt/24 h). Intake estimated by FFQ was different between genders (p=0.001), with male participants consuming 3,626 mg/24 h (2,655-4,915 mg/day) equivalent to 9.2 g salt/day (IQR 6.7-12.4 g/day), higher than that of the female participants, 3,253 mg /day (IQR 2,106-4,598 mg/day) equivalent to 8.3 g salt/day (IQR 5.3-11.7 g/day). The median salt intake using repeated MP-24-Hour Dietary Recalls was 5.6 g salt/24 h (IQR 3.5-8.2 salt/24 h). The median salt intake of male participants using 24-HDR was 6.3 g salt/day (IQR 4.1 -9.9 g/day) which was particularly higher than that of the female participants, 4.5 g salt/day (IQR 2.5-7.4 g/day) (p<0.0001). The median urinary salt of male participants was 9.2 g salt/day (IQR 5.3-9.9). The median urinary salt of male participants, 7.1 g salt/day (IQR 5.1-9.7 g/day) but not statistically significant (p=0.195).

Table 3.3-2: Comparison of medians (IQR) of intake and urinary excretions of energy, macro- and micronutrients obtained from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581), repeated MP-24-Hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (n=206) and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia.

Nutrients	Saudi-F	FFQ (n=581)	Repeated 2	24-HDR(n=202)	24-Hour Urinary excretion (n=48)				
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR	Median	IQR			
All									
Sodium (mg)	3457 ^{\$}	(2298-4696)	2217 ^{\$£}	(1380-3261)	3,036#	(2,069-3,897)			
Salt (g/day)	$8.7^{\$}$	(5.8-11.9)	5.6 ^{\$£}	(3.5-8.2)	7.8#	(5.3-9.9)			
Male									
Sodium (mg)	3626	2655-4915	2463	1635-3904	3,632	(2,213-4,215)			
Salt (g/day)	9.2	6.7-12.4	6.3	4.1-9.9	9.2	5.6-10.7			
Female									
Sodium (mg)	3,253	2,106-4,598	1773	993-2887	2,809	1,988-3,825			
Salt (g/day)	8.3 5.3-11.7		4.5	2.5-7.4	7.1	5.1-9.7			

IQR: Interquartile range; FFQ: food frequency questionnaire; 24-HDRs: Multiple pass 24-Hour Dietary Recalls. ^{\$} Value was significantly different between males and females (p < 0.05) bases on Mann-Whitney analysis.

^f Value was significantly different between FFQ and 24-HDR (p < 0.05) bases on Wilcoxon analysis.

[#] Value was significantly different between FFQ and 24-HDR (p < 0.05) bases on Wilcoxon analysis.

analysis.

Table 3.3-3 shows the results of daily urinary sodium (salt), PABA (mg/day), PABA recovery (%), creatinine (mg/day) and urine volume (ml/day) obtained from the 24-hour urinary excretions. There was a difference between male and female subjects in urinary

creatinine concentration in PABA and UCI group (p<0.05). There were no significant differences between the sodium output from completed samples using UCI and completed samples using PABA (p>0.05).

					Urinary Creatinine Index $(11-20 \ (\bigcirc) \ and \ 14-26 \ (\circlearrowright)$					
Nutrients	All urin	ary samples	PAF	BA≥85%						
					(mg/kg))					
	(1	n=71)	(1	n=23)	(n=49)				
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR	Median	IQR				
All										
Sodium (mg/day)	2904	1988-3955	3366	2561-3879 ^{\$}	3036	2069-3,897				
Salt (g/day)	7.4	5.1-10.1	8.6	6.5-9.9 ^{\$}	7.7	5.3-9.9				
PABA (mg/day)	130	87-197	230	188-317	138	88-205				
PABA (%)	65.2	37.3-93.6	109.6	93.6-132.3	66.1	41.1-94.7				
Creatinine (mg/day)	1227	1018-1573 ^{\$}	1337	1153-1820 ^{\$}	1211	1022-1529 ^{\$}				
Volume (ml)	1450	995-2080	1710	1195-2320	1465	1095-2067 [£]				
Male										
Sodium (mg/day)	3632	2288-4092	3898	3880-4450	3632	2213-4,215				
Salt (g/day)	9.2	5.8-10.4	9.9	9.1-11.3	9.2	5.6-10.7				
PABA (mg/day)	102.5	63.3-210.5	227.5	194.8-323	127	71.5-217.5				
PABA (%)	69	29.6-95.3	113.4	94.2-134.7	73.3	35.4-99.3				
Creatinine (mg/day)	1795	1180-2033	1959	1397-2222	1795	1230-1988				
Volume (ml)	1495	1105-2188	1930	1435-2453	1605	1330-2220 [£]				
Female										
Sodium (mg/day)	2586	1878-3855	2809	2444-3428	2809	1988-3,825				
Salt (g/day)	6.6	4.8-9.8	7.1	6.2-8.7	7.1	5.1-9.7				
PABA (mg/day)	136	88-197	242	169-315	138	90-205				
PABA (%)	64.2	39.6-87.1	105.5	87.1-132.3	61	42.8-87.1				
Creatinine (mg/day)	1103	877-1337	1289	1097-1453	1103	911-1252				
Volume (ml)	1320	970-2050	1710	1105-2320	1260	$1000-2005^{\text{f}}$				

Table 3.3-3: Comparison of medians (IQR) of sodium from the 24-hour urinary excretions (n=71) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia.

IQR: Interquartile range; PABA: Para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA recovery ≥85%); UCI: urinary creatinine

index (UCI: 11-20 and 14-26 (mg/kg) for women and men respectively).

^{\$} Value was significantly different between males and females (p<0.05) bases on Mann-Whitney analysis.

[£]Value was significantly different between UCI and PABA (p<0.05) bases on Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test.

3.3.1.3 Relative validity of FFQ

The estimated salt intake from FFQ was higher than the salt from food recall (p<0.0001) and from 24-h urinary outputs (p<0.0001) (Table 3.3-4). However, salt intake (g/day) assessed by the FFQ was low but significantly correlated with the salt intake assessed by 24-HDR (r_s =0.403, p<0.0001). Salt intake (g/day) assessed by the FFQ was moderately correlated with the urinary excretion of salt (rs=0.501, p<0.0001). Table 3.3-4 shows the results of all

Spearman's correlation coefficients for the FFQ and food recall, and FFQ and 24-h urinary outputs.

Using the triad method, the validity coefficients were calculated for each of the three measurements (FFQ, 24-HDR and Urinary salt) and the true 'unknown' salt value, according to equations (1) to (3) outlined below (where Q is the salt defined by FFQ; D is the salt defined by 24-HDR; U is the salt defined by biological (urinary) marker; and S is the "true unknown salt intake") (Yokota, Miyazaki et al. 2010) (Figure 3.3-2).

(1)
$$\rho QS = \sqrt{\frac{rQD * rQU}{rDU}}$$

(2)
$$\rho DS = \sqrt{\frac{rQD * rDU}{rQU}}$$

(3)
$$\rho US = \sqrt{\frac{rDU * rQU}{rQD}}$$



Figure 3.3-2: Graphical representation of the Triads method used to estimate the validity coefficient between the true salt intake (S), at the centre, and the intakes estimated by the Saudi-FFQ (Q), 24-HDR(D) and urinary salt (U) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia. The relationships between each two estimation method is denoted by the correlation coefficient r (rQU, rQD, rDU) outside the triangle, whereas validity coefficients between each estimate and the true intake S are shown inside the triangle (pQS, pDS, ρUS) (Yokota, Miyazaki et al. 2010).

Nutrients		Saud	li-FFQ vs. 24-HDR (n=202)		Saudi-FFQ vs. 24-Hour Urinary excretion (n=48)									
	R_S	P-value	95% CI (percentage)	LOA	R_S	P-value*	95% CI (percentage)	LOA						
Crude														
Salt (g/day)	0.403	< 0.0001*	0.326-0.616	(-5.4), (12.2)	0.501	< 0.0001*	0.303-0.936	(-10.1)-5.5						
Sodium (mg/day)	0.403	<0.0001*	0 326 0 616	(2160) (4.880)	0.501	<0.0001*	0 303 0 036	(-4,040)-						
Soutum (mg/uay)	0.405	<0.0001	0.520-0.010	(-2,100)- (4,000)	0.501	<0.0001	0.303-0.930	(2,200)						
Energy_adjusted														
	0.010	0.0001#	0.150.0.444		0.402	0.0054	0 1 40 0 550							
Salt (g/day)	0.310	<0.0001*	0.178-0.446	-	0.402	0.005*	0.143-0.759	-						
Sodium (mg/day)	0.310	< 0.0001*	0.178-0.446	-	0.402	0.005*	0.143-0.759	-						

Table 3.3-4: Spearman's correlation (95% CI) between salt (Na) obtained from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581), repeated multiple pass 24-Hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (n=206) and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia.

* Correlation is significant at the <0.05 level;

CI: Confidence interval; LOA: Limits of agreement.

Table 3.3-5: Spearman's correlation coefficient (95% bootstrap CI) between salt (Na) obtained from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581), repeated multiple pass 24-Hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (n=206) and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia.

Nutrients		Saudi-l	FFQ vs. 24-HDR (n=202)		Saudi-FFQ vs. 24-Hour Urinary excretion (n=48)							
	R_S	P-value	95% CI (percentage)	LOA	R_S	P-value*	95% CI (percentage)	LOA				
Crude												
Salt (g/day)	0.403	< 0.0001*	0.282-0.518	(-5.4), (12.2)	0.501	< 0.0001*	0.206-0.699	(-10.1)-5.5				
Sodium (ma/day)	0 402	<0.0001*	0.282.0.518	(-2,160)-	0.501	<0.0001*	0.206.0.600	(-4,040)-				
Socium (mg/day)	0.405	<0.0001*	0.282-0.518	(4,880)	0.501	<0.0001*	0.206-0.699	(2,200)				
Energy-adjusted												
Salt (g/day)	0.310	< 0.0001*	0.186-0.425	-	0.402	0.005*	0.126-0.614	-				
Sodium (mg/day)	0.310	< 0.0001*	0.186-0.425	-	0.402	0.005*	0.166-0.614	-				

* Correlation is significant at the <0.05 level;

CI: Confidence interval; LOA: Limits of agreement.

3.3.1.4 Relative reliability of FFQ

The biases between FFQ and 24-HDR, and FFQ and urinary excretion were relatively moderate (3.1 and 2.3 g salt/day, respectively) as shown graphically using Bland–Altman plots (Figure 3.3-3), although with wide limits of agreement (LOA) (-5.2 and 11.4 g salt/day, and -5.4 and 10.0 g salt/day, respectively).

Classification of salt intake into the same, adjacent and extreme tertiles of intake, derived from the Saudi-FFQ, 24-HDR and 24-Hour Urinary excretion are shown in Table 3.3-6 and Table 3.3-7. The Saudi-FFQ and Urinary excretion classified half (n=25 (52%) of the subjects into same tertiles and 33% (n=16) into adjacent tertiles for salt intake. Nearly 85% (n=41) of the subjects were classified in the same or adjacent tertiles between these two methods. Gross misclassification (the percentage of individuals in the opposite thirds) for salt intake between both methods was 15% (n=7).

Furthermore, the Saudi-FFQ and 24-HDR classified half (n=91 (45%) of the subjects into same tertiles and 37% (n=74) into adjacent tertiles for salt intake. Nearly 82% (n=159) of the subjects were classified in the same or adjacent tertiles between these two methods. Gross misclassification (the percentage of individuals in the opposite thirds) for salt intake between both methods was 18% (n=37).

The weighed Kappa statistic test (quadratic weights) was 0.37 (95% CI 0.11-0.63; p=0.009) between Saudi-FFQ and 24-Hour Urinary excretion, indicative of fair agreement between the two methods, and 0.36 (95% CI 0.23-0.49; p<0.0001) between Saudi-FFQ and 24-HDR, indicating fair agreement.



Figure 3.3-3: Bland-Altman plots showing the bias between the food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) and urinary salt (a) (n=48) and FFQ and 24-H Recall (b) (n=202) from Saudi adults.

Agreement	FFQ vs. U	rine (n=48)	FFQ vs. 24HDRs (n=202)					
Agreement	Ν	%	Ν	%				
Same tertiles	25	52	91	45				
Adjacent tertiles	16	33	74	37				
Extreme tertiles (gross misclassification)	7	15	37	18				
Same + adjacent tertiles	41	85	165	82				

Table 3.3-6: Tertile salt intake classification comparing the Saudi-FFQ with 24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) and the Saudi-FFQ with repeated 24-Hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDR) (n=202) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia.

Table 3.3-7: Tertile salt intake from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581), repeated MP-24-Hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (n=206), and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia.

	FFQ (n=581)	24-HDR(n=202)	24-Hour Urinary excretion (n=48)
Tertile1 (g/day)	4.9 (1.9-7.0)	3.1 (0.7-4.0)	4.5 (1.0-6.0)
Tertile2 (g/day)	8.7 (7.0-10.8)	5.6 (4.1-7.1)	7.7 (6.0-10)
Tertile3 (g/day)	13.5 (10.8-22.4)	9.9 (7.2-22.5)	10.9 (10.0-18.0)

The ability of Saudi-FFQ was examined to identify respondents whose dietary intake did not meet the dietary recommendations for salt (sodium). Using 24-HDR as the gold standard measurement, with a threshold of 5 g/day to classify salt intake as high, the FFQ had a sensitivity of 68% and specificity of 60%. The false positive rate (FPR) and false negative rate (FNR) were 0.10 and 0.45, respectively, with misclassification rate equals to 0.73. In addition, using urinary salt as the gold-standard measurement, the FFQ had a sensitivity of 55% and a specificity of 90%. The FPR and FNR was 0.40 and 0.32, respectively, with misclassification rate equals to 0.55. Table 3.3-8 illustrates the prevalence of people with high salt intake (\geq 5 g salt/day) from the different methods used in this study.

	A	11	Wom	nen	Me	n	n voluo ^a	
San Assessment method (g/day)	N	%	Ν	%	N	%	- p-value	
FFQ (n=581)	477	82	262	79	215	86	0.051	
24-HDR (n=202)	114	56	47	46	67	67	0.003	
Urinary salt excretion (n=48)	38	79	23	77	15	83	0.582	

Table 3.3-8: The prevalence of subjects with high salt intake (g/day) from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581), repeated multiple pass 24-hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (202), and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=48) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia.

^a Value was significantly different between women and men (P < 0.05) bases on chi square analysis (χ^2).

3.4 Discussion

In the present study, the reliability and validity of FFQ to assess habitual salt intake was evaluated using repeated multiple pass 24-hour dietary recalls (24-HDR) and 24-hour urinary biomarkers for a sub-sample of the population. This study recruited 581 participants (subsamples: 202 for 24-HDR and 48 for 24-H urinary excretions), which satisfied the relevant sample size and it had a larger sample size than that of previous studies (Dehghan, del Cerro et al. 2012; Elorriaga, Irazola et al. 2015; Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015). The results show that the FFQ provides moderate reliability for ranking individuals by salt intake, and thus can be considered a useful method for examining the relationship between salt and diseases such as high blood pressure or cardiovascular diseases.

A number of FFQs have been developed and used for the last several years in SA to study the relationship between food and NCDs. Previous studies were conducted using FFQ developed and validated among different non-Saudi populations (Abalkhail 1998 (Abalkhail 1998); Al-Amri et al 2014 (Alamri F.A. 2014)). To the knowledge of the researcher, there is no FFQ suited to a Saudi population to assess salt intake.

Several studies were validated and used FFQ to assess sodium intake at population level (Table 3.4-1). Relatively weak (r=0.19) to moderate (r=0.41) validity was found in FFQ estimates for sodium (salt) intake compared to dietary recall method using correlation coefficient (Block, Wakimoto et al. 2006; Na and Lee 2012; Elorriaga, Irazola et al. 2015). A FFQ is considered as sufficiently valid when the correlation coefficients between FFQ and

the reference method (whether estimated dietary intake or human body biomarker) is 0.40 and more (Willett 2012).

In the present study, the relative validity of FFQ against both dietary 24-HDR and urinary excretion using Spearman's correlation coefficient was moderate (r=0.403 and r=0.501, respectively). Results shows that the correlation between the Saudi-FFQ and 24-hour urinary salt (r_s=0.501, p<0.0001) is higher than the correlation obtained from the Norfolk cohort (r=0.18 to 0.20) (McKeown, Day et al. 2001). Relative validity of this Saudi-FFQ against 24-HDR was moderate (r_s=0.403, p<0.0001) are consistent with the work of Gunes et al. in Turkey in which the crude and energy-adjusted correlation coefficients were 0.38 and 0.29, respectively (Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015). The 24-hour urine collection is considered the "gold standard" to measure sodium intake (Bingham 1987; Van Dam and Hunter 2013). For this reason, the validity between Saudi FFQ and 24-hour urinary salt is higher that the validity between Saudi-FFQ and 24-HDR.

The overall validity coefficient of the Saudi-FFQ (ρ QS) was calculated using the method of triads was 0.83, indicating high validity of FFQ to assess salt intake. There are no studies to compare to in term of the validity coefficient of FFQ for estimation of salt (sodium) intake using the Triad method.

3.4.1.1 Reliability

The estimated median intake of salt using the Saudi-FFQ was significantly higher, compared with the median intake estimated with 24-HDRs and urinary excretion (Table 3.3-2). The moderate bias (3.1 and 2.3 g salt/day for 24-HDRs and urinary excretion, respectively) and large limits of agreement seen on the Bland-Altman plots, however, demonstrate that the FFQ is not an appropriate for determining the daily salt intake of individuals, although it is a useful tool for estimating daily salt intake at population or group level and appropriate for ranking intakes of this population. Thus, the Saudi-FFQ performed well against both urinary salt excretion and 24-HDR for classification of intakes to tertiles, with 85% and 82%, respectively, being classified to the same or adjacent tertile. These results are consistent (58-94%) with previous studies, where same or adjacent values for salt estimated by Saudi-FFQ ranges from 74 to 94% against 24-HDR and from 58 to 68% against 24-hour urinary

excretion (Lassale, Guilbert et al. 2009; Zhuang, Yuan et al. 2012; Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015). However, when look at the agreement in the same tertile, we found only 52 and 45% of participants classified in the same tertile based on salt intake from Saudi-FFQ against 24-hour urinary excretion and 24-HDR. Therefore, the Kappa analyses were performed.

In this study, the weighed Kappa statistic tests between FFQ and urinary salt excretion, and 24-HDR for salt were 0.37 and 0.36, indicating fair agreement. These results are better than other studies, where Kappa values for salt estimated by FFQ ranges from 0.2 to 0.29 against 24-HDR and from 0.18 to 0.31 against 24-hour urinary excretion (Lassale, Guilbert et al. 2009; Zhuang, Yuan et al. 2012; Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015). The lower levels of kappa could be as a result of small sample sizes of these studies.

Fifty-five percent of people with a salt intake greater than 5 g/day by urine excretion (i.e., who failed to meet dietary recommendations) were correctly identified by the FFQ. In addition, 68% of people with a salt intake of greater than 5 g/day by the recalls (i.e., who failed to meet dietary recommendations) were correctly identified by the FFQ. Sensitivity was moderate (55%), indicating that the FFQ only identified more than half the cases when salt intake was high. This is potentially a result of not including sauces, condiments and discretionary salt present in the FFQ. Another factor that may have affected the sensitivity of the FFQ is the low representation of subjects with salt intake <5 g /day in the validation sample (10/48 as defined by the urinary salt or 88/202 using food recalls). However, the specificity of the FFQ was high (90%) indicating a very good performance when identifying the subjects with normal levels of salt intake (<5g/day). The overall misclassification rate between FFQ and urinary excretion (0.55) was lower than the rate between FFQ and 24-HDR (0.73).

	Samp	Ite	Validation Sample Size	Age	C	rude-r		Energ	gy-adju r	sted	LOA (Lower	-Upper)	Agre	Adj	Sen	Spe		W	
Reference	Size (n)	ms (n)	Sample Size (n)	(year s)	24- HD R	FR	U E	24- HD R	FR	U E	24- HDR	F R	UE	e (%)	a (%)	s (%)	с (%)	Карра	үү- Карра	Comments
Present study2016 *	581	133	48	19- 60	0.4 1	-	0 5	0.3 0	-	0 4	-	-	26%(- 68- 119%)	52	33	55	90	0.28 (0.08- 0.48)	0.33 (0.11- 0.55)	Single 24-H UE
Present study 2016 *	581	133	202	19- 60	0.4	-	-	0.3 1	-	-	42%(-62- 145)	-	-	45	37	68	60	0.25 (0.15- 0.36)	0.30 (0.19- 0.42)	Repeated 24-HDR
(Jayawardena, Byrne et al. 2016)	77	85	77	≥18	-	NS	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	7-day weighed-intake dietary records (Sri Lanka)
(Freedman, Commins et al. 2015)	2265	-	2265	≥40	-	-	0 1 6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Pooled data, black, white/other, (United States)
(Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015)	120	229	120	30- 70	0.3 8	-	-	0.2 9	-	-	-	-	-	38	56	-	-	-	0.29	Two 24-HDR and mean four FFQs Turkish adults
(Maruyama, Kokubo et al. 2015)	58	84	58	47- 78	-	0.3 2- 0.3 9	-	-	0.4 3- 0.4 8	-	-	-	-	53- 55	31- 38	-	-	-	-	Urban, Japanese, middle-aged population
(Pereira, Bensenor et al. 2015)	15,1 05	114	8,257	35- 74	-	-	0 1	-	-	-	-	-	-	23	35	-	-	-	0.18	12-hour urinary excretion (spot urine)
(Talegawkar, Tanaka et al. 2015)	468	110	468	26- 95	-	-	-	-	0.2 7	-	-	-	-	7	2	-	-	-	-	3-d FR, Hispanic and non-Hispanic white (energy adjusted)
(Elorriaga, Irazola et al. 2015)	147	126	147	21- 74	0.3 3	-	-	0.4 7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Three 24-HDR (Argentinan, Chile and Uruguay adults)
(Macedo-Ojeda, Vizmanos-Lamotte et al. 2013)	97	162	97	18- 71	-	0.2 5	-	-	0.2 2	-	-	-	-	5	8	-	-	-	-	9-d FRs (men and women (Mexico))
(Dehghan, Ilow et al. 2012)	146	134	146	30- 70	0.1 9- 0.4 6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	66- 75	-	-	-	-	-	Four 24-HDR(Polish adults)
(Dehghan, del Cerro et al. 2012)	156	96	156	35- 70	0.3- 0.4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	29- 31	39- 43	-	-	-	-	Four 24- HDR(Argentinian adults)

Table 3.4-1: Comparison of validation results of FFQ against 24 H dietary recall (24-HDR), food records (FR), and 24-H urinary excretion (UE) to assess salt (sodium) intake.

*Continued overleaf

Deferment	Sam ple Item Size (n)		Validation	Age	С	rude-r		a	Energy- djusted i	•	LOA U	(Lowe (pper)	r-	Agre	Adja	Sens	Spec	Ka	w-	Germante
Keterence	Size (n)	(n)	(n)	(years)	24- HD R	F R	U E	24- HD R	FR	U E	24- HD R	FR	U E	e (%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	рр а	Карра	Comments
(Na and Lee 2012)	305	138	305	≥40	-	0. 59 8	-	-	0.5 1	-		-	-	55	27	-	-	0.2 6	0.42 (0.34- 0.49)	3-days FRs (Korean)
(Sam 2012)	132	147	132	30-59	-	0. 36	-	-	0.2 7	-	-	49- 290 %	-	75	5	-	-	-	-	8-dWeight FRs and compare with previous studies
(Zhuang, Yuan et al. 2012)	207	86	207	30– 75	0.34	-	-	0.32	2 -	-	-	-	-	37	37	-	-	-	0.2	Four 24-HDR
(Hong, Choi et al. 2010)	147 8	85	85	33-70	-	0. 41 7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.2 2	0.34 (0.19- 0.49)	3-days FRs (T2 DM Korean)
(Carithers, Talegawkar et al. 2009)	436	158	436	35-81	-	-	-	0.2	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Four 24-HDRs
(Ferreira-Sae, Gallani et al. 2009)	132	50	121	18-85	-	-	0. 19 £	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	24 H UE & 3-d FRs Low-income and low-literacy Brazilian hypertensive
(Lassale, Guilbert et al. 2009)	74	174	74	31-60	-	-	0. 35	-	-	-	-	-	-	31	53	-	-	-	0.31	Two 4-day Weight FRs (Australian women) (C-FFQ)
(Lassale, Guilbert et al. 2009)	74	174	74	31-60	-	0. 69	-	-	-	-	-	63- 215 %	-	37	55	-	-	-	0.55	Two 4-day WFR (Australian women) (C-FFQ)
(Charlton, Steyn et al. 2008)	324	42	324	20-65	0.75	-	0. 15	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Repeated 24 H UE (multi-ethnic South African)
(Block, Wakimoto et al. 2006)	89	103	89	18-71	0.53	-	-	0.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Three 24-HDRLow-income (Hispanic)
JACC study (Date, Fukui et al. 2005)	110 000	33	85	20-79	-	0. 35	-	-	0.3 1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	12-days weighed FRs
(George, Milani et al. 2004)	95	195	95	18-38	-	-	-	-	0.2 4	-		-	-	21	69	-	-	-	-	3-day FRs (College women - multi- ethnic Americans)
(George, Milani et al. 2004)	50	195	50	18-38	-	-	-	-	0.2 8	-	-	-	-	30	64	-	-	-	-	4-day FRs (low-income women - multi-ethnic Americans)

*Continued overleaf

Defermer	Sampl	Item	Validation Sample Size	Age		Crude-r		Ener	gy-adjust	ted r	LOA UJ	(Low pper)	er-	Agree	Agree Adja	Sens	Spec	Ka	W-	Greenet
Kererence	e Size (n)	s (n)	(n)	(years)	24- HD R	FR	UE	24- HD R	FR	U E	24- HD R	F R	U E	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	рра	а	Comments
(Sasaki, Ishihara et al. 2003)	89	110	89	-	-	-	NS	-	-	N S	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	28-Days FRs & two 24-H UE (Japanese)
(Kabagambe, Baylin et al. 2001)	503	135	120	-	-	-	-	0.2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Seven 24-HDR& two FFQ (Hispanics)
EPIC-Norfolk (McKeown, Day et al. 2001)	204	130	146	45-74	-	0.45 - 0.47	0.18 - 0.20	-	0.44 - 0.52	-	-	-	-	FR:3 4	FR:6 0	-	-	-	-	7-d FRs (European)
(Sasaki, Yanagibori et al. 1998)	223	110	223	-	-	-	NS	-	-	0. 23 \$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Single 24-H UE(Japanese)
(Sasaki, Yanagibori et al. 1998)	47	110	47	38-69	-	0.41	-	-	0.3	-	-	-	-	30	66	-	-	-	-	3-day FRs (Japanese women)
(Männistö, Virtanen et al. 1996)	160	110	160	25-75	-	0.22	-	-	0.42	-	-	-	-	6	4	-	-	-	-	7-day FRs (Japanese women)

^s Significant in women only. ^f Significant correlation when the Discretionary salt were added to the FFQ. C-FFQ: computerised FFQ; FFQ: food frequency questionnaire; 24-HDR: 24 H dietary recall; FR: food records; UE: 24-H urinary excretion; Sens: Sensitivity: Spec: Specificity; W-Kappa: Weight Kappa; Adja: Adjacent.

3.4.1.2 Strengths and limitations

The sample size per gender was quite enough to estimate evidences stated in area of actions. The sample size (n=581) affords a confidence interval (margin of error) of $\pm 4\%$ for data reported, at the 95% confidence level (CRS 2015). Also, the post-hoc calculation of the final number of collected urine samples (n=48) using G-power software showed that the urinary salt data of the present study achieved a power of 83%. This calculation based on the worst case scenario (r=0.19) (McKeown, Day et al. 2001). This study is the first study in validating an FFQ to assess salt intake using the Triad method which provide high correlation coefficient. The "Triad" approach assumes that random errors εU , εQ and εD , present in all three measurements (urinary, FFQ and 24-HDR, respectively), are independent considering that each measurement demonstrates a linear association with the true salt intake (S). As such, errors from the use of urinary biomarker should not be correlated with errors from the dietary measurements (FFQ and 24-HDR), and their sources should thus be distinct (Kaaks 1997). Very low or negative values can cause validity coefficients greater than 1 (Heywood case), which can happen when the product of the bi-variable correlation (e.g. rQD = 0.25 *rQU = 0.35) is greater than the third (rDU = 0.03). In the present study, negative values or values greater than 1.0 were not observed.

A relatively large number of food items (133 items) in Saudi-FFQ were used to assess intake of salt (sodium), since including too few items has been shown to cause an underestimation of intake using an FFQ (Cade 2002). Because the FFQ is culturally based, no expatriates were included in this study since they have different eating patterns which may have affected the findings of this study (Amin, Al Sultan et al. 2014).

The 24-hour urine sample could be collected in ~22 or 26 hours. However, the participants were provided with Urine Collection Records and Urine Collection Instructions. Only 68% of the participants completed the records successfully. Both para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) and urinary creatinine index (UCI) were used to verify the completeness of urine sample. The participants did not comply with the instructions of PABA usage (e.g. timing). Therefore, the UCI was used for completeness verification. The differences were assessed between the subjects who have completed urine collection using PABA recovery (n=23; PABA recovery >85%) and UCI (n=49; 11–20 and 14–26 mg/kg body weight/day for

women and men, respectively). The analyses revealed no significant difference between both groups in sodium outputs (p>0.05). The hot climate in Saudi Arabia especially in summer months may result in large losses of water and salt in the sweat (Sawka and Pandolf 1990). Therefore, to avoid any significant sodium loss in the sweat, we conducted the study during the moderate climate seasons (November and December).

Excluding seasonings and oils such as mono-sodium glutamate (MSG) or butter to assess nutrient intake may have led to an underestimation of sodium intake (Na and Lee 2012). Care must be taken while interpreting dietary intake data that do not include seasonings and oils (e.g. butter) which is high in salt (Na and Lee 2012; Shim, Oh et al. 2014). Our FFQ considered seasonings and cooking oils and by conducting a more dish-based questionnaire. For example, food-based questions were calculated to include only bread, whereas the dish-based questionnaire was calculated to include bread with added oils (e.g. salty butter). However, in this study 36% of those using salt substitute are using mono-sodium glutamate as a salt substitute which is not true substitute. The patterns of MSG use are assessed in this study but not estimate the exact amount. However, Li et al (2015) (Li, Qin et al. 2015) found that in the Chinese population, the main source of salt intake was added salt (79%), followed by salty vegetables (14%), soy sauce (3%), MSG (2%) and other sauce (2%) using validated FFQ. Therefore, further questions regarding the amount of MSG and discretionary salt should be added to the questionnaire in future.

Data regarding longer-term dietary patterns are crucial to better understand diet and associated diseases (Cade 2002). So, a limitation that should be acknowledged is the lack of information on the reproducibility of the FFQ. Reproducibility is often evaluated by carrying out the FFQ in two (or more) time points in the same group of people. However, in this study, it was difficult to carry out the FFQ again due to the time constraints and lack of data entry capacity. When considering any extrapolation of the data obtained beyond the parameters of this study population, it important to consider that the participants recruited in this study were a convenience sample and may not be a representative sample of the whole Saudi population. Additionally, there are also region-specific dietary habits in SA. For example, Al-Numair et al (2005) (Al-Numair, Lewis et al. 2005) found that the intake of total n-3 fatty acids was twice as high among the coastal region residents than for the

internal residents in SA. Therefore, a random and stratified sampling technique should be applied on a national level to collect representative sample of the population.

FFQ responses can vary with season of administration in a manner consistent with dietary intake reported consumed during that season (Fowke, Schlundt et al. 2004). Seasonally consumed items, such as watermelon in summer, can be challenging as they may be consumed and be reported more frequently when in season but not out of season (Cade 2002). Seasonal differences of food intake were not discussed before in SA. However seasonally consumed items were considered in this study questionnaire, especially fruits (dates, watermelon etc.), since they are consumed more frequently when in season and then not at all out of season. Also, the use of single 24-h urine collection may not have accurately captured the urinary status of the volunteers, depending on day and season variation for salt intake. However, the strength of this validation study was its assessment of salt using three methods by applying the Triad technique (Yokota, Miyazaki et al. 2010).

The funnelling trend of the agreement between FFQ and 24-H Recall using Bland-Altman method, demands a transformation of the data (probably log-base10) should be acknowledged. Finally, assessing non-western diet including SA diet is difficult as the most consumed food is based on mixed dishes and sharing food from the same plate is common among the SA population. This lead to difficulty to assess the portion sizes of Saudi diet. However, in this study the mixed foods were estimated using a stanardised plate.

3.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, this 133-item FFQ developed specifically for the SA population had moderate relative validity and fair reliability, and therefore FFQ is capable of ranking people based on their estimated salt intake in SA population, and performed as well as other salt FFQ developed for other nations, which is useful in examining the relationships between diet and chronic disease including hypertension. At the same time it must be acknowledged that FFQ is poor at measuring absolute salt intakes relative to 24-HDR or 24-hour urine samples. Further efforts should be made to evaluate the reproducibility and reliability of the present FFQ. Furthermore, population interventions and health education are required to reduce

sodium intake in SA population. The quantitative and qualitative data provided in this study could be used to develop and implement strategies for salt intake reduction in SA.

Chapter Four

Salt intake and hypertension in Riyadh city

4.1 Introduction

Hypertension or elevated blood pressure (BP) is a condition in which the blood vessels have persistently raised pressure above certain threshold values (Giles, Materson et al. 2009). Nearly 40% of adults worldwide, aged 25 years and over, had been diagnosed with hypertension in 2008, a disease responsible for more than 9 million deaths annually (WHO 2013). Hypertension is an underlying factor in at least 51% of deaths due to stroke and 45% of deaths due to heart disease (WHO 2011; WHO 2013). In 2014, high-income countries had a lower prevalence of hypertension than other income groups (WHO 2011; WHO 2015). There is a strong body of evidence supporting the association between chronic high-sodium intake (in the form of salt (NaCl)) and hypertension (Meneton, Jeunemaitre et al. 2005; He and MacGregor 2009; Blaustein, Leenen et al. 2012; He and MacGregor 2015; Johnson, Raj et al. 2015), increasing the risk of cardiovascular diseases (He, Burnier et al. 2011; Soga and Pandey 2011). Reducing salt intake long-term to less than 6 grams per day was shown to lower the blood pressure and subsequently reduce the occurrence of cardiovascular diseases (He, Markandu et al. 2005; Cook, Cutler et al. 2007; He, Li et al. 2013). People with low levels of socio-economic status (SES) (i.e. occupation, education and income) have higher salt intake than more affluent counterpart (Purdy, Armstrong et al. 2002; Miyaki, Song et al. 2013; Ji and Cappuccio 2014). Also, Alkhunaizi AM et al (2013) found a negative correlation between sodium excretion and age in Saudi Arabia (SA) (Alkhunaizi, Al Jishi et al. 2013). Socioeconomic status and lifestyle (including dietary habits) have dramatically changed in SA over the last few decades; and there was no study which assessed the relationship between salt intake and SES (Alwan 1997; Khatib 2004).

It is important to better understand the relationship between diets, food consumption levels and patterns, and these emerging chronic diseases (Kroes R. 2002; WHO/FAO 2003; Bingham 2007). This allows the cost-effective interventions and preventive strategies in the community such as food fortification and nutrition education and awareness programmes, and lifestyle modification campaigns to be well planned, implemented, and evaluated (Alwan 1997; Jerome 1997; Bingham 2007; West 2009). Reliable information on actual levels of consumed foods has to be generated through representative consumption surveys (WHO/FAO 2003). There is a dearth of information on habitual salt intake in SA apart from one study in the Eastern region (8.1 g/day), not representative for the general population (Alkhunaizi, Al Jishi et al. 2013). Some samples of potential kidney donors and patients who underwent work-up for nephrolithiasis were used in this study. The food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) is considered to be one of the most practical methods used in epidemiological studies to collect dietary intake, because of its low cost and ease of administration (Thompson 1994). However, the validity and reliability of FFQ needs to be tested (Margetts 1997; Subar 2001; Westerterp 2002; Thompson 2010).

Based on the findings of Chapter 3, the Saudi-FFQ is useful to classify an individual's intake into tertiles, facilitating the examination of relationships between diet and chronic disease including hypertension. Therefore, the study presented in this chapter aims to answer the following research question:

RQ: Does salt intake vary with socio-economic characteristics; is salt intake related to blood pressure intake in SA; and what are the main sources of dietary salt in Saudi Arabia?

4.2 Methodology and materials

4.2.1 Population

The study sample included males and females aged between 19 to 60 years. Those on kidney dialysis and pregnant women were excluded from this study. No expatriates were included in this study. The full population characteristics have been outlined in **Chapter 3**. The study was conducted during October and November 2013 in accordance with the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Saudi National Committee of BioEthics (Appendix1). All volunteers provided written informed consent to participate in the study (Appendix2). All procedures were approved by the Saudi Food and Drug Authority Ethical Committee (SFDA-IRB).

4.2.2 Data collection

4.2.2.1 Socio-demographics

The socio-demographic information collected included: sex (male and female); age was divided into four categories: 19-29, 30-39, 40-49 and 50-60; c) occupational status:

employed student, staying at home, unemployed and retired; d) educational status was divided into low (illiterate or elementary), medium (intermediate or secondary) and high (college or higher); and e) economic status was divided into three categories of low (<42,000 SR/year); corresponds to the minimum wage placed by the Ministry of Labour in Saudi Arabia, medium (42,000 SR To 100,000 SR/year) and high (>100,000 SR/year). Scores were given as 1 for low, 2 for medium and 3 for high. Socio-economic status for each participant was calculated ranging between 2 and 6 scores. These scores were divided into three categories: low (2-3), medium (4-5) and high (6) base on previous studies were conducted in SA (Al-Numair 2006) (Appendix 5). There is no existing approach that has been used in SA, therefore it was decided to employ the socio-economic approach used by a researcher in SA (Al-Numair 2006).

4.2.2.2 Blood pressure

Systolic and diastolic blood pressures were measured twice in sitting position within 20 minutes using an automatic sphygmomanometer (OMRON M6 COMFORT (HEM-7223-E), Japan). The average of both readings was recorded. Hypertension was defined as a systolic blood pressure (SBP) of 140 mmHg or above, and/or diastolic blood pressure (DBP) of 90 mmHg or above (WHO/ISH 2003). Subjects who reported to have been diagnosed with hypertension by a physician were considered as having hypertension. However, subjects diagnosed with hypertension and subjects using antihypertensive drugs were considered as having hypertension as well.

4.2.2.3 Dietary data

A quantitative FFQ was developed using a food list of common foods and composite dishes consumed by Saudi adults from previously collected 24-hour dietary recall (Al-Nozha M 1996). The FFQ was pretested and finalized with 133 food items. A specific question was included regarding table salt use while eating and cooking. The participants were interviewed once to report their typical dietary habits over the previous year using Saudi-FFQ. The Saudi-FFQ was validated against repeated multiple pass 24-hour dietary recalls (24-HDR) and urinary biomarkers for a sub-sample of the population. More details are shown in **Chapter 3**.

4.2.3 Statistical analysis

Spearman's correlation was performed to assess the relation between estimated salt intake, and systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP). Regression analysis (linear and logistic) was performed to explore potential relationships between study variables such as age and socio-economic versus salt intake; and salt intake vs. systolic and diastolic blood pressure. Also, the salt scores were cross-classified into tertiles to evaluate the relationship between blood pressure and salt intake. Tertiles of salt intake were defined. One-Way ANOVA test was used to assess the differences of blood pressure (mmHg) between the tertiles of salt intake. One-Way ANOVA test was used to assess the differences of salt intake (g/day) between the socio-demographic categories. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

Subjects were categorised as having high or normal sodium (salt) intake using a threshold of 2g sodium/day (equivalent to 5g salt/day) based on Dietary Guidelines for Saudis (MOH 2012) which is adopted from the WHO (WHO/FAO 2003). A post-hoc test was used using the G-power software to obtain the sample size and effect size to determine what the power was in the study and whether the study achieved the scientific power to assess the association between salt intake and blood pressure of study population.

4.3 Results

4.3.1.1 Study participants

A total of 601 individuals, 336 women (56%) and 265 men (44%), participated in the study, with an overall completion (first and second interview) rate of 78% (77% in women and 86% in men). Seventy (9%) participants withdrew during the 1st interview and 70 (9%) withdrew during the 2nd interview. Five (1%) participants were excluded from the analysis because they did not fulfil the inclusion criteria (subjects on kidney dialysis and pregnant women were excluded). More details are shown in **Chapter 3**. This sample size (n=581) affords a confidence interval (margin of error) of \pm 4% for data reported, at the 95% confidence level (CRS 2015).

Characteristics of the study population are summarized in Table 4.3-1 and Table 4.3-2. The overall median (IQR) age of participants was 29 (24-38). Fifty-two percent of those

participants were aged 19-29 years and 25% of aged 30-39 years. The majority of participants were married, 322 (55%). Most participants (59%) were educated to college level or higher, however, personal income was low (<42,000 SR/year, equivalent to minimum wage) for nearly half (45%), potentially due to the proportion of females with no paid occupation in SA. Approximately, 58% of the participants were employed. Also, most participants (57%) had a "medium" socioeconomic status.

Channe atomictica	All (581)*	Female (n=330)	<i>Male (n=251)</i>	b
Characteristics	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	p
Age (year)				0.019
19-29	302 (52)	182 (55)	120 (48)	
30-39	146 (25)	70 (21)	76 (30)	
40-49	76 (13)	40 (12)	36 (14)	
50-60	57 (10)	38 (12)	19 (8)	
Total	581	330 (57)	251 (43)	
Median Age (IQR)	29 (24-38)	28 (23-28)	30 (25-38)	0.146
Education				0.001
None or elementary	36 (6.0)	30 (9)	6.0 (2)	
Intermediate or secondary	202 (35)	104 (32)	98 (39)	
College or higher	341 (59)	195 (59)	146 (58)	
Marital Status				< 0.0001
Never Married	227 (39)	137 (42)	90 (36)	
Married	322 (55)	162 (49)	160 (64)	
Divorced	26.0 (5)	25 (8)	1 (0.4)	
Widowed	6.0(1)	6 (2)	0 (0.0)	
Income ^a				< 0.0001
<42,000	257 (45)	209 (64)	48 (20)	
42,000 - 100,000	176 (31)	76 (23)	100 (41)	
>100,000	139 (24)	42 (13)	97 (40)	
Occupational status				< 0.0001
Employed	334 (58)	135 (41)	199 (79)	
Student	114 (20)	79 (24)	35 (14)	
Household (Stay at Home)	87 (15)	87 (26)	0 (0)	
Unemployed	29 (5)	23 (7)	6 (2)	
Retired	17 (3)	6 (2)	11 (4)	
Socio-economic Status				< 0.0001
Low (2-3)	138 (24)	106 (32)	32 (13)	
Medium (4-5)	330 (57)	189 (57)	141 (56)	
High (6)	111 (19)	34 (10)	77 (31)	
SBP (median (IQR)- mmHg)	111 (102-121)	108 (99-120)	115 (107-123)	< 0.0001
DBP (median (IQR)- mmHg)	77 (69-83)	76 (68-83)	78 (71-83)	0.066

Table 4.3-1: Characteristics of study participants (n=581).

^a In Saudi Riyals (SR) per year; ^b Value was significantly different between males and females (P < 0.05) bases on chi square (χ^2) and Man-Whitney analysis.

IQR: Interquartile range;

* This number after excluding participants with implausible energy intake.

Category	Who	le Population [£]		Female	Male		
	n (%)	median age (IQR)	n (%)	median age (IQR)	n (%)	median age (IQR)	
Low (2-3)	138 (24)	27.5 (21.8-43.3)	106 (32)	30 (22.8-45)	32 (13)	21.5 (20-31.3)	
Medium (4-5)	330 (57)	28 (24-35)	189 (57)	26 (23-34)	141 (56)	29 (25-35)	
High (6)	11 (19)	35.5 (27-44.3)	34 (10)	35 (25.5-44.3)	77 (31)	36 (29-44)	
All	579	29 (24-38) ^{bc}	335 (55.9)	28 (23-38.3) ^{ac}	250 (43)	30 (25-38) ^{abc*}	
<i>p</i> -value ^{\$}		< 0.0001		< 0.0001		< 0.0001	

Table 4.3-2: Socio-demographic scores of Riyadh study participants (n=579) who completed the first and second interviews.

^{*} Value was significantly different in socio-economic factors between males and females (P < 0.05) bases on chi square analysis (χ^2). [§] Value was significantly different in age between socio-economic factors (p < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^a Value was significantly in age different between Low and Medium Socio-economic status (p < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^b Value was significantly different in age between Low and High Socio-economic status (p < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^c Value was significantly different in age between Medium and High Socio-economic status (p < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^c Value was significantly different in age between Medium and High Socio-economic status (p < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^e two participants did not report their Socio-demographic information.

4.3.1.2 Estimated salt intake

The median sodium intake estimated using the FFQ was 3,457 mg/24 h (2,298-4,696 mg/24 h), equivalent to 8.7 g salt/24 h (IQR 5.8-11.9 salt/24 h). The median sodium intake of male participants using FFQ was 3,626 mg/24 h (2,655-4,915 mg/day) equivalent to 9.2 g salt/day (IQR 6.7-12.4 g/day) which was particularly high and higher than that of the female participants, 3,253 mg /day (IQR 2,106-4,598 mg/day) equivalent to 8.3 g salt/day (IQR 5.3-11.7 g/day). The magnitude of the difference of daily salt intake between women and men was statistically significant (p=0.001).

4.3.1.3 Salt intake patterns

Around 60% of the study population always added salt while cooking with a higher proportion of men (66%) than women (55%) (χ^2 =8.6, p=0.003). Furthermore, 73% never add salt while eating – with a small difference between genders: women, 77%, and men, 69% (χ^2 =4.029, p=0.045). Approximately half of the population (54%) ate at least one time per week from restaurants and takeaways (no difference between gender (p=0.073)). Furthermore, participants reporting using salt substitutes named mono-sodium glutamate (MSG) (36%) and sea salt (35.7%) as what they used instead, both high in sodium and not true substitutes. Surprisingly, the salt intake increased with reduction in attitude to add salt while cooking (p=0.015).

Salt Use	Never n (%)	Rarely n (%)	Sometimes n (%)	Usually n (%)	Always n (%)	p- value
Add salt while cooking	28 (5)	20 (3)	31 (5)	153 (26)	348 (60)	
FFQ (g salt/day)	11.0	10.1	8.8	8.7	8.4	0.015
Add salt while eating	426 (73)	23 (4)	51 (9)	22 (4)	58 (10)	
FFQ (g salt/day)	8.8	10.6	8.6	7.2	8.2	0.381

Table 4.3-3: Patterns of table salt use and salt amount in each component of salt use from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia.

^a Value was significantly different between women and men (P < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test.

4.3.1.3.1 Salt intake and current health recommendations

Calculations were performed to identify respondents meeting or failing to meet recommended salt intakes (<5 g salt/day) based on "Dietary Guidelines for Saudis" (MOH 2012) which was adopted from the WHO (WHO/FAO 2003). Very few people (18%, n=104/581) met the national recommendation for salt intake (<5 g salt/day). There were no significant differences in high salt intake prevalence between genders. Salt intakes among Saudi adults using FFQ are about 0.8–7 g salt/day above current recommendations.

4.3.1.3.2 Sources of salt intake

The main dietary sources of salt are shown in Table 4.3-4. Surprisingly, the main sources of salt intake using Saudi-FFQ are *Vegetables* (41.9%; 1.8 g salt/day) followed by *Mixed Dishes* (18.6%; 0.8 g salt/day), *Sandwiches and Snacks* (0.5 g salt/day), *Breads, Cereals and Starches* (0.5 g salt/day), and *Meat, Fish and Eggs* group (0.5 g salt/day). Furthermore, 55% of the salt intake came from un-processed foods and 45% of salt intake came from processed foods. There are no differences between genders in term of having processed or unprocessed food. Processed foods were defined in this study as bread and cereals; savoury snacks and sweets, such as crisps; meat products, such as burger; canned meat and fish products, such as canned tuna; drinks, such as milk, *laban* or soft drinks; cheese products such as cream cheese or white cheese; fast foods such as pizza and *shawarma* (donner kebab).

East Crosses	Na (mg)					Salt (g)				
Food Groups	Median	Q1	Q3	Mean	STDV.	Median	Q1	Q3	Mean	STDV.
Milks	4.8	0.0	29.1	22.7	50.6	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1
Labans	0.0	0.0	6.9	12.5	34.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1
Cream Cheese	0.0	0.0	19.4	20.9	49.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1
White and Cheddar Cheese	20.5	0.0	71.0	69.5	145.4	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.4
Yogurt	10.7	0.0	46.1	31.5	64.9	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.2
Labnah	0.0	0.0	0.8	2.4	8.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Ice cream	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Quashta (Cream) /Gaymar	0.0	0.0	0.1	1.1	3.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Fruits:	22.8	1.6	105.7	134.9	318.7	0.1	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.8
Fruits without Olives	9.8	1.0	27.4	21.4	35.8	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1
Olives	0.0	0.0	83.2	113.5	311.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.8
Vegetables	739.2	233.0	2122.9	1248.1	1433.4	1.8	0.6	5.3	3.1	3.6
Meat, Fish and Eggs	197.0	77.3	428.2	322.1	392.8	0.5	0.2	1.1	0.8	1.0
Mixed Dishes	321.6	147.5	608.9	442.1	459.6	0.8	0.4	1.5	1.1	1.1
Sandwiches and Snacks	214.7	82.7	479.5	340.1	362.8	0.5	0.2	1.2	0.9	0.9
Breads, Cereals and Starches	207.8	96.0	443.4	317.5	326.0	0.5	0.2	1.1	0.8	0.8
Beverages, Juices and Drinks	17.3	5.4	48.3	39.0	98.6	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.2
Sweets	11.5	1.2	34.6	27.7	46.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1
Seeds and Nuts	0.8	0.0	5.6	6.4	14.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Butter, Margarine or other Spread or Oil on bread	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.1	12.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Table 4.3-4: Sources of salt (g salt/day) intake based on Saudi-FFQ among Saudi adults in Riyadh city, Saudi Arabia (n=581).

4.3.1.4 Socio-economic factors and salt intake

There was a difference of 2grams in salt intake (g/day) between socio-economic groups (Table 4.3-5, p=0.007). This was seen in particular in term of income levels (difference from low to high: 2grams, p=0.011) levels but not between education levels (p=0.262) or occupation levels (p=0.089).

Table 4.3-5: Salt intake (g/day) from the Saudi-FFQ (n=581) among socioeconomic groups in Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia (n=581).

Socio-economic	Salt Intake	Income	Salt Intake	Education	Salt Intake
n=579		N=572		n=579	
Low	7.9 (5.7-11.5)	Low	8.2 (5.6-10.9)	Low	8.9 (5.7-12))
Medium	8.7 (5.7-11.6)	Medium	8.6 (5.7-12.4)	Medium	8.2 (5.6-11.7)
High	9.9 (6.6-13.1) ^{a c}	High	9.9 (6.9-12.3) ^b	High	8.8 (5.8-11.8)
p-value*	0.007	p-value*	0.011	p-value*	0.262

^{*} Value was significantly different between socio-economic factors (p < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^aValue was significantly different between Low and Medium status (p < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^b Value was significantly different between Low and High status (p < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^c Value was significantly different between Medium and High status (p < 0.05) bases on One-Way ANOVA test.

4.3.1.5 Estimated and measured daily salt intake and blood pressure (without anti-hypertensive medication)

Spearman's correlations between daily salt intake estimated with the Saudi-FFQ, and systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) are shown in Figure 4.3-1. The results show a significant but weak relationship between daily salt intake from Saudi-FFQ and SBP (R_s =0.089, p=0.036) while the relationship between daily salt intake and DBP was not significant (R_s =0.021, p=0.617).



Figure 4.3-1: Correlation between estimated salt intake using FFQ, and the SBP and DBP (n=581).

Table 4.3-6 shows the linear regression analysis between blood pressure and salt intake, suggesting that the estimated salt intake is associated with SBP (p=0.013) but not with DBP (p=0.247). However, when the model was adjusted for age, WC and gender, the significance was lost in both SBP and DBP. The occurrence of hypertension was also not associated with salt intake from Saudi-FFQ (χ^2 =0.064, p=0.969).

Table 4.3-6: Systolic and diastolic blood pressure associated with the increase of estimated salt intake (g salt/day) using Saudi-FFQ (n=581) among Saudi adults living in Riyadh city using multiple regression analysis

В	SE	R Square	CI	t- value	p- value [*]
0.38	0.153	0.011	0.08-0.68	2.50	0.013
0.120	0.104	0.002	-0.08-0.32	1.16	0.247
0.084	0.146	0.154	-0.203-	0.577	0 564
0.084			0.371		0.504
-	0.103	0.080	-0.222-	0 105	0.845
0.020		0.009	0.182	-0.195	0.045
	B 0.38 0.120 0.084 - 0.020	B SE 0.38 0.153 0.120 0.104 0.084 0.146 - 0.103 0.020 0.103	B SE R Square 0.38 0.153 0.011 0.120 0.104 0.002 0.084 0.146 0.154 - 0.103 0.089	B SE R Square CI 0.38 0.153 0.011 0.08-0.68 0.120 0.104 0.002 -0.08-0.32 0.084 0.146 0.154 -0.203- - 0.103 0.089 -0.222- 0.020 0.103 0.089 0.182	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

* Regression is significant at the <0.05 level;

[£] Adjusted for WC, age and gender.

CI: Confidence Interval; SE: Standard error; B: coefficient estimate; SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; WC: Waist circumference.

4.4 Discussion

To the knowledge of the researcher, there is no precedent for developing an FFQ that suits a Saudi population to assess usual salt intake. The present study evaluated the relationship of salt intake on blood pressure and hypertension status on a Saudi adult population using the newly developed Saudi-FFQ. The effect of socio-economic characteristics on habitual salt intake and the dietary sources of salt were also tested. This study recruited 581 participants which satisfied the sample size requirements for representativeness, with a sample size larger than that of previous studies (Dehghan, del Cerro et al. 2012; Elorriaga, Irazola et al. 2015; Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015).

4.4.1.1 Estimated salt intake levels and patterns

The median estimated salt intake in this study is 8.7 g/day (IQR 5.8-11.9), with higher intake in men (9.2 g salt/day, IQR 6.7-12.4) than women (8.3 g salt/day, IQR 5.3-11.7). This difference between genders (male intake 11% higher than in women) mirrors that of the UK in 2011 (9.3 and 6.8 g/day in men and women, respectively) (Sadler 2012). However, salt intake in British men was nearly 27% higher than in women. The current intake of the Riyad population (8.7 g/day) is also similar to the intake of a South Indian population (estimated using a validated FFQ) at 8.5 g/day (Radhika, Sathya et al. 2007). However, it is substantially higher than previously estimated in the Saudi population: in 1987, Al-Nozha et al. (Al-Nozha M 1996) estimated sodium intake using a single 24hr food recall, with a mean intake of 2,454 mg/day, equivalent to 6.14 g salt/day; this is 42% lower than the current salt intake in this study.

Very few people (18%) in our study population met the national and WHO recommendation for salt intake (<5 g salt/day) (WHO/FAO 2003; MOH 2012). Salt intakes among Saudi adults are about 0.8–7 g salt/day above current recommendations. These findings are consistent with Trials of Hypertension Prevention (TOHP) findings, showing that only 10% of subjects were consuming <5.75 g salt/day (Cook, Appel et al. 2014).

Our findings are consistent with other Asian studies in term of salt addition behaviours. A majority of the study population always add salt while cooking and most never added salt while eating. In Chinese population, most dietary sodium (76%) was from discretionary salt added in home cooking (Anderson, Appel et al. 2010). In contrast, in

the UK, the contribution of salt added at the table or in home cooking to overall intake was 5% only (Anderson, Appel et al. 2010).

4.4.1.2 Estimated salt intake and socio-economic factors

Estimated salt intake was higher by 2 grams with individual income increase but not with education or occupation. However, these results are not in agreement with several other studies. In Japanese workers, education levels and household income were negatively associated with salt intake using self-administered diet history questionnaire (Miyaki, Song et al. 2013). In the UK, higher dietary sodium intake in people with the lowest educational and occupational levels was observed. The dietary sodium intake among those with no qualification was 5.7% (0.1%, 11.1%) higher than the reference group (Ji and Cappuccio 2014). Furthermore, in Northern Ireland a cross-sectional study (n=360) revealed that high discretionary salt usage and frequent consumption of processed foods among consumers of lower socio-economic status (Purdy, Armstrong et al. 2002).

4.4.1.3 Sources of estimated salt intake

It is also a practical tool to enable identification of sources of sodium with high intake and to inform public health interventions based on changing dietary practices, consumer education, and reformulation of processed foods (McLean 2014). Therefore, this study assessed the sources of high salt intake among the study population, with "Vegetables" (42%), followed by "Mixed dishes" (19%) the main dietary sources of salt.

Sources of salt in the diet differ among countries. The current study did not assess the amount of discretionary salt added to food at home in cooking and at table. However, the Saudi Food Composition Tables (SFCT) included "ready to eat" foods which contain discretionary salt in SFCT analyses (Al-Nozha M 1996).

In the INTERMAP study (International Study of macro and micro-nutrients and blood pressure) shows that the main source of salt in the Chinese diet was added salt during cooking (78%), followed by soy sauce (7%) (Zhou, Stamler et al. 2003; Anderson, Appel et al. 2010; Batcagan-Abueg, Lee et al. 2013). Li et al (2015) also found that in a Chinese population, the main source of salt intake was added salt (79%), followed by salty vegetables (14%), soy sauce (3%), MSG (2%) and other sauce (2%) (Li, Qin et al. 2015).

In the UK, the main source of dietary salt was breads, grains and cereals (34%), followed by red meats, poultry and eggs (20%) (Zhou, Stamler et al. 2003; Anderson, Appel et al.

2010). In the USA, the main source of dietary salt was added salt (29%), followed by breads, grains and cereals (29%), and red meats, poultry and eggs (19%) (Zhou, Stamler et al. 2003; Anderson, Appel et al. 2010).

The current study also shows that more than half of salt intake (55%) came from unprocessed foods. In contrast, in the UK and USA excessive salt intake in modern diets in these countries is mainly came from commercial food processing (83% and 77%, respectively) (Sanchez-Castillo, Warrender et al. 1987; Mattes and Donnelly 1991; Anderson, Appel et al. 2010).

Seasonings, condiments and oils such as mono-sodium glutamate (MSG), margarines, soy and fish sauces, or butter are other sources of sodium in different populations (Batcagan-Abueg, Lee et al. 2013). The current study included questions regarding the amounts of margarines (0.01%), butter (0.01%) and mayonnaise (0.1%) in the FFQ. However, participants were not asked regarding the amount of MSG, dressings and sauces. Excluding seasonings and condiments during the assessment of nutrient intake may have lead to underestimation of sodium intake (Na and Lee 2012). In the USA, nearly 10% of daily salt came from gravies, seasonings, sauces, salad dressings (7.2%), and margarines (1.3%) (Anderson, Appel et al. 2010). In the Philippines, a high proportion of dietary sodium came from condiments such as soy sauce (14%) and fish sauce (1.4%) after added salt (58%) at the table or during cooking (Lee 2009). For this reason, the weak relationship between salt intake and BP may partly explained by not including some of these sources of sodium in the Saudi FFQ. However, the participants were asked regarding the type of salt substitutes they were using. Among those reported using salt substitutes, 36% of them used mono-sodium glutamate (MSG) and 36% used sea salt, both high in sodium and not true substitutes.

These findings raise a concern regarding the encouragement to increase vegetables intake without including advice regarding the risk of higher salt intake in SA. Also, these findings imply that focusing on traditional (local) and conventional (e.g. western food) diet is important.

In addition, updated consumer education, changes in the food environment and policies, and reformulation of processed and prepared foods to achieve the lowest possible sodium contents are also important as recommended in the recent WHO consultation report (WHO/EMRO 2013). These findings raised a concern regarding the encouragement to

increase intake of vegetables without including an advice regarding the risk of higher salt intake in SA.

4.4.1.4 Salt intake and blood pressure

This study revealed a weak but significant relationship between estimated salt intake and systolic blood pressure. Results showed that every 2g of measured salt increase is significantly associated with ≈ 0.8 mmHg (0.2-1.4 mmHg) increase in SBP. Antihypertensive drugs (including diuretics, beta blockers, Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), Calcium channel blockers, and renin inhibitors) may affect blood pressure and salt metabolism in the human body (Sciarretta, Palano et al. 2011; Thompson, Hu et al. 2011). However, the same results were observed even when subjects using antihypertensive were excluded (p=0.034). These results are consistent with several studies. In 2007, the CURES study (Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study) recruited 26,001 participants aged 20 and more from South Indian Population (Radhika, Sathya et al. 2007). The study assessed the estimated salt intake using validated FFQ and found a significant increase of SBP and DBP with increasing salt intake (p<0.0001). The INTERMAP study which is crosssectional epidemiologic study recruited 4,680 men and women aged 40-59 years from 17 diverse populations also agreed with the current study: every 1.0 g of urinary salt increase was significantly associated with 1.9 mmHg mm Hg (0.8-3.0 mm Hg) increase in SBP and 0.8 mm Hg (0.2-1.4 mm Hg) increase in DBP (Anderson, Appel et al. 2010). This strong relationship between salt intake and BP in INTERMAP may be explained by the salt intake estimation method, 24 hour urinary sodium output, which is considered as a "gold standard" method t (Van Dam and Hunter 2013).

The INTERSALT study, conducted in 1988 and re-analysed in 1996, assessed the association of salt intake using 24 hour urine samples and blood pressure in more than 10,000 subjects in 52 locations around the world (Elliott 1988; Elliott, Stamler et al. 1996). This study found a significant positive association between 24 hour urinary sodium excretion and blood pressure after adjustment for age, sex, BMI, and alcohol intake. It found that individual 24 hour urinary sodium excretion higher by 100 mmol (5.8 gram salt/day) was associated with SBP/DBP higher on average by 3/0 to 6/3 mm Hg within population (with and without BMI analyses); and associated with median SBP/DBP higher on average by 5-7/2-4 mm Hg across population (n=52).

The current study findings are in disagreement with those of Alkhunaizi et al. who did not find any significant relationship between urinary salt excretions, and SBP and DBP in eastern region of SA (Alkhunaizi, Al Jishi et al. 2013). One major limitation of that study was the small sample size and inclusion of potential kidney donors and patients who underwent work-up for nephrolithiasis.

Furthermore, as discussed in the introduction (Section1.2.3.2.1), the kidneys and hormones have a central role in maintaining sodium, water balance and blood pressure in human body through the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) (Guyton 1991; Lewis, Dirksen et al. 2014). Cells in the kidney release the enzyme called renin when blood volume or sodium levels in the body are low, or blood potassium is high. Renin converts angiotensinogen (produced in the liver) to the hormone angiotensin I. Then, an angiotensin-converting enzyme (found in the lungs) metabolizes angiotensin I into angiotensin II. This causes the blood vessels to be constricted and blood pressure increases due to the effect of the Angiotensin II. Also, Angiotensin II stimulates the release of aldosterone hormone (found in the adrenal glands). This causes the renal tubules to retain water and sodium and excrete potassium (Wilken and Juneja 2008; de Kloet, Krause et al. 2010). However, some factors such as kidney diseases, excess body fat and salt intake can affect this regulation, causing elevated blood pressure (hypertension). Antihypertensive drugs (including diuretics, beta blockers, Angiotensinconverting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), Calcium channel blockers, and renin inhibitors) are used to control blood pressure and salt metabolism in human body (Sciarretta, Palano et al. 2011; Thompson, Hu et al. 2011). In present study, subjects on kidney dialysis were not included in the study analysis.

4.4.1.5 Strengths and limitations

More details on strength and limitations of this study were discussed in details in Chapter 3. The sample size per each gender was quite enough to estimate evidences stated in area of actions. The sample size (n=581) affords a confidence interval (margin of error) of $\pm 4\%$ for data reported, at the 95% confidence level (CRS 2015). The current study also included questions regarding the amounts of margarines, butter, ketchup, and mayonnaise in the FFQ. However, participants were not asked regarding the amount of MSG, dressings and sauces which could lead to underestimating the salt intake in study population (more details discussed in section 3.4.1.1).

A causal relationship could not be drawn from this study as it is a cross-sectional study covering a snapshot of time which did not cover the seasoning differences in food intake; and did not assess the reproducibility of the FFQ (more details in Chapter 3). Even though there was no relationship between newly developed FFQ and blood pressure status, still it is a useful tool for a large population to assess their habitual dietary intake. It is also a practical tool to enable identification of sources of sodium with high intake and to inform public health interventions based on changing dietary practices, consumer education, and reformulation of processed foods (McLean 2014).

4.5 Conclusion

Data presented in this study indicate that most of Riyadh population consume an amount of salt higher than the recommended level (<5 g/d for salt). The main sources of dietary salt came from "vegetables" and un-processed foods. Socio-economic status, and particularly income, has a significant impact on salt intake. Data in present study also indicate a significant relationship between increase salt intake and blood pressure. Extensive data from prospective population studies indicate that such reduction in salt intake levels could substantially improve blood pressure levels and subsequently, reducing the major rates of cardiovascular diseases and mortality. Population interventions, including health education, are required to reduce sodium intake in this population. The quantitative and qualitative data provided in this study could be used to develop and implement strategies for salt intake reduction in Saudi Arabia.
Chapter Five

Body Composition Assessments from Surveys in Saudi Arabia: reliability, body size distributions and age

5.1 Introduction

National Health Surveys are conducted to estimate current and future disease burdens and costs in order to plan health care programmes. To do this, health surveys must be representative of the entire population, and must specifically include those at greatest health risk. The inclusion of appropriate anthropometric measurements to assess body composition in an epidemiological study is crucial (Gibson 2005), as long as these measurements are conducted by trained investigators with standardised techniques (WHO 2000; WHO 2008).

Obesity is usually described using the body mass index (BMI), with a BMI of 30 kg/m^2 or more defined as obese, and overweight defined as a BMI between 25 and 29.9 kg/m^2 (WHO 2014). However, BMI does not discriminate between body fat and muscle mass, which have opposite effects on health (Prentice and Jebb 2001; Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013). Even though BMI has been used widely in research and clinical practice, WC is a marginally better indicator of total body fat compared to BMI (Lean, Han et al. 1996) and the chronic health risks are predicted better by WC than by BMI (Pouliot, Despres et al. 1994; Lean, Han et al. 1995). Although not recommended for individual assessment. BMI had a weak performance in predicting chronic health risks (T2DM and hypertension) among 197,681 Saudi adults in the east province of Saudi Arabia (Almajwal, Al-Baghli et al. 2009). This study reported that despite a significant increase in odds ratio of hypertension and diabetes from BMI values as low as 21-23, this did not improve the diagnostic performance of BMI measurements. Furthermore, this study highlights that the optimal BMI cut-offs using the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis (BMI=30.50-31.50 kg/m² in women and BMI=28.50 - 29.50 kg/m² in men) had both low sensitivity and low specificity, with an unacceptably high level of type I and II errors (>80).

While NCDs are prevalent in SA, relatively few large scale studies have been performed there covering the reliability of body composition measures. Pooling primary data presents great advantages in nutritional epidemiology and can address the limitations faced in individual studies (Willett 2013). Therefore, it was aimed to integrate data obtained from different surveys in SA. The purpose of this chapter is to build a comprehensive picture of body composition (adiposity and muscle mass) in SA. Therefore, the study presented in this chapter aims to meet five main objectives. Therefore, the questions to be raised are the following:

RQ1: Are body composition measures influenced by age?

RQ2: Does the body mass index agree with waist circumference for predicting adiposity?

RQ3: Does skeletal mass index represent the muscle mass status in the body?

5.2 Methodology and materials

5.2.2 Surveys and populations

This study is a secondary analysis of integrated data from the Saudi National Surveys (Saudi Health Information Survey (SHIS) and Saudi National Health Survey (SNHS)), the Riyadh Region Surveys (two), and the Riyadh Validation Survey (RVS). Both Saudi National Health Surveys sample the population using a multistage stratified cluster random sampling of private households with a national sampling frame maintained and updated by the SA Census Bureau, to provide nationally representative data on healthrelated variables (WHO-STEPwise 2005; Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014). Both Riyadh region surveys are the capital-wide Biomarker Screening in Riyadh region (BSR), a collaborative effort between the Biomarkers Research Program (BRP) of King Saud University (KSU) and the Ministry of Health in Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (RIYADH Cohort) (Al-Daghri, Al-Attas et al. 2011). Subjects were recruited randomly from their homes using the cluster sampling strategy and their information was taken from the existing database of more than 17,000 subjects in Riyadh region (Al-Daghri, Al-Attas et al. 2011). The RVS sampled the population at large retail centres in areas of contrasting socio-economic status in Riyadh city during October and November 2013 (Alkhalaf, Edwards et al. 2015). This analysis included males and females aged 18 years and over. Both SHIS and SNHS included a younger age group 15-17 years old. However, this age group was excluded from the analysis.

Pregnant women and expatriates (through National ID) were also not included in this analysis. Although a reference for anthropometric measurements for the Arab population could not be identified, biologically implausible values for height and weight were excluded **1**) by trimming values below the 0.5 and above the 99.5 sex-specific percentiles using a 99% Winsorisation technique (Hastings Jr, Mosteller et al. 1947; Berentzen,

Jakobsen et al. 2011); **2**) and using reference levels of simple anthropometric measures as recommended by Das et al. and Tuan et al. (Das, Kinsinger et al. 2005; Tuan, Adair et al. 2008). Almost 6.5% (n = 1552) of the adults examined in these five surveys from 2004 to 2014 had a body-size measurement that was flagged as being biologically implausible on the basis of the values below the 0.5 and above the 99.5 sex-specific percentiles for each anthropometric measurement. Participants with missing socio-demographic values of (e.g., age or gender) were also excluded from this analysis (n=1337, 5.1%). The exclusion criteria were selected to reduce the impact of outliers on the associations. All the studies obtained written informed consent from the participants and were approved by the local Institutional Review Boards (IRB). Subjects of all surveys were interviewed by a trained interviewer to collect information on socio-demographic factors, dietary habits, lifestyle (smoking, physical activity), and health conditions.

5.2.3 Data collection

5.2.3.1 Anthropometric measures and body composition estimations

Height, weight, waist and hip circumferences (WC, HC) were measured by trained professionals, as detailed in the protocols of all regional and national surveys included (WHO-STEPwise 2005; Al-Daghri, Al-Attas et al. 2011; Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014; Alkhalaf, Edwards et al. 2015). All anthropometric measurements followed specified protocols using calibrated scales and non-stretchable plastic tapes. Height measurements were recorded to the nearest 0.01 meter and carried out in the standing position, without shoes or head-covers, with the head in the Frankfort Plane position. Weight was measured with electronic scales with indoor clothing on without shoes, to the nearest 0.1 kg. WC and HC were measured using non-stretchable plastic tapes to the nearest 0.1 centimetre (cm). WC was measured in cm midway between the lower costal margin and iliac crest after an expiratory phase whilst HC was measured in cm at the greater trochanters. BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters (WHO 2014). From 23,968 participants in the five Saudi Surveys considered, 93% had data available for BMI, 88% for WC, and 52% for HC.

5.2.3.2 Anthropometric measures classifications

Standard BMI and WC cut-off values were used to calculate the prevalence of overweight and obesity in our sample (Lean, Han et al. 1995; WHO 2014). Based on the World Health Organization (WHO) recommended definitions for epidemiology, non-

obese (normal BMI) was defined as a BMI of 18.5-24.9 kg/m², overweight was defined as a BMI of 25-29.9 kg/m², and obese as a BMI of \geq 30 kg/m² (WHO 2000; WHO 2014). Obesity was also defined according to gender-specific risk categories of waist circumference (WC) (Normal WC: WC<80 cm and WC<94 cm for female and male, respectively; Risk1: WC 80-88 cm, 94-102 cm for female and male, respectively; Risk1: WC 80-88 cm, 94-102 cm for female and male, respectively; Risk 2: WC >88 cm, >102 cm for female and male, respectively) (Table 5.2-1) (Lean, Han et al. 1995; WHO 2008).

To assess the agreement and misclassification of overweight and obesity using BMI and WC measurements, BMI in combination with WC measurements were used to classify participants as [High-Risk Adiposity by BMI and WC], [High-Risk Adiposity by BMI only], and [High Risk Adiposity by WC only] based on the action levels first published by Lean et al (Lean, Han et al. 1995) and adopted internationally to diagnose metabolic syndrome. We also assessed the agreement and misclassification between BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR using a cross-tabulation technique. The adiposity high risk of waist to hip (WHR) was defined as a WHR \geq 0.85 for women and \geq 0.90 for men (WHO 2008). The adiposity high risk of waist to height (WHtR) was defined as WHtR \geq 0.5 (Ashwell 2011; Ashwell and Gibson 2014) (**Table** 5.2-1).

Category	Women	Men
BMI		
Non-obese (kg/m^2)	18.5-24.9	18.5-24.9
Overweight (kg/m^2)	25-29.9	25-29.9
Obese (kg/m^2)	≥ 30	≥30
WC		
Normal WC (cm)	<80	<94
Risk I WC (cm)	80-88	94-102
Risk II WC (cm)	>88	>102
WHR		
High risk WHR	≥ 0.85	≥ 0.90
WHtR		
High risk WHtR	≥ 0.5	≥ 0.5

Table 5.2-1: Body composition classifications

BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; WHR: Waist to hip ratio; WHtR: waist to height ratio.

5.2.3.3 Body composition estimations

Body composition variables, including Total Adipose Tissue Fat Mass (TATFM), skeletal muscle mass (SM) and total body fat percent (%BF), were estimated using simple anthropometric and demographic measures.

-Total Adipose Tissue Mass (TATM)

Firstly, we assessed the Total Adipose Tissue Mass (TATM) using Al-Gindan et al., 2015 equations (E1, E2). Then, the TATM outputs were multiplied by 0.8, assuming the proportion by weight of the lipid fraction in adipose tissue to be 80% (Snyder WS CM 1975; Sohlstrom, Wahlund et al. 1993; Wang, Zhu et al. 2003).

(E1)(male) = -12.8 + 0.198 Body Weight (kg) + 0.478 Waist (cm) - 0.147 Height (cm)

(E2)(female) = 24.5 + 0.789 Body Weight (kg) + 0.0786 Age (y) - 0.342 Height (cm)

-Body Fat Percent (%BF):

The total Body Fat Percent (%BF) was estimated using Lean et al., 1996 equations (E3, E4) using simple anthropometric and demographic measures (Lean, Han et al. 1996). These regression equations were calculated from body density measured by underwater weighing in 63 men and 84 women.

(E3)(male) = (0.567 waist) + (0.101 age) - 31.8(E4)(female) = (0.439 waist) + (0.221 age) - 9.4

In 1991, Deurenberg et al. (Deurenberg, Weststrate et al. 1991) developed an prediction equation using simple anthropometric variables (age, BMI and sex) using densitometry measurements to estimate total body fat percentage this equation has high correlations with UWW-measured total body fat (R2=0.79, SEE= 41% BF%). Therefore, %BF of subjects in this study was estimated also using equation (E5) of Deurenberg et al. (1991) using simple anthropometric and demographic measures (Deurenberg, Weststrate et al. 1991).

$$(E5) = (1.2 \text{ BMI}) + (0.23 \text{ Age}) - (10.8 \text{ Sex}) - 5.4$$

-Skeletal Muscle Mass (SMM)

The skeletal muscle mass (SMM) of the study subjects was estimated using the Al-Gindan equations (E5, E6) (Al-Gindan, Hankey et al. 2014). The Lee equation (E7) was

used to estimate the SMM of the study population (Lee, Wang et al. 2000). Then, the muscle mass (kg) output was divided by height (m) squared to generate Skeletal Muscle Mass Index (SMI) (muscle mass (kg)/height (m²)) (Baumgartner, Koehler et al. 1998). The SMI outputs (kg/m^2) were compared with the SM cut-offs (kg/m^2) to assess whether subjects would be categorised as having "low muscle mass" according to Chien et al. (Chien, Huang et al. 2008). However, SMI is highly correlated with BMI and may identify thinner people as having sarcopenia (Kim, Park et al. 2014). Thus, SMI may have limited power to identify low muscle mass in obese people and weight-adjusted SMM was used to solve this limitation (Kim, Park et al. 2011). Muscle mass (kg) to fat mass (kg) ratio (SMM/BF) is associated with WC, blood pressure, glucose, lipid profiles and brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity (baPWV) and the muscle mass/fat mass ratio is considered to be a new index of sarcopenic obesity (Kim, Park et al. 2011). Assuming percentage of skeletal muscle mass to body weight (%SMM) is potentially a good method to predict the metabolic risks in Saudi adults. %SMM can be calculated in this study for each subject by dividing the SMM (kg) by body weight (kg) and multiplying the output by 100, as described by Janssen et al. (Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2002) and Kim et al. (Kim, Yang et al. 2009).

(E5)SMM (male) = 39.5 + 0.665 Body Weight (kg) - 0.185 Waist (cm) - 0.418 Hip (cm) - 0.08 Age (y)

(E6)SMM (female) = 2.89 + 0.255 Body Weight (kg) - 0.175 Hip (cm) - 0.038 Age (y) + 0.118 Height (cm)

(E7) SMM (Kg) = 0.244 * body weight (kg) + 7.80 * height (m) - 0.098 * age (y) + 6.6 * sex + race - 3.3

(Sex = 0 for female and 1 for male, race = -1.2 for Asian, 1.4 for African American, and 0 for white and Hispanic).

5.2.3.4 Statistical analysis

Data from the five surveys were combined into a single database. The body composition between males and females are different, and affected by increasing age (Marriott and Grumstrup-Scott 1992; Miller, MacDougall et al. 1993; Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2000; Heymsfield 2005; Kirchengast 2010; Forbes 2011). Therefore, analyses were conducted

separately for men and women. Incomplete anthropometric data was considered as missing and coded as 999 in the SPSS program during the analysis.

Subjects were grouped into eight 10-year age bands, identified by the middle year from 25 (that is, ages 18–27) to 95 (ages 88–97) years. There were insufficient subjects older than 97 years to warrant being included in the age-bands analysis. The participants' age was cross-classified into tertiles to evaluate the relationship between body composition and age. A One-Way ANOVA test was used to determine differences between body composition variables and the tertiles of age. Spearman's correlations and regression analyses were performed to determine the relationship between body composition and age within each gender. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Survey Characteristics

The characteristics of the five surveys (2004–2014) under consideration are summarised in Table 5.3-1. A multistage stratified cluster random sampling technique was used in both SHIS and SNHS. However, a post-stratification was applied in SHIS to account for non-response and to reflect the general SA population. This standard methodology for creating sampling weights in SHIS was similar to that used in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) and the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) in the United States of America (USA) (CDC 2016; CDC 2016). Furthermore, a random cluster sampling technique was used in BSR1 and BSR2. A convenience sampling technique was used in RVS. As it did not consider older age groups (women > 60 years, men > 65 years) both male and female participants of the RVS are younger than subjects from other surveys. Based on published reports of BSR1 and BSR2, children were included in studies, resulting in an age range of 7 to 80 years. However, the available data from these studies concerning subjects aged 18 years and over show that the BSR2 subjects (median 48 years (IQR 38-55 years) for women; median 51 years, (IQR 39-61 years) for men) are older than subjects from other surveys for both women and men. There are differences in height, weight, BMI, WC, and HC between respondents from each survey due to the differences in sampling techniques in each survey. There is high completion rate of anthropometric measurements. However, SHIS did not collect HC measurements from all subjects (Table 5.3-1). Study sample derivation process is shown in Figure 5.3-1.

Cross-sectional Surveys	Area of Recruitment	Year	Sampling technique	Response Rate [©] (n(%))	Data receive d (n)	Wome n n(%)	Men (n(%)	Age range (year s)	Age Median(IQ R) [*]	Weight (n(%)) ^{\$}	Height (n(%)) ^{\$}	BMI (n(%)) ^{\$}	WC (n(%)) ^{\$}	HC (n(%)) [§]
RVS	Riyadh city (City Survey)	October- Novemb er 2013	Convenien ce	601/768 (78.3) ^a	601	336 (56)	265 (44)	19-60	29 (24-38)	601 (100)	600 (100)	600 (100)	598 (99.5)	597 (99.3)
BSR1	Riyadh region (Regional Survey)	2008- 2009	Random cluster	9164/17000 (ND)	5,331€	2836 (53)	2495 (47)	$7-80^{\text{f}}$	42 (27-55)	4931 (92)	4897 (91)	4645 (87)	4795 (90)	4795 (90)
BSR2	Riyadh region (Regional Survey)	2013- 2014	Random cluster	4413/16000 (ND)	4,270€	2881 (67)	1389 (33)	7-80 [£]	49 (38-57)	3981 (90)	3926 (89)	3924 (89)	3198 (73)	3198 (73)
NHS	All Saudi Arabia (National Survey)	2004- 2005	random multistage stratified cluster	4883/5000 (97.7) ^b	4,883	2298 (51)	2180 (49)	15- 64 [£]	37 (27-47)	4320 (89)	4325 (89)	4312 (88)	4157 (85)	4154 (85)
SHIS	All Saudi Arabia (National Survey)	April- June 2013	random multistage stratified cluster	10,735/120 00 (89.5) ^b	10,735	5167 (52)	4842 (48)	$\geq 15^{f}$	37 (28-49)	9688 (90)	9892 (91)	9638 (89)	9506 (88)	-

Table 5.3-1: Comparison of five health surveys in Saudi Arabia in 10 years period (2004-2014).

[©] The number of people who entered the study divided by the number of people who were initially approached (women and men) ^{\$} Sample collection number. [‡] The age in the original survey. ^{*} The age based on received data.

[€] This is the received number from BSR after excluding the subjects who aged less than 18 years old.

^a Completion rate

^bResponse rate.

BMI: body mass index; IQR: interquartile range; ND: Not Known; WC: waist circumference; HC: hip circumference; WHR: Waist to hip ratio; WHR: waist to height ratio; CI: confidence interval; SE: standard error.



Figure 5.3-1: Study sample derivation.

* Number of subjects without gender is unknown (gender not collected or reported).

5.3.2 Subject characteristics (pooled data)

5.3.2.1 Simple anthropometric measures

On average, Saudi men were one year older (p<0.0001), weighed 7 kg more (p<0.0001), were 12 cm taller (p<0.0001), have a WC 8 cm greater (p<0.0001) and a WHR 0.19 points higher (p<0.0001) than Saudi women. However, Saudi women had a significantly greater BMI (by 2 points) (p<0.0001) and HC (by 8 cm) (p<0.0001) than men (Table 5.3-2).

5.3.2.2 Estimated skeletal muscle mass (SMM)

Saudi men had a SMM 5 kg greater (p<0.0001), a %SMM percentage 3% higher and a SMI 0.5 kg/m² higher (p<0.0001) compared with Saudi women using the Al-Gindan equation. Also, Saudi men had a SMM 9 kg greater (p<0.0001), a %SMM percentage 9% higher and a SMI 2 kg/m² higher (p<0.0001) compared with Saudi women using the Lee equation with White and Hispanic racial group. Using the Lee equation with Asians

racial group, Saudi men had a SMM 9 kg greater (p<0.0001), a %SMM percentage 9% higher and a SMI 2 kg/m² higher (p<0.0001) compared with Saudi women.

5.3.2.3 Estimated body fat (BF) and adipose tissue mass (ATM)

In contrast, Saudi women had a %BF 11% higher (p<0.0001) compared with Saudi men using Lean *et al.* equation. Also, Saudi women had a %BF 12% higher (p<0.0001) compared with Saudi men using the equation of Deurenberg *et al.*. Furthermore, Saudi women had a TATM 7 kg higher (p<0.0001) and TATM percentage 12% compared with Saudi men using the equation of Al-Gindan *et al.*. Saudi women also had a TATFM 5 kg higher (p<0.0001) and TATFM percentage 9% higher compared with Saudi men using the equation of Al-Gindan *et al.*.

Body Composition	Wor	nen (n=13,117)	Men (n=10,851)			
Body Composition	Ν	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)		
Age (year)	13117	39 (28-50)	10851	40 (29-54)		
Weight (kg)	12467	71 (60-82)	10348	78 (67-88)		
Height (cm)	12539	156 (152-160)	10397	168 (164-173)		
BMI (kg/m ²)	12231	29 (25-34)	10185	27 (24-31)		
Waist circumference (cm)	11440	89 (78-100)	9622	97 (86-107)		
Hip circumference (cm)	7096	107 (98-116)	5484	99 (89-108)		
Waist to Hip Ratio (WHR)	7080	0.84 (0.77-0.90)	5472	1.03 (0.92-1.09)		
Waist to Height Ratio (WHtR)	11320	0.57 (0.50-0.64)	9534	0.58 (0.51-0.64)		
SMM (kg)	6985	19 (17-21)	5366	24 (21-26)		
%SMM (%)	6973	27 (24-30)	5247	30 (28-34)		
SMI (kg/m ²)	6973	7.9 (7.3-8.6)	5247	8.4 (7.8-9.1)		
SMM (kg) (Ethnic A)	12231	22 (20-25)	10185	31 (29-34)		
%SMM (%) (Ethnic A)	12231	31 (29-34)	10185	40 (38-43)		
SMI (kg/m ²) (Ethnic A)	12231	9 (8-10)	10185	11 (10-12)		
SMM (kg) (Ethnic B)	12231	21 (19-24)	10185	30 (27-33)		
%SMM (%) (Ethnic B)	12231	30 (28-32)	10185	39 (36-41)		
SMI (kg/m ²) (Ethnic B)	12231	9 (8-10)	10185	11 (10-12)		
%BF(%)	11440	39 (32-45)	9622	28 (21-34)		
%BF(%)	12231	39 (32-46)	10185	27 (21-32)		
TATM (kg)	12387	31 (22-39)	9448	24 (17-31)		
%TATM (%)	12273	43 (36-48)	9448	31 (25-36)		
TATFM (kg)	12273	24 (18-31)	9448	19 (14-25)		
%TATFM (%)	12273	34 (29-39)	9448	25 (20-29)		

Table 5.3-2: 1	Measured and	estimated body	composition	characteristics.
1 abic 5.5-2.1	vicasui cu anu	comate bouy	composition	character istics

 a Value was significantly different between males and females (P <0.002) based on Mann-Whitney test.

⁸ P-Value threshold was calculated using Bonferroni correction test (0.05(p-value)/20(n.of tests)). IQR: Interquartile Range; CI: confidence interval; SE: standard error; BMI: body mass index; WHR: Waist to hip ratio; WHtR: waist to height ratio; SMM: estimated muscle mass; %SMM: estimated skeletal muscle mass percentage per body weight; SMI: estimated skeletal muscle mass index; BF: estimated total body fat percentage; TATM: estimated total adipose tissue mass; %TATM: estimated total adipose tissue mass percentage; TATFM: estimated total adipose tissue fat mass; %TATFM: estimated total adipose tissue fat mass percentage; Ethnic A: White and Hispanic ethnic groups; Ethnic B: Asian ethnic group.

5.3.3 Impact of ageing on body composition

5.3.3.1 Simple anthropometric measures

All body composition measurements amongst women and men were affected by age (Table 5.3-3). In both men and women, subjects in the lowest tertile of age had a lower weight, BMI, WC, HC, WHR and WHtR than the subjects in highest tertile (P<0.002, One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's test). However, subjects in the lowest tertile of age were marginally taller than the subjects in highest tertile (P<0.002, One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's test).

Spearman's Correlation analysis shows a positive relationship between age and BMI amongst both female and male subjects (R_S =0.373; R_S =0.209, respectively). The relationship between age and WC was greater amongst women and men (R_S =0.44 R_S =0.30, respectively). The relationship between age and WHR was moderate amongst women but lower amongst men (R_S =0.421; R_S =0.104, respectively). Although a moderate relationship existed between age and WHtR in women, this was low amongst men (R_S =0.47; R_S =0.344, respectively). Age and HC had a weak relationship for both women and men (R_S =0.319; R_S =0.200, respectively) and similarly, the relationship between age and weight was low amongst women and male subjects (R_S =0.30; R_S =0.12, respectively). The results also show a negative and low relationship between age and height amongst women and men (R_S =-0.16; R_S =-0.19, respectively) (more details of correlations between continuous data are in the Appendix).

Linear regression analysis indicates a significant increase in body weight (1.0 kg), WC (1.7 cm) and BMI (3.24 kg/m^2) for every 5 years increase in age amongst Saudi women. A significant increase in body weight (0.26 kg), WC (1.1 cm) and BMI (2.0 (kg/m^2) for every 5 years increase in age amongst Saudi men can also be inferred. The linear regression analysis additionally highlights a decrease in body height with age amongst both women (0.34 cm) and men (0.43 cm). In both females and males, the measurement most affected by age was WHtR (17% and 8%, respectively) (more details in the Appendix). Although these changes may appear small, over time they contribute to substantial total fat gain.

5.3.3.2 Estimated skeletal muscle mass (SMM)

The comparison of study subjects' estimated skeletal muscle mass (SMM) characteristics by gender and age tertiles are summarised in Table 5.3-3. In both men and women, subjects in the lowest tertile of age had a higher SMM (kg), %SMM and SMI (kg/m²) comparing with the subjects in highest tertile, except SMI (kg/m²) among women (Table 5.3-3) (P<0.002, One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's test). Both SMM equations (Al-Gindan et al 2014 and Lee et al 2000) are similar.

Spearman's Correlation analysis using the equation of Al-Gindan et al. (2014) shows a negative relationship between age and SMM (kg) amongst females (R_S =-0.056, p<0.0001); and negative relationship between age and SMI (kg) amongst males R_S =-0.222, p<0.0001). Moreover, the relationship between age and %SMM was negative amongst both female and male subjects (R_S =0.532; R_S =0.418, respectively). Also, the relationship between age and SMI (kg/m²) was negative among males but, surprisingly, it was positive among female subjects (R_S =-0.119; R_S =0.039, respectively) (more details of correlations between continuous data are in the Appendix. The two ethnic equations using the equation of Lee et al. 2000 give almost identical results. Correlation coefficient shows a negative relationship between age and SMM (kg) amongst females and males. Moreover, the results also show no relationship between age and SMI (kg/m²) amongst females but a negative relationship between them amongst males.

Linear regression analysis using the equation of Al-Gindan et al. (2014) indicates a significant decrease in SMM (1.8 kg) and %SMM (7.8 %), respectively) for every 5 years increase in age amongst Saudi women. However, no relationship was found between SMI and age among Saudi women (p=0.396). A decrease in SMM (4.5 kg), %SMM (7.0 %) and SMI (7.8 kg/m²) for every 5 years increase in age amongst Saudi men can also be inferred.

The results using the equation of Lee et al. (2000) in White and Hispanic ethnic groups show also, a significant decrease in SMM (2.1 kg), %SMM (18.4 %) and SMI (2.5 kg/m²), respectively) for every 5 years increase in age amongst Saudi women. A significant decrease in SMM (5.2 kg), %SMM (11.1 %) and SMI (12.2 kg/m²), respectively) for every 5 years increase in age amongst Saudi men can also be inferred.

5.3.3.3 Estimated body fat percentage (BF) and total adipose tissue mass (TATM)

The comparison of study subjects' estimated body fat percentage (%BF) and adipose tissue mass (TATM) characteristics by gender and age groups are summarised in

Table 5.3-4. In both men and women, median values across age tertiles revealed that subjects in the lowest tertile of age had a lower %BF, TATM (kg), %TATM (%), TATFM (kg) and TATFM (%) than the subjects in highest tertile (P<0.002, One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's test). Both %BF equations (Lean et al. 1995 and Deurenberg et al. 1991) provide almost identical results. The linear regression analysis additionally highlights a significant increase in TATM and %TATM with age amongst both women (1.89 kg; and 3.65%) and men (1.7 kg; and 2.6%). The linear regression analysis additionally highlights a significant increase in TATFM and %TATFM with age amongst both women (2.4 kg; and 4.6%) and men (2.1 kg; and 3.2%). In females, the measurement most affected by age was %BF using the equation of Lean et al. (1995) (44%) whereas %BF using the equation of Deurenberg et al. (1991) was most affected by age (32%) among male subjects (

Table 5.3-4).

Spearman's Correlation analysis shows that %BF using the equations of Lean et al. and Deurenberg et al. has very positive relationships. Also, it shows that TATM and its indices using Lean et al equation have positive relationships (more details of correlations between continuous data are in the Appendix). The linear regression analysis indicates a significant increase in %BF using the equations of Lean et al. (1995) and Deurenberg et al. (1991) (5.4 (%); and 4.4 (%), respectively) for every 5 years increase in age amongst Saudi women. A significant increase in %BF using the equations of Lean et al. (1995) and Deurenberg et al. (1991) (2.9 (%); and 5.4 (%), respectively) for every 5 years increase in age amongst such as the term of the term of the term of the term.

		Tertile 1	(n=8,273))		Tertile 2	(n=7,883	3)		Tertile 3	(n=7,793	93)		м
Pody Composition	Wo	men (n=4,697)	M	en (n=3,576)	Wor	nen (n=4,460)	Μ	en (n=3,423)	Won	nen (n=3,947)	M	en (n=3,846)	women	Men
Body Composition	N	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)	<i>p</i> -value (one-way ANOVA	<i>p-</i> value (one-way ANOVA
Age (year)	4697	25 (21-29)	3576	25 (21-29)	4460	40 (36-43)	3423	40 (36-43)	3947	55 (50-61)	3846	58 (53-65)	<0.0001 ^{a b c}	<0.0001 ^{abc}
Weight (kg)	4522	64 (54-75)	3449	72.8 (62-85.9)	4265	75 (65-85)	3268	80.5 (71-91)	3675	75 (66-85)	3629	78 (69-87.7)	<0.0001 ^{a b}	<0.0001 ^{abc}
Height (cm)	4566	157 (153-161)	3467	170 (165-174)	4293	156 (152-160)	3290	169 (165-174)	3675	155 (150-159)	3638	166 (162-171)	<0.0001 ^{a b c}	<0.0001 ^{b c}
BMI (kg/m ²)	4429	25.8 (22.1-30)	3388	25.4 (22-29.4)	4199	30.4 (26.6- 34.6)	3232	28.1 (25.2- 31.6)	3598	31.5 (27.6- 35.5)	3563	28 (25.1-31.2)	$<\!\!0.0001^{abc}$	<0.0001 ab
WC (cm)	4201	80 (70-90)	3250	90 (78-100)	3894	90 (81-100)	3027	98 (89-109)	3342	97 (88.9-105)	3345	102 (92-110)	<0.0001 ^{a b c}	<0.0001 ^{a b c}
HC (cm)	2409	100 (92-110)	1717	93 (82-104.2)	2355	109 (101-118)	1542	101 (92-110)	2329	110 (103-119)	2225	101 (93-109)	<0.0001 ^{abc}	<0.0001 ^{a b}
WHR	2403	0.78 (0.73- 0.85)	1710	1.01 (0.87- 1.13)	2348	0.83 (0.77- 0.89)	1537	1.02 (0.91-1.1)	2326	0.89 (0.83- 119)	2225	1.04 (1.0-1.1)	$<\!\!0.0001^{abc}$	$<\!\!0.0001^{\ b\ c}$
WHtR	4162	0.5 (0.4-0.6)	3221	0.5 (0.5-0.6)	3858	0.6 (0.5-0.6)	3003	0.6 (0.5-0.6)	3297	0.6 (0.6-0.7)	3310	0.6 (0.6-0.7)	<0.0001 ^{a b c}	<0.0001 ^{a b c}
SMM (kg) (Al-Gindan et al 2014)	2379	19 (17.2-20.9)	1695	30.2 (25.8- 34.7)	2321	19.6 (17.7- 21.8)	1520	28.9 (24.6- 33.9)	2289	18.7 (16.8- 20.7)	2196	25.1 (21.1- 30.2)	<0.0001 ^{a b c}	<0.0001 ^{b c}
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic A)	4429	22.1 (19.7- 24.9)	3388	31.8 (29.1- 35.1)	4199	23.2 (20.7-25.8)	3232	32.3 (29.9-35)	3594	21.6 (19-24.2)	3562	29.5 (26.9- 32.1)	<0.0001 ^{a b c}	<0.0001 ^{b c}
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic B)	4429	20.9 (18.5-23.7)	3388	30.6 (27.9- 33.9)	4198	22 (19.5-24.6)	3232	31.1 (28.7- 33.9)	3586	20.4 (17.8-23)	3560	28.3 (25.7- 30.9)	$< 0.0001^{a b c}$	<0.0001 ^{b c}
%SMM (%) (Al-Gindan et al 2014)	2379	30.1 (27.1- 33.5)	1695	41.3 (36.6- 47.3)	2321	26.4 (24.4- 28.7)	1520	35.8 (32.5- 39.9)	2289	24.9 (23.1-27)	2196	32.2 (28.4- 36.1)	<0.0001 ^{a b c}	<0.0001 ^{a b c}
%SMM (%) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic A)	4429	34.5 (32.9- 36.6)	3388	43.6 (40.9- 47.1)	4199	31.1 (30.1- 32.3)	3232	40 (38.2-41.9)	3594	28.7 (27.7- 29.5)	3562	37.8 (36.2- 39.4)	$< 0.0001^{a b c}$	$<\!\!0.0001^{a b c}$
%SMM (%) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic B)	4429	32.6 (31.3- 34.3)	3388	42 (39.5-45.1)	4198	29.5 (28.7- 30.5)	3232	38.5 (36.9- 40.3)	3586	27.1 (26.2- 27.9)	3560	36.2 (34.8- 37.7)	$< 0.0001^{a b c}$	$<\!\!0.0001^{a b c}$
SMI (kg/m ²) (Al-Gindan et al 2014)	2379	7.7 (7.2-8.5)	1687	10.5 (9.2-11.9)	2321	8.1 (7.5-8.8)	1517	10.2 (8.9-11.7)	2289	7.9 (7.3-8.6)	2187	9.1 (7.8-10.7)	<0.0001 ^{a c}	<0.0001 ^{b c}
SMI (kg/m ²) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic A)	4429	8.9 (8.1-9.9)	3388	11.1 (10.3- 12.1)	4199	9.4 (8.5-10.5)	3232	11.3 (10.5- 12.2)	3594	9 (8.0-10.0)	3562	10.6 (9.8-11.4)	<0.0001 ^{a c}	<0.0001 ^{a b c}
SMI (kg/m ²) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic B)	4429	8.4 (7.6-9.4)	3388	10.7 (9.8-11.6)	4198	8.9 (8.1-10)	3232	10.8 (10.1- 11.7)	3586	8.5 (7.5-9.5)	3560	10.2 (9.4-11)	<0.0001 ^{a c}	$<\!\!0.0001^{a b c}$
%BF (Lean et al 1995) (%)	4201	31.2 (26.8- 35.9)	3214	21.7 (15.4- 27.7)	3894	39.2 (35-43.6)	3004	28.1 (22.6-34)	3342	45.8 (41.9- 49.7)	3339	32 (26.5-37)	$< 0.0001^{a b c}$	<0.0001 ^{a b c}
%BF (Deurenberg et al1991) (%)	4429	31.4 (26.65- 36.7)	3388	20.2 (15.6- 24.9)	4199	40.1 (35.5- 45.4)	3232	26.8 (23-31.2)	3598	45.5 (41-50.4)	3563	31.2 (27.6- 35.3)	$<\!\!0.0001^{abc}$	<0.0001 ^{a b c}
TATM (kg) (Al-Gindan et al 2015)	4497	23.2 (15.7- 31.5)	3161	19.5 (12.6- 26.5)	4237	32.9 (25.4- 40.7)	2963	25.4 (19.4- 31.8)	3642	35.3 (28.3- 42.9)	3266	26.6 (21-32.3)	$< 0.0001^{a b c}$	<0.0001 ab
%TATM (%)(Al-Gindan et al 2015)	4459	36.2 (28.9- 42.3)	3161	27 (19.8-32.6)	4189	44.2 (39.1- 48.5)	2963	31.5 (26.4- 36.1)	3614	47.3 (42.8- 50.8)	3266	34.7 (29.4- 38.5)	$<\!\!0.0001^{abc}$	<0.0001 ^{a b c}
TATFM (kg) (Al-Gindan et al 2015)	4459	18.5 (12.6- 25.2)	3161	15.6 (10.1- 21.2)	4189	26.3 (20.3- 32.6)	2963	20.3 (15.5- 25.4)	3614	28.2 (22.7- 34.3)	3266	21.3 (16.8- 25.9)	$<\!\!0.0001^{abc}$	<0.0001 ab
%TATFM (%)(Al-Gindan et al 2015)	4459	29 (23.1-33.9)	3161	21.6 (15.9- 26.1)	4189	35.3 (31.3- 38.8)	2963	25.2 (21.1- 28.9)	3614	37.8 (34.3- 40.6)	3266	27.7 (23.5- 30.8)	<0.0001 ^{a b c}	$<\!\!0.0001^{a b c}$

Table 5.3-3: Association between tertiles of age and measured and estimated body composition among Saudi adults (n=23,968).

* Value was significantly different between males and females (P < 0.002) bases on one-way ANOVA test; * P-Value threshold was calculated using Bonferroni correction test (0.05(p-value)/20(n.of tests)).

^a Value was significantly different between Tertile 1 and Tertile 2 of age (*p* <0.002) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^b Value was significantly different between Tertile 1 and Tertile 3 of age (*p* <0.002) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^c Value was significantly different between Tertile 1 and Tertile 3 of age (*p* <0.002) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^c Value was significantly different between Tertile 2 and Tertile 3 of age (*p* <0.002) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^c Value was significantly different between Tertile 1 and Tertile 3 of age (*p* <0.002) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; ^c Value was significantly different between Tertile 2 and Tertile 3 of age (*p* <0.002) bases on One-Way ANOVA test; IQR: Interquartile Range; CI: confidence interval; SE: standard error; BMI: body mass index; WHR: Waist to high ratio; SMM: estimated muscle mass; %SMM: estimated skeletal muscle mass percentage; per body weight; SMI: estimated skeletal muscle mass index; BF: estimated total body fat percentage; TATM: estimated total adipose tissue mass percentage; TATFM: estimated total adipose tissue mass; %TATFM: estimated total adipose tissue fat mass percentage; ; Ethnic A: White and Hispanic ethnic groups; Ethnic B: Asian ethnic group.

Table 5.3-4: Anthropometric and body composition factors associated with age (years) increase among Saudi adults using linear regression analysis.

Body Composition			Women				Men	
	Estimate	SE	R Square	95% CI	Estimate	SE	R Square	95% CI
Weight (kg)	0.272	0.010	$0.054^{\$}$	0.252-0.292	0.062	0.011	$0.003^{\$}$	0.041-0.083
Height (cm)	-0.084	0.004	$0.029^{\$}$	(-0.092)-(-0.075)	-0.095	0.005	$0.041^{\$}$	(-0.103)-(-0.086)
BMI (kg/m^2)	0.146	0.004	$0.095^{\$}$	0.138-0.154	0.053	0.004	$0.021^{\$}$	0.046-0.060
WC (cm)	0.429	0.010	$0.144^{\$}$	0.410-0.448	0.266	0.011	$0.057^{\$}$	0.245-0.288
HC (cm)	0.284	0.012	$0.077^{\$}$	0.261-0.307	0.166	0.013	$0.030^{\$}$	0.141-0.191
WHR	0.003	0.000	$0.134^{\$}$	0.002-0.003	0.001	0.000	$0.014^{\$}$	0.001-0.001
WHtR	0.003	0.000	$0.160^{\$}$	0.003-0.003	0.002	0.000	$0.077^{\$}$	0.002-0.002
SMM (kg) (Al-Gindan et al 2014)	-0.020	0.003	$0.007^{\$}$	(-0.026)-(-0.015)	-0.051	0.003	$0.047^{\$}$	(-0.058)-(-0.045)
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic A)	-0.036	0.003	$0.015^{\$}$	(-0.041)-(-0.031)	-0.091	0.003	$0.094^{\$}$	(-0.096)-(-0.085)
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic B)	-0.035	0.003	$0.014^{\$}$	(-0.040)-(-0.030)	-0.090	0.003	0.093 ^{\$}	(-0.096)-(-0.085)
%SMM (%) (Al-Gindan et al 2014)	-0.163	0.003	$0.256^{\$}$	(-0.170)-(-0.157)	-0.127	0.004	0.179 ^s	(-0.135)-(-0.120)
%SMM (%) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic A)	-0.192	0.001	$0.702^{\$}$	(-0.194)-(-0.189)	-0.169	0.002	$0.375^{\$}$	(-0.174)-(-0.165)
%SMM (%) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic B)	-0.183	0.001	$0.765^{\$}$	(-0.185)-(-0.182)	-0.167	0.002	$0.417^{\$}$	(-0.171)-(-0.164)
SMI (kg/m ²) (Al-Gindan et al 2014)	-0.001	0.001	0.0001	(-0.003)-(0.001)	-0.007	0.001	0.011 ^{\$}	(-0.009)-(-0.005)
SMI (kg/m ²) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic A)	-0.006	0.001	$0.003^{\$}$	(-0.008)-(-0.004)	-0.020	0.001	$0.049^{\$}$	(-0.022)-(-0.018)
SMI (kg/m ²) (Lee et al 2000) (Ethnic B)	-0.006	0.001	$0.003^{\$}$	(-0.008)-(-0.004)	-0.020	0.001	$0.051^{\$}$	(-0.022)-(-0.019)
%BF (Lean et al 1995) (%)	0.409	0.004	0.443 ^{\$}	0.401-0.418	0.247	0.006	$0.146^{\$}$	0.235-0.259
%BF (Deurenberg et al1991) (%)	0.405	0.005	$0.358^{\$}$	0.396-0.415	0.293	0.004	0.317 ^{\$}	0.285-0.302
TATM (kg) (Al-Gindan et al 2015)	0.323	0.008	$0.122^{\$}$	0.308-0.338	0.153	0.007	$0.053^{\$}$	0.140-0.166
%TATM (%)(Al-Gindan et al 2015)	0.328	0.005	$0.241^{\$}$	0.317-0.338	0.194	0.006	$0.105^{\$}$	0.183-0.206
TATFM (kg) (Al-Gindan et al 2015)	0.259	0.006	0.123 ^{\$}	0.247-0.271	0.122	0.005	$0.053^{\$}$	0.112-0.133
%TATFM (%)(Al-Gindan et al 2015)	0.262	0.004	$0.241^{\$}$	0.254-0.270	0.155	0.005	$0.105^{\$}$	0.146-0.164

⁸ Value was significantly different between males and females (*P* <0.002) bases on one-way ANOVA test (*p*-Value threshold was calculated using Bonferroni correction test (0.05(p-value)/20(n.of tests))).

BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; HC: hip circumference; WHR: Waist to hip ratio; WHtR: waist to height ratio; CI: confidence interval; SE: standard error.

SMM: estimated muscle mass; %SMM: estimated skeletal muscle mass percentage per body weight; SMI: estimated skeletal muscle mass index; BF: estimated total body fat percentage; TATM: estimated total adipose tissue mass; %TATM: estimated total adipose tissue mass; %TATM: estimated total adipose tissue fat mass; %TATM:

5.3.4 Adiposity prevalence

The prevalence of obesity based on $(BMI \ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ was higher in women (45%) compared to men (30%). The prevalence of overweight (BMI 25-29.9 kg/m²) was lower in women (30%) compared to men (38%) (Figure 5.3-2-A). The prevalence of "Risk 2 WC" (Substantially Increased WC: >88 cm for women, >102 cm for men) was 52% for women and 36% for men. The prevalence of "Risk 1 WC" (Increased WC: 80-88 cm for women, 94-102cm for men) was 18% for women and 21% for men (p<0.0001) (Figure 5.3-2-B). The prevalence of High-Risk WHR (WHR≥0.85 for women and ≥0.90 for men) was 45% for women and 80% for men (Figure 5.3-2-C). The prevalence of High-Risk WHtR (WHtR≥0.5) was 73% for women and 77% for men (Figure 5.3-2-D). All previous prevalences were statistically significant between men and women (p<0.0001).

Figure 5.3-3 shows the age pattern of overweight and obesity by BMI and adiposity risks by WC. An increasing trend of obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) was seen across different age groups of the Saudi population (p <0.001) (Figure 5.3-3 (A-B)). An increasing trend of high-risk WC (Risk2) can also be seen across age groups of the Saudi population (p<0.001) (Figure 5.3-3 (C-D)).

The highest level of adiposity was seen at about age 53 years for women with a rate of 63% and 76% (using BMI and WC, respectively), and about 63 years for men with a rate of 35% and 53% (using BMI and WC, respectively) (Figure 5.3-3).



Figure 5.3-2: Characteristics of body mass index (BMI) (A) (n=22,416), waist circumference (WC) (B) (n=21,062), waist to hip Ratio (WHR) (C) (n=12,552), and waist to height Ratio (WHtR) (D) (n=20,854) among Saudi Arabian adults by gender.



Figure 5.3-3: Prevalence by age of BMI 18.5–24.9, BMI 25-29.9 and BMI ≥30 among women (A) and men (B) (n=12,231 ♀ and n=10,185 ♂) and of WC<80 cm, WC 80-88 cm and WC>88 among women (C) (n=11,440), and WC WC<94 cm, WC 94-102 cm and WC>102 among men (D) (n=9,622).

5.3.4.1 Misclassification and agreement between different body composition measurements

5.3.4.1.1 Elevated-Risk body composition

Only 63% of women and 50% of men with elevated WC (>80 cm in women and >94 cm in men) would be identified as having elevated BMI (BMI \geq 25 kg/m²). Nearly, 29% of women and 22% of men with an elevated WC would not have been identified as having risk because they had a non-elevated BMI (BMI <25 kg/m²).

5.3.4.1.2 High-Risk body composition

Only 61% of women and 51% of men with Risk 2 WC (>88cm for women and >102cm for men) would be identified as obese based on BMI (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) with difference between women and men (chi-square=518.9, p<0.0001). Nearly, 25% of women and 30% of men with a Risk 2 WC would not have been identified as high-risk because they had a non-obese BMI (BMI <30 kg/m²). Figure 5.3-4 (A-B) (gray shade) displays the general characteristics of agreement and misclassification of the Saudi population by gender.



Figure 5.3-4: Adiposity misclassification among Saudi adult: (A) women (n=6,618) and (B) men (n=4,106).

Unlike the measurements made in younger individuals (Tertile1), the majority of body composition measurements were misclassified in older individuals (Tertile3) (Table 5.3-5). Regarding older individuals (Tertile3) with a BMI between 18.5-25, 62% of women and 36% of men had an unhealthily elevated WC whereas only 19% of women and 14% of men in Tertile 1 of age had an elevated WC (>80 cm in women and >94 cm in men) (p<0.0001) (Table 5.3-5). However, for those with a BMI<30, 29% of young women (Tertile1) had a High-Risk WC (>88cm), whilst this figure was lowered slightly to 26% in older women (Tertile 3) (p <0.0001). In males with BMI < 30, 24% of young men (Tertile 1) had a High-Risk WC (>102cm), whilst this figure was raised to 39% in older men (Tertile 3) (p <0.0001) (more details in the Appendix).

Amongst older individuals (tertile1) with normal WHR (WHR<0.85 in women and WHR<0.90 in men), 78% of women and 39% of men had elevated WC (>80 cm and >94 cm in women and men respectively) whilst only 35% of young females and 17% of young

males (Tertile1) had elevated WC using the same cut-offs. The magnitude of the difference in prevalence of unhealthily elevated WC categories amongst those with normal WHR in women and men was statistically significant (chi-square=368.5, p<0.0001; chi-square=56.1, p<0.0001, respectively).

Whilst 5% of older women (Tertile 3) with normal WHtR (WHtR<0.5) had elevated WC (>80 cm in women), 0.2% of men in this category had an elevated WC (>94 cm in men). Similarly, 5% of young women and none of young men (Tertile 1) with a normal WHtR had an elevated WC. The magnitude of the difference in prevalence of elevated WC categories amongst those with normal WHtR in women was statistically significant but not for men (chi-square=83.4, p<0.0001; chi-square=1.3, p=0.519, respectively). For both sexes, the prevalence of elevated WC significantly increased with age in individuals with a normal BMI (BMI 18.5–24.9 kg/m²) (p<0.001) (Figure 5.3-5).

	Elevated W	C with norm	al BMI	Risk1 V	VC with 1 BMI	normal	Risk2 V	VC with BMI	normal
Gender	Tertile1	Tertile2	Tertile 3	Tertile1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3	Tertile 1	Tertil e2	Tertile 3
Women (n/nn(%))	293/1516 (19) ^a	190/564 (34) ^b	213/3 46 (62) ^b	203/15 16 (13) ^a	117/5 64 (21) ^b	110/3 46 (32) ^b	90/15 16 (6) ^a	73/56 4 (13) ^b	103/3 46 (30) ^b
Men (n/nn(%))	169/1229 (14) ^a	141/635 (22) ^b	267/7 39 (36) ^b	128/12 29 (10) ^a	97/63 5 (15) ^b	186/7 39 (25) ^b	41/12 29 (3) ^a	44/63 5 (7) ^b	81/73 9 (11) ^b

Table 5.3-5: Proportion of adult Saudi women and men with unhealthily elevated WC categories among those with normal-BMI (BMI 18.5–25 kg/m²) (n=5,410).

^{a, b}: Significant difference between age groups expressed with different letters (among the same gender). Those not sharing the same subscript within a column are significantly different at p-value<0.002 (Chi square test).

^{\$} P-Value threshold was calculated using Bonferroni correction test (0.05(p-value)/20(n.of tests)).

Elevated WC: WC (\diamondsuit)>80cm and WC (\eth)>94 cm; Risk1 WC: WC (\diamondsuit) 80-88 cm and WC (\eth) 94-102; and Risk2 WC: WC (\diamondsuit)>88 cm and WC (\eth)>102 cm.



Figure 5.3-5: Prevalence by age of elevated WC (>80 cm for women, >94 cm for men) among individuals with "normal BMI" (18.5–24.9 kg/m²)(n=5,029).

5.3.5 Muscle mass indices (SMM) and obesity related indices

This study showed positive relationships between the absolute total amount of SMM (kg), and body weight, height, body fat percentage (%BF), total adipose tissue mass (TATM) and total adipose tissue fat mass (TATFM) among both women and men Also, it showed positive relationships between the skeletal muscle mass index (SMI (kg/m²)), and body weight, height, %BF, TATM and TATFM among both women and men. However, when expressed as a percentage of total body weight, there is a negative relationship between %SMM and body weight, height, %BF, TATM and TATFM and TATFM in both sexes (Table 5.3-6).

In addition, this study showed that increased %SMM (as indicative of relative muscle mass) reduced the risk of being obese using conventional cut-off point of obesity related measures (BMI and WC) among both sexes (p<0.0001). However, SMM (kg) and SMI (kg/m²) increased the risk of being obese using conventional cut-off point of obesity related measures (BMI and WC) in both sexes (p<0.0001). Table 5.3-7 shows the odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for obesity incidence using BMI and WC conventional cut-off points according to increasing deciles of each SMM parameter.

Obesity prevalence based on BMI and WC increased proportionately with both SMM (kg) and SMI (kg/m²) increase. However, obesity prevalence based on BMI and WC decreased proportionately with %SMM increase. Also, medians of BMI (kg/m²) and WC (cm)

increased proportionately with both SMM (kg) and SMI (kg/m²) increase. However, these medians decreased proportionately with %SMM increase (Figure 5.3-6 & Figure 5.3-7).

		Women			Men					
SMM indices*	SMM	SMI	%SMM	-	SMM	SMI	%SMM			
	(n=6823)	(n=6823)	(n=6823)		(n=5248)	(n=5248)	(n=5248)			
%BF (Lean et al)	0.295 [£]	0.291^{f}	-0.676 [£]		0.089^{f}	0.052^{f}	-0.575 [£]			
%BF (Deurenberg et al)	0.628^{f}	0.785^{f}	-0.724 [£]		0.57^{f}	0.62^{f}	-0.243 [£]			
TATM (kg)	0.744^{f}	0.791^{f}	-0.69 [£]		0.26^{f}	0.238^{f}	-0.512^{f}			
TATFM (kg)	0.744^{f}	0.791^{f}	-0.69 [£]		0.26^{f}	0.238^{f}	-0.512^{f}			
Body weight (kg)	0.808^{f}	$0.767^{\text{\pounds}}$	-0.641 [£]		0.679^{f}	0.596^{f}	-0.195 [£]			
Body height (cm)	0.537^{f}	0.05^{f}	0.113^{f}		0.363^{f}	0.052^{f}	$0.072^{\text{\pounds}}$			

Table 5.3-6: Partial correlation coefficients, controlled for age, between skeletal muscle mass indices and body composition.

p<0.002, age-adjusted odds ratios are presented (*p*-Value threshold was calculated using Bonferroni correction test (0.05(p-value)/20(n.of tests))).

N: participants' number; R: Correlation coefficient.

SMM: estimated muscle mass; %SMM: estimated skeletal muscle mass percentage per body weight; SMI: estimated skeletal muscle mass index.

* SMM indices are based on Al-Gindan et al. equation.

 $^{\text{f}}$ Indicate significant correlations at <0.0001.

SMM Decilor*			Ob	esity		WC Risk 2						
Sivilvi Declies*	В	SE	OR	CI	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI	p-value		
Women												
SMM	0.43	0.01	1.53	1.50-1.57	< 0.0001	0.26	0.01	1.29	1.27-1.32	< 0.0001		
%SMM	-0.81	0.02	0.44	0.43-0.46	< 0.0001	-0.63	0.02	0.53	0.51-0.55	< 0.0001		
SMI	0.71	0.02	2.03	1.97-2.10	< 0.0001	0.29	0.01	1.33	1.30-1.36	< 0.0001		
Men												
SMM	0.4	0.01	1.5	1.46-1.54	< 0.0001	0.31	0.01	1.37	1.34-1.40	< 0.0001		
%SMM	-0.77	0.02	0.46	0.45-0.48	< 0.0001	-0.57	0.02	0.56	0.55-0.58	< 0.0001		
SMI	0.66	0.02	1.93	1.86-2.00	< 0.0001	0.3	0.01	1.35	1.32-1.38	< 0.0001		

Table 5.3-7: Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for obesity prevalence using BMI and WC conventional cut-off points according to increasing deciles of each SMM parameter.

p = 0.002, age-adjusted odds ratios are presented (*p*-Value threshold was calculated using Bonferroni correction test (0.05(p-value)/20(n.of tests))).

WC Risk 2: WC ($\stackrel{\bigcirc}{_+}$)>88 cm and WC ($\stackrel{\bigcirc}{_-}$)>102 cm; Obesity: BMI \ge 30 kg/m²

BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; CI: confidence interval; OR: odds ratio; SE: standard error.

SMM: estimated muscle mass; %SMM: estimated skeletal muscle mass percentage per body weight; SMI: estimated skeletal muscle mass index.

* SMM indices are based on Al-Gindan et al. equation.



Figure 5.3-6: (A) Prevalence of obesity (BMI>30 kg/m²) in each decile of %SMM and SMI (kg/m²); (B) prevalence of high-risk WC (Risk2, >88cm for women and >102cm for men) in each decile of %SMM and SMI (kg/m²); (C) median of BMI (kg/m²) in each decile of %SMM and (D) median of WC (cm) in each decile of SMI (kg/m²) in women.



Figure 5.3-7: (A) Prevalence of obesity (BMI>30 kg/m²) in each decile of %SMM and SMI (kg/m²); (B) prevalence of high-risk WC (Risk2, >88cm for women and >102cm for men) in each decile of %SMM and SMI (kg/m²); (C) median of BMI (kg/m²) in each decile of %SMM; and (D) median of WC (cm) in each decile of SMI (kg/m²) in men.

5.4 Discussion

This study demonstrates a high prevalence of overweight and obesity in the Saudi population between 2004 and 2014, consistent with data from other Arabian and Gulf countries (Musaiger and Al-Mannai 2001; Al Rashdan and Al Nesef 2010; Ng, Zaghloul et al. 2011), Kuwait and Bahrain (Musaiger and Al-Mannai 2001). The results show that women and men in SA have a higher prevalence of obesity than women and men in Mexico, which has the second highest prevalence of obesity in the world after the United States of America (USA) (OECD 2014). The prevalence of obesity in Mexico is 37.5% amongst women and 26.8% amongst men, whilst in SA 45% of females and 30% of males are obese. This study also revealed Saudi women also have a higher prevalence of obesity than women in the USA (36.6%) (OECD 2014). In 1996, Al-Nuaim et al. found that the prevalence of obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) in SA was 24 and 16% for women and men, respectively (al-Nuaim, al-Rubeaan et al. 1996). However, in 2005 the Saudi National Health Survey (SNHS) (WHO-STEPwise 2005) reported that the prevalence of obesity in SA was 44 and 28% for women and men respectively, indicating a significant rise in the obesity levels in SA within 20 years. These studies support the results of this paper, strengthening the evidence of the rise in obesity levels over time. The application of the post-stratification technique in SHIS 2013 to account for non-response and to reflect the general SA population prevent the comparison between the SHIS and the previous surveys.

Results in this study show an increasing trend of obesity and high-risk WC (Risk 2) across age groups of the Saudi population (Figure 5.3-3 (A-D). However, the prevalence of adiposity using both BMI and WC peaked in women at about 58-67 years of age and 58-67 years in men, then the prevalence start to decrease. These finding are consistent with the Global Burden of Disease Study in 2013 (Ng, Fleming et al. 2014) and this reduction could be happened due to reaching the life expectancy at birth year 74.5 years (76.0 years for women and 73.2 years for men) (WHO 2016).

The population of SA has increased around 75% since 2004, with 60% of the current population aged less than 30 years (MOEP 2015). The life expectancy at birth has increased from 53.9 years in 1970 to 74.5 years in 2015, with a 2.9% growth rate (MOH 2013; WHO 2016). There is concern that this steep rise in the youthful population will escalate the burden of NCDs in the forthcoming decades alongside the increase of

adiposity (WC, BMI, %BF and TATM) and decrease of muscle mass (SMM) with age as shown in the regression analysis of this study. Evidently, this will cause a financial burden on health care expenses in SA.

In addition, our results extend the notion that BMI is an inadequate measure for predicting health risks (Tanamas, Lean et al. 2015; Peeters, Tanamas et al. 2016). Since BMI is the most common method used for obesity assessment by the majority of dietitians in SA (87%) (Almajwal, Williams et al. 2009), overlooking these findings and continuing to use BMI as a sole indicator of health risks would mean that 14% of the whole SA population, and ~43% of the SA population who are judged to be normal weight using BMI, are misclassified and might not be alerted to the need to take care or action. BMI does not discriminate between body fat and muscle mass, which have contradictory health effects on human health (Prentice and Jebb 2001; Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013). Body fat can be significantly underestimated, particularly in non-European groups including Chinese and South Asians, when BMI is employed (Lear, Humphries et al. 2007). Asians also have higher morbidity than Caucasians at lower cut-off points for BMI (WHO 2000; Snehalatha, Viswanathan et al. 2003; Vikram, Pandey et al. 2003; Razak, Anand et al. 2007). WC is a marginally better indicator of total body fat than BMI (Lean, Han et al. 1996) and the chronic health risks are better predicted by WC than by BMI (Pouliot, Despres et al. 1994; Lean, Han et al. 1995). Asian people have more body fat at the same conventional BMI categories (BMI \geq 25 kg/m² and BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) than do Caucasians (Wang, Thornton et al. 1994; Deurenberg, Yap et al. 1998). Recent studies in Australia and the UK have similar findings to this study. A study in Scotland and England found that approximately 41% of older adults with normal BMI (65 years and over, $BMI=18.5-25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) had elevated WC (WC>94cm for men, WC>80cm for women) (Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013). In the Australian Diabetes, Obesity, and Lifestyle (AusDiab) study, 40% of individuals with BMI<30 kg/m² had a high-risk WC (WC >88cm for females and WC >102cm for males) (Tanamas, Shaw et al. 2014). Furthermore, the misclassification with using BMI alone is increased significantly with age as shown in Figure 5.3-5 and supported by (Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013).

BMI also overestimated the adiposity risk compared to WC amongst both young men and women (Tertile 1 of age). This may be due to the fact that BMI does not discriminate between body fat and muscle mass and, as people age, muscle mass noticeably decreases

as body fat increases even without body weight changes (Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2000; Prentice and Jebb 2001; Hughes, Frontera et al. 2002; Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013).

Interestingly, our result shows that the WHtR was not only the measure which agreed the most with WC but also the measure which caused the least misclassifications, even in the older groups. These results support what has been previously reported by a meta-analysis which stated that WHtR proved to be significantly better than BMI and WC in the prediction of all health outcomes including T2DM, hypertension, and CVD (P < 0.005) in both men and women (Ashwell, Gunn et al. 2012). Ashwell and Gibson (2014) proposed a primary screening tool to use WHtR as a health promotion tool, suggesting that WC should be less than half of body height (Ashwell and Gibson 2014).

SA still uses the conventional reference cut-off points for BMI and WC which have been derived from data based on European Caucasian populations (MOH 2014). These cut-off points have been adopted by the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) (Alberti, Zimmet et al. 2007) and the World Health Organization (WHO) (WHO 2008), and IDF recommends that researchers from Eastern Mediterranean and the Middle East (Arab) populations utilise European cut-points for BMI and WC measurements for both genders until more ethnic-specific data is available. However, it is not ideal to extrapolate the data derived from a European Caucasian population to non-Caucasian communities and especially among Arab ethnic group since the data on appropriateness of BMI, WC, WHR, WHtR, SMM, BF and TATM cut-offs in predicting metabolic risks are contradicted. Thus, it is necessary to investigate whether BMI, WC, WHR, WHtR, SMM, BF and TATM is a better predictor of health outcomes (metabolic risks) among Saudi Arabs. Also, for health promotion purposes, it is required to determine optimal cut-points for each of these measures to allow the characterisation of an individual's body fat and muscle mass in relation to their estimated risk.

5.4.1 Muscle mass Indices (SMM) and obesity related indices

This study showed positive relationships between the absolute total amount of SMM (kg) and skeletal muscle mass index (SMI), and body weight, height, %BF, TATM and TATFM in both sexes. However, when muscle mass expressed as a percentage of total body weight (%SMM), found negative relationships between muscle mass and body weight, height, %BF, TATM and TATFM were found in both sexes. The obesity

prevalence based on BMI and WC also increased proportionately with both SMM (kg) and SMI (kg/m²) increase. However, obesity prevalence based on BMI and WC decreased proportionately with %SMM increase.

These finding agree with several studies (Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2000; Park and Yoon 2013; Sampaio, Sampaio et al. 2014). Janssen et al (2000) found that body weight was significantly (P<0.001) correlated with SMM in both men (r =0.69) and women (r =0.65); however, when they expressed SMM as a percentage of total body weight, they found a negative relationship between %SMM and body weight (Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2000). Park and Yoon (2013) also reported that body fat mass (BFM) had a significant positive correlation with SMM (kg) and height (Park and Yoon 2013). Sampaio et al. showed that low SMI subjects had a lower BMI and fat mass index (kg/m²) than the normal group (Sampaio, Sampaio et al. 2014). These findings raised a concern regarding the suitability of SMI use in predicting low muscle mass and its related diseases.

5.4.2 Strengths and limitations

There are many limitations to analyses of cross-sectional survey data, however this study has many strengths from developed hypotheses. The numbers of subjects in the study were very large and the average response rate of subjects was high (69%). Although due to different sampling techniques, the SNHS, BSR, and RVS did not include data for individuals above 64, 80 and 60 years of age, respectively, the population in this study closely represents (88.2%) the adult population in SA (20-59 years) compared to the adult population Saudi census (91.5%) in 2010 (Ministry of Economy and Planning 2010). However, subjects without a WC measurement (~10% of all population (n=2435)) had slightly higher BMI (p<0.0001) (29.1 v.s 28.1 kg/m²) (data not shown) which may affect data interpretation. This study, we have excluded nearly 4% (860/21,922) of the total population provided WC. These implausible data may be raised because the investigators were using double-sided plastic tapes (centimetres/ inches). It was decided to not try to convert these data from inches to centimetres which may affect the data and not reflect the real measures of the subjects.

Furthermore, the present findings of SMM, %BF and TATM were estimated using equations contain simple anthropometric measures. However, these equations were derived from Caucasians' data which may or may not be suitable for the Saudi Arabs.

Also, the available cut-off points for %BF were not validated yet and corresponded to BMI categories (overweight (\geq 25 kg/m²) and obesity (\geq 30 kg/m²)) based on Caucasians' data (Ho-Pham, Campbell et al. 2011). The available cut-off points for SMI were also not validated and based on arbitrary derivation (2 standard deviations below the mean) were not based on health risks alongside the derivation from the Caucasians' data (Cruz-Jentoft, Baeyens et al. 2010). This should reiterate our call to establish such evidence-based cut-off points for BF and SMM for Saudi Arabs population.

5.4.3 Conclusion

Merging these five cross-sectional surveys together provides a powerful and representative dataset for understanding overweight and obesity situation in SA. Almost 38% of all SA adults are now obese, and many older people (~43%) have an elevated WC despite a normal BMI (18.5–25). The Saudi population tends to grow fatter later in life, with WC rising more persistently than BMI. However, these findings are based on cross-sectional study designs which does not allow for comment on the impact of age on body composition variables. Therefore, further prospective studies are required to estimate the impact of aging on body composition. It can be concluded that the use of BMI as a measure for adiposity is misleading, especially in older people and these findings are a useful reminder of the limitations of BMI as a measure of adiposity across populations. Furthermore, the positive association between SMM and SMI measures raised a concern regarding the suitable use of these indices in predicting low muscle mass and its related diseases. Therefore, further research are required to identify if WC and WHtR, or more complex estimates of body fat and skeletal muscle mass, can predict accurately health metabolic risks in SA (better than BMI and SM); and what are appropriate thresholds of these measures. These questions are addressed in Chapter 6.

Chapter Six

Muscle mass and non-communicable diseases in Saudi Arabia

6.1 Introduction

As people age, skeletal muscle (SMM) noticeably decreases (Gallagher, Visser et al. 1997; Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2000) and body fat increases (adiposity) (Hughes, Frontera et al. 2002; Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013) even in absence of body weight changes (Prentice and Jebb 2001; Zamboni, Zoico et al. 2003). As discussed in Chapter 5, the traditional marker to identify low muscle mass is SMI (SMM/height²) highly associated with BMI and hence poor in predicting low muscle mass in populations with high BMI. Weight adjusted SMM (%SMM) or muscle mass to fat mass ratios have been proposed as alternatives with good performance against WC. Strong associations between poor skeletal muscle mass (low muscle mass and poor strength) and NCDs have been reported previously as muscle is one of the main sites of insulin action, and fat and glucose oxidation (Stump, Henriksen et al. 2006; Han and Lean 2015). Some studies found that SMI contradicted %SMM in predicting metabolic risk factors and diseases. A crosssectional study among Korean population (n=838) aged 20 to 75 years, found that SMI (kg/m²) positively predicted high triglyceride (OR, 1.40; 95% CI, 1.08 to 1.82), high BP (1.31; 95% CI, 1.09 to 1.57), metabolic syndrome (OR 2.18 (95% CI 1.63-2.92) (Park and Yoon 2013). However, the same study found that %SMM negatively predicted high triglyceride (OR, 0.77; 95% CI, 0.61 to 0.97), high BP (0.72; 95% CI, 0.61 to 0.86), or metabolic syndrome (OR 0.51 (95% CI 0.40-0.65). Investigating SMI and %SMM as predictors of health outcomes (metabolic risks) among Saudi Arabs is therefore of interest. For health promotion purposes, determination of optimal cut-points for each of these measures will be useful to allow the characterisation of an individual's muscle mass in relation to their estimated risk. Therefore, the following question should be answered to fill the above gaps:

Are skeletal muscle mass indices better metrics to estimate the likelihood of having metabolic diseases?

6.2 Methodology and materials Population and surveys

This study is a secondary analysis of integrated data from the Saudi National Surveys (Saudi Health Information Survey (SHIS) and Saudi National Health Survey (SNHS)), the

Riyadh Region Surveys (two), and the Riyadh Validation Survey (RVS). These surveys have been previously presented and discussed in Chapter 5.

6.3 Data collection

6.3.1 Anthropometric and body composition measures estimations

Height, weight, waist and hip circumferences (WC, HC) were measured by trained professionals (WHO-STEPwise 2005; Al-Daghri, Al-Attas et al. 2011; Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014; Alkhalaf, Edwards et al. 2015). All anthropometric measurements followed specified protocols using calibrated scales and non-stretchable plastic tapes. The body composition variables including Total Adipose Tissue Fat Mass (TATFM), skeletal muscle mass (SMM) and total body fat percent (%BF) were estimated using simple anthropometric and demographic measures. More details are discussed in **Chapter 5**.

6.3.2 Biochemical and blood pressure measurements

Consenting adults were asked to fast overnight (10-hour) before blood withdrawal. Blood was drawn, centrifuged and processed on the same day. Both whole blood and serum were stored at -20°C. All serum samples were analysed by routinely calibrated biochemical analyzers for HbA1c and blood lipids (Triglyceride HDL cholesterol, Total Cholesterol LDL Cholesterol). Systolic and diastolic blood pressures were measured twice within 20 minutes using validated upper arm automatic sphygmomanometer (OMRON M6 COMFORT (HEM-7223-E), Japan) for normal, large arm and obese adults (Belghazi, El Feghali et al. 2007; R. 2012) and according to the revised (2010) European Society of Hypertension International Protocol (ESH-IP) (O'Brien, Atkins et al. 2010).

6.3.3 Biochemical and blood pressure classifications

Subjects diagnosed or reported with T2DM and/or with HbA1c \geq 6.1 mmol/L. Subjects diagnosed or reported with dyslipidaemia: Triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (men) and <1.30 mmol/L (women), and/ or total Cholesterol \geq 6.2 mmol/L. The average of both readings was recorded. Hypertension was defined as a systolic blood pressure (SBP) of 140 mmHg or above, and/ or diastolic blood pressure (DBP) of 90 mmHg or above great extent (WHO 2003). Subjects who reported to have been diagnosed with hypertension by a physician were considered as having hypertension. However,

subjects who were diagnosed with hypertension and subjects were using antihypertensive drugs were considered as having hypertension as well.

6.3.4 Statistical analysis

Data from the five surveys were combined into a single database. Body composition between males and females is different and affected by age increase, as shown in Chapter 5. Therefore, analyses were conducted separately for men and women. Multiple-regression analyses were performed to determine the relationship between skeletal muscle mass indices and metabolic diseases (crude and adjusted for age) within each gender. Furthermore, each SMM indices were categorised to deciles and the prevalence of metabolic diseases in each decile was calculated. Additionally calculated were age-adjusted odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals (ORs) by applying logistic regression models of the different metabolic risk factors in case of an increase of one decile of the respective estimated SMM parameter. Statistical significance was set at P<0.05. Incomplete anthropometric data was considered as missing.

The optimal sensitivity and specificity using different SMM cut-off values to predict the presence of T2DM, hypertension, and/ or dyslipidemia were examined by receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) analysis. The methods described by DeLong et al. were used to compare ROC curves, which accounts for the correlation among variables (DeLong, DeLong et al. 1988). A greater area under the curve (AUC) indicates a better predictive capability. AUC=1.0 indicates perfect discrimination, and AUC<0.5 indicates that the test performs no better than chance (non-informative). To find out the optimal cut-off points, the shortest distance between any point on the curve and the top left corner on the y-axis is determined. Distance is estimated at each one-half unit of SMM measures according to the following equation (Almajwal, Al-Baghli et al. 2009; Zeng, He et al. 2014):

Distance in ROC = $\sqrt{(1 - \text{sensitivity})^2 + (1 - \text{specificity})^2}$

6.4 Results

A total of n=23,968 adults from 5 different surveys in SA were included in the study: 13,117 (55%) women and 10,851 (45%) men. The median age of participants with

complete body composition data (n=12,123) was 41 (IQR 29-53) years. The detailed descriptions of the surveys (pooled data) and subject characteristics were discussed in Chapter 5.

6.4.1 Prevalence of metabolic diseases

6.4.1.1 Blood pressure and hypertension

A total of 5,123 participants were hypertensive with higher prevalence among men than women (24.2 vs 19.1 p<0.0001). Only 38.1% (1527/4003) of the hypertensive participants were aware that they had hypertension. Of these diagnosed with hypertension, only 31.2% (694/2221) participants had controlled blood pressure (BP under 140/90 mmHg). The prevalences of measured, diagnosed, and total measured and/or diagnosed hypertension are shown in Figure 6.2-1.



Figure 6.2-1: Prevalence of measured, diagnosed, and total measured and/ or diagnosed hypertension among women and men.

6.4.1.2 Blood sugar and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM)

A total of n=6,733 (28.1%) were Type 2 diabetic individuals (median age 52, IQR 43-60). The prevalence of diabetes among women was 26.6% (n=3488; median age 50, IQR 42-58) and among men was 29.9% (n=3245; median age 54, IQR 44-62) with difference (p<0.0001) between genders (Table 6.2-1). The median HbA1c was 5.4 mmol/L (IQR 4.9-6.7 mmol/L) for women and 5.5 mmol/L (4.9-7.3 mmol/L) with differences between genders (p<0.0001) (Table 6.2-2). Only 53% (3599/6,733) of the diabetic participants were
aware that they had diabetes. Of these who were diagnosed with diabetes, only 8.2% (322/3921) had controlled fasting blood sugar (HbA1c under 6.1 mmol/L). The prevalence of measured, diagnosed, and total measured and/or diagnosed T2DM are shown in Figure 6.2-2.



Figure 6.2-2: Prevalence of measured, diagnosed, and total measured and/ or diagnosed T2DM among women and men.

6.4.1.3 Blood lipids and dyslipidaemia

A total of n=1,804 individuals (10.8%) were hypercholesterolemic. The prevalence of hypercholesterolemia among women was 10.5% (n=1,001) and 11.1% among men (n=803) with no statistical significant difference (p=0.101) between men and women. A total of n=5,933 (35.5%) had hypertriglyceridemia. The prevalence of hypertriglyceridemia among women was 30% (n=2,860) and among women was 42.7% (n=3,073) with statistical significant difference (p<0.0001) between men and women. A total of n=10,725 (66.2 %) had low HDL (68.8 and 62.9% for men and women, respectively.

De de Commeritier	Won	nen (n=13,117)	Me		
Body Composition	Ν	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)	P ^a
Age (year)	13117	39 (28-50)	10851	40 (29-54)	< 0.0001
SBP (mmHg)	11421	119 (110-130)	9523	122 (115-132)	< 0.0001
DBP (mmHg)	11400	76 (70-81)	9501	80 (73-85)	< 0.0001
Cholesterol (mmol/l)	9550	4.8 (4.1-5.5)	7228	4.7 (4.0-5.5)	0.003
HbA1c (mmol/l)	9482	5.4 (4.9-6.7)	7147	5.5 (4.9-7.3)	< 0.0001
HDL-Cholesterol (mmol/l)	9203	1.12 (0.90-1.37)	6987	0.94 (0.73-1.16)	< 0.0001
Triglyceride (mmol/l)	9526	1.3 (0.92-1.8)	7200	1.5 (1.1-2.2)	< 0.0001

Table 6.2-1: Blood profile characteristics of the study participants (n=23,968)

^a Value was significantly different between males and females (P <0.05) bases on Mann-Whitney analysis; IQR: Interquartile Range; SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; HbA1c: Glycated haemoglobin; HDL: high density lipoprotein; LDL: low density lipoprotein.

The prevalence of measured, diagnosed, and total measured and/or diagnosed dyslipidemia are shown in Figure 6.2-3. This study revealed a high prevalence of dyslipidemia in both genders (71%). In contrast, the study shows a small prevalence of diagnosed dyslipidemia (5%). A total of n=13170 (71.7%) were dyslipidaemic (median age 42, IQR 30-53). The prevalence of dyslipidaemia among women was 72.7% (n=7526; median age 41, IQR 30-51) and among men was 70.3% (n=5644; median age 44, IQR 31-56) with statistical significant difference (p<0.0001) between men and women (Table 6.2-2). Only 3.7% (277/7567) of the dyslipidaemic participants were aware that they had dyslipidaemia. Of these diagnosed with dyslipidaemia, only 0.72% (2/279) participants had controlled blood lipids (triglyceride>= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (men) and <1.30 mmol/L (women), and/or total cholesterol \geq 6.2 mmol/L). Table 6.2-2 show detailed distribution of metabolic risks and diseases among the Saudi men and women.



Figure 6.2-3: Prevalence of measured, diagnosed, and total measured and/ or diagnosed dyslipidemia among women and men.

Table 6.2-2: Prevalence metabolic risks among Saudi adult men and women (n=23,968).

Category	Whole Popul	ation	Womer	1	Men	P^{a}	
	n/nn	%	n/nn	%	n/nn	%	
HTN, T2DM or Dys	16140/23968	67.3	8832/13117	67.3	7308/10851	67.3	0.235
HTN and T2DM	2445/23986	10.2	1222/13117	9.3	1223/10851	11.3	< 0.0001
HTN and Dys	2940/23945	12.3	1525/13104	11.6	1415/10841	13.1	0.001
T2DM and Dys	4903/23962	20.5	2630/13112	20.1	2273/10850	20.9	0.043
Any morbidity	16140/23968	67.3	8832/13117	67.3	7308/10851	67.3	0.235
Any 2 co-morbidities	6812//23968	28.4	3569/13117	27.2	3243/10851	29.9	< 0.0001
Any 3 co-morbidities	1738/23968	7.3	904/13117	6.9	834/10851	7.7	0.011

^a Value was significantly different between males and females (P <0.05) bases on chi square analysis.

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (\mathcal{E}) and <1.30 mmol/L (\mathcal{P}), and/or total Cholesterol \geq 6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c \geq 6.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with systolic BP \geq 140 or Diastolic BP \geq 90 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive.

Any morbidity: any subject with HTN, T2DM or Dys; Any 2 co-morbidities: any subject with HTN and T2DM, HTN and Dys, or T2DM and Dys; Any 2 co-morbidities: HTN, T2DM and Dys.

SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; Dys: Dyslipidemia; HTN: hypertension; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus.

6.4.2 Muscle mass indices and metabolic risks – risk factors prediction (blood pressure; blood profile)

This section focuses on metabolic risk with increasing deciles of different muscle mass indices. Linear regression (adjusted for age), showed that %SMM negatively predicted HbA1c (mmol/l) in both men (B= -0.139) and women (B= -0.169) whereas SMI (kg/m²) predicted HbA1c (mmol/l) positively in men (B= 1.67) and women (B= 0.176) (Table 6.2-3). Moreover, %SMM negatively predicted SBP (mmHg) in both men (B= -

1.07) and women (B= -1.2) whereas SMI (kg/m²) predicted SBP (mmHg) positively in men (B= 1.03) and women (B= 1.81) (Table 6.2-4). The analysis showed also that %SMM negatively predicted DBP (mmHg) in both men (B= -0.61) and women (B= -0.62) whereas SMI (kg/m²) predicted DBP (mmHg) positively in men (B= 0.69) and women (B= 1.17) (Table 6.2-5). The %SMM negatively predicted blood cholesterol (mmol/l) in both men (B= -0.051) and women (B= -0.054) whereas SMI (kg/m²) predicted blood cholesterol (mmol/l) positively in men (B= 0.088) and women (B= 0.018) (Table 6.2-6). The %SMM positively predicted HDL-cholesterol (mmol/l) in men (B= -0.005) whereas SMI (kg/m²) negatively predicted HDL-cholesterol (mmol/l) in men (B= -0.003) but not in women (B= 0.018) (Table 6.2-7). The %SMM negatively predicted blood triglycerides (mmol/l) in both men (B= -0.055) and women (B= -0.042) whereas SMI (kg/m²) predicted blood triglycerides (mmol/l) positively in men (B= 0.055) and women (B= 0.058) and women (B= 0.058) and women (B= 0.055) and women (B= 0.058) and women (B= 0.055) and women (B= 0.058) and women (B= 0.055) and women (B= 0.058) and women (B= 0.057) (Table 6.2-8).

Body Composition [£]			Wo	men- HbA1c (mmol/l)	Men - HbA1c (mmol/l)						
Body Composition	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value
SMM (kg)- (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.025	0.014	0.023	0.001	(-0.002)-(0.05)	0.068	-0.001	0.015	-0.001	0.00001	(-0.03)-0.03	0.925
SMM (%) - (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	-0.169	0.009	-0.219	0.048	(-0.19)-(-0.15)	< 0.0001	-0.139	0.012	-0.174	0.030	(-0.16)-(-0.12)	< 0.0001
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.167	0.039	0.053	0.003	0.09-0.24	< 0.0001	0.176	0.053	0.049	0.002	0.07-0.28	0.001
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.013	0.008	0.016	0.0003	(-0.003)-0.03	0.125	-0.036	0.009	-0.048	0.002	(-0.05)-(-0.02)	< 0.0001
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	-0.317	0.01	-0.314	0.099	(-0.34)-(-0.30)	< 0.0001	-0.209	0.009	-0.264	0.070	(-0.23)-(-0.19)	< 0.0001
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.109	0.022	0.053	0.003	0.07-0.15	< 0.0001	-0.034	0.029	-0.014	0.0002	(-0.09)-(0.02)	0.247
SMM (kg)- (Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.013	0.008	0.016	0.0003	(-0.003)-0.03	0.125	-0.036	0.009	-0.048	0.002	(-0.05)-(-0.02)	< 0.0001
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	-0.353	0.011	-0.32	0.103	(-0.37)-(-0.33)	< 0.0001	-0.231	0.01	-0.273	0.075	(-0.25)-(-0.21)	< 0.0001
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.105	0.022	0.051	0.003	0.06-0.15	< 0.0001	-0.038	0.03	-0.015	0.0002	(-0.10)-(0.02)	0.199

Table 6.2-3: Body composition factors associated with HbA1c (mmol/l) increase among Saudi adults using multiple linear regression.

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

CI: Confidence Interval; SE: Standard Error; B: Coefficient; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin A1c; SMM: Skeletal muscle mass; %SMM: percentage of Skeletal muscle mass; SMI: Skeletal muscle mass index;

Body Composition [£]			W	omen- SBP (1	mmHg)	_	Men - SBP (mmHg)						
Body Composition	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value	
SMM (kg)- (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.33	0.07	0.06	0.004	0.20-0.47	< 0.0001	0.06	0.06	0.01	0.0002	(-0.07)-0.18	0.380	
SMM (%) - (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	-1.2	0.05	-0.31	0.096	(-1.29)-(-1.10)	< 0.0001	-1.07	0.05	-0.32	0.103	(-1.16)-(-0.97)	< 0.0001	
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	1.81	0.2	0.12	0.013	1.41-2.20	< 0.0001	1.03	0.22	0.07	0.005	0.60-1.45	< 0.0001	
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.26	0.26 0.04	0.06	0.004	0.19-0.34	< 0.0001	0.11	0.03	0.03	0.001	0.05-0.18	< 0.0001	
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	-2.32	0.05	-0.44	0.196	(-2.4)-(-2.23)	< 0.0001	-1.33	0.03	-0.38	0.142	(-1.4)-(-1.26)	< 0.0001	
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	1.14	0.1	0.1	0.011	0.94-1.35	< 0.0001	0.78	0.11	0.07	0.005	0.56-1.0	< 0.0001	
SMM (kg)- (Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.26	0.04	0.06	0.004	0.19-0.34	< 0.0001	0.11	0.03	0.03	0.001	0.05-0.18	< 0.0001	
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	-2.55	0.05	-0.45	0.201	(-2.65)-(-2.46)	< 0.0001	-1.45	0.04	-0.38	0.148	(-1.52)-(-1.38)	< 0.0001	
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	1.12	0.1	0.1	0.010	0.92-1.33	< 0.0001	0.77	0.11	0.07	0.005	0.55-0.99	< 0.0001	

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

CI: Confidence Interval; SE: Standard Error; B: Coefficient; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin A1c; SMM: Skeletal muscle mass; %SMM: percentage of Skeletal muscle mass; SMI: Skeletal muscle mass index;

P ody Composition [£]			We	omen- DBP (1	mmHg)	_	Men - DBP (mmHg)						
Body Composition	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value	
SMM (kg)- (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.31	0.04	0.10	0.010	0.23-0.39	< 0.0001	0.18	0.04	0.07	0.005	0.10-0.25	< 0.0001	
SMM (%) - (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	-0.62	0.03	-0.27	0.074	(-0.67)-(-0.56)	< 0.0001	-0.61	0.03	-0.3	0.091	(-0.67)-(-0.55)	< 0.0001	
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	1.17	0.12	0.13	0.016	0.94-1.4	< 0.0001	0.96	0.13	0.11	0.012	0.70-1.21	< 0.0001	
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.32	0.02	0.13	0.018	0.28-0.37	< 0.0001	0.25	0.02	0.12	0.014	0.20-0.29	< 0.0001	
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	-1.06	0.03	-0.34	0.118	(-1.11)-(-1.003)	< 0.0001	-0.72	0.02	-0.33	0.108	(-0.77)-(-0.68)	< 0.0001	
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.99	0.06	0.15	0.024	0.87-1.11	< 0.0001	0.91	0.07	0.14	0.019	0.78-1.05	< 0.0001	
SMM (kg)- (Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.32	0.02	0.13	0.018	0.28-0.37	< 0.0001	0.25	0.02	0.12	0.014	0.20-0.29	< 0.0001	
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	-1.13	0.03	-0.34	0.115	(-1.19)-(-1.08)	< 0.0001	-0.78	0.02	-0.33	0.110	(-0.82)-(-0.73)	< 0.0001	
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.99	0.06	0.15	0.023	0.87-1.11	< 0.0001	0.92	0.07	0.14	0.019	0.78-1.05	< 0.0001	

Table 6.2-5: Body composition factors associated with DBP (mmHg) increase among Saudi adults using normal linear regression.

^f All variables were adjusted for age.

CI: Confidence Interval; SE: Standard Error; B: Coefficient; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin A1c; SMM: Skeletal muscle mass; %SMM: percentage of Skeletal muscle mass; SMI: Skeletal muscle mass; index;

Pody Composition [£]	Women- Cholesterol (mmol/l)*							Men - Cholesterol (mmol/l)*						
Body Composition	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value		
SMM (kg)- (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.004	0.005	0.012	0.0001	(-0.005)-(0.013)	0.341	0.014	0.005	0.042	0.002	0.004-0.023	0.004		
SMM (%) - (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	-0.054	0.003	-0.206	0.043	(-0.06)-(-0.048)	< 0.0001	-0.051	0.004	-0.196	0.038	(-0.058)-(-0.043)	< 0.0001		
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.018	0.013	0.017	0.0004	(-0.007)-(0.044)	0.162	0.088	0.017	0.077	0.006	0.056-0.121	< 0.0001		
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.005	0.003	0.019	0.0004	(-0.0004)-(0.011)	0.069	0.009	0.003	0.035	0.001	0.003-0.015	0.003		
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	-0.085	0.004	-0.233	0.054	(-0.092)-(-0.077)	< 0.0001	-0.065	0.003	-0.241	0.058	(-0.071)-(-0.059)	< 0.0001		
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.023	0.008	0.031	0.001	0.008-0.039	0.003	0.045	0.01	0.054	0.003	0.025-0.065	< 0.0001		
SMM (kg)- (Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.005	0.003	0.019	0.0004	(-0.0004)-0.011	0.069	0.009	0.003	0.035	0.001	0.003-0.015	0.003		
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	-0.093	0.004	-0.236	0.056	(-0.101)-(-0.086)	< 0.0001	-0.071	0.003	-0.244	0.060	(-0.077)-(-0.064)	< 0.0001		
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.023	0.008	0.031	0.001	0.008-0.038	0.004	0.045	0.01	0.054	0.003	0.025-0.064	< 0.0001		

⁴All variables were adjusted for age. * The presence or absence of lipid / cholesterol lowering medication was not accounted for in this analysis. CI: Confidence Interval; SE: Standard Error; B: Coefficient; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin A1c; SMM: Skeletal muscle mass; %SMM: percentage of Skeletal muscle mass; SMI: Skeletal muscle mass index;

Pady Composition [£]	Women- HDL-Cholesterol (mmol/l)							Men - HDL-Cholesterol (mmol/l)						
	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value		
SMM (kg)- (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	-0.003	0.002	-0.019	0.0003	(-0.007)-(0.001)	0.144	-0.017	0.002	-0.107	0.011	(-0.022)-(-0.012)	< 0.0001		
SMM (%) - (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.008	0.002	0.07	0.005	0.005-0.011	< 0.0001	-0.005	0.002	-0.043	0.002	(-0.009)-(-0.002)	0.004		
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.003	0.006	0.006	0.00004	(-0.009)-(0.015)	0.625	-0.063	0.008	-0.114	0.013	(-0.078)-(-0.047)	< 0.0001		
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	-0.006	0.001	-0.049	0.002	(-0.008)-(-0.003)	< 0.0001	-0.005	0.001	-0.04	0.002	(-0.007)-(-0.002)	0.001		
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.014	0.002	0.089	0.008	0.011-0.017	< 0.0001	0.008	0.001	0.07	0.005	0.006-0.011	< 0.0001		
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	-0.011	0.003	-0.035	0.001	(-0.018)-(-0.005)	0.001	-0.012	0.005	-0.033	0.001	(-0.021)-(-0.003)	0.007		
SMM (kg)- (Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	-0.006	0.001	-0.049	0.002	(-0.008)-(-0.003)	< 0.0001	-0.005	0.001	-0.04	0.002	(-0.007)-(-0.002)	0.001		
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.015	0.002	0.085	0.007	0.011-0.018	< 0.0001	0.009	0.002	0.069	0.005	0.006-0.012	< 0.0001		
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	-0.012	0.003	-0.036	0.001	(-0.019)-(-0.005)	0.001	-0.013	0.005	-0.033	0.001	(-0.022)-(-0.004)	0.006		

Table 6.2-7: Body composition factors associated with HDL-cholesterol (mmol/l) increase among Saudi adults using normal linear regression.

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

CI: Confidence Interval; SE: Standard Error; B: Coefficient; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin A1c; SMM: Skeletal muscle mass; %SMM: percentage of Skeletal muscle mass; SMI: Skeletal muscle mass index;

1 able 0.2-8: Body composition factors associated with 1 GA (mmol/1) increase among Saudi adults using normal linear res
--

Pady Composition ^f			W	omen- TGA (mmol/l)	Men- TGA (mmol/l)						
Body Composition	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value	В	SE	Beta	R Square	CI	p-value
SMM (kg)- (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.018	0.003	0.064	0.004	0.011-0.024	< 0.0001	0.007	0.005	0.022	0.001	(-0.002)-(0.016)	0.120
SMM (%) - (Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	-0.042	0.002	-0.215	0.046	(-0.047)-(-0.038)	< 0.0001	-0.055	0.004	-0.22	0.048	(-0.062)-(-0.048)	< 0.0001
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Al-Gindan et al. 2014)	0.067	0.01	0.085	0.007	0.048-0.086	< 0.0001	0.058	0.016	0.052	0.003	0.026-0.09	< 0.0001
SMM (kg) (Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.012	0.003	0.044	0.002	0.006-0.017	< 0.0001	0.015	0.003	0.059	0.003	0.009-0.021	< 0.0001
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	-0.079	0.004	-0.222	0.049	(-0.086)-(-0.071)	< 0.0001	-0.058	0.003	-0.219	0.048	(-0.064)-(-0.052)	< 0.0001
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (White and Hispanic)	0.041	0.008	0.056	0.003	0.026-0.056	< 0.0001	0.073	0.01	0.09	0.008	0.054-0.092	< 0.0001
SMM (kg)- (Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.012	0.003	0.044	0.002	0.006-0.017	< 0.0001	0.015	0.003	0.059	0.003	0.009-0.021	< 0.0001
SMM (%)-(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	-0.086	0.004	-0.222	0.049	(-0.094)-(-0.078)	< 0.0001	-0.063	0.003	-0.221	0.049	(-0.069)-(-0.056)	< 0.0001
SMI (kg/m ²) -(Lee et al 2000) (Asians)	0.04	0.008	0.056	0.003	0.026-0.055	< 0.0001	0.073	0.01	0.089	0.008	0.054-0.092	< 0.0001

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

CI: Confidence Interval; SE: Standard Error; B: Coefficient; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin A1c; SMM: Skeletal muscle mass; %SMM: percentage of Skeletal muscle mass; SMI: Skeletal muscle mass index

6.4.3 Prediction of the body composition-related metabolic risks as categorical variables (deciles)

This section shows the development of metabolic diseases with increasing deciles of different muscle mass indices.

6.4.3.1 Individual comorbidity (hypertension, T2DM or dyslipidemia)

ORs for each level of hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidaemia according to deciles of each muscle mass parameters are also shown in Table 6.2-9. In both men and women, the risk of developing comorbidity (hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidaemia) increased positively with increasing deciles of SMM and SMI. However, the risk of developing comorbidity (hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidaemia) decreased with increasing deciles of %SMM (Table 6.2-9). ORs did not differ significantly between genders. The risk of developing hypertension increased with increasing deciles of SMI in men (OR, 1.12; 95% CI, 1.09 to 1.15) and women (OR, 1.10; 95% CI, 1.08 to 1.13), but was negatively associated with increasing deciles of SMM% in men (OR, 0.85; 95% CI, 0.83 to 0.87) and women (OR, 0.91; 95% CI, 0.89 to 0.94), respectively.

The risk of developing T2DM also increased with increasing deciles of SMI in men (OR, 1.11; 95% CI, 1.08 to 1.14) and women (OR, 1.12; 95% CI, 1.10 to 1.14), but was negatively associated with increasing deciles of SMM% in men (OR, 0.94; 95% CI, 0.92 to 0.96) and women (OR, 0.93; 95% CI, 0.91 to 0.95), respectively.

Also, the risk of developing dyslipidaemia increased with increasing deciles of SMI in men (OR, 1.06; 95% CI, 1.04 to 1.09) and women (OR, 1.04; 95% CI, 1.02 to 1.06), but was negatively associated with increasing deciles of SMM% in men (OR, 0.93; 95% CI, 0.91 to 0.95) and women (OR, 0.93; 95% CI, 0.91 to 0.95), respectively.

				Hypert	ension			T2DM						Dyslipidemia				
Body Composition [*]	Gender	В	SE	OR	CI	<i>p</i> -value	B	SE	OR	CI	<i>p</i> -value	В	SE	OR	CI	<i>p</i> -value		
	Ŷ	0.09	0.011	1.094	1.070-1.119	< 0.0001	0.087	0.010	1.091	1.069-1.113	< 0.0001	0.04	0.010	1.041	1.021-1.061	< 0.0001		
SMM (Deciles)	8	0.101	0.013	1.106	1.079-1.134	< 0.0001	0.094	0.012	1.098	1.072-1.125	<0.0001	0.049	0.012	1.05	1.026-1.074	< 0.0001		
	Ŷ	-0.092	0.013	0.912	0.889-0.935	< 0.0001	-0.071	0.012	0.932	0.911-0.953	< 0.0001	-0.078	0.012	0.925	0.905-0.946	< 0.0001		
%SMM (Deciles)	8	-0.165	0.014	0.848	0.826-0.871	<0.0001	-0.063	0.012	0.939	0.916-0.962	<0.0001	-0.076	0.012	0.927	0.905-0.950	< 0.0001		
	4	0.099	0.011	1.104	1.080-1.129	< 0.0001	0.113	0.010	1.119	1.097-1.142	< 0.0001	0.042	0.010	1.043	1.023-1.063	< 0.0001		
SMI (Deciles)	8	0.113	0.012	1.12	1.093-1.147	< 0.0001	0.104	0.012	1.11	1.084-1.136	< 0.0001	0.063	0.011	1.065	1.042-1.089	< 0.0001		

Table 6.2-9: Odds ratios (95% CI) for development of metabolic diseases (hypertension, T2DM, and dyslipidemia) according to increasing deciles of each anthropometric and body composition parameters (age-adjusted).

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (\circlearrowleft) and <1.30 mmol/L (\bigcirc), and/or total Cholesterol ≥6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c ≥6.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with systolic BP≥140 or Diastolic BP≥90 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive. OR: Odds Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; BP: blood pressure; T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus; SMM: Skeletal muscle mass; %SMM: percentage of muscle mass; SMI Muscle mass index.

*Value was significant (p<0.05).

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

6.4.3.2 Clustered comorbidity (any morbidity or more)

ORs for each level of morbidity according to deciles of muscle mass index parameters are also shown in Table 6.2-10. In both men and women, the risk of developing morbidity (any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities, or any 3 co-morbidities) increased positively with increasing deciles of SMM and SMI. However, the risk of developing morbidity (any or more co-morbidity) decreased with increasing deciles of %SMM (Table 6.2-10).

The risk of developing any morbidity increased with increasing deciles of SMI in men (OR, 1.13; 95% CI, 1.10 to 1.16) and women (OR, 1.10; 95% CI, 1.07 to 1.12), but was negatively associated with increasing deciles of SMM% in men (OR, 0.92; 95% CI, 0.89 to 0.95) and women (OR, 0.91; 95% CI, 0.89 to 0.94), respectively. The risk of developing any 2 comorbidities also increased with increasing deciles of SMI in men (OR, 1.13; 95% CI, 1.10 to 1.15) and women (OR, 1.12; 95% CI, 1.09 to 1.14), but was negatively associated with increasing deciles of SMM% in men (OR, 0.87; 95% CI, 0.85 to 0.89) and women (OR, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.87 to 0.91), respectively. Also, the risk of developing any 3 comorbidities increased with increasing deciles of SMI in men (OR, 1.15; 95% CI, 1.12 to 1.19) and women (OR, 1.12; 95% CI, 1.08 to 1.15), but was negatively associated with increasing deciles of SMM% in men (OR, 0.83; 95% CI, 0.80 to 0.86) and women (OR, 0.88; 95% CI, 0.85 to 0.92), respectively.

Body Composition [£]	Condor		A	Any co-	morbidity			Ar	ny 2 co-	morbidities			An	у 3 со-	morbidities	
body composition	Gender	В	SE	OR	CI	<i>p</i> -value	В	SE	OR	CI	<i>p</i> -value	В	SE	OR	CI	<i>p</i> -value
SMM (Deciles)	Ŷ	0.09	0.01	1.09	1.06-1.12	< 0.0001	0.09	0.01	1.09	1.07-1.11	< 0.0001	0.09	0.02	1.09	1.06-1.13	< 0.0001
Sivily (Deciles)	3	0.1	0.01	1.11	1.08-1.14	<0.0001	0.10	0.01	1.1	1.08-1.13	< 0.0001	0.13	0.02	1.13	1.10-1.17	< 0.0001
%SMM (Deciles)	Ŷ	-0.09	0.01	0.92	0.89-0.94	< 0.0001	-0.11	0.01	0.89	0.87-0.91	< 0.0001	-0.12	0.02	0.88	0.85-0.92	< 0.0001
/////// (Deenes)	3	-0.08	0.02	0.92	0.89-0.95	<0.0001	-0.14	0.01	0.87	0.85-0.89	< 0.0001	-0.19	0.02	0.83	0.80-0.86	< 0.0001
SMI (Deciles)	Ŷ	0.09	0.01	1.10	1.07-1.12	< 0.0001	0.11	0.01	1.12	1.09-1.14	< 0.0001	0.11	0.02	1.12	1.08-1.15	< 0.0001
SMI (Deciles)	3	0.12	0.01	1.13	1.10-1.16	< 0.0001	0.12	0.01	1.13	1.10-1.15	< 0.0001	0.14	0.02	1.15	1.12-1.19	< 0.0001

Table 6.2-10: Odds ratios (95% CI) for development of metabolic diseases (any morbidity or more) according to increasing deciles of each anthropometric and body composition parameters (age-adjusted).

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (\mathcal{C}) and <1.30 mmol/L (\mathcal{Q}), and/or total Cholesterol ≥6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c ≥6.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with systolic BP≥140 or Diastolic BP≥90 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive. OR: Odds Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; BP: blood pressure; SMM: Skeletal muscle mass; %SMM: percentage of Skeletal muscle mass; SMI: Skeleta

*Value was significant (p<0.05).

[£] All variables were adjusted for age

6.4.4 Prediction trends of metabolic risks among the deciles of muscle mass measures

This section is showing the prediction trend for development of metabolic diseases with increasing deciles of different muscle mass indices.

6.4.4.1 The percentage of skeletal muscle mass to body weight (%SMM)

Table 6.2-11 and Table 6.2-12 show the odds ratios of the association between metabolic risks and %SMM in men and women. A significant negative association between any morbidity and %SMM values was observed starting at 29.1% (7th decile) to 53.9% (10th decile) and at 30.1% (5th decile) to 53.8% (10th decile) for women and men, respectively and decreasing progressively with higher %SMM values for both sexes.

A significant negative association between any 2 comorbidities and %SMM values was observed starting at 29.1% (7th decile) to 53.9% (10th decile) and at 27.2% (2nd decile) to 53.8% (10th decile) for women and men, respectively and decreasing progressively with higher %SMM values for in men only. Also, a significant negative association between any 3 comorbidities and %SMM values was observed starting at 25.8% (4th decile) to 53.9% (10th decile) and at 28.3% (3rd decile) to 53.8% (10th decile) for women and men, respectively and decreasing progressively with higher %SMM values and at 28.3% (3rd decile) to 53.8% (10th decile) for women and men, respectively and decreasing progressively with higher %SMM values for in men only.

6.4.4.2 The skeletal muscle mass index (SMI (kg/m²))

Table 6.2-13 and Table 6.2-14 show the odds ratios of the association between metabolic risks and SMI (kg/m²) in men and women. A significant positive association between any morbidity and SMI (kg/m²) values was observed starting at 10.3 (3^{rd} decile) to 24.6 kg/m² (10^{th} decile) and at 9.6 (2^{nd} decile) to 24.2 kg/m² (10^{th} decile) for women and men, respectively and was increasing progressively with higher SMI values for both sexes. A significant positive association between any 2 comorbidities and SMI (kg/m²) values was observed starting at 10.7 (4^{th} decile) to 24.6 kg/m² (10^{th} decile) and at 9.6 (2^{nd} decile) to 24.6 kg/m² (10^{th} decile) and at 9.6 (2^{nd} decile) to 24.2 kg/m² (10^{th} decile) and at 9.6 (2^{nd} decile) to 24.2 kg/m² (10^{th} decile) for women and men, respectively and was increasing progressively with higher SMI values for both sexes. A significant positive association between and men, respectively and was increasing progressively with higher SMI values for both sexes. A significant positive association between any 2 comorbidities and SMI (kg/m²) values was observed starting at 9.9 (2^{nd} decile) to 24.6 kg/m² (10^{th} decile) and at 10.3 (4^{th} decile) to 24.2 kg/m² (10^{th} decile) for

women and men, respectively and was increasing progressively with higher SMI values for both sexes.

Pady Composition	Decile			Any o	o-morbi	dity		_		Any 2	co-morbi	dities				Any 3 c	o-morbi	dities	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
%SMM Decile1	22.6						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
%SMM Decile2	23.9	0.11	0.20	1.12	0.75	1.66	0.589	0.28	0.12	1.32	1.04	1.66	0.020	0.03	0.14	1.03	0.78	1.36	0.845
%SMM Decile3	24.9	-0.17	0.19	0.85	0.58	1.23	0.379	0.04	0.12	1.04	0.82	1.31	0.749	-0.06	0.15	0.94	0.70	1.26	0.679
%SMM Decile4	25.8	-0.30	0.18	0.74	0.52	1.07	0.108	-0.18	0.12	0.83	0.66	1.05	0.124	-0.38	0.16	0.68	0.50	0.94	0.018
%SMM Decile5	26.8	-0.33	0.18	0.72	0.50	1.03	0.074	-0.17	0.12	0.84	0.67	1.07	0.152	-0.62	0.17	0.54	0.38	0.75	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile6	27.9	-0.34	0.18	0.71	0.50	1.01	0.058	-0.23	0.12	0.79	0.63	1.01	0.060	-0.26	0.17	0.77	0.55	1.07	0.116
%SMM Decile7	29.1	-0.42	0.18	0.66	0.46	0.94	0.020	-0.55	0.13	0.58	0.45	0.74	< 0.0001	-0.37	0.18	0.69	0.49	0.99	0.041
%SMM Decile8	31	-0.68	0.18	0.51	0.36	0.72	< 0.0001	-0.38	0.13	0.69	0.53	0.88	0.004	-0.75	0.21	0.47	0.31	0.72	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile9	33.8	-0.45	0.18	0.64	0.45	0.90	0.011	-0.67	0.15	0.51	0.39	0.68	< 0.0001	-0.96	0.25	0.38	0.23	0.63	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile10	53.9	-0.81	0.18	0.44	0.31	0.63	< 0.0001	-1.26	0.18	0.28	0.20	0.40	< 0.0001	-2.28	0.52	0.10	0.04	0.28	< 0.0001
Age		0.04	0.00	1.04	1.04	1.05	< 0.0001	0.08	0.00	1.08	1.08	1.09	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.06	1.08	< 0.0001
Constant		0.49	0.20	1.63			0.016	-3.67	0.16	0.03			< 0.0001	-5.06	0.22	0.01			< 0.0001

Table 6.2-11: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing %SMM in Saudi women, based on regression (adjusted for age).

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (\Im) and <1.30 mmol/L (\Im), and/or total Cholesterol >6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c >6.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with SBP>140 or DBP>90 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive;

Any morbidity: any subject with HTN, T2DM or Dys; Any 2 co-morbidities: any subject with HTN and T2DM, HTN and Dys, or T2DM and Dys; Any 2 co-morbidities: HTN, T2DM and Dys;

OR: Odds Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; Dys: Dyslipidemia; HTN: hypertension; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus; %SMM: percentage of Skeletal muscle mass. *Value was significant (p<0.05); [£] All variables were adjusted for age.

I able 0.2-12: Kisk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing %51v1v1 in Saudi men, based on regr
--

Rody Composition	Decile			Any c	co-morbio	lity		_		Any 2 c	co-morbi	dities				Any 3 c	co-morbi	lities	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
%SMM Decile1	25.9						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
%SMM Decile2	27.2	0.10	0.25	1.11	0.68	1.81	0.679	-0.37	0.14	0.69	0.53	0.92	0.0100	-0.24	0.15	0.79	0.58	1.06	0.121
%SMM Decile3	28.3	-0.05	0.24	0.95	0.59	1.52	0.823	-0.58	0.14	0.56	0.42	0.74	< 0.0001	-0.57	0.16	0.57	0.41	0.78	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile4	29.2	-0.21	0.23	0.81	0.52	1.27	0.361	-0.61	0.14	0.54	0.41	0.72	< 0.0001	-0.81	0.17	0.44	0.32	0.62	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile5	30.1	-0.55	0.22	0.58	0.38	0.89	0.012	-0.80	0.14	0.45	0.34	0.59	< 0.0001	-0.74	0.18	0.48	0.34	0.67	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile6	31.3	-0.52	0.22	0.59	0.39	0.91	0.016	-0.92	0.14	0.40	0.30	0.53	< 0.0001	-0.95	0.19	0.39	0.27	0.56	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile7	32.7	-0.55	0.21	0.58	0.38	0.87	0.010	-0.86	0.14	0.42	0.32	0.56	< 0.0001	-1.12	0.20	0.32	0.22	0.48	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile8	34.7	-0.65	0.21	0.52	0.35	0.79	0.002	-1.00	0.15	0.37	0.28	0.49	< 0.0001	-1.15	0.21	0.32	0.21	0.48	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile9	37.8	-0.63	0.21	0.53	0.36	0.80	0.003	-1.41	0.16	0.24	0.18	0.33	< 0.0001	-1.82	0.29	0.16	0.09	0.28	< 0.0001
%SMM Decile10	53.8	-0.64	0.21	0.53	0.35	0.79	0.002	-1.42	0.17	0.24	0.17	0.34	< 0.0001	-1.92	0.36	0.15	0.07	0.30	< 0.0001
Age		0.05	0.00	1.05	1.05	1.06	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.08	1.07	1.08	< 0.0001	0.06	0.00	1.06	1.05	1.06	< 0.0001
Constant		0.23	0.22	1.26			0.298	-2.81	0.16	0.06			< 0.0001	-3.99	0.21	0.02			< 0.0001

*Value was significant (p<0.05); $^{\pounds}$ All variables were adjusted for age.

Rody Composition	Decile			Any c	o-morbio	dity		_		Any 2 c	co-morbio	dities		_		Any 3 c	co-morbi	lities	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
SMI Decile1	9.3						< 0.0001						0<0.0001						< 0.0001
SMI Decile2	9.9	0.06	0.13	1.06	0.82	1.38	0.660	0.03	0.14	1.03	0.78	1.37	0.822	0.44	0.21	1.55	1.02	2.33	0.038
SMI Decile3	10.3	0.31	0.14	1.37	1.04	1.79	0.023	0.18	0.14	1.20	0.91	1.58	0.201	0.19	0.22	1.21	0.79	1.86	0.384
SMI Decile4	10.7	0.48	0.14	1.61	1.22	2.12	0.001	0.50	0.14	1.65	1.26	2.17	< 0.0001	0.49	0.21	1.64	1.09	2.46	0.017
SMI Decile5	11.1	0.29	0.14	1.34	1.02	1.76	0.035	0.44	0.14	1.55	1.18	2.02	0.002	0.50	0.21	1.64	1.09	2.47	0.017
SMI Decile6	11.5	0.65	0.15	1.91	1.43	2.56	< 0.0001	0.66	0.13	1.94	1.49	2.52	< 0.0001	0.69	0.20	1.99	1.34	2.94	0.001
SMI Decile7	12.1	0.59	0.15	1.81	1.35	2.41	< 0.0001	0.64	0.13	1.90	1.46	2.48	< 0.0001	0.85	0.20	2.33	1.58	3.44	< 0.0001
SMI Decile8	12.9	0.60	0.15	1.83	1.36	2.44	< 0.0001	0.67	0.13	1.95	1.50	2.54	< 0.0001	0.61	0.20	1.83	1.23	2.72	0.003
SMI Decile9	14.2	0.67	0.15	1.95	1.45	2.61	< 0.0001	0.85	0.13	2.33	1.79	3.03	< 0.0001	1.05	0.19	2.87	1.97	4.19	< 0.0001
SMI Decile10	24.6	0.93	0.16	2.54	1.86	3.46	< 0.0001	1.05	0.13	2.87	2.21	3.73	< 0.0001	1.16	0.19	3.17	2.17	4.65	< 0.0001
Age		0.05	0.00	1.05	1.05	1.06	< 0.0001	0.09	0.00	1.10	1.09	1.10	< 0.0001	0.08	0.00	1.09	1.08	1.09	< 0.0001
Constant		-0.64	0.13	0.53			< 0.0001	-4.99	0.16	0.01			< 0.0001	-6.69	0.26	0.00			< 0.0001

Table 6.2-13: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing SMI (kg/m²) in Saudi women, based on regression (adjusted for age).

*Value was significant (p<0.05); [£] All variables were adjusted for age.

Rody Composition	Dogilo			Any c	o-morbio	dity				Any 2 c	co-morbio	dities				Any 3 c	o-morbi	lities	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
SMI Decile1	9.0						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
SMI Decile2	9.6	0.50	0.17	1.66	1.19	2.31	0.003	0.31	0.15	1.37	1.01	1.85	0.043	0.24	0.23	1.27	0.81	2.00	0.292
SMI Decile3	10.0	0.48	0.17	1.62	1.17	2.26	0.004	0.77	0.15	2.17	1.61	2.93	< 0.0001	0.33	0.23	1.40	0.89	2.19	0.147
SMI Decile4	10.3	0.49	0.17	1.64	1.18	2.27	0.003	0.64	0.15	1.90	1.40	2.56	< 0.0001	0.54	0.23	1.71	1.10	2.68	0.018
SMI Decile5	10.7	0.74	0.17	2.10	1.50	2.93	< 0.0001	0.65	0.15	1.91	1.41	2.59	< 0.0001	0.60	0.23	1.82	1.16	2.84	0.009
SMI Decile6	11.2	0.82	0.17	2.26	1.62	3.16	< 0.0001	0.91	0.15	2.47	1.83	3.34	< 0.0001	0.98	0.22	2.67	1.73	4.13	< 0.0001
SMI Decile7	11.7	1.05	0.18	2.86	2.01	4.05	< 0.0001	0.85	0.15	2.33	1.72	3.16	< 0.0001	0.65	0.23	1.91	1.21	3.01	0.006
SMI Decile8	12.4	1.03	0.18	2.79	1.97	3.94	< 0.0001	0.94	0.15	2.57	1.90	3.48	< 0.0001	1.04	0.22	2.83	1.82	4.38	< 0.0001
SMI Decile9	13.6	1.09	0.18	2.98	2.10	4.23	< 0.0001	1.27	0.15	3.56	2.64	4.81	< 0.0001	1.28	0.22	3.60	2.34	5.54	< 0.0001
SMI Decile10	24.2	1.25	0.19	3.48	2.42	5.00	< 0.0001	1.26	0.15	3.52	2.61	4.75	< 0.0001	1.33	0.22	3.80	2.48	5.81	< 0.0001
Age		0.06	0.00	1.06	1.06	1.07	< 0.0001	0.08	0.00	1.09	1.08	1.09	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.07	1.08	< 0.0001
Constant		-1.23	0.16	0.29			< 0.0001	-4.88	0.17	0.01			< 0.0001	-6.20	0.27	0.00			< 0.0001

*Value was significant (p<0.05); [£] All variables were adjusted for age.

6.4.5 Best predictors and optimal cut-points for different muscle mass indices in relation to metabolic diseases using ROC curve

This section is showing the highest level of Area Under Curve (AUC) and cut-off points on the basis of the equivalence of sensitivity to specificity for muscle mass indices. The method of DeLong et al. (DeLong, DeLong et al. 1988) was used to compare ROC curves of skeletal muscle mass (SMM) related measures to predict metabolic risks, which accounts for the correlation among variables. Table 6.2-15 shows the diagnostic performance of SMM measures in predicting morbidity (hypertension, T2DM, dyslipidemia, any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities and any 3 co-morbidities).

Among women, %SMM provided the highest level of Area Under Curve (AUC) in predicting hypertension (0.668), T2DM (0.679) and dyslipidemia (0.582) compared with SMI (kg/m²) which provided the lowest AUC in predicting hypertension (0.560), T2DM (0.565) and dyslipidemia (0.536). Among men, %SMM provided the highest level of AUC in predicting hypertension (0.685), T2DM (0.650) and dyslipidemia (0.579) compared with SMI (kg/m²) which provided the lowest AUC in predicting hypertension (0.545), T2DM (0.650) and dyslipidemia (0.545), T2DM (0.519) and dyslipidemia (0.542).

Furthermore, among women, %SMM provided the highest level of AUC in predicting any morbidity (0.648), any 2 comorbidities (0.703) and any 3 comorbidities (0.696) comparing with SMI (kg/m²) which provided the lowest AUC in predicting any morbidity (0.582), any 2 comorbidities (0.564) and any 3 comorbidities (0.552). Among men, %SMM provided the highest level of AUC in predicting any morbidity (0.652), any 2 comorbidities (0.689) and any 3 comorbidities (0.703) compared with SMI (kg/m²) which provided the lowest AUC in predicting any morbidity (0.528), and any 3 comorbidities (0.572), any 2 comorbidities (0.553).

Matabalia Diska				SMM (kg)			S	MI (kg/m ²)			(%SMM (%)	
Wietabolic Kisks		AUC	SE	CI	Cut-off	AUC	SE	CI	Cut-off	AUC	SE	CI	Cut-off
II	9	0.531	0.009	0.519-0.543	19.7	0.560	0.008	0.548-0.572	8.6	0.668	0.008	0.657-0.679	27.8
nypertension*	8	0.517	0.009	0.503-0.530	26.9	0.545	0.009	0.532-0.559	9.2	0.685	0.008	0.672-0.697	29.7
TON/*	9	0.525	0.007	0.513-0.537	19.7	0.565	0.007	0.554-0.577	7.9	0.679	0.007	0.668-0.690	26.8
	8	0.512	0.008	0.499-0.526	19.4	0.519	0.008	0.505-0.533	9.1	0.650	0.008	0.637-0.663	31.2
D	9	0.528	0.008	0.516-0.540	19.4	0.536	0.008	0.524-0.548	7.6	0.582	0.008	0.570-0.594	28.2
Dysnpidaemia*	8	0.524	0.009	0.510-0.538	22.4	0.542	0.009	0.529-0.556	8.2	0.579	0.009	0.565-0.592	29.3
Any as markidity*	9	0.561	0.009	0.549-0.572	19.6	0.582	0.009	0.570-0.593	7.9	0.648	0.009	0.637-0.659	28.3
Any co-morbiality*	8	0.536	0.011	0.522-0.549	21.3	0.572	0.011	0.558-0.585	8.2	0.652	0.011	0.639-0.665	31.7
Any 2 as morbidition*	9	0.525	0.007	0.513-0.537	19.7	0.564	0.007	0.552-0.576	7.9	0.703	0.006	0.692-0.713	27.8-26.8
Any 2 co-morbiulties*	8	0.509	0.008	0.495-0.523	27.9	0.528	0.008	0.515-0.542	7.6	0.689	0.007	0.677-0.702	30.3-29.4
A	9	0.514	0.01	0.503-0.526	19.8	0.552	0.01	0.540-0.563	7.9	0.696	0.009	0.685-0.707	25.9
Any 5 co-mordialues*	8	0.519	0.012	0.505-0.533	24.5	0.553	0.012	0.539-0.566	8.9	0.703	0.011	0.690-0.715	29.1

Table 6.2-15: Diagnostic performance of skeletal muscle mass (SMM) measures in predicting co-morbidity* (hypertension, T2DM, dyslipidemia, any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities and any 3 co-morbidities) using optimal SMM cut-off values based on the shortest distance in ROC curves in Saudi adults ^{\$}

^{\$} The above table was constructed from the receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) analysis using SMM (kg), %SMM and SMI (kg/m²) as covariate and any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities or any 3 co-morbidities as an outcome.

AUC: Area under curve; SMM: Skeletal muscle mass (kg); %SMM: Skeletal muscle mass percentage; SMI: Skeletal muscle mass index

*Value was significant (p<0.05).



Figure 6.2-4: Receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC) for SMM (kg), %SMM and SMI (kg/m²) to predict the presence of hypertension (A1), T2DM (A2), dyslipidemia (A3), any comorbidity (B1), any 2 comorbidities (B2), and any 3 comorbidities (B3), in women.



Figure 6.2-5: Receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC) for SMM (kg), %SMM and SMI (kg/m²) to predict the presence of hypertension (A1), T2DM (A2), dyslipidemia (A3), any comorbidity (B1), any 2 comorbidities (B2), and any 3 comorbidities (B3), in men.

6.5 Discussion

This study demonstrates a high prevalence of hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidemia in Saudi population between 2004 and 2014, consistent with data from other Arabian Gulf countries (Mabry, Reeves et al. 2010; Ng, Zaghloul et al. 2011; Musaiger and Al-Hazzaa 2012). The prevalence of T2DM in this study is higher than the Eastern Mediterranean Region results which is the highest prevalence's among the world's regions (28% in this study vs. 14%) (WHO 2016). Hypertension (SBP \geq 140 OR DBP \geq 90) prevalence in this study is 21% which is less than the prevalence in gulf countries (Musaiger and Al-Hazzaa 2012; WHO 2015). The dyslipidemia prevalence in this study is extremely high (71%). This is because of the high prevalence of low HDL-cholesterol levels (66%) followed by hypertriglyceridemia (35%), and hypercholesterolemia (11%). A hypercholesterolemia result is lower than the Gulf countries' results: Bahrain (16%), Kuwait (16%), Oman (14%), Qatar (18%) and United Arab Emirates (18%).

This study shows that the increase of the absolute total amount of SMM (kg) and SMI related to increase the risk of metabolic diseases including hypertension, T2DM, and dyslipidemia. However, when muscle mass was expressed as a percentage of total body weight (%SMM), it was found that increased %SMM (as indicative of relative muscle mass) reduced the risk of metabolic diseases including hypertension, T2DM, and dyslipidemia. Also, higher SMI increased the risk of increasing blood sugar (HbA1c), blood pressure, cholesterol, and triglyceride in both men and women. However, it shows that higher %SMM reduced the risk of increasing blood sugar (HbA1c), blood pressure, cholesterol, and triglyceride in both men and women.

These results are consistent with number of recent studies (Srikanthan and Karlamangla 2011; Park and Yoon 2013). The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey III (NHANES III) found that each 10% increase in SMI (the ratio of total SMM to total body weight) was associated with 11% relative reduction in homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) (95% confidence interval, 6–15%) (Srikanthan and Karlamangla 2011). Also, NHANES III found that the highest quintile of SMI (the ratio of total SMM to total body weight) was associated with improved insulin sensitivity and lower risk of transitional/pre- or overt diabetes mellitus (Srikanthan and Karlamangla 2011).

Findings of the present study are also similar to a cross-sectional study among the Korean population (n=838) aged 20 to 75 years, found that SMI (kg/m²) positively predicted high triglyceride (OR, 1.40; 95% CI, 1.08 to 1.82), High BP (1.31; 95% CI, 1.09 to 1.57), metabolic syndrome (OR 2.18 (95% CI 1.63-2.92) (Park and Yoon 2013). Also, they found that the fifth quintile of muscle mass to body fat ratio (MFR), %SMM, and skeletal muscle to visceral fat area (SVR) accounted for the smallest proportion in subjects with metabolic syndrome (Park and Yoon 2013).

A recent cross-sectional study, (n=414) among older Korean people (≥ 60 years) and using DEXA, found that the prevalence of low muscle mass in older women with diabetes was higher than those without diabetes by appendicular skeletal muscle mass/weight (ASM/Wt) (25.9% vs 15.0%, p=0.044) and total body skeletal muscle mass/weight (TSM/Wt) (32.9% vs 20.0%, p=0.030), but not by the appendicular skeletal muscle mass/height2 (ASM/Ht2) (7.1% vs 8.6%, p=0.685) (Kim, Park et al. 2014). Atlantis et al. (2009) also reported that low muscle mass (using whole-body LM (%)) was the strongest risk factor for metabolic syndrome, independent of abdominal fat (Atlantis, Martin et al. 2009).

These results of increasing metabolic risk with SMI increase may be caused by total body fat mass (BF), including total adipose tissue mass (TATM), which often increases with SMM. This hypothesis is supported by findings of cohort study (n=2,984) among older (70-79) black and white US communities (Newman, Kupelian et al. 2003). They found that lean mass index (LM/ht²) was highly correlated with BMI (men, r=0.76, women, r=0.85), whereas a method using the residual of the regression of lean mass on height and fat mass was not (men, r=0.38, women, =0.25). Actually, in our study, estimated percentage of body fat and adipose tissue mass had a significant positive correlation with SMM (discussed in previous chapter).

The method described by DeLong et al. is usually used to compare ROC curves of different measures, which accounts for the correlation among variables (DeLong, DeLong et al. 1988). A measure with highest level of AUC has a better predictive capability. The results of this study show that %SMM provided the best prediction power of any morbidity (or more) and all individual risk factors for both men (0.579-0.703) and women (0.582-0.703) compared to SMI was markedly poorer predictor of these risk factors in both men (0.519-0.572) and women (0.536-0.582) (Table 6.2-15). This study also assesses a new cut-off points for %SMM and SMI based on development of metabolic diseases. The new

cut-off points for %SMM ranged between 29 to 32% for men and 26 to 28% for women. To the knowledge of the researcher, this is the first study assessing cut-off points based on metabolic diseases using ROC analyses. Previous studies defined low muscle mass (sarcopenia) based on different criteria such as two standard deviations (SD) below the mean of a young reference population, 20th percentile below the elderly sample distribution, or muscular dysfunction (strength and function) using ROC analyses (Pagotto and Silveira 2014).

The present study results show that the %SMM from Lee et al (2000) is predicting metabolic risks better than Al-Gindan et al. (2014).

6.5.1 Strengths and limitations

This study has some limitations. First, this study was a cross-sectional study which limits our ability to draw causal inferences from the relationships observed. Second, physical fitness which may affect SMM (Hirose, Saito et al. 2003; Petersen, Dufour et al. 2007; Al-Dokhi 2015) was not taken into account in this study. In Saudi Arabia, Al-Dokhi (2015) found a high significant correlation between physical fitness score and muscle mass/fat mass ratio (Al-Dokhi 2015). Third, muscle strength which is a factor in insulin sensitivity of SMM (Atlantis, Martin et al. 2009) was not taken into account.

Strengths of this study include a large random sample obtained using clustering and stratification techniques based on National Saudi census data (Chapter 5). Subjects with type 1 diabetes were excluded in this study because in type 1 diabetes mellitus the primary pathology is loss of β -cells function, rather than increased insulin resistance. Therefore, individuals with type 1 diabetes mellitus may be less sensitive by changes in SMM, and their inclusion likely weakened SMM associations with hyperglycemia (Srikanthan and Karlamangla 2011). Moreover, body composition (i.e. SMM, %BF and TATM) in this study was estimated using simple predictive equations. Antihypertensive drugs (including diuretics, beta blockers, Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), Calcium channel blockers, and renin inhibitors) may affect blood pressure and salt metabolism in human body (Sciarretta, Palano et al. 2011; Thompson, Hu et al. 2011). In the present study, subjects who were diagnosed with hypertension and subjects were using antihypertensive drugs were considered as having hypertension and included in the analyses. Lipid / cholesterol lowering drugs including

statins which inhibit HMG-CoA reductase thereby blocking cholesterol synthesis; and fibrates (a group of PPAR α agonists) which primarily enhance fatty acid oxidation (Robinson, Smith et al. 2005; Staels and Fruchart 2005). However, in present study, the presence or absence of lipid / cholesterol lowering medication was not accounted for in the analysis, which may affect the study results.

Computed tomography (CT) and Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are the reference methods to measure skeletal muscle mass (SMM) and adipose tissue volumes accurately (Fosbøl and Zerahn 2015). Also, body fat and appendicular portion of skeletal muscle mass can be measured with good precision using a dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA). Nevertheless, these methods are unfeasible for large epidemiologic studies and in clinical settings because of the high cost for application of these methods, high radiation exposure in CT and DEXA, and time consuming (Springer, Ehehalt et al. 2012; Fosbøl and Zerahn 2015). Body impedance analysis (BIA) has been proposed for analysis of body composition, due to its lower cost, safety and higher availability (Kushner 1992; Ellis and Wong 1998). However, adipose tissue is significantly less conductive than muscle or bone (Scharfetter, Schlager et al. 2001). Therefore, the electric current flows are proportional to total body water and to high water concentration tissues such as the skeletal muscle. Therefore, the percentage fat mass and fat-free mass from BIA are estimated based on derived equations including factors such as age, height, gender and weight (Dehghan and Merchant 2008). In contrast, these equations used in this study offer a simpler and more rapid means of estimating skeletal muscle mass with no risk or logistic expenses and high validity levels (Al-Gindan, Hankey et al. 2014; Al-Gindan, Hankey et al. 2015). Therefore, they are most probably the better candidate for assessment of body composition measures at the population level.

6.6 Conclusion

Decreased SMM may play a critical role in the development of metabolic diseases. Skeletal muscle mass percentage (%SMM) is the best overall predictor of metabolic diseases, whereas the absolute total amount of SMM (kg) and the skeletal muscled mass index (SMI) are poor measures to predict metabolic diseases and should not be used as surrogate measures of low muscle mass (sarcopenia).

These data provide another approach to identify those at risk for morbidity and to further explore the risk factors for low muscle mass. Future studies such as prospective studies should examine the role of the quantity of low muscle mass in determining important health outcomes, including declines in metabolic diseases, muscle strength and function to further validate the best approach to defining low muscle mass in population.

Chapter Seven

Anthropometric measurements in Saudi Arabia: Optimal cut-off values and prediction of metabolic diseases

7.1 Introduction

Chapter 5 extend the notion that BMI is an inadequate measure for predicting health risks among SA adults. Since BMI is the most common method used for adiposity assessment in SA (Almajwal, Williams et al. 2009), overlooking these findings and continuing to use BMI as a sole indicator of health risks would mean that ~43% of the SA population categorised as "normal weight" using BMI might not be notified to take action. Body fat is significantly underestimated, particularly in non-European groups including Chinese and South Asians, when BMI is employed (Lear, Humphries et al. 2007). Asians have higher morbidity than Caucasians at lower cut-off points for BMI (WHO 2000; Snehalatha, Viswanathan et al. 2003; Vikram, Pandey et al. 2003; Razak, Anand et al. 2007). WC is a marginally better indicator of total body fat than BMI (Lean, Han et al. 1996) and the chronic health risks are better predicted by WC than by BMI (Pouliot, Despres et al. 1994; Lean, Han et al. 1995). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis (n=31,968 patients, 25 studies, 3341 abstracts) showed that the pooled sensitivity of BMI to detect high risk adiposity (defined as percentage body fat, measured by bioelectrical impedance analysis, DEXA, hydrostatic weighing, isotope dilution and skin fold) was only 50% (Okorodudu, Jumean et al. 2010). Meanwhile, WC was found to explain 60 to 90% of body fat variance against MRI or DEXA (Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2002; Lear, Humphries et al. 2007). However, current WC cut-offs were derived from data based on European Caucasian populations which may not suitable for other populations as body fat differs by ethnicity (Deurenberg and Deurenberg-Yap 2003; Lear, Humphries et al. 2007).

In Chapter 5, Caucasian-defined BMI cut-offs were shown not to be optimal for the Saudi population. Nearly, 25% of women and 30% of men with a Risk 2 WC would not have been identified as high-risk because they had a non-obese BMI (BMI <30 kg/m²). This observation is in line with the IDF recommendation that researchers from Eastern Mediterranean and Middle East (Arab) populations utilise European cut-points for BMI and WC measurements for both genders until more ethnic specific data is available. When setting BMI cut-offs, the WHO Expert Consultation in 2008 suggested that the basis for effective use of anthropometrics cut-off points in clinical and public health should relate to health outcomes rather than to associations with body fat; the main reason being that risk prediction is more straightforward if based on health outcomes.

Furthermore, Janssen et al (2002) found that addition of WC to BMI improved the variance of visceral (11–16%) and total fat mass (2–4%) by BMI, but WC was not a significant predictor of abdominal subcutaneous fat after BMI was controlled for (Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2002). This is further compounded by the meta-analysis of Lee et al. (10 studies, 88,514 individuals) which concluded that combining WC with BMI did not improve upon its discriminatory capability (Lee, Huxley et al. 2008).

Thus, it is necessary to investigate whether BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR better predict health outcomes (metabolic risks) among Saudi Arabs and whether the addition of WC to BMI can improve on the prediction of metabolic diseases. For health promotion purposes, it is required to determine optimal cut-points for each of these measures, to allow the characterisation of body fat in relation to estimated health risks. Therefore, the following question should be answered to fulfill the above gaps:

RQ: Is BMI alone or a combination of BMI and WC the better metric to estimate the likelihood of having metabolic diseases in Saudi Arabs?

7.2 Methodology and materials

7.2.2 Population and surveys

This study is a secondary analysis of integrated data from the Saudi National Surveys (Saudi Health Information Survey (SHIS) and Saudi National Health Survey (SNHS)), the Riyadh Region Surveys (two), and the Riyadh Validation Survey (RVS). These surveys have been previously presented and discussed in **Chapter 5**.

7.2.3 Data collection

7.2.3.1 Anthropometric and body composition measures estimations

Height, weight, waist and hip circumferences (WC, HC) were measured by trained professionals (WHO-STEPwise 2005; Al-Daghri, Al-Attas et al. 2011; Memish, El Bcheraoui et al. 2014; Alkhalaf, Edwards et al. 2015). All anthropometric measurements followed specified protocols using calibrated scales and non-stretchable plastic tapes. A full account is presented in Chapter 5.

7.2.3.2 **Biochemical and blood pressure measurements**

Blood pressure was measured in all surveys and blood samples were also collected. A full account is presented in Chapter 6.

7.2.3.3 Statistical analysis

Data from the five surveys were combined into a single database. The analyses were performed for women and men to compare the prevalence of metabolic diseases including hypertension, dyslipidemia and T2DM in the same sample by level of normal weight, overweight, obesity, normal, and Risk1 and Risk2 WC using the conventional cut-off points. Body composition between males and females is different and affected by age increase, as shown in Chapter 5. Therefore, analyses were conducted separately for men and women. Multiple-regression analyses were performed to determine the relationship between anthropometric measures and metabolic diseases (crude and adjusted for age) within each gender. Furthermore, each anthropometric measure was categorised to deciles and the prevalence of metabolic diseases in each decile was calculated. Additionally calculated were age-adjusted odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals (ORs) by applying logistic regression models of the different metabolic risk factors in case of an increase of one decile of the respective anthropometric parameter. Statistical significance was set at P<0.05. Incomplete anthropometric data was considered as missing. The optimal sensitivity and specificity using different BC cut-off values to predict the presence of T2DM, hypertension, and/ or dyslipidemia were examined by receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) analysis. The methods described by DeLong et al were used to compare ROC curves, which accounts for the correlation among variables (DeLong, DeLong et al. 1988) (Chapter 5).

7.3 Results

A total of n=23,968 adults from 5 different surveys in SA were included in the study: 13,117 (55%) women and 10,851 (45%) men. The median age of participants with complete body composition data (n=12,123) was 41 (IQR 29-53) years. The detailed descriptions of the surveys (pooled data) and subject characteristics are presented in Chapter 5. Prevalence of metabolic diseases and the proportion of metabolic diseases in body composition categories are presented in Chapter 6.

7.3.2 Association between anthropometric measures using conventional cut-off points and metabolic diseases

This section focuses on the use of conventional cut-off points of BMI and WC (before and after adding them together) as predictors of metabolic diseases.

7.3.2.1 Individual morbidities (hypertension, T2DM or dyslipidemia)

Results of the logistic regression, which show the ORs for the various obesity-related morbidities according to BMI category (e.g. normal weight, overweight or obese) and WC category (normal, Risk1 and Risk2 WC) are shown in Table 7.3-1 and Table 7.3-2. As expected, the odds for all morbidities were higher for the overweight and obese women and men than for the normal-weight subjects, based on BMI cut-offs (Table 7.3-1).

Among (OR women, obesity was associated with hypertension (OR 4.2; 95% CI 3.6 to 4.8), T2DM (OR 4.7; 95% CI 4.1 to 5.3) and dyslipidemia (OR 1.9; 95% CI 1.7 to 2.1). A large waist (risk II) was associated with hypertension 3.5; 95% CI 3.1 to 3.9), T2DM (OR 4.4; 95% CI 4.0 to 5.0) and dyslipidemia (OR 2.1; 95% CI 1.9 to 2.4).

Among men, obesity was also associated with hypertension (OR 3.2; 95% CI 2.8 to 3.6), T2DM (OR 2.7; 95% CI 2.4 to 3.0) and dyslipidemia (OR 2.0; 95% CI 1.7 to 2.3). A large waist (risk II) was associated with development of hypertension (OR 3.0; 95% CI 2.7 to 3.3), T2DM (OR 3.7; 95% CI 3.4 to 4.2) and dyslipidemia (OR 2.6; 95% CI 2.3 to 2.9) (Table 7.3-1).

Based on BMI, obese women are four to five times more likely (than lean counterparts) to have hypertension or T2DM, and twice more likely to be dyslipidemic. The odds were slightly different for obese men, who were approximately three times more likely to have hypertension or T2DM, but 2.6 times more likely to be dyslipidemic.

Using WC cut-offs, women with a large waist (risk 2) had a slightly lower likelihood to have hypertension or T2DM (but were still three to four time more likely to, compared to lean counterparts). A similar picture was painted for men with a large waist.

Using WC as a (categorical) co-variate, the odds for most morbidities reduced but stayed significantly higher in the overweight and obese groups (except obese men for T2DM, obese and overweight men for dyslipidemia, and obese women for dyslipidemia). The odds for many of comorbidities also reduced but stayed significantly higher in the Risk 1 and Risk 2 WC groups (Table 7.3-2). Among obese women, the odds of having hypertension reduced from 4.2 to 2.4, the odds of having T2DM reduced from 4.7 to 2.2, and the odds of having dyslipidemia became not significant. Among obese men, the odds of having T2DM and dyslipidemia became not significant (p=0.201, p=0.656, respectively) and the odds of having hypertension reduced from 3.2 to 2.0 (Table 7.3-2).

Caralan	D - 1		Hy	ypertension	-			T2DM	· ·		D	yslipidemia	
Gender	Body composition	В	OR	95% CI	p-value	В	OR	95% CI	p-value	В	OR	95% CI	p-value
Univariate r	regression												
	Normal BMI ^a				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
	Overweight	0.87	2.4	2.05-2.80	< 0.0001	0.87	2.38	2.08-2.73	< 0.0001	0.33	1.38	1.23-1.56	< 0.0001
	Obese	1.42	4.12	3.58-4.76	< 0.0001	1.55	4.7	4.14-5.32	< 0.0001	0.64	1.9	1.7-2.12	< 0.0001
\bigcirc	Constant	-2.43	0.09		< 0.0001	-2.09	0.12		< 0.0001	0.59	1.81		< 0.0001
¥	Normal WC ^b				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
	Risk1 WC	0.41	1.51	1.27-1.78	< 0.0001	0.52	1.68	1.44-1.96	< 0.0001	0.34	1.41	1.23-1.61	< 0.0001
	Risk2 WC	1.24	3.47	3.06-3.93	< 0.0001	1.49	4.43	3.95-4.98	< 0.0001	0.76	2.13	1.92-2.37	< 0.0001
	Constant	-2.21	0.11		< 0.0001	-2.04	0.13		< 0.0001	0.53	1.7		< 0.0001
Univariate r	regression												
	Normal BMI				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
	Overweight	0.6	1.83	1.62-2.07	< 0.0001	0.78	2.17	1.94-2.43	< 0.0001	0.41	1.51	1.34-1.7	< 0.0001
	Obese	1.15	3.17	2.8-3.59	< 0.0001	1	2.71	2.41-3.04	< 0.0001	0.68	1.98	1.74-2.25	< 0.0001
7	Constant	-1.8	0.16		< 0.0001	-1.5	0.22		< 0.0001	0.52	1.69		< 0.0001
\bigcirc	Normal WC				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
	Risk1 WC	0.52	1.69	1.48-1.93	< 0.0001	0.76	2.14	1.89-2.42	< 0.0001	0.52	1.68	1.47-1.92	< 0.0001
	Risk2 WC	1.09	2.99	2.68-3.33	< 0.0001	1.32	3.74	3.37-4.16	< 0.0001	0.95	2.58	2.29-2.91	< 0.0001
	Constant	-1.7	0.18		< 0.0001	-1.6	0.2		< 0.0001	0.42	1.51		< 0.0001

Table 7.3-1: Anthropometric factors associated with metabolic risks among Saudi adults using logistic regression (n=23,968)

^a Categorization of overweight & obesity from BMI according to WHO (2014) (BMI 25-29.9 & BMI \geq 30 kg/m² respectively); ^b categorization of Risk1 & Risk2 WC (Risk1 WC 80-88 cm (\mathcal{Q}), 94-102 cm (\mathcal{J})); (\mathcal{J}) & Risk2 WC>88 cm (\mathcal{Q}),>102 cm (\mathcal{J}));

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (\Im) and <1.30 mmol/L (\Im), and/or total Cholesterol >6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c >6.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with systolic BP>140 or Diastolic BP>90 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive.

OR: Odds Ratio; CI: 95% Confidence Interval; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; WC: waist circumference; BMI: body mass index; HTN: hypertension; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus.

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

Condon	Body composition [£]	_	H	ypertension		_		T2DM		_	D	yslipidemia	
Genuer	Body composition	В	OR	95% CI	p-value	В	OR	95% CI	p-value	В	OR	95% CI	p-value
Multinomial re	egression												
	Normal BMI ^a				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				0.132
	Overweight	0.57	1.77	1.49-2.11	< 0.0001	0.47	1.59	1.36-1.87	< 0.0001	0.05	1.06	0.92-1.21	0.436
\sim	Obese	0.89	2.44	2.04-2.91	< 0.0001	0.81	2.25	1.92-2.65	< 0.0001	0.15	1.16	1.0-1.35	0.054
Q	Normal WC ^b				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
+	Risk1 WC	0.15	1.17	0.97-1.39	0.094	0.31	1.36	1.16-1.61	< 0.0001	0.3	1.35	1.16-1.56	< 0.0001
	Risk2 WC	0.76	2.14	1.84-2.5	< 0.0001	1.04	2.84	2.46-3.27	< 0.0001	0.68	1.98	1.72-2.27	< 0.0001
	Constant	-2.5	0.08		< 0.0001	-2.3	0.1		< 0.0001	0.48	1.62		< 0.0001
Multinomial re	egression												
	Normal BMI ^a				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				0.631
	Overweight	0.38	1.46	1.27-1.68	< 0.0001	0.31	1.37	1.2-1.55	< 0.0001	0.07	1.07	0.93-1.22	0.34
~	Obese	0.71	2.03	1.73-2.37	< 0.0001	0.1	1.1	0.95-1.28	0.201	0.04	1.04	0.88-1.23	0.656
\mathcal{A}	Normal WC ^b				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
\bigcirc	Risk1 WC	0.33	1.4	1.21-1.61	< 0.0001	0.68	1.97	1.72-2.25	< 0.0001	0.51	1.66	1.43-1.92	< 0.0001
	Risk2 WC	0.72	2.06	1.79-2.36	< 0.0001	1.26	3.53	3.09-4.03	< 0.0001	0.93	2.55	2.19-2.96	< 0.0001
	Constant	-1.9	0.15		< 0.0001	-1.71	0.18		< 0.0001	0.39	1.47		< 0.0001

Table 7.3-2: Odds ratios (and 95% CIs) for metabolic risks (normal weight, overweight, and obese adults) after multinomial regression with BMI and WC.

^aCategorization of overweight & obesity from BMI according to WHO (2014) (BMI 25-29.9 & BMI \geq 30 kg/m² respectively); ^bcategorization of Risk1 & Risk2 WC (Risk1 WC 80-88 cm (\bigcirc), 94-102 cm (\bigcirc) & Risk2 WC>88 cm (\bigcirc),>102 cm (\bigcirc)); ^c categorization of Substantially Increased Risk from WHR (WHR \geq 0.85 (\bigcirc), WHR \geq 0.90 (\bigcirc)); ^d categorization of obesity from WHtR (WHtR>0.5);

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (\Im) and <1.30 mmol/L (\Im), and/or total Cholesterol >6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c >6.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with systolic BP>140 or Diastolic BP>90 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive.

OR: Odds Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; WC: waist circumference; WHR:waist to hip ratio; WHtR: waist to height ratio; BMI: body mass index; HTN: hypertension; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus.

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

7.3.2.2 Clustered comorbidity (any one morbidity or more)

Results of the logistic regression, which show the ORs for the various obesity-related comorbidities (any one or more) according to BMI category (e.g. normal weight, overweight or obese) and WC category (normal, Risk1 and Risk2 WC) are shown in Table 7.3-3.

Using univariate regression, as expected, the odds for all comorbidities were higher for overweight and obese compared to normal-weight subjects (Table 7.3-3). Among women, the obesity was positively associated with development of any morbidity (OR 3.1; 95% CI 2.8 to 3.4), any 2 comorbidities (OR 5.1; 95% CI 4.5 to 5.8) and any 3 comorbidities (OR 5.5; 95% CI 4.2 to 7.0). Also, Risk 2 WC was positively associated with development of any morbidity (OR 2.8; 95% CI 2.6 to 3.1), any 2 comorbidities (OR 5.2; 95% CI 4.6 to 5.8) and any 3 comorbidities (OR 6.8; 95% CI 5.3 to 8.8). Among men, obesity was also positively associated with development of any morbidity (OR 2.7; 95% CI 2.4 to 3.0), any 2 comorbidities (OR 3.4; 95% CI 3.0 to 3.8) and any 3 comorbidities (OR 4.4; 95% CI 3.6 to 5.6). Also, Risk 2 WC was positively associated with development of any morbidity (OR 4.3; 95% CI 3.9 to 4.8), any 2 comorbidities (OR 4.8; 95% CI 4.3 to 5.4) and any 3 comorbidities (OR 5.9; 95% CI 4.8 to 7.3) (Table 7.3-3).

Based on BMI cut offs, obese women were three times more likely to have any one morbidity, and approximately five times more likely to two or three co-morbidities. Based on WC cut-offs, women with a large waist (risk 2) were similarly approximately three times more likely to have any one morbidity, with the risk rising to five time for 2 co-morbidities and seven times for three co-morbidities, compared to lean counterparts. Similar, if not slightly lower odds, are depicted for men. Including WC as a covariate in the regression, the odds for comorbidities stayed significantly higher for overweight and obese individuals, but not for men with a single morbidity (Table 7.3-4). For women, the odds of having any single morbidity reduced from 3.1 to 1.8, the odds of having any 2 comorbidities reduced from 5.5 to 1.9. Among men, the odds of having any morbidity became not significant (p=0.95), the odds of having any 2 comorbidities reduced from 3.4 to 1.3, and the odds of having any 3 comorbidities reduced from 4.4 to 1.7 (Table 7.3-4).

De la Como está est			An	y morbidity			Any 2	co-morbiditie	es		Any 3	co-morbiditi	es
Body Composition	Health Risks	В	OR	95% CI	p-value	В	OR	95% CI	p-value	В	OR	95% CI	p-value
Before adding WC to BM	II (categorical)												
	Normal BMI ^a												
\bigcirc	Overweight	0.53	1.69*	1.53-1.87	< 0.0001	0.95	2.59*	2.26-2.97	< 0.0001	0.94	2.56*	1.94-3.39	$<\!0.0001$
¥	Obese	1.12	3.07*	2.79-3.38	< 0.0001	1.63	5.12*	4.52-5.8	< 0.0001	1.7	5.46*	4.23-7.04	< 0.0001
'	Constant	0.15	1.16*		< 0.0001	-2.08	0.13*		< 0.0001	-3.79	0.02*		< 0.0001
	Normal BMI ^a				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
$\overline{\Lambda}$	Overweight	0.51	1.66*	1.5-1.83	< 0.0001	0.87	2.39*	2.13-2.68	< 0.0001	0.88	2.41*	1.92-3.03	< 0.0001
Ó	Obese	0.99	2.70*	2.42-3.02	< 0.0001	1.23	3.42*	3.05-3.85	< 0.0001	1.49	4.45*	3.56-5.55	< 0.0001
	Constant	0.28	1.32*		< 0.0001	-1.58	0.21*		< 0.0001	-3.4	0.03*		< 0.0001
Before adding WC to BM	II (categorical)												
	Normal WC ^b				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
\bigcirc	Risk1 WC	0.38	1.46*	1.31-1.64	< 0.0001	0.66	1.94*	1.67-2.26	< 0.0001	0.7	2.01*	1.44-2.81	$<\!0.0001$
¥	Risk2 WC	1.03	2.79*	2.55-3.06	< 0.0001	1.65	5.21*	4.63-5.85	< 0.0001	1.92	6.82*	5.28-8.81	$<\!0.0001$
	Constant	0.24	1.27*		< 0.0001	-2.07	0.13*		< 0.0001	-3.95	0.02*		< 0.0001
	Normal WC ^b				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
7	Risk1 WC	0.68	1.97*	1.76-2.21	< 0.0001	0.89	2.44*	2.15-2.77	< 0.0001	1	2.73*	2.13-3.5	< 0.0001
Ó	Risk2 WC	1.46	4.32*	3.87-4.81	< 0.0001	1.58	4.84*	4.3-5.39	< 0.0001	1.78	5.95*	4.84-7.31	< 0.0001
	Constant	0.17	1.19*		< 0.0001	-1.69	0.18*		< 0.0001	-3.54	0.03*		< 0.0001

Table 7.3-3: Anthropometric factors associated with metabolic risks among Saudi adults using logistic regression (n=23,968) (model: 0=Normal BMI, 1=Overweight and 2=Obese, and 0=Normal WC, 1=Risk1 WC and 2=Risk2 WC).

^a Categorization of overweight & obesity from BMI according to WHO (2014) (BMI 25-29.9 & BMI \geq 30 kg/m² respectively); ^b categorization of Risk1 & Risk2 WC (Risk1 WC 80-88 cm (\bigcirc), 94-102 cm (\bigcirc) & Risk2 WC>88 cm (\bigcirc),>102 cm (\bigcirc));

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L ($^{\circ}$) and <1.30 mmol/L ($^{\circ}$), and/or total Cholesterol ≥6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c ≥6.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with systolic BP≥140 or Diastolic BP≥90 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive.

OR: Odds Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; WC: waist circumference; BMI: body mass index; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus. [£] All variables were adjusted for age.

Pady Composition [£]	Hoolth Dicks		An	y morbidity			Any 2	co-morbidit	ies	_	Any 3	co-morbidit	ies
Body Composition	neatui Kisks	В	OR	CI1	p-value	В	OR	CI1	p-value	В	OR	CI1	p-value
After combination with WC ((categorical) (0,1 &2)												
	Normal BMI ^a				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
	Overweight	0.24	1.27	1.13-1.42	< 0.0001	0.46	1.59	1.36-1.86	< 0.0001	0.26	1.3	0.94-1.78	0.11
	Obese	0.58	1.79	1.58-2.03	< 0.0001	0.8	2.22	1.9-2.6	< 0.0001	0.63	1.88	1.37-2.56	< 0.0001
Q	Normal WC ^b				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
+	Risk1 WC	0.23	1.25	1.11-1.41	< 0.0001	0.48	1.61	1.37-1.9	< 0.0001	0.51	1.67	1.16-2.39	0.005
	Risk2 WC	0.69	1.99	1.78-2.24	< 0.0001	1.24	3.44	2.98-3.98	< 0.0001	1.55	4.69	3.45-6.37	< 0.0001
	Constant	0.05	1.05		0.23	-2.36	0.09		< 0.0001	-4.13	0.02		< 0.0001
	Normal BMI ^a				0.509				< 0.0001				0.001
	Overweight	0.05	1.06	0.94-1.18	0.337	0.35	1.42	1.24-1.62	< 0.0001	0.35	1.42	1.09-1.84	0.01
1	Obese	0	1	0.86-1.15	0.951	0.23	1.26	1.08-1.47	0.003	0.55	1.73	1.31-2.28	< 0.0001
Å	Normal WC ^b				< 0.0001				< 0.0001				< 0.0001
\bigcirc	Risk1 WC	0.68	1.97	1.75-2.23	< 0.0001	0.78	2.18	1.9-2.49	< 0.0001	0.87	2.39	1.83-3.13	< 0.0001
	Risk2 WC	1.48	4.38	3.83-5.02	< 0.0001	1.45	4.25	3.72-4.86	< 0.0001	1.51	4.53	3.52-5.83	< 0.0001
	Constant	0.12	1.12		0.003	-1.84	0.16		< 0.0001	-3.75	0.02		< 0.0001

Table 7.3-4: Odds ratios (and 95% CIs) for metabolic risks (normal weight, overweight, and obese adults) after combination of BMI and WC (categorical).

^aCategorization of overweight & obesity from BMI according to WHO (2014) (BMI 25-29.9 & BMI \geq 30 kg/m² respectively); ^bcategorization of Risk1 & Risk2 WC (Risk1 WC 80-88 cm (\mathcal{Q}), 94-102 cm (\mathcal{J})); ^bcategorization of Risk1 & Risk2 WC (Risk1 WC 80-88 cm (\mathcal{Q}), 94-102 cm (\mathcal{J}));

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (\bigcirc) and <1.30 mmol/L (\bigcirc), and/or total Cholesterol ≥6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c ≥6.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with systolic BP≥140 or Diastolic BP≥90 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive.

OR: Odds Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; WC: waist circumference; WHR:waist to hip ratio; WHtR: waist to height ratio; BMI: body mass index; HTN: hypertension; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus.

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

7.3.3 Prediction of the body composition-related metabolic risks as categorical variables (deciles)

BMI and WC were categorised as deciles and used to model (co)morbidity risk in the population, since traditional cut-offs may not be optimum in this population.

Results of the logistic regression, which show the ORs for the various obesity-related comorbidities (any one or more comorbidities) according to BMI and deciles are shown in Table 7.3-5. In both men and women, the risk of having one or more morbidity increased with increasing deciles of BMI and WC.

Among women, each extra decile of BMI was associated with having (any) one morbidity (OR 1.1; 95% CI 1.1-1.1), any 2 comorbidities (OR 1.2; 95% CI 1.1-1.2) and any 3 comorbidities (OR 1.2; 95% CI 1.1-1.2). Similar odds were seen for each extra decile of WC. The picture was similar for men, except for a slightly increased odd (OR 1.29; 95% CI 1.25 to 1.34) of having any 3 co-morbidities for each extra decile of WC (Table 7.3-5).

When adding WC and BMI as covariates in the regression models, odds for many of the comorbidities stayed significantly higher in BMI (except for BMI any morbidity) (Table 7.3-6). In both men and women, the odds of having 2 or 3 comorbidities reduced from 1.2 to 1.1 (Table 7.3-6).
Body Composition [£]	Conder			Any m	orbidity			Aı	ny 2 co-1	morbidities			Ar	y 3 co-1	morbidities	
body composition	Genuer	В	SE	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	В	SE	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	В	SE	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
DMI (Deciles)	4	0.11	0.01	1.12	1.10-1.14	< 0.0001	0.16	0.01	1.17	1.15-1.19	< 0.0001	0.17	0.01	1.19	1.15-1.22	< 0.0001
Bivii (Deches)	8	0.10	0.01	1.11	1.09-1.13	< 0.0001	0.17	0.01	1.18	1.16-1.20	< 0.0001	0.22	0.02	1.25	1.21-1.29	< 0.0001
WC (Deciles)	Ŷ	0.10	0.01	1.11	1.09-1.12	< 0.0001	0.17	0.01	1.18	1.16-1.20	< 0.0001	0.20	0.02	1.22	1.18-1.26	< 0.0001
wC (Deches)	3	0.18	0.01	1.20	1.18-1.22	< 0.0001	0.21	0.01	1.23	1.21-1.25	< 0.0001	0.26	0.02	1.29	1.25-1.34	< 0.0001

Table 7.3-5: Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for development of metabolic diseases (any morbidity or more) according to increasing deciles of each anthropometric and body composition parameters (age-adjusted).

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (a) and <1.30 mmol/L (a), and/or total Cholesterol ≥6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c 26.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with systolic BP2140 or Diastolic BP290 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive. OR: Odds Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; BMI: body mass index; BP: blood pressure; WC: waist circumference.

*Value was significant (p<0.05).

[£]All variables were adjusted for age.

Table 7.3-6: Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for development of metaboli	ic diseases (any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities and any 3 co-morbidities) according to
increasing deciles of combined WC and BMI (age-adjusted)	

Badu Composition [£]				Any mor	bidity			An	y 2 co-m	orbidities			Ar	y 3 co-m	orbidities	
Body Composition		В	SE	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	В	SE	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	В	SE	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Combined BMI and WC	BMI	0.075	0.01	1.078	1.06-1.10	< 0.0001	0.091	0.012	1.095	1.07-1.12	< 0.0001	0.087	0.02	1.091	1.05-1.13	< 0.0001
(Women)	WC	0.05	0.011	1.051	1.03-1.07	< 0.0001	0.108	0.012	1.114	1.09-1.14	< 0.0001	0.144	0.021	1.154	1.11-1.20	< 0.0001
Combined DML and WC (Man)	BMI	-0.03	0.011	0.97	0.95-0.99	0.006	0.057	0.013	1.058	1.03-1.09	< 0.0001	0.117	0.021	1.125	1.08-1.17	< 0.0001
Combined BMI and WC (Men)	WC	0.206	0.012	1.229	1.20-1.26	< 0.0001	0.167	0.013	1.182	1.15-1.21	< 0.0001	0.174	0.022	1.19	1.14-1.24	< 0.0001

[£]All variables were adjusted for age.

7.3.4 Prediction trends of metabolic risks among the deciles of anthropometric and body composition measures

This section shows the prediction trend for development of metabolic diseases with increasing deciles of different anthropometric indices using age adjusted logistic regression analyses.

A significant association between any morbidity and WC was observed from 93 cm (5th decile) to 181 cm (10th decile) in women, and from 93 cm (4th decile) to 287 cm (10th decile) in men (Table 7.3-7 and Table 7.3-8). Association between WC and any 2 co-morbidities and any 3 co-morbidities, started at 89 cm (6th decile) to 181 cm (10th decile) in women, and 97 cm (5th decile) to 287 cm (10th decile) in men (Table 7.3-7 and Table 7.3-8).

As waists go larger from 93 cm onwards, the odds for morbidities / co-morbidities increased, from 1.3 to 2.2 for a single morbidity, 1.4 to 3.3 for 2 co-morbidities and 2.1 to 5.4 for 3 co-morbidities in women. In men, similar odds are observed, except for the highest deciles of waist, where odds are markedly higher than for women, for any one or more co-morbidities.

A significant association between BMI as deciles and any single morbidity from the 2^{nd} decile (BMI 24) to the 10^{th} decile (BMI 76) for women (with the exception of the 3^{rd} decile, and the 3^{rd} decile (BMI 25) to the 10^{th} decile (BMI 73) in men (with the exception of the 4^{th} decile) (

Table 7.3-9 and Table 7.3-10).

As BMI deciles increase, the odds for morbidities / co-morbidities increased, from 1.3 to 3.2 for a single morbidity, 1.9 to 6.3 for 2 co-morbidities and 3.4 to 12.0 for 3 co-morbidities in women. In men, similar odds are observed, except for the highest deciles of BMI, were odds are slightly lower than women for any one or two morbidities, and slightly higher for 3 co-morbidities.

Rody Composition [£]	Decilo			Any n	norbidity	7				Any 2 co	-morbidi	ities				Any 3 co	-morbidi	ties	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
WC Decile1	67						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
WC Decile2	75	-0.11	0.08	0.90	0.76	1.06	0.197	-0.39	0.15	0.68	0.51	0.91	0.009	-0.21	0.35	0.81	0.41	1.61	0.553
WC Decile3	80	-0.13	0.09	0.87	0.74	1.04	0.123	-0.07	0.14	0.93	0.71	1.22	0.611	0.34	0.30	1.40	0.78	2.51	0.260
WC Decile4	85	0.14	0.09	1.16	0.97	1.37	0.100	0.25	0.13	1.28	1.00	1.65	0.052	0.52	0.28	1.68	0.97	2.92	0.065
WC Decile5	89	0.06	0.09	1.06	0.89	1.26	0.506	0.37	0.12	1.44	1.13	1.84	0.003	0.76	0.27	2.14	1.27	3.61	0.004
WC Decile6	93	0.30	0.09	1.36	1.13	1.62	0.001	0.58	0.12	1.78	1.40	2.25	< 0.0001	0.88	0.26	2.41	1.45	4.00	0.001
WC Decile7	98	0.49	0.09	1.64	1.37	1.96	< 0.0001	0.78	0.12	2.19	1.74	2.76	< 0.0001	1.13	0.25	3.11	1.91	5.07	< 0.0001
WC Decile8	102	0.43	0.10	1.53	1.26	1.86	< 0.0001	0.85	0.12	2.35	1.85	2.97	< 0.0001	1.38	0.25	3.98	2.45	6.49	< 0.0001
WC Decile9	109	0.78	0.10	2.17	1.77	2.67	< 0.0001	1.10	0.12	3.01	2.39	3.81	< 0.0001	1.43	0.25	4.20	2.59	6.80	< 0.0001
WC Decile10	181	0.78	0.10	2.17	1.77	2.67	< 0.0001	1.20	0.12	3.32	2.63	4.19	< 0.0001	1.70	0.24	5.45	3.39	8.78	< 0.0001
Age		0.04	0.00	1.04	1.03	1.04	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.07	1.07	< 0.0001	0.06	0.00	1.07	1.06	1.07	< 0.0001
Constant		-0.91	0.08	0.40			< 0.0001	-4.38	0.12	0.01			< 0.0001	-6.54	0.27	0.00			< 0.0001

Table 7.3-7: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WC in Saudi women, based on regression (adjusted for age).

Subjects; with triglyceride >= 1.7 mmol/L, HDL cholesterol <1.04 mmol/L (\mathcal{S}) and <1.30 mmol/L (\mathcal{Q}), and/or total Cholesterol >6.2 mmol/L, or diagnosed by physician were considered as dyslipidaemic; with T2DM and/or with HbA1c >6.1 mmol/L were considered as diabetic individuals; and with SBP>140 or DBP>90 mmHg, and/or diagnosed by physician with hypertension were considered as hypertensive;

Any morbidity: any subject with HTN, T2DM or Dys; Any 2 co-morbidities: any subject with HTN and T2DM, HTN and Dys, or T2DM and Dys; Any 2 co-morbidities: HTN, T2DM and Dys;

OR: Odds Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; Dys: Dyslipidaemia; HTN: hypertension; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus; BMI: Body mass index; WC: Waist circumference; WHR: Waist to hip ratio; WHR: Waist to height ratio.

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

Table 7.3-8: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WC in Saudi men, based on regression (adjusted for age).

												-							
Rody Composition	Decile			Any 1	norbidity	y				Any 2 co	-morbid	ities				Any 3 co	o-morbid	lities	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
WC Decile1	74						< 0.0001						0<0.0001						< 0.0001
WC Decile2	82	-0.16	0.10	0.85	0.71	1.03	0.095	-0.16	0.15	0.85	0.64	1.14	0.283	-0.33	0.33	0.72	0.37	1.37	0.313
WC Decile3	88.3	0.01	0.10	1.01	0.83	1.21	0.947	-0.02	0.14	0.98	0.74	1.30	0.912	0.14	0.29	1.15	0.65	2.02	0.632
WC Decile4	93	0.33	0.09	1.40	1.16	1.68	0.000	0.05	0.14	1.05	0.80	1.37	0.737	0.07	0.29	1.07	0.61	1.88	0.802
WC Decile5	97	0.50	0.10	1.64	1.36	1.99	< 0.0001	0.52	0.13	1.69	1.30	2.18	0.000	0.53	0.26	1.69	1.01	2.84	0.046
WC Decile6	101	0.54	0.10	1.71	1.41	2.07	< 0.0001	0.72	0.13	2.06	1.60	2.64	0.000	0.89	0.25	2.44	1.50	3.98	< 0.0001
WC Decile7	105	0.95	0.11	2.59	2.10	3.19	< 0.0001	0.93	0.13	2.53	1.97	3.24	0.000	0.93	0.25	2.55	1.57	4.12	< 0.0001
WC Decile8	110	1.26	0.11	3.52	2.82	4.39	< 0.0001	1.24	0.13	3.44	2.69	4.41	0.000	1.30	0.24	3.67	2.29	5.87	< 0.0001
WC Decile9	118	1.26	0.11	3.52	2.82	4.40	< 0.0001	1.26	0.13	3.53	2.75	4.53	0.000	1.49	0.24	4.44	2.78	7.09	< 0.0001
WC Decile10	287	1.44	0.12	4.21	3.34	5.30	< 0.0001	1.55	0.13	4.73	3.69	6.07	0.000	1.97	0.24	7.20	4.54	11.41	< 0.0001
Age		0.04	0.00	1.04	1.04	1.05	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.06	1.07	0.000	0.06	0.00	1.06	1.06	1.07	< 0.0001
Constant		-1.46	0.09	0.23			< 0.0001	-4.47	0.13	0.01			0.000	-6.29	0.26	0.00			< 0.0001

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

Rody Composition	Dogilo			Any n	norbidity	r				Any 2 co	-morbidi	ities				Any 3 co	-morbidi	ties	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
BMI Decile1	21.4						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
BMI Decile2	23.9	0.17	0.08	1.19	1.01	1.40	0.039	0.65	0.16	1.92	1.41	2.62	< 0.0001	1.24	0.39	3.44	1.61	7.35	0.001
BMI Decile3	25.9	0.12	0.08	1.13	0.96	1.33	0.153	0.78	0.15	2.18	1.62	2.94	< 0.0001	1.52	0.37	4.56	2.20	9.48	< 0.0001
BMI Decile4	27.5	0.23	0.09	1.26	1.06	1.49	0.008	0.94	0.15	2.56	1.91	3.43	< 0.0001	1.35	0.37	3.86	1.86	8.01	< 0.0001
BMI Decile5	29.2	0.36	0.09	1.43	1.20	1.69	< 0.0001	1.16	0.15	3.20	2.40	4.25	< 0.0001	1.70	0.37	5.49	2.68	11.24	< 0.0001
BMI Decile6	30.8	0.48	0.09	1.62	1.36	1.92	< 0.0001	1.22	0.14	3.40	2.56	4.52	< 0.0001	1.73	0.36	5.63	2.77	11.47	< 0.0001
BMI Decile7	32.5	0.57	0.09	1.77	1.48	2.12	< 0.0001	1.37	0.14	3.94	2.98	5.22	< 0.0001	1.99	0.36	7.35	3.64	14.84	< 0.0001
BMI Decile8	35	0.67	0.09	1.96	1.63	2.35	< 0.0001	1.54	0.14	4.66	3.52	6.16	< 0.0001	2.11	0.36	8.21	4.08	16.53	< 0.0001
BMI Decile9	38.3	0.89	0.10	2.44	2.02	2.94	< 0.0001	1.60	0.14	4.94	3.73	6.52	< 0.0001	2.23	0.36	9.26	4.61	18.59	< 0.0001
BMI Decile10	75.7	1.15	0.10	3.17	2.60	3.86	< 0.0001	1.84	0.14	6.32	4.79	8.34	< 0.0001	2.49	0.35	12.04	6.02	24.09	< 0.0001
Age		0.04	0.00	1.04	1.04	1.04	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.07	1.08	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.07	1.08	< 0.0001
Constant		-1.26	0.08	0.28			< 0.0001	-5.23	0.15	0.01			< 0.0001	-7.63	0.37	0.00			< 0.0001

Table 7.3-9: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing BMI in Saudi women, based on regression (adjusted for age).

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

Table 7.3-10: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing BMI in Saudi men, based on regression (adjusted for age).

Body Composition	Docilo			Any 1	norbidity	y		_		Any 2 co	-morbidi	ities				Any 3 co	o-morbidi	ities	
bouy composition	Decile	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
BMI Decile1	21.0						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
BMI Decile2	23.2	-0.01	0.10	0.99	0.83	1.20	0.955	0.37	0.15	1.45	1.07	1.95	0.015	0.99	0.39	2.70	1.26	5.78	0.010
BMI Decile3	24.8	0.20	0.10	1.22	1.01	1.48	0.037	0.57	0.15	1.77	1.33	2.36	< 0.0001	1.37	0.37	3.95	1.91	8.19	< 0.0001
BMI Decile4	26.0	0.04	0.10	1.04	0.86	1.26	0.688	0.75	0.14	2.11	1.59	2.79	< 0.0001	1.31	0.37	3.71	1.79	7.70	< 0.0001
BMI Decile5	27.3	0.38	0.10	1.46	1.20	1.77	<0.0001	1.01	0.14	2.75	2.08	3.62	< 0.0001	1.76	0.36	5.83	2.86	11.91	< 0.0001
BMI Decile6	28.6	0.26	0.10	1.30	1.07	1.58	0.007	1.12	0.14	3.06	2.32	4.03	< 0.0001	1.80	0.36	6.08	2.98	12.38	< 0.0001
BMI Decile7	30.1	0.45	0.10	1.57	1.29	1.91	< 0.0001	1.28	0.14	3.58	2.72	4.71	< 0.0001	1.97	0.36	7.18	3.55	14.54	< 0.0001
BMI Decile8	31.9	0.66	0.10	1.93	1.58	2.36	< 0.0001	1.35	0.14	3.87	2.95	5.09	< 0.0001	2.14	0.36	8.52	4.22	17.19	< 0.0001
BMI Decile9	34.9	0.91	0.11	2.48	2.01	3.04	< 0.0001	1.48	0.14	4.38	3.34	5.75	< 0.0001	2.52	0.35	12.41	6.19	24.87	< 0.0001
BMI Decile10	72.4	0.85	0.10	2.35	1.92	2.87	< 0.0001	1.69	0.14	5.43	4.14	7.13	< 0.0001	2.72	0.35	15.23	7.60	30.53	< 0.0001
Age		0.05	0.00	1.05	1.05	1.05	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.07	1.08	< 0.0001	0.06	0.00	1.07	1.06	1.07	< 0.0001
Constant		-1.56	0.08	0.21			< 0.0001	-4.96	0.14	0.01			< 0.0001	-7.46	0.37	0.00			< 0.0001

[£]All variables were adjusted for age.

A significant association between waist to hip ratio (WHR) and any morbidity was observed starting from 0.8 (3rd decile) to 1.9 (10th decile) in women and 1.0 (5th decile) to 2.4 (10th decile) in men. For any 2 co-morbidities, association started from 0.9 (7th decile) to 1.9 (10th decile) in women and 0.9 (3rd decile) to 2.4 (10th decile) in men. For any 3 co-morbidities, the association started from 0.8 (6th decile) to 1.9 (10th decile) for women and 1.0 (4th decile) to 2.4 (10th decile) in men (Table 7.3-11 and Table 7.3-12).

As WHR go larger from 0.78 onwards, the odds for morbidities / co-morbidities increased, from 1.6 to 3.4 for a single morbidity, 1.5 to 2.4 for 2 co-morbidities and 1.8 to 2.4 for 3 co-morbidities in women. In men, similar odds are observed, except for the highest deciles of WHR, where odds are markedly lower than for women, for 3 co-morbidities.

A significant association between any morbidity and waist to height ratio (WHtR) was observed starting from 0.6 (6th decile) to 1.2 (10th decile) for women and 0.5 (4th decile) to 1.63 (10th decile) for men (

Table 7.3-13 and Table 7.3-14). For any 2 co-morbidities, associations started from 0.6 (5th decile) to 1.2 (10th decile) and 0.58 (5th decile) to 1.63 (10th decile) for women and men, respectively. For any 3 co-morbidities, associations started from 0.5 (4th decile) to 1.2 (10th decile) for women and 0.6 (5th decile) to 1.6 (10th decile) for men.

As WHtR go larger from 0.60 onwards, the odds for morbidities / co-morbidities increased, from 1.4 to 2.6 for a single morbidity, 1.5 to 3.5 for 2 co-morbidities and 1.3 to 3.3 for 3 co-morbidities in women. In men, similar odds are observed, except for the highest deciles of WHtR, where odds are markedly higher than for women, for any one or more co-morbidities.

Rody Composition	Docilo			Any n	norbidity	7				Any 2 co	-morbidi	ities				Any 3 co	-morbidi	ties	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
WHR Decile1	0.71						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
WHR Decile2	0.75	0.13	0.12	1.14	0.90	1.44	0.270	-0.46	0.16	0.63	0.46	0.86	0.003	-0.35	0.33	0.70	0.37	1.35	0.287
WHR Decile3	0.78	0.48	0.13	1.62	1.26	2.08	< 0.0001	0.03	0.14	1.03	0.78	1.36	0.849	0.10	0.29	1.11	0.63	1.95	0.726
WHR Decile4	0.81	0.37	0.13	1.44	1.12	1.86	0.004	0.01	0.14	1.01	0.76	1.33	0.964	0.14	0.28	1.15	0.66	1.98	0.627
WHR Decile5	0.84	0.36	0.13	1.43	1.10	1.85	0.007	0.20	0.14	1.22	0.93	1.60	0.150	0.37	0.26	1.44	0.86	2.42	0.164
WHR Decile6	0.86	0.58	0.14	1.79	1.36	2.35	< 0.0001	0.19	0.14	1.21	0.92	1.59	0.163	0.58	0.26	1.78	1.08	2.95	0.024
WHR Decile7	0.89	0.69	0.15	2.00	1.50	2.68	< 0.0001	0.43	0.14	1.53	1.17	2.00	0.002	0.58	0.25	1.79	1.09	2.95	0.022
WHR Decile8	0.92	0.85	0.16	2.34	1.72	3.19	< 0.0001	0.63	0.14	1.88	1.44	2.45	< 0.0001	0.84	0.25	2.32	1.43	3.77	0.001
WHR Decile9	0.95	1.13	0.17	3.08	2.22	4.29	< 0.0001	0.68	0.14	1.97	1.50	2.57	< 0.0001	0.87	0.25	2.38	1.46	3.86	< 0.0001
WHR Decile10	1.89	1.23	0.18	3.42	2.40	4.87	< 0.0001	0.87	0.14	2.39	1.82	3.14	< 0.0001	0.90	0.25	2.45	1.51	3.98	< 0.0001
Age		0.04	0.00	1.04	1.04	1.05	< 0.0001	0.08	0.00	1.08	1.08	1.09	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.06	1.08	< 0.0001
Constant		-0.42	0.12	0.66			< 0.0001	-4.23	0.14	0.01			< 0.0001	-5.83	0.26	0.00			< 0.0001

Table 7.3-11: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WHR in Saudi women, based on regression (adjusted for age)

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

Table 7.3-12: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing	g WHR in Saudi men, based on regression (adjusted for age)
Tuble 7.6 12. Misk of metubolic discuses associated with mercusin	g trutte in Sudui men, sused on regression (aujusted for age	,

Rody Composition	Docilo			Any r	norbidity	7				Any 2 co	-morbidi	ities				Any 3 co	-morbidi	ties	
Bouy Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
WHR Decile1	0.83						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
WHR Decile2	0.90	0.01	0.14	1.01	0.77	1.32	0.944	0.19	0.16	1.21	0.88	1.67	0.244	0.32	0.33	1.38	0.72	2.61	0.329
WHR Decile3	0.95	0.15	0.14	1.16	0.87	1.54	0.303	0.52	0.16	1.69	1.24	2.30	0.001	0.33	0.32	1.39	0.74	2.59	0.307
WHR Decile4	1.01	0.21	0.16	1.24	0.91	1.68	0.176	0.69	0.16	1.99	1.46	2.70	< 0.0001	0.96	0.29	2.62	1.49	4.62	0.001
WHR Decile5	1.03	1.35	0.23	3.85	2.45	6.04	< 0.0001	1.02	0.16	2.78	2.04	3.80	< 0.0001	0.97	0.29	2.63	1.50	4.61	0.001
WHR Decile6	1.05	1.03	0.20	2.81	1.90	4.16	< 0.0001	1.11	0.16	3.02	2.21	4.13	< 0.0001	1.22	0.28	3.38	1.94	5.90	< 0.0001
WHR Decile7	1.07	1.66	0.23	5.27	3.36	8.27	< 0.0001	0.98	0.16	2.67	1.96	3.64	< 0.0001	1.02	0.29	2.78	1.58	4.89	< 0.0001
WHR Decile8	1.11	0.90	0.18	2.46	1.73	3.49	< 0.0001	0.84	0.16	2.32	1.70	3.15	< 0.0001	1.28	0.28	3.59	2.05	6.26	< 0.0001
WHR Decile9	1.17	1.19	0.18	3.30	2.32	4.68	< 0.0001	0.56	0.16	1.74	1.28	2.38	< 0.0001	0.90	0.29	2.46	1.38	4.39	0.002
WHR Decile10	2.37	0.69	0.15	2.00	1.49	2.68	< 0.0001	0.53	0.16	1.69	1.23	2.33	0.001	0.23	0.33	1.26	0.66	2.40	0.480
Age		0.05	0.00	1.05	1.04	1.06	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.07	1.08	< 0.0001	0.05	0.00	1.06	1.05	1.06	< 0.0001
Constant		-0.69	0.14	0.50			< 0.0001	-4.19	0.16	0.02			< 0.0001	-5.50	0.29	0.00			< 0.0001

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

Rody Composition	Decilo			Any	morbidi	ty				Any 2 c	co-morbi	dities				Any 3 c	o-morbi	lities	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
WHtR Decile1	0.43						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
WHtR Decile2	0.48	-0.04	0.09	0.96	0.81	1.14	0.668	-0.32	0.15	0.72	0.54	0.97	0.033	0.19	0.33	1.21	0.63	2.33	0.576
WHtR Decile3	0.51	-0.06	0.09	0.94	0.79	1.11	0.454	-0.03	0.14	0.97	0.74	1.27	0.813	-0.17	0.35	0.85	0.43	1.68	0.635
WHtR Decile4	0.54	0.06	0.09	1.06	0.89	1.26	0.518	0.15	0.13	1.17	0.90	1.51	0.242	0.83	0.28	2.29	1.32	3.96	0.003
WHtR Decile5	0.57	0.13	0.09	1.13	0.95	1.35	0.156	0.39	0.13	1.47	1.15	1.89	0.002	0.58	0.28	1.78	1.02	3.11	0.042
WHtR Decile6	0.60	0.35	0.09	1.42	1.19	1.70	< 0.0001	0.59	0.12	1.80	1.41	2.28	< 0.0001	0.97	0.27	2.64	1.56	4.46	< 0.0001
WHtR Decile7	0.63	0.44	0.09	1.56	1.30	1.87	< 0.0001	0.70	0.12	2.01	1.59	2.56	< 0.0001	1.02	0.26	2.77	1.65	4.66	< 0.0001
WHtR Decile8	0.66	0.55	0.10	1.73	1.43	2.09	< 0.0001	0.90	0.12	2.46	1.94	3.11	< 0.0001	1.24	0.26	3.47	2.09	5.76	< 0.0001
WHtR Decile9	0.7	0.83	0.10	2.30	1.88	2.82	< 0.0001	1.12	0.12	3.08	2.44	3.90	< 0.0001	1.57	0.25	4.79	2.91	7.87	< 0.0001
WHtR Decile10	1.21	0.97	0.11	2.64	2.14	3.26	< 0.0001	1.25	0.12	3.51	2.77	4.44	< 0.0001	1.69	0.25	5.45	3.32	8.92	< 0.0001
Age		0.04	0.00	1.04	1.03	1.04	< 0.0001	0.07	0.00	1.07	1.06	1.07	< 0.0001	0.06	0.00	1.07	1.06	1.07	< 0.0001
Constant		-0.91	0.08	0.40			< 0.0001	-4.36	0.13	0.01			< 0.0001	-6.52	0.27	0.00			< 0.0001

Table 7.3-13: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WHtR in Saudi women, based on regression (adjusted for age)

[£]All variables were adjusted for age.

Table 7.3-14: Risk of metabolic diseases associated with increasing WHtR in Saudi men, based on regression (adjusted for age)

Body Composition	Decile			Any n	norbidity	7				Any 2 co	-morbidi	ities				Any 3 c	o-morbid	ities	
Body Composition	Deche	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value	В	SE	OR	CI1	CI2	p-value
WHtR Decile1	0.44						< 0.0001						< 0.0001						< 0.0001
WHtR Decile2	0.49	-0.18	0.10	0.83	0.69	1.00	0.055	-0.18	0.15	0.84	0.62	1.13	0.245	-0.08	0.33	0.92	0.48	1.77	0.811
WHtR Decile3	0.53	0.09	0.10	1.09	0.91	1.32	0.361	-0.09	0.15	0.92	0.69	1.22	0.559	0.30	0.30	1.35	0.75	2.43	0.314
WHtR Decile4	0.55	0.34	0.10	1.41	1.17	1.70	< 0.0001	0.24	0.14	1.27	0.96	1.67	0.090	-0.43	0.35	0.65	0.33	1.28	0.212
WHtR Decile5	0.58	0.47	0.10	1.60	1.32	1.94	< 0.0001	0.51	0.13	1.66	1.28	2.16	< 0.0001	0.70	0.27	2.01	1.17	3.44	0.011
WHtR Decile6	0.60	0.81	0.10	2.24	1.84	2.73	< 0.0001	0.65	0.13	1.91	1.48	2.47	< 0.0001	0.84	0.26	2.32	1.38	3.90	0.001
WHtR Decile7	0.63	0.94	0.11	2.55	2.07	3.15	< 0.0001	0.88	0.13	2.41	1.87	3.11	< 0.0001	1.08	0.26	2.93	1.76	4.89	< 0.0001
WHtR Decile8	0.66	1.17	0.11	3.21	2.58	4.00	< 0.0001	1.22	0.13	3.39	2.64	4.36	< 0.0001	1.29	0.25	3.63	2.21	5.96	< 0.0001
WHtR Decile9	0.70	1.46	0.12	4.29	3.40	5.41	< 0.0001	1.28	0.13	3.59	2.79	4.62	< 0.0001	1.54	0.25	4.66	2.85	7.63	< 0.0001
WHtR Decile10	1.63	1.46	0.12	4.30	3.42	5.42	< 0.0001	1.60	0.13	4.94	3.85	6.35	< 0.0001	2.01	0.25	7.44	4.58	12.06	< 0.0001
Age		0.04	0.00	1.04	1.04	1.04	< 0.0001	0.06	0.00	1.07	1.06	1.07	< 0.0001	0.06	0.00	1.06	1.05	1.06	< 0.0001
Constant		-1.43	0.09	0.24			< 0.0001	-4.39	0.13	0.01			< 0.0001	-6.22	0.27	0.00			< 0.0001

[£] All variables were adjusted for age.

7.3.5 Defining Saudi specific cut-off points for BMI, WC, and waist to hip / height ratio in relation to estimated metabolic risk

This section is defining Saudi specific cut-off points based on Receiver Operator Curves (ROC) for the metabolic diseases defined.

7.3.5.1 Best anthropometric measure to predict health risks

ROC curves of obesity-related anthropometric measures to predict metabolic risks were compared by using the method of DeLong et al. (DeLong, DeLong et al. 1988), which accounts for the correlation among variables. Table 7.3-15 shows the diagnostic performance of anthropometric measures in predicting (co-)morbidities (hypertension, T2DM, dyslipidemia, any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities and any 3 co-morbidities).

In women, WC (cm) provided the highest Area Under Curve (AUC) in predicting hypertension (0.66), T2DM (0.71) and dyslipidemia (0.62) compared to other anthropometric measures. BMI provided the lowest AUC in predicting hypertension (0.65), T2DM (0.66) and dyslipidemia (0.54). Also, WC provided the highest level of AUC in predicting any single morbidity (0.69), any 2 comorbidities (0.73) and any 3 comorbidities (0.72) compared to other anthropometric measures. BMI provided the lowest AUC in predicting any single morbidity (0.65), any 2 comorbidities (0.67) and any 3 comorbidities (0.67).

In men, the picture is fairly similar: WC provided the highest AUC in predicting T2DM (0.64), dyslipidemia (0.64), but not hypertension (0.64) compared to other anthropometric measures. BMI provided the lowest AUC for T2DM (0.62), dyslipidemia (0.58), hypertension (0.65). WC also provided the highest AUC for any single morbidity (0.69), any 2 comorbidities (0.68) and any 3 comorbidities (0.69) compared with other anthropometric measures. BMI provided the lowest AUC for any morbidity (0.65), any 2 comorbidities (0.68) and any 3 comorbidities (0.69) compared with other anthropometric measures. BMI provided the lowest AUC for any morbidity (0.65), any 2 comorbidities (0.65) and any 3 comorbidities (0.67).

Figure 7.3-1 and Figure 7.3-2 show the receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC) for different anthropometric measures to predict the presence of hypertension, T2DM, dyslipidemia, any morbidity, any 2 comorbidities, and any 3 comorbidities, in women and men.

Based on the ROC analyses, calculated cut-off points for WC in Saudi women range from 90 to 92 cm and 94 to 99 cm for men. The new WC cut-off for women is higher than the traditional cut-off (88 cm) but the new WC cut-off for men is lower than the traditional cut-off (102 cm). Similarly, the calculated BMI cut-off points for Saudi women range from 28.2 to 29.7 (kg/m²) and 25.9 to 27.7 (kg/m²) for men. The new BMI cut-offs for both gender are lower than the traditional cut-off (30 kg/m²) with the men, having slightly lower cut-off than women. Similarly, the calculated WHtR cut-off points for Saudi women range from 0.57 to 0.59 and 0.56 to 0.59 for men. The new WHtR cutoffs for both gender are higher than the traditional cut-off (0.5). Similarly, the calculated WHR cut-off points for Saudi women range from 0.82 to 0.85 and 0.98 to 1.0 for men. The new WHR cut-off for women is nearly similar to the traditional cut-off (0.85) but the new WC cut-off for men is higher than the traditional cut-off (0.90).

	BMI (kg/m ²) (n=22,416)						WC (cm) (n=21,062)				WHR (n=12,552)				WHtR (n=20,854)			
Metabolic Risks		AUC	SE	CI	Cut- off	AUC	SE	CI	Cut- off	AUC	SE	CI	Cut- off	AUC	SE	CI	Cut- off	
Hemontonaion*	9	0.648	0.008	0.637-0.660	29.0	0.663	0.008	0.652-0.674	90.5	0.621	0.008	0.610-0.633	0.82	0.652	0.008	0.641-0.664	0.58	
rry per tension.	3	0.655	0.008	0.642-0.668	27.7	0.638	0.009	0.624-0.650	99	0.509	0.009	0.495-0.522	0.98	0.631	0.008	0.618-0.644	0.59	
ТЭЛМ*	Ŷ	0.661	0.007	0.650-0.672	29.2	0.706	0.007	0.695-0.717	90.6	0.689	0.007	0.678-0.700	0.85	0.693	0.006	0.682-0.704	0.58	
12011	3	0.616	0.008	0.603-0.629	26.5	0.637	0.008	0.624-0.650	97	0.567	0.008	0.553-0.580	1.0	0.628	0.007	0.615-0.641	0.59	
Dyslipidaemia*	Ŷ	0.573	0.008	0.561-0.585	29.0	0.617	0.008	0.605-0.628	89.8	0.598	0.008	0.586-0.609	0.83	0.604	0.008	0.592-0.616	0.58	
	3	0.579	0.009	0.565-0.592	25.9	0.638	0.009	0.624-0.651	94	0.610	0.009	0.597-0.623	1.0	0.625	0.009	0.612-0.638	0.56	
Any morbidity*	Ŷ	0.645	0.009	0.633-0.656	29	0.686	0.008	0.675-0.697	90.1	0.656	0.009	0.645-0.667	0.83	0.663	0.008	0.652-0.674	0.57	
Any morbianty	8	0.65	0.01	0.637-0.663	25.9	0.691	0.01	0.678-0.703	96.1	0.634	0.01	0.621-0.647	0.99	0.676	0.01	0.663-0.688	0.58	
Any 2 co-	Ŷ	0.673	0.007	0.661-0.684	28.2	0.726	0.006	0.715-0.737	90.1	0.691	0.007	0.680-0.702	0.83	0.711	0.006	0.700-0.722	0.58	
morbidities*	3	0.649	0.007	0.636-0.662	26.4	0.677	0.007	0.664-0.689	98.3	0.569	0.008	0.556-0.583	0.99	0.667	0.007	0.654-0.679	0.59	
Any 3 co-	Ŷ	0.667	0.01	0.656-0.678	29.7	0.720	0.009	0.709-0.730	92.1	0.692	0.01	0.681-0.703	0.85	0.711	0.009	0.700-0.722	0.59	
morbidities*	8	0.669	0.01	0.656-0.682	27.5	0.692	0.01	0.679-0.704	98.1	0.571	0.01	0.558-0.585	0.98	0.679	0.01	0.667-0.692	0.59	

Table 7.3-15: Diagnostic performance of anthropometric measures in predicting co-morbidity* (hypertension, T2DM, dyslipidemia, any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities and any 3 co-morbidities) using optimal anthropometric cut-off values based on the shortest distance in ROC curves in Saudi adults (n=23,968). ^{\$}

^{\$} The above table was constructed from the receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) analysis using BMI (kg/m²), WC (cm), WHR and WHtR as covariate and any morbidity, any 2 co-morbidities or any 3 co-morbidities as an outcome.

AUC: Area under curve; BMI: body mass index; WC: Waist circumference; WHR: Waist to hip ratio; WHtR; Waist to height ratio.

*Value was significant (p<0.05).



Figure 7.3-1: Receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC) for BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR to predict the presence of hypertension (A1), T2DM (A2), dyslipidemia (A3), any morbidity (B1), any 2 comorbidities (B2), and any 3 comorbidities (B3), in women.



Figure 7.3-2: Receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC) for BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR to predict the presence of hypertension (A1), T2DM (A2), dyslipidemia (A3), any morbidity (B1), any 2 comorbidities (B2), and any 3 comorbidities (B3), in men.

7.4 Discussion

7.4.2 Combining WC and BMI to predict disease risk

Almajwal *et al.*, (2009) suggested combining WC to BMI to predict the metabolic risks more efficiently than BMI alone in Middle East populations including SA (Almajwal, Al-Baghli et al. 2009). In addition, Zhu et al. (2004) suggested including WC with BMI to predict the metabolic risks more efficiently than BMI alone in Caucasian people (Zhu, Heshka et al. 2004). This suggestion were adopted by different clinical guidelines (e.g. the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE), NHLBI Obesity Education Initiative (NIH-NHLBI), and Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN)) to combine WC with BMI to predict the metabolic risks more efficiently using health-risk scores (NIH-NHLBI 2000; NHS-NICE 2006; SIGN 2010; NHMRC 2013).

The findings of this study are in agreement that the risk of developing any one (or more) comorbidity increased positively with increasing deciles of BMI and WC, from a tip-up point onwards. However, when BMI was combined to WC in regression models, the predictive value for any one (or more) risk factor went down significantly in both sexes. This indicates that adding WC to BMI is not a solution for the poor performance of BMI. Two other studies are consistent with these findings: Lee et al. (2008) conducted a metaanalysis of 10 studies including 88,514 individuals, to determine which of the four indices (BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR) is the best predictor of major cardiovascular risk factors (hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidaemia (Lee, Huxley et al. 2008). The study results showed that the combinations of BMI and WC, WHR, or WHtR, did not increase the discriminatory capability of BMI for hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidaemia. Janssen et al (2004) conducted a study using the data of 14,924 adult individuals from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) in United States (Janssen, Katzmarzyk et al. 2004). This study found that WC but not BMI explains obesity related health risk. It also confirmed that overweight (BMI 25-29.9 kg/m²) and obese (BMI ≥ 30 kg/m^2) subjects were more likely to have hypertension, dyslipidaemia, and the metabolic syndrome than were normal weight subjects (BMI $< 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$). However, after adjustment for WC category (normal or high; WC values ≥ 102 and ≥ 88 cm for men and women, respectively), the odds of comorbidity did not improve but remain high in overweight and obese subjects compared to normal-weight subjects. After adjustment for WC as a continuous variable, the likelihood of having metabolic syndrome, hypertension and

dyslipidaemia was similar in all groups. When WC and BMI were used as continuous variables in the same regression model, WC alone was a significant predictor of comorbidity (the metabolic syndrome, hypertension and dyslipidaemia) (Janssen, Katzmarzyk et al. 2004).

7.4.3 Best predictors of metabolic diseases among anthropometric measures using a greater area under the curve (AUC)

Which anthropometric measure of obesity should be used for predicting metabolic diseases is widely debated. The methods described by DeLong et al. are usually used to estimate the AUC and test the difference in the AUC between different measures using ROC curves analysis (DeLong, DeLong et al. 1988). Any measure with the highest level of Area Under Curve (AUC) is considered to be the measure with the best prediction power. The results of this study show that WC provided the best prediction power of any one (or more) risk factor in both sexes, of all individual risk factors for both sexes except of hypertension among men. WHtR alone performed almost equally well as WC. However, BMI and WHR were markedly poorer predictors of these risk factors. These results are consistent with several multi-ethnic and Arabic ethnic studies.

In the Arab region, Bener et al. (2013) found in a cross-sectional study in Qatar (n=1,552) that WC is the best predictor of metabolic syndrome (Bener, Yousafzai et al. 2013). Similar results were observed for WC to identify metabolic syndrome risks in Egypt (n=3,209) (Assaad-Khalil, Mikhail et al. 2015). Again WC was better than BMI for identifying subjects with hypertension in a Egyptian population (n=5,550) (El Din, Zaki et al. 2014). In Tunisia, Bouguerra (2007) also found WC a better predictor of high blood pressure, diabetes and dyslipidemia than BMI (n=3,435) (Bouguerra, Alberti et al. 2007). In Iraq, Mansour et al. (2007) (n=12,986) showed that BMI was the least reliable index for identifying T2DM and hypertension in Iraqi people compared to WC, WHR, and WHtR (this agrees with the results of this current study) and the authors also found that WHtR was the best predictor for hypertension while WHR was the best predictor for T2DM than BMI, WC, and WHtR (Mansour and Al-Jazairi 2007). Al-Lawati et al. (2008) in an Omani population (n=1,420) indicated that WHR and WC better predict CVDs risk than BMI (Al-Lawati, Barakat et al. 2008; Al-Lawati and Jousilahti 2008). In Jordan, Al-Odat et al. (2012) (n=500) found that WHR was the best predictor of metabolic syndrome followed by WHtR in men whereas WHR, WHtR and WC were almost equal in women, followed by

BMI (Al-Odat, Ahmad et al. 2012). However, the sample size of the study is very small to predict the anthropometric measures' effects. The comparison between the cut-off values of the findings of this current study and other results of Arab countries are shown in Table 7.4-1.

A meta-analysis (10 studies) including 88,514 individuals from different ethnicity to determine which of the four indices (BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR) is the best predictor of major cardiovascular risk factors (hypertension, T2DM and dyslipidaemia) (Lee, Huxley et al. 2008). The study results showed that WHtR was the best discriminator for hypertension (AUC=0.684 for men and 0.732 for women), diabetes (AUC=0.726 for men and 0.756 for women), and dyslipidaemia (AUC=0.653 for men and 0.663 for women) in both sex followed by WC. Those findings are in agreement with the results of this study showing that WHtR performs equally well with WC in predicting metabolic diseases. Also, this meta-analyses found that BMI was the poorest predictor for hypertension (AUC=0.641 for men and 0.693 for women), T2DM (AUC=0.672 for men and 0.693 for women) and dyslipidaemia (AUC=0.647 for men and 0.639 for women). Furthermore, other meta-analysis from the Diabetes Epidemiology: Collaborative Analysis of Diagnostic Criteria in Asia Study (DECODA) involved data from 16 cross-sectional studies found a stronger association between T2DM and WHtR followed by WC than BMI and WHR in both men and women (Nyamdorj 2008).

7.4.4 Optimal cut-points for anthropometric measures to predict metabolic diseases

This study also calculates new cut-off points for the anthropometric measures on the basis of the equivalence of sensitivity to specificity for different anthropometric measures in predicting metabolic diseases. The new cut-off points for WC range between 90 to 92 cm for women and 94 to 99 cm for men. In comparing with Caucasians' cut-offs for WC, the new cut-off point in women is higher than the cut-off in Caucasians (88 cm) whereas the new cut-off point in men is lower than those for Caucasians (102 cm). When comparing with WC cut-off points in some Arab populations; these results were relatively similar to those in Egypt, Lebanon and Qatar (Chedid, Gannagé-Yared et al. 2009; Bener, Yousafzai et al. 2013; El Din, Zaki et al. 2014). However, lower cut-off points were found in studies from Oman and Tunisia (Bouguerra, Alberti et al. 2007; Al-Lawati, Barakat et al. 2008; Al-Lawati and Jousilahti 2008) (Table 7.4-1). These differences between WC cut-offs

could be related to the small sample size in these studies, or characteristics of the studied risk factors, for instance the suggested cut-offs in Oman were based on the Framingham risk score (Al-Lawati, Barakat et al. 2008). To the knowledge of the researcher, this is the first study assessing cut-off points based on metabolic diseases in SA. However, it has been claimed that ROC is not the appropriate analysis in health promotion as it should trigger is weight control. It has almost no adverse effects, so there is no hazard if the threshold for action is below the ROC tip-point. False-positives (Type I error) do not matter (Tanamas, Lean et al. 2015). However, including false-positives may cause unnecessary and costly diagnostic testing in clinical or research practice.

Table 7.4-1: Comparisons between obesity indices cut off points from cross-sectional studies in selected local, regional and Arab countries and the suggested cut-off points obtained in this study.

			a 1 :	Cut-off										
Survey	Country	Age	Sample size	BMI		W	С	WH	R	WH	tR	Risk factors		
			(II)	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men			
(Assaad-Khalil, Mikhail et al. 2015)	Egypt	18-80	3209	ND	ND	96.25	100.5	ND	ND	ND	ND	Presence of ≥ 2 MS to IDF		
(El Din, Zaki et al. 2014)	Egypt	20-75	5550	30.1	28	87.8	95.8	0.81	0.92	0.56	0.57	Presence of hypertension		
(Bener, Yousafzai et al. 2013)	Qatar	>20	1552	28.4-30	28- 30	91-88	99.5- 102	0.88	0.90	0.63-0.5	0.58- 0.5	Presence of ≥ 2 MS to IDF		
(Al-Odat, Ahmad et al. 2012)	Jordan	20– 85	500	30.3	28.4	95.6	97.8	0.84	0.89	0.61	0.61	Presence of ≥ 2 MS to IDF		
(Ibrahim Flamragy et al. 2011)	Favnt	>25	2 313	ND	ND	91.5	93.5	ND	ND	ND	ND	Presence of RFs among Normotensives		
(Ibranni, Etanitagy et al. 2011)	Едург	-25	2,315	ND	ND	92.5	93.5	ND	ND	ND	ND	Presence of RFs among Hypertensives		
				31.5	28.5	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	Presence of T2DM		
(Almajwal, Al-Baghli et al.	SA	≥30	195,851	31.5	29	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	Presence of hypertension		
2009)				30.5	28.5	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	Presence of T2DM or hypertension		
(Chadid Connagé Varad et al				51.5	29.3	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	Presence of 12DW and hypertension		
(Chedid, Gannage-Yared et al. 2009) *	Lebanon	18-30	381	27.5	27.5	91	99.5	ND	ND	ND	ND	Presence of ≥ 2 MS to IDF		
(Al-Lawati and Jousilahti 2008)	Oman	>20	1420	26.8	23.2	84.5	80	0.91	0.91	ND	ND	Presence of ≥ 2 CVD risk factors (hyperglycemia, hypertension and dyslipidemia)		
(Al-Lawati, Barakat et al. 2008)				22.9	22.6	84.5	78.5	0.98	0.96	ND	ND	The Framingham risk score (Anderson et al., 1991)		
(Bouguerra, Alberti et al. 2007)	Tunisia	≥20	3435	27	24	85	85	ND	ND	ND	ND	Any presence of high blood pressure, hyperglycaemia, high blood cholesterol and hypertriglyceridemia		
(Mansour and Al-Iazairi 2007)	Iraa	30-62	12 986	26.1	25.4	91	90	0.91	0.92	0.56	0.52	Presence of T2DM		
(Mansour and M-Sazarri 2007)	naq	50-02	12,900	26.5	24.9	95	95	0.91	0.92	0.59	0.55	Presence of hypertension		
(Mansour, Al-Hassan et al. 2007)	Iraq	≥18	1,000	ND	ND	99	97	ND	ND	ND	ND	Presence of ≥ 2 MS to IDF		
				29	27.7	90.5	99	0.82	0.98	0.58	0.59	Presence of hypertension		
				29.2	26.5	90.6	97	0.85	1.0	0.58	0.59	Presence of T2DM		
				29	25.9	89.8	94	0.83	1.0	0.58	0.56	Presence of dyslipidaemia		
Present study *	SA	>18	23.968	29.1	26.7	90.3	96.7	0.83	0.99	0.58	0.58	Average		
Tresent study	571	-10	25,700	29	25.9	90.1	96.1	0.83	0.99	0.57	0.58	Presence of any-comorbidity		
				28.2	26.4	90.1	98.3	0.83	0.99	0.58	0.59	Presence of any 2 comorbidities		
				29.7	27.5	92.1	98.1	0.85	0.98	0.59	0.59	Presence of any 3 comorbidities		
				29.0	26.6	90.8	97.5	0.84	0.99	0.58	0.59	Average		
				23.9	24.8	93	93	0.78	1.03	0.60	0.55	Presence of any-comorbidity		
Present study ^{\$}	SA	>18	23,968	23.9	23.2	89	97	0.89	0.95	0.57	0.58	Presence of any 2 comorbidities		
·······				23.9	23.2	89	97	0.86	1.01	0.54	0.58	Presence of any 3 comorbidities		
				23.9	23.7	90.3	95.7	0.84	1.00	0.57	0.57	Average		

AUC: Area under curve; CSS: Cross sectional; WC: waist circumference; WHR: Waist to hip ratio; WHtR: Waist to height ratio; IDF: The International Diabetes Federation 2005; MS: Metabolic syndrome; RFs: cardiometabolic risk factors: diabetes mellitus, decrease in HDL-C and increase in LDL-C, triglycerides and left ventricular mass index by echocardiography.

According to IDF (Alberti, Zimmet et al. 2006), a participant has the MS if WC ≥ 94 cm in men and ≥ 80 cm in women) plus any two of these risk factors: (a) FPG ≥ 100 mg/dL (5.6mmol/L) or previously diagnosed impaired fasting glucose (b) blood pressure $\geq 130/85$ mmHg or treatment for hypertension; (c) Triglyceride ≥ 150 mg/dL (1.7mmol/L); (d) HDL Cholesterol:Men < 40mg/dL (1.03mmol/L); Women < 50mg/dL (1.29mmol/L) or treatment for low HDL; * Combined surveys in Saudi Arabia using ROC curve analysis; * Combined surveys in Saudi Arabia using logistic regression analysis.

7.2.2 Trends of prediction of metabolic diseases by anthropometric and body composition measures

This study attempted to identify cut-off values based on the observed significant association between deciles of anthropometric measures and risk factors. Multiple regression analyses show that the risk of any one morbidity (or more) was significantly increased at BMI deciles as low as 23.9 in women and 23.2 to 24.8 (kg/m^2) in men, and was not increased progressively as BMI deciles increased. These findings are consistent with a large (197,681) study in Saudi Arabia. Almajwal et al. found that despite a significant increase in odds ratio of hypertension and diabetes from BMI values as low as 21-23, this did not improve the diagnostic performance of BMI measurements (Almajwal, Al-Baghli et al. 2009). These finding are also consistent with a study in Asian population in Hong Kong which reported an increase of T2DM and hypertension from a BMI value of 22 (kg/m^2) onwards (Ko, Chan et al. 1999). A meta-analysis study in a Chinese adult population (n=239,972) found that the prevalence of hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidaemia, and clustering of risk factors all increased with increasing BMI starting at 24 (kg/m²) (Bei-Fan 2002). A study in Hong Kong on a Chinese population also showed increase of diabetes and hypertension prevalence from a BMI value of 22 (kg/m²) upwards (Ko, Chan et al. 1999). However, the use of these low cut-off values leads to high values of sensitivities and false-positive rates (Type I error) which may cause unnecessary and high cost diagnostic testing in clinical or research practices, in addition to the weakness performance of BMI as discussed earlier.

There are some reasons explaining the weakness of BMI as a tool to classify obesity in the SA population. First, BMI does not represent body fat in different ethnic groups and populations (Wang, Thornton et al. 1994; Deurenberg-Yap, Schmidt et al. 2000; Prentice and Jebb 2001). Second, BMI includes body muscle mass which has a contradictory effect when compared with body fat, as shown in regression and correlation analysis in this study and in other studies (Ferreira, Snijder et al. 2004; Leenders, Verdijk et al. 2013; Park and Yoon 2013; Kim, Park et al. 2014; Sampaio, Sampaio et al. 2014). This is supported by the findings of a recent cohort study (n=54,420) in Canada, which found that low BMI and high body fat percentage are independently associated with increased mortality (Padwal, Leslie et al. 2016). Previous studies in Arab populations indicated that BMI has poor prediction power for health risks, as discussed earlier.

7.2.3 Strengths and limitations

This study is a cross-sectional study which limits the ability to draw causal inferences from the relationships observed. However, it includes a large random sample obtained using clustering and stratification techniques based on National Saudi census data (Chapter 5). Subjects with Type 1 diabetes were excluded in this study as in type 1 diabetes mellitus the primary pathology is loss of β -cells function, rather than increased insulin resistance. Therefore, individuals with type 1 diabetes mellitus may be less sensitive to changes in body fat, and their inclusion would likely weaken anthropometric associations with hyperglycemia (Srikanthan and Karlamangla 2011).

Antihypertensive drugs (including diuretics, beta blockers, Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), Calcium channel blockers, and renin inhibitors) may affect blood pressure and salt metabolism in human body (Sciarretta, Palano et al. 2011; Thompson, Hu et al. 2011). In the present study, subjects who were diagnosed with hypertension and subjects were using antihypertensive drugs were considered as having hypertension and included in the analyses.

7.3 Conclusion

The current study shows that adding WC to BMI does not improve the prediction power of all individual risk factors or any morbidity (or more) in both sexes. It also shows that the waist circumference (WC) alone is the best overall predictor of metabolic diseases, whereas waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) performs reasonably well as WC. Body mass index (BMI) and Waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) are poor measures to predict metabolic diseases and should not be used as surrogate measures of obesity. The prediction trend of BMI is not consistent in predicting metabolic diseases and starts as low as ~23 (kg/m²) in sexes. This study suggests that a WC of 90 cm in women and 97 cm in men represents a more appropriate cut-off point for the definition of adiposity than the definitions currently used. Further prospective long term studies with imaging techniques are required in SA and the Eastern Mediterranean region to validate these findings.

Chapter eight

Knowledge and perceptions of Saudi adults towards food and health

8.1 Introduction

As outlined in Chapter 1 (Section 1.4), appropriate lifestyle modifications such as diet, physical activity and weight loss, have significant impact on preventing or delaying the onset of NCDs in high risk people. For instance, a meta-analysis of eight randomised controlled trials found that lifestyle modification including dietary modification only or dietary modification with exercise, significantly reduced mean values for systolic and diastolic BP, triglycerides, WC, and fasting blood glucose (by -6.4, -3.3 (mm Hg), -12.0 (mg/dl), -2.7 (cm), and -11.5 (mg/dl), respectively) compared with the control group (Yamaoka and Tango 2012).However, in order to successfully design, implement and evaluate intervention efforts health-care practitioners and national policy makers require reliable data regarding the distribution and determinants of NCD related health risk associated behaviour, such as knowledge, perceptions and factors influencing food choices and behaviour in the community (Alwan 1997; Conner, Norman et al. 2002; Paquette 2005).

Nutritional knowledge is one of the main influential factors to improve behaviour of healthy eating and lifestyle towards health and overall wellbeing (McCullough, Feskanich et al. 2002; Kolodinsky, Harvey-Berino et al. 2007). In England, Wardle et al. (2000) revealed that people in the highest knowledge quintile were almost 25 times more likely to meet current recommendations for fruit, vegetable and fat intake compared to those in the lowest quintile (Wardle, Parmenter et al. 2000). Several studies have examined specific aspects of lifestyle and dietary behaviours amongst the Saudi population (Epuru and AlMuqrn ; Bani and Hashim 1999; Khattab, Abolfotouh et al. 1999; Al-Rethaiaa, Fahmy et al. 2010; ALFaris, Al-Tamimi et al. 2015). However, the vast majority of these studies did not assess the influencing factors on food choices and dietary behaviour. Several psychosocial factors such as attitude toward behaviour (ATT), social norms (SN), perceived behavioural control (PBC) and actual barriers to behaviour (ABB) have lead to the foundation of a behavioural intention to engage (or not) with certain behaviour. These factors can be estimated using the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) (Ajzen 1988; Ajzen 1991), a model frequently used to examine factors influencing behaviours and behavioural intentions (Ajzen 1991; Conner and Sparks 2005).

The study hypothesis is that lack of knowledge about nutritional balanced diet is a significant barrier affecting intention toward adopting a nutritionally balance diet. Thus, this study aims to answer the following research questions:

-Are Saudi adults aware of the existing nutrition and health guidelines and does their awareness best predict best the psychosocial constructs to eat a nutritionally balanced diet?

-Is nutritional knowledge the best predictor of intention to eat a nutritionally balanced diet among the psychosocial constructs using TPB?

8.2 Methodology and materials

8.2.1 Population

A cross-sectional study was conducted on a sample of Saudi men and women aged 18 years and older. No expatriates were included in this study. Participants were recruited via advertising on social media (Twitter and Facebook) and by snowball recruitment, in December 2015 and January 2016. The sample size of the study was calculated based on the records of the 2010 census (Ministry of Economy and Planning 2010). In a total of 13,226,393 Saudi adults in SA aged 18 years and over (6,521,284 women and 6,705,109 men), with absolute precision on either side of the proportion (the margin of error) 0.05 (5%), 95% confidence interval and variance in population 0.5 (50% - having sufficient nutritional knowledge), study calculations resulted in a sample size of 384 individuals (Lwanga S and S 1991; CRS 2015). Based on pretesting sample, the completion rate of the questionnaire was 42% (Section 3.2.4). Therefore, the final sample size is 1090 which is able to represent the Saudi population.

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants provided online informed consent to participate in the study. All procedures were approved by the University of Glasgow, College of Medicine, Veterinary Medicine and Life Sciences (MVLS) Ethics Committee.

8.2.2 Demographic characteristics

Items were included in the questionnaire (Appendix 6) to assess the socio-demographic and personal characteristics of the participants (e.g., age, gender, monthly income, occupational status, education level, marital status and living status (Section 1).

Demographic data collected included

- Age (divided into two categories: \leq 45 and >45 years)
- Sex (male and female)
- Marital status (never married, married, divorced, and widowed

- Educational status: (low (secondary school or below), medium (college or bachelor degree) and high (master degree or higher))

- Occupational status (employees, students, stay at home, unemployed or retired)

- Health insurance (covered or not covered)

- Socio-economic status score based on participants education (low, medium and high) and monthly individual income (low (\leq 3,500 SR), medium (>3,500 SR and < 8,500 SR) and high (\geq 8,500 SR), generating a score of 1, 2 or 3).

Socioeconomic status scores, ranging from 2 to 6, were categorised as low (2-3), medium (4-5) and high (6) base on previous studies conducted in SA (Al-Numair 2006). Participants were also divided to three categories: low education level (secondary and less); high education level (college or higher) with medical background (participants with secondary or less education and with medical background were included); and high education level (college or higher) without medical background. More details of questionnaire items are in Appendix 6.

8.2.3 Factors influencing food choice, and the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB)

The questionnaire items (Appendix 6) used were based on the TPB assessing: attitudes towards behaviour (ATT), subjective norms (SN), perceived behavioural control (PBC), knowledge as actual barriers to behaviour (ABB), and socio-demographic and personal factors which may influence the intention of population toward adopting a nutritionally balanced diet. More details of questionnaire items are in Appendix 6.

The five main constructs proposed to predict these factors were included in the questionnaire, as summarised in Table 8.3-4. Unipolar five-points Likert scales (+1 to +5) were used to answer survey questions, with answers including "strongly agree", "agree", "neutral", "disagree", or "strongly disagree". Positively scaled questions' responses were coded from 1 to 5 (strongly disagree to strongly agree) and for negatively scaled questions' responses were coded from 5 to 1 (strongly disagree to strongly agree).

ATT was assessed using 14 different belief items. The scale includes statements regarding the health benefits, body appearance change, taste, nutrient value, and cost of nutritionally balanced diets (Table 8.3-4, Section 2).

SN was assessed using 13 items consisting of statements concerning the perceived beliefs of family members, friends, doctors, culture, official resources, and newspapers, magazines and TV programs (Table 8.3-4, Section 3).

PBC was assessed using 12 control beliefs regarding statements about time, cost and taste of a balanced diet, food preferences, having a balanced diet, availability of a balanced diet at work, consuming a balanced diet when busy or when away from home, and family sharing effects (Table 8.3-4, Section 4).

The participants' knowledge regarding a nutritionally balanced diet was assessed as ABB using 25 items (Table 8.3-4, Section 5). Participants' knowledge was assessed regarding: fruits, vegetables, fish (white vs. oily), fat, sugar, salt, healthy weight and low salt diet vs. chronic diseases, fizzy drinks, tea and coffee vs. water, and monosodium glutamate (MSG) and sea salt vs. table salt (true / false / not sure and open questions). Knowledge items scored as follows: correct response=1; incorrect response=0; not sure =0. The not sure / do not know category was included to overcome bias from guessing based on previous research (Parmenter and Wardle 1999).

Items from the knowledge section (ABB) evaluated three domains: (a) knowledge about consumption of nutritionally balanced diet and its relation to NCDs; (b) knowledge about nutritionally balanced diet recommendations; and (c) knowledge about nutritionally balanced diet content. Knowledge assessment questions were developed based on the Saudi national guidelines ("Dietary Guidelines for Saudis: Healthy Food Palm" in 2012 (MOH 2012) and "Diet and Physical Activity Strategy (DPAS)" in 2014 (MOH 2014).

Finally, intention to eat a nutritionally balance diet was assessed using four items (Table 8.3-4, Section 6).

8.2.4 Questionnaire pre-testing

The first version of the questionnaire was tested among 40 Saudi students aged 18-59 years old living in the city of Glasgow, United Kingdom and Saudi citizens living in Riyadh city, Saudi Arabia. Participants in the pretest were similar to those who were included in the actual survey. Each subject was asked to answer all questions provided. The participants were instructed to report on the following: questions difficulty, ambiguity, and time taken to fill in the questionnaire. The mean time taken was 29 minutes (SD \pm 12 minutes). The completion rate of the participants was also assessed (42%) (Quigley 1997; Teufel 1997; O'Leary 2005; SA McNaughton 2005; Malhotra 2006; McNaughton 2007). The completion rate was 42%.

8.2.5 Population awareness of nutrition and health guidelines and its related factors

Population awareness of nutritional information sources such as the "Healthy Food Palm" (MOH 2012) and the "Diet and Physical Activity Strategy" (MOH 2014) were assessed by asking them the following:

"Have you heard about or read the following guidelines?

- (1) Dietary Guidelines for Saudis: "Healthy Food Palm"
- (2) Diet and Physical Activity strategy (DPAS)
- (3) Other guidelines such as Eat Well Plate or Food Guide Pyramid etc;

If yes, are you following any one of them and what is your opinion about it/them?"

Each participant was also asked about perceptions towards existing governmental policies and guidelines designed to promote health through diet, foods and physical activity in SA. As the current guidelines used by the government are fairly recent, the participants were also asked about the UK "Eat Well Plate" (FSA 2013) and US "Food Guide Pyramid" (USDA 2005). The term "nutritionally balanced diet or healthy eating" has been defined in this study as being a diet low in fat and salt, and high in fruit and vegetable, based on current dietary recommendations.

8.2.6 Perceived usual diet, dietary supplements use, health, physical activity, smoking status, and anthropometric measurements

Participants were asked to report their usual diet, vitamin, mineral or other nutritional supplements intake (alongside with a rationale for intake), physical activity status (fairly inactive, moderately active, or very active), smoking (never, past or current). Participants also reported on their current health status and medical conditions or illnesses lasting or expected to last for 12 months or more. Options of 12 common chronic diseases were available, with opportunity to report any other diseases diagnosed by healthcare professionals. Similarly, participants reported on medical conditions or illnesses lasting or expected to last for 12 months or more for close family members.

Participants were asked whether they knew their anthropometric measurements or not, and asked to report their weight (kg), height (cm), waist circumference (WC, cm) and hip circumferences (HC, cm). BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters (WHO 2014). For more details on anthropometry definitions, refer to **Chapter 5 section 5.2.2.2**.

8.2.7 Statistical analysis

Continuous variables of body composition were shown as median and interquartile range (IQR) using descriptive statistics. Mann-Whitney and Kruskal-Wallis H tests were used to determine differences between continuous and ordinal variables. Descriptive statistics were used to examine socio-demographic characteristics and study variables. The Chi-Squared (χ^2) test was used to determine differences in proportions among categorical variables.

Multiple and linear regression analyses was used to determine whether ATT, SN, PBC and knowledge variables predict the participants' intentions toward nutritionally balanced diet.

Multiple regression analysis was used to determine whether external variables predict the influencing factors (ATT, SN, PBC and knowledge). External variables including age, gender, socio-economic status, family members (no.), children (no.), care of elder person, BMI, physical activity (PAL), medical background, being outside SA more than 3 months, grocery shopper, smoking, having a chronic illness, and being aware of health and nutrition policies were included into the model as they were potentially related to these influencing factors (ATT, SN, PBC and knowledge).

The Cronbach α test was performed to assess internal consistency (index of intra-item homogeneity) (Cronbach 1951; Santos 1999). The Cronbach α varies between 0 and 1 and the higher the value is considered to be more reliable. If the Cronbach α scores between 0.61–0.80, indicate a substantial reliability and if the scores between 0.81-1.0, indicate an almost perfect reliability (Streiner, Norman et al. 2014). Furthermore, the difficulties of knowledge item were evaluated as suggested by Streiner and Norman (Streiner, Norman et al. 2014). The percentage of correct answers for each item was calculated. The percentage of correct answers for each item should fall between 20 and 80%. Any item is considered too difficult if the percentage of correct answer less than 20% but if the correct item is more than 80%, it is considered too easy.

8.3 Results

8.3.1.1 Socio-demographic

A total of 1,045 individuals, 466 women (45%) and 579 men (55%), participated in the study. Most were from central (69%) and western (17%) regions of SA. This sample size affords a confidence interval (margin of error) of $\pm 3\%$ for data reported, at the 95% confidence level (CRS 2015). The median age of participants was 33 (IQR 27-40) years and most participants (n=916, 88 %) were younger than 45 years. Most participants (n=540, 52%) fell into the medium level of socioeconomic status and 42% (n=434) of them were insured by a private health insurance company. One third of participants (n=332, 32%) also had a food, nutrition or health education background with n=62 were current students. Most participants were employed (n=683, 65%) and married (n=689, 66%) (Table 8.3-1). Moreover, one third of the participants (n=326, 31%) lived / had lived outside Saudi Arabia for an extended period of time (i.e. three months or more).

	All	Female	Male
Characteristics	(1045)	(n=466)	(n=579)
	n. (%)	n.(%)	n. (%)
Age (year)			
<45	913 (87)	419 (90)	494 (85)
>45	132 (13)	47 (10)	85 (15)
Total	1045	466 (45)	579 (55)
Median Age (IQR)	33 (27- 40)	30 (24-28)	35 (29-40)
Education			
Secondary school or below	151 (15)	88 (19)	63 (11)
College (Diploma) or Bachelors	617 (59)	271 (58)	346 (60)
Master degree or higher	277 (26)	107 (23)	170 (29)
Marital Status			
Never Married	326 (31)	195 (42)	131 (23)
Married	689 (66)	249 (53)	440 (76)
Divorced	27 (2.7)	19 (4)	8 (1)
Widowed	3 (0.3)	3 (1)	0 (0)
Income ^a			
<3,500	262 (25)	217 (47)	45 (8)
3,500- 8,500	174 (17)	77 (16)	97 (17)
>8,500	609 (58)	172 (37)	437 (75)
Occupational status			
Employed	683 (65)	192 (41)	491 (85)
Student	176 (17)	122 (26)	54 (9)
Household (house wife/husband)	103 (10)	103 (22)	0 (0)
Unemployed	48 (4.6)	36 (8)	12 (2)
Retired	35 (3.4)	13 (3)	22 (4)
Socio-economic Status			
Low (2-3)	272 (26)	207 (44)	65 (11)
Medium (4-5)	540 (52)	182 (39)	358 (62)
High (6)	233 (22)	77 (17)	156 (27)
Medical Education background	332 (32)	165 (35)	167 (29)
Grads and medical education background			
(A) Low education level ^{b, c}	134 (13)	75 (16)	59 (10)
(B) High education level with medical education	222 (22)	165(25)	167(20)
background ^d	332 (32)	103 (33)	107 (29)
(C) High education level without medical education	570 (55)	226(40)	252(61)
background ^e	379 (33)	220 (49)	333 (01)
Lived outside SA for 3 months and more	321 (31)	92 (20)	229 (40)

Table 8.3-1: Socio-demographic characteristics of the study participants (n=1045)

IQR: Interquartile range; ^a Individual income in Saudi Riyals (SR) per month; ^b Participants with secondary school or less. ^c Participants with medical education background were moved to "B" category. ^{d, e} Participants with College school or higher.

8.3.1.2 Usual diet, dietary supplements, health, physical activity and smoking status

Over two thirds (68%, n=712) were not following any special diet, with one quarter (n=273) regularly taking vitamin, mineral or other nutritional supplements. Supplement intake did vary between women (n=157, 34%) and men (n=111, 19%) (χ^2 =28.5, p<0.0001). Most (n=747, 72%) agreed that their health status was good in general, and only a quarter (n=226) reported a medical conditions or illnesses lasting or expected to last for 12 months or more (women, n=112, 24%; men n=114, 20%). However, a majority (n=658, 63%) stated that someone close to them had medical conditions or illnesses lasting or expected to last for 12 months or more, with a third experiencing diabetes and hypertension through a person close to them.

Lifestyle factors included a majority being physically inactive (not doing physical activity or walking only, n=628, 60%) with over a third of the male population smoking (versus a minority of women -1%). The overall prevalence of (self-reported) overweight and obesity based on BMI was 63% (35% and 28%, respectively).

8.3.2 Influencing factors in the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) construct

8.3.2.1 Internal consistency of TPB components

The overall internal consistency for ATT, SN, PBC, and intensions towards balanced and healthy diet was valid, with Chronbach's alpha scales ranging between 0.522 and 0.747 (Table 8.3-2 and Table 8.3-4). As such, all construct were included in the analysis. Knowledge items were evaluated in term of difficulty, with five items out of 25 items (20%) identified as too difficult, and seven items (28%) as too easy (Table 8.3-3). External variables, such as age, gender, socio-economic status, number of family members or children, care of elderly person, BMI, PAL, medical background, being outside SA more than 3 months, being the main grocery shopper, smoking, having a chronic illness, and being aware of health and nutrition policies were all included into the model, as they were potentially related to these determinants.

Table 8.3-2: The main TPB constructs and Cronbach α for internal consistency (n=1045).

Constructs Items	Scoring	Questions (no.)	α
Attitude towards behaviour (ATT)	1-5	14	0.678
Subjective norms (SN)	1-5	13	0.649
Perceived behavioural control (PBC)	5-1	12	0.747
Actual barriers to behaviour (ABB)	True/False and open questions	25	0.617
Intentions to change or retain diet	1-5	4	0.522

Table 8.3-3: The percentage of correct answers in knowledge items among the study population (n=1045)

Knowledge questions	Correct
	answers
1. Starchy foods such as bread, cereals, rice, pasta and potatoes should be the main component of a nutritionally balanced diet	42.7
2. What percentage of the food we eat should be made up of starchy foods (e.g.: bread, cereals, rice, pasta, potatoes)	33.3
3. It is more important to eat a wide variety of vegetables than fruits	63.9
4. How many portions of fruit should we eat each day	50.2
5. How many portions of vegetables should we eat each day	38.1
6. Eating white fish is just as important for health as eating oily fish such as salmon	7.8
7. How many portions of fish should we eat each week	29.9
8. How many of these should be oily fish	53.8
9. We should try to eliminate as much fat as possible from our diet	82.1
10. A diet with lots of high sugar foods is ok as long as it is low in calories	80.2
11. What is the maximum recommended intake of sugar for adults, in grams/day	4.8
12. What is the maximum recommended intake of salt for adults, in grams/day	9.7
13. Most of the salt in our diet comes from what is added to food at the table	34.3
14. Most of the salt in our diet comes from what is added to food at the cooking	77.8
15. Most of the salt in our diet comes from processed or canned foods	53.7
16. Sodium is a component of table salt	90.5
17. Fizzy drinks contribute to daily fluid intake just as much as water	93.4
18. Tea and coffee contribute to daily fluid intake just as much as water	82.5
19. Maintaining a healthy weight is important to reduce the risk of developing some types of cancer, high blood sugar and high blood pressure	94.1
20. Reduce or avoid eating food products with a high content of salt and sodium is very important to reduce the risk of developing high blood pressure	92.3
21. Reduce or avoid eating food products with a high content of salt and sodium is very important for reducing the risk of strokes, heart disease and heart attacks.	73.1
22. Monosodium glutamate (Aginamoto-MSG) is considered as a healthy choice to table salt	68.9
23. Sea salt is considered as a healthy choice to table salt	9.7
24. Spices and some flavourings such as lemon are considered as a healthy choice to table salt	77.8
25. Vitamin/mineral supplements are an important part of a healthy diet	19.3

Table 8.3-4: Questions covered in the main TPB constructs, mean scores and standard deviations (sd), and Cronbach's α (n=1045).

Constructs Items	Mean (SD)
Attitude towards behaviour (ATT) (scores 1-5) (α=0.678)	
1. What I eat now plays an important part in reducing my risk of developing chronic diseases in later life (e.g.: cancer, heart disease, diabetes or stroke).	3.9 (1.0)
2. The way I eat can change my well-being in the short term	3.8 (0.98)
3. The way I eat can change my appearance	4.2 (0.90)
4. Changing the way I eat will have an impact on my immediate well-being	4.3 (0.88)
5. Changing the way I eat will reduce my risk of developing chronic diseases in later life	4.2 (0.88)
6. Good health is just a matter of luck (Reverse)	4.3 (0.76)
7. It's important to me to just enjoy my food, regardless of whether it's good for me (Reverse)	3.7 (1.1)
8. It's important to me to eat a broad range of food rich in nutrients and in the correct amounts	4.1 (0.87)
9. The kind of food I eat does not matter, it's just fuel and fills my empty stomach (Reverse)	3.8 (1.1)
10. Being aware of what you eat is only important if you want to lose weight (Reverse)	3.7 (1.3)
11. I'm not sure if I eat a balanced diet with the right nutrients so I take supplements as an insurance (Reverse)	3.5 (1.19)
12. Taking supplements reduces my risk of having a heart attack or stroke (Reverse)	3.2 (1.1)
13. As long as I take supplements, I don't need to worry about what I eat and its effect on my health (Reverse)	4.0 (0.84)
14. I spend as little as possible on food	2.2 (0.95)
Subjective norms (SN) (scores 1-5) ($\alpha=0.649$)	
1. I am interested in reading articles about food and health	3.6(1.0)
2. Watching TV shows about food and health influences the food choices I make	3.6 (0.98)
3. I need to change the way I eat because my nartner/husband/wife is concerned about my health	3.0 (1.10)
4. I take more interest in food and health now that I have children	3.5 (1.1)
5. I take more interest in food and health since someone close to me got ill	3.1 (1.1)
6. I always check nutritional information labels before I buy any food	3.5 (1.2)
7. Information about food and health from official sources influences my food choices (e.g. Department of Health, Saudi FDA, doctor, public health adverts).	4.0 (0.92)
8. Information about food and health in the media influences my food choices (e.g.: magazines, newspapers, online, TV).	3.6 (0.97)
9. When eating out, my choice of food is influenced by nutritional information provided (e.g.; on menus in restaurants and cafes)	3.5 (0.98)
10. When in the supermarket, I will always buy special offers regardless of the nutritional content of the food (Reverse)	3.8 (0.99)
11. I mainly buy from the value brand/essentials ranges (Reverse)	3.9 (0.9)
12. I was brought up to always finish the food on my plate and still do (Reverse)	2.5 (1.2)
13. I'd never use a food bank because of what other people would think of me (Reverse)	3.1 (1.3)

*Continued overleaf

Constructs Items	Mean (SD)
Perceived behavioural control (PBC) (scores 5-1) (α=0.747)	
1. I'd like to pay more attention to food and health but my lifestyle doesn't allow for it (Reverse)	2.3 (1.1)
2. There are no nutritionally balanced options available for lunch when I'm at work (Reverse)	2.2 (1.1)
3. I don't have time to eat a nutritionally balanced diet, I just "grab and go" (Reverse)	3.2 (1.2)
4. Nutritionally balanced foods are so much more expensive (Reverse)	2.6 (1.2)
5. I like my food too much to worry about food and health (Reverse)	2.6 (1.1)
6. Nutritionally balanced food is boring and tasteless (Reverse)	3.3 (1.2)
7. There are no nutritionally balanced options available when I eat out (Reverse)	2.5 (1.1)
8. I go through phases of eating a nutritionally balanced diet and then I give in to temptation (Reverse)	3.0 (1.1)
9. I can only eat a nutritionally balanced diet when I want to lose weight (Reverse)	2.2 (0.96)
10. I can't say no to my children when they want to eat snacks between meals (Reverse)	2.8 (1.1)
11. I usually finish what my child/children leave on their plate(s) (Reverse)	3.3 (1.1)
12. If my partner/friends/children are having dessert, I usually have one too, even if I'm full (Reverse)	3.0 (1.2)
Knowledge = Actual barriers to behaviour (ABB) (True/False and open questions) (α=0.617)	
1. Starchy foods such as bread, cereals, rice, pasta and potatoes should be the main component of a nutritionally balanced diet (b)	0.43 (0.49)
2. What percentage of the food we eat should be made up of starchy foods (e.g.: bread, cereals, rice, pasta, potatoes) (b)	0.33 (0.47)
3. It is more important to eat a wide variety of vegetables than fruits (b)	0.64 (0.48)
4. How many portions of fruit should we eat each day (b)	0.50 (0.50)
5. How many portions of vegetables should we eat each day (b)	0.38 (0.49)
6. Eating white fish is just as important for health as eating oily fish such as salmon (b)	0.08 (0.27)
7. How many portions of fish should we eat each week (b)	0.30 (0.46)
8. How many of these should be oily fish (b)	0.54 (0.50)
9. We should try to eliminate as much fat as possible from our diet (b)	0.82 (0.38)
10. A diet with lots of high sugar foods is ok as long as it is low in calories (c)	0.80 (0.40)
11. What is the maximum recommended intake of sugar for adults, in grams/day (b)	0.05 (0.21)
12. What is the maximum recommended intake of salt for adults, in grams/day (b)	0.10 (0.30)
13. Most of the salt in our diet comes from what is added to food at the table (c)	0.34 (0.47)
14. Most of the salt in our diet comes from what is added to food at the cooking (c)	0.78 (0.42)
15. Most of the salt in our diet comes from processed or canned foods (c)	0.54 (0.50)

*Continued overleaf

0.91(0.29) 0.93(0.25)
0.93(0.25)
0.75(0.25)
0.82 (0.38)
0.94 (0.24)
0.92 (0.27)
0.73 (0.44)
0.69 (0.46)
0.10 (0.30)
0.78 (0.42)
0.19 (0.40)
3.0 (1.1)
3.6 (1.1)
3.9 (0.94)
3.1 (1.0)
_

(b) Knowledge about nutritionally balanced diet recommendations; and(c) Knowledge about nutritionally balanced diet content.

8.3.2.2 Impact of external determinants on the TPB constructs

Fifty-eight percent (n=608/1041) scored high on ATT toward nutritionally balanced diet. Only 37% (n=390/1043) scored high on SN toward nutritionally balanced diet. Only 9% (n=91/1042) scored high on PBC toward nutritionally balanced diet. Knowledge as a barrier was identified in 60% (n=623/1045) who answered less than 15 out of 25 knowledge questions correctly (score below 60%). Nearly half of the population (49%, n=511/1042) scored high on intention to adopt a more nutritionally balanced diet (Table 8.3-5).

TPB Construct ^a	Median (IQR)	Minimum-Maximum ^b	
ATT	50 (45-55)	21-66	
SN	44 (39-48)	1-60	
PBC	31 (26-36)	7-54	
ABB = Knowledge	14 (12-16)	0-21	
Intention	13 (12-15)	1-20	
^a As sum of each TPB Construct.			

Table 8.3-5: Median and Interquartile range (IQR) for each construct for the study sample by gender (n=1045).

^b for population

IQR: Interquartile range; ATT: Attitude Toward Behaviour; SN: Social Norms; PBC: Perceived Behavioural Control; ABB: Actual Barrier to Behaviour.

Fourteen predictor variables were included in the regression analyses, for each construct; 7 out of 14 predictors influenced ATT: awareness of existing nutrition and health guidelines was the strongest (B=3.53; p<0.0001) whilst BMI was the weakest (B=-0.079; p=0.048). Overall these determinants explained 16% of the variance in ATT towards adopting a balance diet (Table 8.3-6).

Seven factors out of 14 influenced SN. Awareness was also the strongest predictor of SN (B=2.1; p=0.001) whilst age was the weakest (B=0.09; p=0.024). Overall these determinants explained 14% of the variance in SN towards balance diet.

Seven factors out of 14 influenced PBC. Physical activity was the strongest predictor of PBC (B=2.2; p<0.0001) whilst age was the weakest predictor (B=0.18; p<0.0001); and the

overall these determinants explained 19% of the variance in PBC towards balance diet (Table 8.3-6 and Figure 8.3-1).

Seven factors out of 14 influenced Knowledge. Awareness was also the strongest predictor of knowledge (B=1.6; p=0.018) whilst BMI was the weakest predictor (B=0.034; p=0.024); and the overall these determinants explained 19% of the variance in knowledge towards balance diet (Table 8.3-6 and Figure 8.3-1). The above finding shows that the awareness of existing nutrition and health guidelines was the most motivational factor on the population to take up a more nutritionally balanced diet by having high positive self-performance to perform the behaviours (ATT), by perceived social pressure to engage in the behaviour (SN), and by nutritional knowledge (ABB).

	ATT (R-Square=0.157) ^{a}			$SN(R-Square=0.136)^{b}$			PB	C (R-Squar	$e=0.193)^{c}$	ABB (R-Square=0.191) d			
Variable	В	P-value	СІ	В	P-value	СІ	В	P-value	CI	В	P-value	СІ	
Age (years)	0.082	0.056	(-0.002-0.17)	0.085	0.024	0.01-0.32	0.175	< 0.0001	0.10-0.25	0.01	0.512	(-0.021-0.042)	
Gender (0=F & 1=M)	-1.121	0.072	(-2.34-0.10)	-0.751	0.170	(-1.83-0.32)	-2.095	< 0.0001	(-3.191.00)	-1.05	< 0.0001	(-1.500.60)	
Socio-economic Level	0.598	0.177	(-0.27-1.47)	-0.299	0.442	(-1.06-0.46)	0.086	0.828	(-0.69-0.87)	-0.084	0.611	(-0.41-0.24)	
Family Member	-0.234	0.344	(-0.72-0.25)	-0.934	< 0.0001	(-1.360.51)	-0.095	0.670	(-0.53-0.34)	-0.189	0.040	(-0.370.01)	
Children number	-0.493	0.213	(-1.27-0.28)	0.909	0.009	0.23-1.59	0.771	0.030	0.07-1.47	0.483	0.001	0.19-0.77	
Care of elder (0=No & 1=Yes)	-1.23	0.037	(-2.380.08)	0.034	0.947	(-0.98-1.05)	-0.862	0.103	(-1.90-0.17)	-0.003	0.989	(-0.43-0.43)	
BMI (kg/m ²)	-0.079	0.048	(-0.160.001)	-0.034	0.340	(-0.10-0.04)	-0.199	< 0.0001	(-0.270.13)	0.034	0.024	0.004-0.063	
Physical activity level	1.72	< 0.0001	1.01-2.43	1.302	< 0.0001	0.68-1.93	2.223	< 0.0001	1.59-2.86	0.358	0.008	0.09-0.62	
Medical Background	2.286	< 0.0001	1.11-3.46	1.377	0.009	0.35-2.41	0.993	0.064	(-0.06-2.05)	1.273	< 0.0001	0.84-1.71	
Outside SA	0.751	0.198	(-0.39-1.90)	-0.827	0.107	(-1.83-0.18)	1.177	0.025	0.15-2.21	-0.299	0.169	(-0.72-0.13)	
Grocery shopper	1.685	0.006	0.48-2.90	1.701	0.002	0.64-2.76	1.016	0.066	(-0.07-2.10)	-0.062	0.788	(-0.51-0.39)	
Smoker	-1.664	0.015	(-3.010.32)	-1.05	0.081	(-2.23-0.13)	-0.654	0.289	(-1.86-0.56)	-0.443	0.082	(-0.94-0.06)	
Chronic Diseases	-0.855	0.166	(-2.06-0.35)	-0.573	0.290	(-1.64-0.49)	-0.553	0.318	(-1.64-0.53)	-0.221	0.335	(-0.67-0.23)	
Awareness	3.532	< 0.0001	2.16-4.90	2.088	0.001	0.89-3.29	1.481	0.018	0.25-2.71	1.595	< 0.0001	1.09-2.10	

Table 8.3-6: Multiple regression analyses of external factors onto TPB components (n=1042)

*Value was significant (p<0.05).

B: regression coefficient; CI: confidence interval; SE=standard error; ATT: Attitude Toward Behaviour; SN: Social Norms; PBC: Perceived Behavioural Control; ABB: Actual Barrier to Behaviour; BMI: Body mass index; External variables: age, gender, socio-economic status, family members (no.), children (no.), care of elder person, BMI, PAL, medical background, being outside SA more than 3 months, grocery shopper, smoking, having a chronic illness, and being aware of health and nutrition policies.

^a Dependent variable: ATT; and Independent variables: the External variables

^b Dependent variable: SN; and Independent variables: the External variables

^c Dependent variable: PBC; and Independent variables: the External variables

^d Dependent variable: knowledge; and Independent variables: the External variables.
8.3.2.3 Impact of the TPB constructs on intention

Intention towards a balanced diet was predicted by all four constructs (ATT, SN, PBC and Knowledge), and SN toward adopting a balanced diet was the strongest predictor of participants' intention to adopt a balanced diet (B=0.111; p<0.0001) whilst PCB was the weakest predictor (B=0.026; p=0.028). Overall these determinants explained 25% of the variance in intention towards balance diet (Table 8.3-7 and Figure 8.3-1).

Variable SE **R-Square** В Beta t-value P-value* CI ATT 0.091 0.011 0.248 7.957 < 0.0001 0.069-0.114 SN 0.111 0.013 0.262 8.503 < 0.00010.086-0.137 0.246 PBC 0.026 0.012 0.065 2.198 0.028 0.003-0.049 ABB = Knowledge 0.083 0.028 0.087 2.976 0.003 0.028-0.137

Table 8.3-7: Multiple regression analyses of TPB components onto intentions among study population (n=1,042)

*Value was significant (p<0.05).

B: regression coefficient; CI: confidence interval; SE=standard error; ATT: Attitude toward behaviour; SN: Social Norms; PBC: Perceived Behavioural Control; ABB: Actual Barrier to Behaviour; BMI: Body mass index. Dependent variable: Intention

Independent variables: ATT, SN, PBC and Knowledge.



Figure 8.3-1: Path analysis for intentions toward balanced diet for study population (n=1042)

Note: -The colour of the numbers in level 1 matching the colour of construct in level 2

- The colour of number in level 2 matching the colour of intention in level 3
- The numbers are based on ranking of predictors based on beta using multiple regression analyses

8.3.2.4 Population awareness of nutrition and health guidelines and related factors

Only a minority (n=203, 19%) were aware of any (local/ foreign) nutrition & health guidelines (25% women, 15% men). Half of those aware (n=113/203, 56%) were aware of Saudi guidelines (Healthy Food Palm or DPAS) and/ or foreign guidance and 44% (n=90/203) were aware of non-Saudi guidelines ("Eat Well Plate" or "Food Guide Pyramid") only.

Nutrition and health guidelines awareness was higher in those with a medical/ nutrition education than those without medical/ nutrition education (71%, n=144/203, χ^2 =178.3, p<0.001) with no difference between genders. Awareness did not differ between those who had lived outside SA for 3 months or more (21%, n=66/321) and those who never left SA (19%, n=137/724) (χ^2 =0.381, p=0.537), even when considering students who had never left SA (24%, n=30/125) or those who had lived outside SA for 3 months or more (22%, n=11/51) (χ^2 =0.120, p=0.729).

8.4 Discussion

The population in this study can be compared to the adult population Saudi census in 2010 (Ministry of Economy and Planning 2010). The study population was more educated (60% with a degree) compared to 37% of Saudi adults in the Saudi census of 2010 (Ministry of Economy and Planning 2010). With 1,045 participants, this study has a sample size larger than previous studies to assess the relationship between the study variables accurately (Povey, Conner et al. 2000; Psouni, Chasandra et al. 2016). The Cronbach α analysis was used to assess the internal consistency of the items in each TPB component. The analysis indicated an acceptable reliability of the TPB construct except for intention which is poor: 0.52. However, this item was not excluded, as it is testing an important feature explaining potential adoption of a balanced diet.

Results in this chapter highlight that the awareness and knowledge regarding nutrition and health guidelines are playing an important role in motivating SA people to take-up a more nutritionally balanced diet. In the same time, only 45% of the study subjects are

knowledgeable and very few (19%) are aware of any (local/ foreign) nutrition and health guidelines.

3.3.1 TPB model and intention towards adopting a nutritionally balanced diet

As discussed in Chapter 1, most of the Saudi population does not meet dietary guidelines proposed by national or global organizations (Section 1.1), leading to an increased prevalence of NCDs such as T2DM and CVDs. Promoting a nutritionally balanced diet including high fruit and vegetable intake was demonstrated to be effective. TPB is one of the models representing these interventions successfully (Ball, Jeffery et al. 2010; Brouwer and Mosack 2015).

This study shows that all TPB constructs positively predicted intention towards adopting a nutritionally balanced diet. ATT (having high positive self-performance to perform the behaviours), SN (perceived social pressure to engage in the behaviour), and PBC (perceived ease or difficulty of engaging in the behaviour) predicted intention positively. The current study found also that the SN toward balanced diet is the strongest predictor of participants' intension to eat a balanced diet (B=0.111; p<0.0001) whilst PCB was the weakest predictor (B=0.026; p=0.028) which means that the intention of a population is mostly affected by the social pressure - such as the concern of the participants' partner/ husband/ wife regarding his/ her health as well as the negative influence of mass media on the person's intention. These results are in agreement with several studies (Ball, Jeffery et al. 2010; McEachan, Conner et al. 2011; Kothe, Mullan et al. 2012; Brouwer and Mosack 2015; McDermott, Oliver et al. 2015).

The results in this study are also consistent with two recent meta-analyses (42 journal articles and four unpublished dissertations) and systematic reviews (McEachan, Conner et al. 2011; McDermott, Oliver et al. 2015). McDermott et al. found that TPB variables (ATT, SN and PBC) had medium to large associations both with intention and discrete food choice behaviour using intervention studies. The ATT had the strongest correlation with intention toward healthy eating (r = 0.54) followed by PCB (r = 0.42) and SN (r = 0.37) while r is the random effects average correlation (p<0.001). McEchan et al. found that prospective tests of the TPB model provided strong predictions of intention and

dietary behaviour across a range of health-related behaviours including healthy eating. The authors found that the ATT toward healthy eating had the strongest association with intention (variance: 33.1%), followed by PBC (17.9%) and SN (11.2%). Also, the latter study found that the dietary behaviour was strongly predicted by ATT (23.5%) followed by SN (16.0%), PBC (15.7%) and intention (14.2%).

The variance in the current study was the percentage variance in true score correlation attributable to statistical artefacts. SN and ATT toward healthy food were positively associated with intention toward healthy food consumption among 115 elderly residents Assisted-Living Facilities in Kansas, USA (Liu and Kwon 2013). Kothe et al. conducted an intervention called Fresh Facts intervention, based on the TPB model, to increase fruit and vegetable consumption through email-delivered messages among university students (Kothe, Mullan et al. 2012). The authors found that intention is the most proximal predictor of behaviour; and intention in turn was predicted by three constructs, ATT (evaluation of the behaviour and its expected outcomes), SN (perceived social pressure to engage in the behaviour), and PBC (perceived ease or difficulty of engaging in the behaviour).

8.4.1 Awareness, knowledge and intention towards nutritionally balanced diet

Nutritional knowledge is one of the main influential factors to improve behaviour of healthy eating and lifestyle towards health and overall wellbeing (McCullough, Feskanich et al. 2002). Nutritional knowledge has been related to making more healthful choices; and increased knowledge of dietary guidance has been found to be positively related to more healthy eating behaviours among college students (Kolodinsky, Harvey-Berino et al. 2007).

This study shows that very few SA adults (19%) were aware of any (local/ foreign) nutrition and health guidelines, with women more aware than men. The multiple regression analyses shows that among the external factors the awareness regarding nutrition and health guidelines was the strongest predictor of ATT, SN and knowledge (Figure 8.3-1). As show in previous section that knowledge predicts intention positively.

The results are consistent with existing findings in SA on fruits and vegetables. One crosssectional study (n=151) conducted among Saudi women in the western part of SA, aimed to explore the influential factors on fruits and vegetables intake including nutritional knowledge, food preferences, and intention to change these preferences (Bakhotmah 2012). Most (85%) intended to increase their fruit and vegetables consumption. Unfortunately, the author did not assess the relationship between the intention of changing behaviour and nutritional knowledge. Al-Otaibi (2014) found that university students consuming \geq 5 servings/day of fruit and vegetables in east part of SA (n=960) were more knowledgeable about the fruit and vegetable recommended levels (P<0.001). However, the author found that knowledge regarding fruit and vegetables was not a predictor for reaching recommended intake in this population. These findings may be due to different factors. Firstly, this study was conducted only among young adult women who are not usually exposed to health and nutrition education at school or university, except those in medical or health schools. Second, the dietary habits of university student may represent the eating habits in the university campus only where there is a standardised environment.

The study presented in this chapter highlights that the Saudi population is not sufficiently exposed to the current local guidelines regarding health and nutrition. This could be the result of the education curriculum in SA not including any information regarding health and nutrition promotion, and nutrition-related disease prevention. It highlights that the awareness regarding nutrition and health guidelines may play an important role in motivating SA people to take up a more nutritionally balanced diet as it is the strongest predictor of TPB construct. It also highlights that the stakeholders in SA, especially the Ministry of Health, may be using ineffective channels to convey their health and nutrition messages. Moreover, the research highlights that nutritional knowledge may have significant impact on the population intention toward adopting a nutritionally balanced diet and in turn to take up more nutritionally balanced behaviours. Social pressure may have strong impact on the population's intention. More depth studies are needed including prospective studies to assess the association between these influential factors and behaviour.

Povey et al. (2000) found in a prospective study in the UK (n=235) that perceived social support could act as a moderator variable on the relationship between perceived

behavioural control and intention, as well as the relationship between attitude and intention, by (Povey, Conner et al. 2000). Social support "describes the comfort, assistance, and/ or information one receives through formal and informal contacts with individuals or groups" (Courneya and McAuley 1995; Kelsey, Kirkley et al. 1996). Therefore, social support such as nutritional education needs to improve the community intention towards healthy and balanced diet. The previous study supports the study findings that knowledge has strong impact on the population intention toward nutritionally balanced diet.

8.4.2 Strengths and limitations

The number of participants in this study (n=1045) is sufficient since it affords a confidence interval (margin of error) of $\pm 3\%$ for data reported, at the 95% confidence level (CRS 2015). However, the generalizability of the study is limited by the fact that nearly one third of the study population (n=332) had a medical education background (food, nutrition or health education) which may affect the representation of the general population. The study sample from online survey may not be representative for the larger population of adults in Saudi Arabia, especially with illiterate people or ones who do not use internet or social media. However, the prevalence of illiteracy in SA is only 14% based on Saudi census in 2010 (Ministry of Economy and Planning 2010). Internet use in SA has increased from 13% of the total population (3 million) in 2005 to 64% (19.6 million) in 2014 (Al-Tawil 2001; Al-Saggaf 2004; CITC 2014). Simsim MT in 2010 found that 93% of people aged 19 to 25 years, and 70% of people older than 45 years, were using the internet (Simsim 2011). Therefore, this study could be conducted using online resources and social media tools targeting the Saudi Arabian population.

The TPB model is the preferred model to assess the psychosocial model to predict behaviours. Guillaumie et al. (2010) investigated the efficacy of different psychosocial models such as TPB, Social Cognitive Theory, the health belief model, and multicomponent approach combining several theories in predicting fruit and vegetable consumption (Guillaumie, Godin et al. 2010). The authors reported that the TPB is the preferable model to predict fruit and vegetable consumption in adults as it has the highest Random-Effect ($R^2 = 0.45$) among these models. The Random-Effect was calculated for the prediction of behaviour and intention in relation with fruit and vegetables intake, fruits

intake only, and vegetable intake only based on adjusted R^2 from different studies. It should be acknowledged that there are several barriers (ABB) that may influence intention but that only knowledge was chosen as a barrier. Other barriers can control behaviour such as lack of time or costs (Conner and Sparks 2005). Moreover, the TPB model (along with other social cognition models on behavioural change) cannot fully explain all variances in intention or behaviour. It can be seen that the TPB construct explained only 25% of the variance in intention towards adopting a balanced diet.

Participants were required to spend approximately 25 minutes to fill the study questionnaire which represents a significant burden, and may bias the respondent pool. Unfortunately, it was not possible to count the response rate in this study to know how many withdrew before completion. Also, this study did not assessed the usual dietary intake of the study population since it would increase their burden. However, information on people behaviour is very important because the population intention is not reperesenting the real practice. Therefore, future research should include the usual dietary intake to complete the TPB model and assess the influential impact of intention on real behaviour (dietary intake). Finally, body measurements and physical activity in this study were self-reported. It is possible that some participants were not willing to share their body measurements or did not know them. So, these results could be under or overestimated. Future studies should overcome these issues by performing a physical measurement instead of reporting.

8.5 Conclusion

Acknowledging the cross-sectional study design, very few SA adults are exposed to health and nutrition advice through the national nutrition and health guidelines. Awareness regarding nutrition and health guidelines may play an important role in motivate SA people to take up a more nutritionally balanced diet as it is the strongest predictor of TPB construct. The perceived social pressure to engage in behaviour toward a more nutritionally balanced diet (SN) may have an impact on population intention it was the strongest predictor of participants' intention. Overall, a focus on nutrition and health education interventions may benefit the Saudi population. However, more work is required on the impact of education of uptake of new behaviours and their maintenance in time. The results of this study should be useful to design interventions to promote a more balanced diet in the Saudi population. These finding urge the stakeholders and policy makers in SA, especially the Ministry of Health and Ministry of Education, to update their awareness strategies and evaluate the channels used to convey the health and wellbeing messages in SA. In future research, more barriers influencing the population intention toward nutritionally balanced diet such as lack of time and cost should be investigated and tested in the TPB model. Future research should include data on usual dietary intake to complete the TPB model assessment.

Chapter nine

General discussion and implications for stakeholders

This thesis has focused on prevention and management of NCDs in Saudi Arabia (SA), with special emphasis on salt intake, body composition and nutritional knowledge / awareness. The last decade has witnessed a significant increase in NCDs, mainly attributable to behavioural and environmental factors. These factors include decreased physical activity, alcohol overuse, exposure to tobacco smoke, and poor diet including high salt and energy intake and low intake of fruit and vegetables (Lim, Vos et al. 2013; Johnson, Raj et al. 2015). While diet, adiposity and low muscle mass are important contributors for NCDs, there are a very limited number of in-depth studies focusing on body composition, diet and nutrition in SA. The steep population increase in SA (~75% in just over 10 years) and a young population (60% aged under 30) implies that the burden of NCDs will increase significantly in few years (Ministry of Economy and Planning 2010). Therefore, there is an urgent need for assessment of data to inform future public health intervention and long term risk management.

9.1 Research questions

This section summarises the Research Questions raised following the introduction and general methodology chapter (Chapter 2), and outlines the answers provided in this thesis.

Is a Saudi-specific food frequency questionnaire a reliable and valid tool to assess salt intake? (Chapter 3)

The relationship between chronic high salt intake and CVDs is well established (Elliott, Stamler et al. 1996; Lewington, Clarke et al. 2002; Gu, Young et al. 2009; Soga and Pandey 2011), and so the benefits of reducing salt intake on prevention of CVDs (He and MacGregor 2002; He, Li et al. 2013; Cook, Appel et al. 2014). However, salt intake has not been assessed in SA, nor have the main dietary sources of salt. The culture-specific aspects of the diet imply that a local assessment is required to provide relevant information for future interventions.

Chapter 3 showed that the newly developed food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) specifically designed for the SA population had moderate validity. These results are similar or better than previous studies (McKeown, Day et al. 2001; Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015). While no other studies are available to compare, the SA-FFQ also has a high validity coefficient using the Triad / Triangulation method (Yokota, Miyazaki et al. 2010).

The Saudi-FFQ performed well against both urinary salt excretion and 24-HDR for classification of intakes to tertiles, consistently with previous studies (Lassale, Guilbert et al. 2009; Zhuang, Yuan et al. 2012; Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015). Indeed, the Saudi-FFQ classified 83-85% of participants either in the same or adjacent tertile for salt intake against both other methods (urinary or recall). However, same tertile classification was weaker (45-52%).

The weighed Kappa statistic tests indicated fair agreement (0.36-0.37), superior than other studies where Kappa values for salt estimated by FFQ ranged from 0.20 to 0.29 against 24-HDR and from 0.18 to 0.31 against 24-hour urinary excretion (Lassale, Guilbert et al. 2009; Zhuang, Yuan et al. 2012; Gunes, Imeryuz et al. 2015). The lower Kappa statistics could be explained by small sample sizes of these studies.

Considering the moderate bias (2.3 gram) and large limits of agreement (-5.4 - 10.0), the Saudi-FFQ is a method suitable at population level, but remains a compromise over the gold standard 24hr urine collection, which would be impractical in a large population.

This newly developed FFQ is unique as it is designed specifically to the Saudi population as foods are culture-specific (Cade 2002). The Kuwaiti Semi-Quantitative FFQ (Dehghan 2005) was used to design the present study questionnaire. The food list were taken from a single 24h food recall (Al-Nozha M 1996). A dietary analysis database was developed especially to fulfil the objectives of present study using data from the Saudi food composition tables (Al-Nozha M 1996; KFSH&RC 2002).

With a validated FFQ, further questions could be raised regarding the salt intake in the Saudi population, using Riyadh as a sampling unit:

Does salt intake vary with socio-demographic characteristics; is salt intake related to blood pressure intake in SA; and what are the main sources of dietary salt in Saudi Arabia?

Chapter 4 showed that the Riyadh population consumes a high amount of salt (8.7 g/day), higher than the recommended level of salt (>5 g/d for salt). This is in line with previous work among South Indian and UK population (8.5 and 8.1 g/d, respectively) (Radhika, Sathya et al. 2007; Sadler 2012). Very few (18%) in this current study population met the national and WHO recommendation for salt intake (<5 g salt/day) (WHO/FAO 2003;

MOH 2012). Salt intake among Saudi adults is about 0.8–7 g salt/day above current recommendations. These findings are consistent with Trials of Hypertension Prevention (TOHP) findings which revealed that only 10% of subjects were consuming <5.75 g salt/day (Cook, Appel et al. 2014). The global mean salt intake is 10.1g salt/day (95% CI: 9.9 to 10.2) which is nearly twice the WHO recommended limit (<5g salt/day) (Powles, Fahimi et al. 2013). On average, salt intake in East Asia, Central Asia and Eastern Europe (mean >10.5 g/day), and Middle East, Central Europe and North Africa regions (9.8–10.5 g/day) is higher than Western Europe, North America and Australia/New Zealand (8.5 to 9.5 g/day) (Powles, Fahimi et al. 2013). Chapter 4 also outlines a relationship between increase salt intake and systolic blood pressure. These results are in consistent with several cross-sectional studies in India, UK and China, (Elliott, Stamler et al. 1996; Radhika, Sathya et al. 2007; Anderson, Appel et al. 2010). However, when the salt intake adjusted for WC, BMI and age (independently and together), the relationship disappeared. This may be explained by the stronger predictive values of both age and adiposity (Overlack, Ruppert et al. 1995).

This study found also that the main sources of dietary salt came from "vegetables" and unprocessed foods, unlike other countries. Traditionally, people in SA add salt to both green salad and cooked vegetables. The main source of salt other populations are different than the current study as the Chinese diet was added salt during cooking (78%), followed by soy sauce (7%) whereas breads, grains and cereals (34%), followed by red meats, poultry and eggs (20%) were the main sources of salt in the UK (Zhou, Stamler et al. 2003; Anderson, Appel et al. 2010; Batcagan-Abueg, Lee et al. 2013). Li et al. (2015) in found that in a Chinese population that the main source of salt intake was added salt (79%), followed by salty vegetables (14%), soy sauce (3%), MSG (2%) and other sauce (2%) (Li, Qin et al. 2015). However, the Saudi Food Composition Tables (SFCT) included "ready to eat" foods which contain discretionary salt in SFCT analyses (Al-Nozha M 1996) used in the present study. These findings raise a concern regarding the encouragement to increase intake of vegetables without including advice regarding cooking advice, in light of the risk of higher salt intake in SA. It would be worthwhile to consider education strategies towards the use of alternative ingredients or dressings in salad and cooked vegetables.

The current study shows positive increase of salt intake with improving socio-economic levels particularly, with individual income. However, these results are not in agreement with several studies in Japan, UK and Northern Ireland (Purdy, Armstrong et al. 2002; Miyaki, Song et al. 2013; Ji and Cappuccio 2014). Riyadh city is the capital city of SA.

Therefore, the urban context possibly explains the higher wealth than other cities in SA. Data could be as a result of high access to different foods with income increase.

Beside salt intake, a most noticeable feature of the Saudi population is its rising waistline and body mass. As such, the following questions focused on measures of body composition in SA:

Are body composition measures influenced by age and does BMI agree with WC for predicting NCDs; and does SMI represent the muscle mass status in the body?

In Chapter 5, five cross-sectional surveys were merged together to provide a powerful and representative dataset for understanding adiposity in SA. The study shows that ~43% of older people (aged >45) and 14% of the whole SA population have an elevated WC despite a normal BMI (18.5–25). BMI becomes especially weak with increased age, which is a concern in a population with a high forecasted aged population in the next few decades. A quarter of women and a third of men with a large waist (risk 2) would not have been identified as high-risk because they have a BMI <30 kg/m². These finding are with agreement with a study in Scotland and England which found that approximately 41% of older adults with normal BMI (65 years and over, BMI=18.5–25 kg/m²) had a large waist (WC>94cm for men, WC>80cm for women) (Vlassopoulos, Combet et al. 2013). Also, this study in agreement with the Australian Diabetes, Obesity, and Lifestyle (AusDiab) study which indicated that 40% of individuals with BMI<30 kg/m² had a large waist (WC >88cm for females and WC >102cm for males) (Tanamas, Shaw et al. 2014).

The present study also shows that the Saudi population tends to be fatter later in life, with WC rising more persistently than BMI. However, these findings are based on cross-sectional study designs which do not allow for comment on the impact of age on body composition variables. The study observed a positive association between SMI and BMI measures raised a concern regarding the suitable use of these indices in predicting low muscle mass and its related diseases. These results are in line with three cross-sectional studies on Japanese, Korean and US populations as these studies revealed a strong relationship between SMI and BMI (Janssen, Heymsfield et al. 2000; Park and Yoon 2013; Sampaio, Sampaio et al. 2014).

These finding raise a concern regarding the suitable use of SMI in predicting low muscle mass and its related complications. Therefore, further research is required to identify if

body composition measures including adiposity and muscle mass, can predict accurately health metabolic risks in SA (and the appropriate thresholds for these measures). As such, the following question was asked:

Is muscle mass, defined as %SMM, a suitable metric to estimate metabolic disease risk compared to SMI?

Chapter 6 showed that low muscle mass (SMM) is a predictor of metabolic diseases, when SMM is corrected for weight (%SMM). In addition, the corrected SMM for squared height (SMI) was a poor predictor of metabolic diseases. These finding are in agreement with two recent cross-sectional studies (Srikanthan and Karlamangla 2011; Park and Yoon 2013). SMM was estimated using equations included simple anthropometric and demographic measures (Al-Gindan, Hankey et al. 2014) which may raise a concern about using these equations. However, these equations had good prediction power with MRI validation groups (validation: $R^2 = 0.79$, SEE=2.7 kg in men; $R^2 = 0.59$, SEE=2.1 kg in women).

This thesis also assessed the predictive capability of SMI and %SMM using ROC curves (DeLong, DeLong et al. 1988). %SMM had better predictive capability for metabolic diseases compared to SMI (kg/m²) and absolute SMM (kg). New cut-off points for %SMM for metabolic diseases were defined, ranging from 29 to 32% for men and 26 to 28% for women. The median of %SMM in women is 27% (IQR 24-30%) while the median of %SMM in men is 30% (IQR 28-34%).

This study is the first to set up new cut-off points for %SMM using ROC analyses. It also concluded that SMI should not be used as a surrogate measure of muscle mass as it is positively correlating with adiposity measures and positively predicting metabolic risks. While muscle mass was defined using an equation and simple anthropometric measures, these may not always be available depending on the epidemiological survey. As such, this study focused on BMI and WC and their predictive value in the context of metabolic diseases:

Is BMI alone or a combination of BMI and WC the better metric to estimate the likelihood of having metabolic diseases?

Chapter 7 shows that combining WC and BMI does not improve their value as predictors of metabolic diseases. This is in agreement with other two studies as both studies assessed performance of BMI in predicting metabolic diseases before and after adding WC in the prediction model (Janssen, Katzmarzyk et al. 2004; Lee, Huxley et al. 2008). Both studies found that adding WC to BMI does not improve their value as predictors of metabolic diseases.

The predictive value of BMI, WC, WHR and WHtR was assessed using ROC curves analyses (DeLong, DeLong et al. 1988). WC is the best overall predictor of metabolic diseases, whereas waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) performed nearly as well as WC. These finding are in agreement with several studies in the Arab region (Bouguerra, Alberti et al. 2007; Bener, Yousafzai et al. 2013; El Din, Zaki et al. 2014; Assaad-Khalil, Mikhail et al. 2015) and two multi-ethic meta-analysis studies in 2008 (Lee, Huxley et al. 2008; Nyamdorj 2008). These studies found that WC is the superior measure in prediction metabolic disease as WC has the highest AUC values.

This thesis suggests new cut-off points for WC in Saudi, in the context of metabolic diseases. The new cut-off points for WC range between 90 to 92 cm for women and 94 to 99 cm for men. When comparing these with WC cut-off points defined for other Arab populations using ROC, they appear relatively similar to those in Egypt, Lebanon and Qatar (88 to 91 cm for women and 95.5 to 102 cm for men) (Chedid, Gannagé-Yared et al. 2009; Bener, Yousafzai et al. 2013; El Din, Zaki et al. 2014). These new cut-offs are different than the Caucasian and Asian WC cut-offs. The newly developed WC cut-offs for Asian men and women (90 and 80 cm, respectively). The newly developed WC cut-off for women are higher than the cut-offs for Caucasian women (88 cm); and WC cut-off for men are lower than the cut-offs for Caucasian men (102 cm). However, these new cut-offs need to be validated using prospective study and accurate imaging techniques such as MRI or CT scan.

With a median BMI at 29 (kg/m^2) in women and 27 (kg/m^2) in men, and an increasing prevalence of obesity, there is concern that the Saudi population is not aware of nutrition guidelines, or not able to implement changes required. As such, the following question was asked:

Are Saudi adults aware of the existing nutrition and health guidelines and does their awareness best predict best the psychosocial constructs to adopt a nutritionally

balanced diet; and is their nutritional knowledge the best predictor of intention to adopt a nutritionally balanced diet?

Very few SA adults appear to have been exposed to health and nutrition advice through the national nutrition and health guidelines (**Chapter 8**). This thesis shows results much lower than Western countries (60%) (Brown, Timotijevic et al. 2011). Individuals with higher awareness about health and nutrition (although in the minority) were more likely to intend to change their behaviour. Awareness regarding nutrition and health guidelines was the strongest predictor of attitude toward behaviour, social norms and knowledge whilst the perceived social pressure to engage in behaviour toward a more nutritionally balanced diet (SN) was the strongest predictor of subjects' intention. These results are in consistent with several studies (Ball, Jeffery et al. 2010; McEachan, Conner et al. 2011; Kothe, Mullan et al. 2012; Brouwer and Mosack 2015; McDermott, Oliver et al. 2015). These studies found a strong association between the previous factors and intention using cross-sectional studies.

There are several barriers that may influence intention (to change/adopt a nutritionallybalanced diet) but knowledge was the only one studied in this thesis (chapter 8). Other barriers can control behaviour such as lack of time or costs (Conner and Sparks 2005). Moreover, the TPB model (along with other social cognition models on behavioural change) cannot fully explain all variances in intention or behaviour. In the case of this thesis, the TPB construct explained only 25% of the variance in intention towards adopting a balanced diet.

Also, this study did not assessed the usual dietary intake of the study population since it would increase their burden. However, information on people behaviour is very importsant because intention is not necessarilly representing the real practice. Therefore, future research should include the usual dietary intake to complete the TPB model and assess the influential impact of intention on real behaviour (dietary intake). Before using the data from the present study in intervention studies, the effect of intention on usual dietary intake should be verified.

9.2 Implications for public health

9.2.1 Salt intake

The Saudi-FFQ in this study had moderate relative validity and fair reliability. Therefore, it can be used to classify an individual's intake into tertiles and to identify the population at risk of high salt intake in SA while acknowledging that FFQ is poor at measuring absolute salt intake.

Population interventions, including health education, are required to reduce sodium intake in SA population. The quantitative and qualitative data provided in this study (chapter 8) could be used to develop and implement strategies for salt intake reduction in SA.

The current thesis observed that one of the main sources of salt intake in the study population was fresh and cooked vegetables (42%), raising a concern regarding the encouragement to increase vegetables intake without including advice regarding the risk of higher salt content of these foods. The source of high sodium in vegetables is mainly from added salt, sauces, or condiments, as vegetables naturally are low in sodium (Paul and Southgate 1991). As revealed in Chapter 8, knowledge and awareness have strong impact on the behavioural intention of consumers toward balanced diet, consumer education could be an important solution in reducing the salt levels in the Saudi diet especially in vegetables.

Salt has been iodised in the SA since 1997 (Omar and Desouky 2015). Reduction of (iodised) salt may affect iodine intake. Hendriksen et al. (2014) observed a reduction on iodine excretion between 2006 (257 μ g/d) and 2010 (179 μ g/d) in Dutch adults (Hendriksen, van Raaij et al. 2014). These authors concluded that the reduction of iodine excretion could be from reduction of added salt on processed food after implementing a salt-reduction strategy. Therefore, monitoring the use of (iodised) salt in foods and iodine intake is important when evaluating the implementation of new salt reduction regulations.

9.2.2 Body composition

Findings from Chapter 5 and 7 highlight that continued use of BMI as a sole indicator of health risks would mean that 14% to 43% of the whole SA population are misclassified and might not be alerted of health risks. This thesis highlights the superiority of WC over BMI in predicting health risks and metabolic diseases. This study highlights also that

combining WC to BMI does not improve prediction powers of these measures to predict metabolic diseases. However, the recent strategy for prevention and management of obesity suggested adding WC to BMI for managing and preventing obesity (Al-Shehri, Moqbel et al. 2016). Therefore, health authorities in SA such as the Ministry of Health are required to take action regarding the alternative measure for body adiposity.

Chapter 6 also highlights that continued use of skeletal muscle mass index to define low muscle mass status can lead to a large variation in predicting metabolic risks compared to percentage of muscle mass to body weight (%SMM). Therefore, health authorities in SA such as the Ministry of Health, health professionals, and researchers are required to take action to use %SMM as alternative measure for muscle mass status to predict health risks.

9.2.3 Awareness and knowledge

Psychosocial variables that can highly predict intention toward behaviour provide effective levers to promote intention to change. Therefore, as knowledge was strongly associated with intention toward adopting a nutritionally balanced diet, interventions that aim at improving nutritionally balanced diet consumption should include strategies to increase nutrition education with a focus on positive health outcomes of balanced diet consumption.

Awareness of nutrition and health guidelines plays an important role in motivating SA people to intend to take up a more nutritionally balanced diet by influencing the psychosocial variables. Only 45% of the study subjects are knowledgeable about food and nutrition and very few (19%) are aware of any (local/foreign) nutrition and health guidelines in this largely educated sample. The low awareness and knowledge levels could be the result of the education curriculum in SA not including any information regarding health and nutrition promotion, and nutrition-related disease prevention. It also highlights that the stakeholders in SA, especially the Ministry of Health, may be using ineffective channels to convey their health and nutrition messages. These finding urge the stakeholders such as Saudi Food and Drug Authority and policy makers in SA, especially the Ministry of Health and Ministry of Education, to update their awareness strategies and evaluate the channels used to convey the health and wellbeing messages in SA.

9.3 Future research

The results described in this thesis have indicated several areas of possible future research.

9.3.1 Salt intake

A relatively wide range of determinants of salt intake have been investigated in the present study, such as socioeconomic determinants, eating behaviours, sources of salt intake. However, there are other determinants that, in addition to those already investigated, could give a more integrated understanding of salt intake. Other research observed that there are other sources of sodium in different populations such as seasonings and condiments such as mono-sodium glutamate (MSG), soy and fish sauces (Lee 2009; Batcagan-Abueg, Lee et al. 2013). These sources should be investigated more as they could be high sources of sodium in SA diet. The future research question should be raise from these findings as the following:

RQ: Are the vegetables, condiments or dressings main sources of salt intake in SA which need more consideration in future population interventions?

Further efforts should be made to evaluate the reproducibility and reliability of the present FFQ (Saudi-FFQ). The Saudi-FFQ should be conducted several times in the year to assess its reproducibility in estimating salt intake. Also, some food items which high in sodium such as sauces, condiments and seasonings should be included in this questionnaire. The validity and reliability of Saudi-FFQ should be assessed after adding these items.

The food environment may play an important role in salt intake. This kind of determinant has not been investigated in this study. With dramatic changes in socioeconomic status in SA, there is an increase in fast food and take away outlets in cities, making fast food easily available and accessible which could have an impact on food availability. Fast food and hot takeaway meals contain more added salt (Rasmussen, Lassen et al. 2010; Jaworowska, Blackham et al. 2012). A quarter of this study population eats at least 5 times a week from fast food and take away outlets (data not shown). Therefore, it would be interesting to examine the extent to which the food environment in SA is related to salt intake, and if so, to explore environmental change strategies in order to decrease consumption or the content of salt in these products. The future research question should be raise from these assumptions as the following:

RQ: Do fast food and hot takeaway meals contain high content of added salt (sodium) and what is the eating frequency of these meals in SA?

9.3.2 Body composition

The cross-sectional nature of the present survey limits the ability to draw causal inferences from the relationships between body composition and age. Therefore, further prospective long-term studies with imaging techniques are required in SA and the Eastern Mediterranean region to validate our findings. The prospective studies are required to investigate the value of muscle mass indices, waist circumference, and body mass index over time. Prospective studies are required to assess the validity of these measures during weight loss and during progressive diseases. Therefore, the proposed research questions as follow:

RQ: How well do the muscle mass indices, waist circumference, and body mass index perform over time during progress of age?

RQ: How well do the muscle mass indices, waist circumference, and body mass index perform over time during progress of diseases such as T2DM, cancer?

RQ: How well do the muscle mass indices, waist circumference, and body mass index perform over time during weight loss programs?

9.3.3 Awareness and knowledge

As discussed in Chapter 8, the lack of knowledge was considered as a barrier preventing adoption of a nutritionally balanced diet. However, lack of knowledge is not only the barrier in this area of interest. In future research, more barriers influencing the population intention toward nutritionally balanced diet should be investigated and tested in the TPB model.

Behaviour/ practice is the final and important part of the TPB model. However, the usual dietary intake as behaviour in this study was not assessed. Future research should include the usual dietary intake to complete the TPB model. Also, the direct influential effect of knowledge on behaviour should be considered in future research. Therefore, the proposed research questions are as follow:

RQ: Does knowledge influence the behaviour of SA population toward nutritionally balanced diet?

RQ: Is there any barrier influencing the population intention toward nutritionally balanced diet? If yes, is it influencing the population's behaviour directly?

CONCLUSION

This thesis adds a new and unexpected source of salt intake by including vegetables and unprocessed foods. These findings raise a concern regarding the encouragement to increase intake of vegetables without including advice regarding cooking, in light of the risk of higher salt intake in SA. It would be worthwhile to consider education strategies towards the use of alternative ingredients or dressings in salad and cooked vegetables. This thesis also adds evidence about the weakness of BMI and SMI in predicting metabolic diseases and misclassifying the population. Alternatively, this thesis suggests the use of WC as an adiposity measure and %SMM as a muscle mass measure and proposed accurate cut-offs for prevention and management of NCDs. However, these new cut-offs need to be validated using prospective study and accurate imaging techniques. This thesis provides evidence of the importance of increasing the knowledge and awareness of SA population regarding a nutrionally balanced diet. The steep rise in the youthful population in SA will escalate the burden of NCDs in the forthcoming decades unless preventive measures are put in place.

List of References

- Abalkhail, B. (1998). "Hypercholesterolemia and susceptibility to cardiovascular diseases among white and blue collars in Jeddah." <u>Saudi medical journal</u> 19(2): 123-129.
- Abate, N., D. Burns, et al. (1994). "Estimation of adipose tissue mass by magnetic resonance imaging: validation against dissection in human cadavers." Journal of <u>lipid research</u> 35(8): 1490-1496.
- Abbatecola, A. M., P. Chiodini, et al. (2012). "Pulse wave velocity is associated with muscle mass decline: Health ABC study." <u>Age</u> 34(2): 469-478.
- Adamczak, M., A. Wiecek, et al. (2003). "Decreased plasma adiponectin concentration in patients with essential hypertension." <u>American journal of hypertension</u> 16(1): 72-75.
- Ajzen, I. (1988). <u>Attitudes, personality, and behavior</u>. Buckingham, England, Open University Press.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). "The Theory of Planned Behavior." <u>Organizational Behavior and Human</u> <u>Decision Processes</u> 50(2): 179-211.
- Ajzen, I. (2011). "The theory of planned behaviour: reactions and reflections." <u>Psychology</u> <u>& health</u> 26(9): 1113-1127.
- Ajzen, I. (2015). "Consumer attitudes and behavior: the theory of planned behavior applied to food consumption decisions." <u>Rivista di Economia Agraria</u> 70(2): 121-138.
- Al-Daghri, N. M., O. S. Al-Attas, et al. (2011). "Diabetes mellitus type 2 and other chronic non-communicable diseases in the central region, Saudi Arabia (Riyadh cohort 2): a decade of an epidemic." <u>BMC Med</u> 9: 1-6.
- Al-Dokhi, L. (2015). "Association of the new index of sarcopenic obesity with physical fitness in healthy Saudi men and women." <u>Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci</u> 19(2): 328-333.
- Al-Gindan, Y., C. Hankey, et al. (2015). "Derivation and validation of simple anthropometric equations to predict adipose tissue mass and total fat mass with MRI as the reference method." <u>The British journal of nutrition</u>: 1-16.
- Al-Gindan, Y. Y., C. Hankey, et al. (2014). "Derivation and validation of simple equations to predict total muscle mass from simple anthropometric and demographic data." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 100(4): 1041-1051.
- Al-Kandari, D. and D. J. Jukes (2012). "The food control system in Saudi Arabia– Centralizing food control activities." <u>Food control</u> 28(1): 33-46.
- Al-Lawati, J. A., N. M. Barakat, et al. (2008). "Optimal cut-points for body mass index, waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio using the Framingham coronary heart disease risk score in an Arab population of the Middle East." <u>Diabetes and Vascular</u> <u>Disease Research</u> 5(4): 304-309.
- Al-Lawati, J. A. and P. Jousilahti (2008). "Body mass index, waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio cut-off points for categorisation of obesity among Omani Arabs." <u>Public health nutrition</u> 11(01): 102-108.
- Al-Nozha M, A.-K. M., Al-Othaimeen A, Al-Mohizea I, Osman A, Al-Shammery A R, El-Shabrawy M (1996). "Evaluation of the Nutritional Status of the People of Saudi Arabia." <u>King Abdulaziz City For Science and Technology</u>.
- Al-Nozha, M. and A. K. Osman (1998). "The prevalence of hypertension in different geographical regions of Saudi Arabia." <u>Annals of Saudi medicine</u> 18: 401-407.
- Al-Nozha, M. M., M. Abdullah, et al. (2007). "Hypertension in Saudi Arabia." <u>Saudi Med</u> <u>J</u> 28(1): 77-84.
- Al-Nozha, M. M., M. A. Al-Maatouq, et al. (2004). "Diabetes mellitus in saudi arabia." Saudi Med J 25(11): 1603-1610.
- Al-Nozha, M. M., Y. Y. Al-Mazrou, et al. (2005). "Obesity in Saudi Arabia." <u>Saudi Med J</u> 26(5): 824-829.

- Al-Nozha, M. M., M. S. Ali, et al. (1997). "Arterial hypertension in Saudi Arabia." <u>Ann</u> <u>Saudi Med</u> 17(2): 170-174.
- Al-Nozha, M. M. A.-M., M. A.; Al-Mazrou, Y. Y.; Al-Harthi, S. S.; Arafah, M. R.; Khalil, M. Z.; Khan, N. B.; Al-Khadra, A.; Al-Marzouki, K.; Nouh, M. S.; Abdullah, M.; Attas, O.; Al-Shahid, M. S.; Al-Mobeireek, A. (2004). "Diabetes mellitus in Saudi Arabia." <u>Saudi Med J</u> 25(11): 1603-1610.
- Al-Nozha, M. M. A., M. R.; Al-Mazrou, Y. Y.; Al-Maatouq, M. A.; Khan, N. B.; Khalil, M. Z.; Al-Khadra, A. H.; Al-Marzouki, K.; Abdullah, M. A.; Al-Harthi, S. S.; Al-Shahid, M. S.; Nouh, M. S.; Al-Mobeireek, A. (2004). "Coronary artery disease in Saudi Arabia." <u>Saudi Med J</u> 25(9): 1165-1171.
- al-Nuaim, A. A., E. A. Bamgboye, et al. (1997). "Overweight and obesity in Saudi Arabian adult population, role of socio-demographic variables." <u>J Community Health</u> 22(3): 211-223.
- Al-Nuaim, A. R. (1997). "Population-based epidemiological study of the prevalence of overweight and obesity in Saudi Arabia, regional variation." <u>Ann Saudi Med</u> 17(2): 195-199.
- al-Nuaim, A. R., K. al-Rubeaan, et al. (1996). "High prevalence of overweight and obesity in Saudi Arabia." Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 20(6): 547-552.
- Al-Numair, K. (2006). "Copper and zinc status in healthy volunteers living in Saudi Arabia." J. Med. Sci 6(4): 519-527.
- Al-Numair, K., N. M. Lewis, et al. (2005). "Omega-3 fatty acid consumption and food sources differ among elderly men living in coastal and internal regions of Saudi Arabia."
- Al-Odat, A. Z., M. N. Ahmad, et al. (2012). "References of anthropometric indices of central obesity and metabolic syndrome in Jordanian men and women." <u>Diabetes &</u> <u>Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews</u> 6(1): 15-21.
- Al-Othaimeen, A. I., M. Al-Nozha, et al. (2007). "Obesity: an emerging problem in Saudi Arabia. Analysis of data from the National Nutrition Survey." <u>East Mediterr Health</u> <u>J</u> 13(2): 441-448.
- Al-Rethaiaa, A. S., A.-E. A. Fahmy, et al. (2010). "Obesity and eating habits among college students in Saudi Arabia: a cross sectional study." <u>Nutrition journal</u> 9(39): 1-10.
- Al-Saggaf, Y. (2004). "The effect of online community on offline community in Saudi Arabia." <u>The Electronic Journal of Information Systems in Developing Countries</u> 16.
- Al-Shammari, S. A., T. A. Khoja, et al. (1996). "The prevalence of obesity among saudi males in the Riyadh region." <u>Ann Saudi Med</u> 16(3): 269-273.
- al-Shammari, S. A., T. A. Khoja, et al. (1994). "High prevalence of clinical obesity among Saudi females: a prospective, cross-sectional study in the Riyadh region." <u>J Trop</u> <u>Med Hyg</u> 97(3): 183-188.
- Al-Shehri, F. S., M. M. Moqbel, et al. (2016). "Prevention and management of obesity: Saudi guideline update." <u>Saudi Journal of Obesity</u> 4(1): 25.
- Al-Tawil, K. M. (2001). "The Internet in Saudi Arabia." <u>Telecommunications Policy</u> 25(8): 625-632.
- Al Rashdan, I. and Y. Al Nesef (2010). "Prevalence of Overweight, Obesity, and Metabolic Syndrome Among Adult Kuwaitis: Results From Community-based National Survey." <u>Angiology</u> 61(1): 42-48.
- Alamri F.A., S. M. Y., Kassim (2014). "Dietary and other risk factors for Colo-Rectal cancer in Saudi Arabia." J. Med. Med. Sci. 5(10): 222-229.
- Alberti, K. G. M., P. Zimmet, et al. (2007). "International Diabetes Federation: a consensus on Type 2 diabetes prevention." <u>Diabetic Medicine</u> 24(5): 451-463.

- Alberti, K. G. M. M., P. Zimmet, et al. (2006). "Metabolic syndrome—a new world-wide definition. A consensus statement from the international diabetes federation." <u>Diabetic medicine</u> 23(5): 469-480.
- Alberti, K. G. M. M. and P. f. Zimmet (1998). "Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Provisional report of a WHO consultation." <u>Diabetic medicine</u> 15(7): 539-553.
- ALFaris, N. A., J. Z. Al-Tamimi, et al. (2015). "Trends of fast food consumption among adolescent and young adult Saudi girls living in Riyadh." Food & nutrition research 59.
- Alhowaish, A. K. (2013). "Economic costs of diabetes in Saudi Arabia." Journal of family & community medicine 20(1): 1.
- Alissa, E. (2005). "Dietary vitamin A may be a cardiovascular risk factor in a Saudi population." <u>Asia Pac J Clin Nutr</u> 14(2).
- Alkhalaf, M., C. Edwards, et al. (2015). "Current reported and observed hypertension status, sodium intake practices and body composition of adults in Riyadh city, Saudi Arabia." <u>Proceedings of the Nutrition Society</u> 74(OCE1): E22.
- Alkhunaizi, A., H. Al Jishi, et al. (2013). "Salt intake in Eastern Saudi Arabia." <u>EMHJ</u> 19(11).
- Alkhunaizi, A. M., J. H. Al, et al. (2013). "Salt intake in Eastern Saudi Arabia." <u>East</u> <u>Mediterr Health J</u> 19(11): 915-918.
- Almajwal, A., P. Williams, et al. (2009). "Current dietetic practices of obesity management in Saudi Arabia and comparison with Australian practices and best practice criteria." <u>Nutrition & Dietetics</u> 66(2): 94-100.
- Almajwal, A. M., N. A. Al-Baghli, et al. (2009). "Performance of body mass index in predicting diabetes and hypertension in the Eastern Province of Saudi Arabia." <u>Ann</u> <u>Saudi Med</u> 29(6): 437-445.
- Alsaif, M. A., I. A. Hakim, et al. (2002). "Prevalence and risk factors of obesity and overweight in adult Saudi population." <u>Nutrition Research</u> 22(11): 1243-1252.
- Alsaif, M. A., L. A. Khan, et al. (2007). "Effects of dietary flavonoids intake in Saudi patients with coronary heart disease." Journal of family & community medicine 14(3): 119.
- Alsufiani, H. M., F. Yamani, et al. (2014). "The relative validity and repeatability of an FFQ for estimating intake of zinc and its absorption modifiers in young and older Saudi adults." <u>Public health nutrition</u>: 1-9.
- Alwan, A. (1997). "Noncommunicable diseases: a major challenge to public health in the Region " <u>Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal</u> 3(1): 6-16.
- Amin, T. T., A. I. Al Sultan, et al. (2014). "Profile of non-communicable disease risk factors among employees at a Saudi university." <u>Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer</u> <u>Prevention</u> 15(18): 7897-7907.
- Anderson, C. A., L. J. Appel, et al. (2010). "Dietary sources of sodium in China, Japan, the United Kingdom, and the United States, women and men aged 40 to 59 years: the INTERMAP study." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 110(5): 736-745.
- Anderson, K. M., P. WOLSON, et al. (1991). "An updated coronary risk profile: a statement fo rhealth professionals." <u>Circulation</u> 83(1): 356-362.
- Anoop, S., A. Misra, et al. (2014). "High body fat and low muscle mass are associated with increased arterial stiffness in Asian Indians in North India." J Diabetes <u>Complications</u>.
- Appel, L. J., C. M. Champagne, et al. (2003). "Effects of comprehensive lifestyle modification on blood pressure control: main results of the PREMIER clinical trial." JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association.

- Arita, Y. (2012). "Reprint of "paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in obesity"." <u>Biochemical and biophysical research communications</u> 425(3): 560-564.
- Artero, E. G., D.-c. Lee, et al. (2012). "Effects of muscular strength on cardiovascular risk factors and prognosis." <u>Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation and prevention</u> 32(6): 351.
- Ashwell, M. (2011). "Charts based on body mass index and waist-to-height ratio to assess the health risks of obesity: a review." <u>Open Obes J</u> 3: 78-84.
- Ashwell, M., Barlow S, Gibson S, Harris C (2005). "National Diet and Nutrition Surveys: the British experience." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u> vol. 9(4): 523–530.
- Ashwell, M., T. J. Cole, et al. (1996). "Ratio of waist circumference to height is strong predictor of intra-abdominal fat." <u>BMJ: British Medical Journal</u> 313(7056): 559.
- Ashwell, M. and S. Gibson (2014). "A proposal for a primary screening tool: 'Keep your waist circumference to less than half your height'." <u>BMC medicine</u> 12(1): 207.
- Ashwell, M., P. Gunn, et al. (2012). "Waist-to-height ratio is a better screening tool than waist circumference and BMI for adult cardiometabolic risk factors: systematic review and meta-analysis." <u>Obesity Reviews</u> 13(3): 275-286.
- Assaad-Khalil, S. H., M. M. Mikhail, et al. (2015). "Optimal waist circumference cutoff points for the determination of abdominal obesity and detection of cardiovascular risk factors among adult Egyptian population." <u>Indian journal of endocrinology and metabolism</u> 19(6): 804.
- Atlantis, E., S. A. Martin, et al. (2009). "Inverse associations between muscle mass, strength, and the metabolic syndrome." <u>Metabolism</u> 58(7): 1013-1022.
- Bakhotmah, B. A. (2012). "Nutritional knowledge and desire to change of food preferences among Saudi women in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia." <u>Ecology of food and nutrition</u> 51(4): 313-328.
- Ball, K., R. W. Jeffery, et al. (2010). "Is healthy behavior contagious: associations of social norms with physical activity and healthy eating." <u>International Journal of</u> <u>Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity</u> 7(1): 86.
- Bandura, A. (1977). "Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change." <u>Psychological review</u> 84(2): 191.
- Bani, I. A. and T. J. Hashim (1999). "Knowledge of nutrition and coronary heart disease in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia." Journal of community health 24(6): 467-473.
- Baranowski, T. (2013). 24-Hour Recall and Diet Record Methods. <u>Nutritional</u> <u>Epidemiology</u>. W. Willett. New York, Oxford University Press Third edition.
- Bartels, H. and M. Böhmer (1971). "Micro-determination of creatinine." <u>Clinica chimica</u> <u>acta; international journal of clinical chemistry</u> 32(1): 81.
- Batcagan-Abueg, A. P. M., J. J. Lee, et al. (2013). "Salt intakes and salt reduction initiatives in Southeast Asia: a review." <u>Asia Pacific journal of clinical nutrition</u> 22(4): 683-697.
- Bates, C. J., D. I. Thurnham, et al. (2009). Biochemical markers of nutrient intake. <u>Design</u> <u>concepts in nutritional epidemiology</u>. B. M. Margetts and M. Nelson: 14.
- Baumgartner, R. N. (2000). "Body composition in healthy aging." <u>In Vivo Body</u> <u>Composition Studies</u> 904: 437-448.
- Baumgartner, R. N., K. M. Koehler, et al. (1998). "Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico." <u>American journal of epidemiology</u> 147(8): 755-763.
- Beaglehole, R., R. Bonita, et al. (2011). "Priority actions for the non-communicable disease crisis." <u>The Lancet</u> 377(9775): 1438-1447.
- BECM. (1992). "Basic Law of Governance, Saudi Arabia." Retrieved 25/07/2017, 2017, from https://www.boe.gov.sa/ViewStaticPage.aspx?lang=en&PageID=25.

- Bei-Fan, Z. (2002). "Predictive values of body mass index and waist circumference for risk factors of certain related diseases in Chinese adults: study on optimal cut-off points of body mass index and waist circumference in Chinese adults." <u>Asia Pacific</u> journal of clinical nutrition 11(s8): S685-S693.
- Belghazi, J., R. N. El Feghali, et al. (2007). "Validation of four automatic devices for selfmeasurement of blood pressure according to the International Protocol of the European Society of Hypertension." <u>Vascular health and risk management</u> 3(4): 389.
- Bener, A., M. T. Yousafzai, et al. (2013). "Obesity index that better predict metabolic syndrome: body mass index, waist circumference, waist hip ratio, or waist height ratio." Journal of obesity 2013.
- Berentzen, T. L., M. U. Jakobsen, et al. (2011). "Changes in waist circumference and the incidence of diabetes in middle-aged men and women." <u>PLoS One</u> 6(8): e23104.
- Bijlsma, A., C. Meskers, et al. (2013). "Defining sarcopenia: the impact of different diagnostic criteria on the prevalence of sarcopenia in a large middle aged cohort." <u>Age</u> 35(3): 871-881.
- Bingham, S. (2007). Dietary assessment. <u>Essentials of Human Nutrition</u>. J. Mann, Truswell A S. New York, Oxford University Press.
- Bingham, S. A. (1987). "The dietary assessment of individuals; methods, accuracy, new techniques and recommendations." <u>Nutrition abstracts and reviews</u> 57: 705–742.
- Bingham, S. A. (2003). "Urine nitrogen as a biomarker for the validation of dietary protein intake." Journal of Nutrition 133(3): 921s-924s.
- Bingham, S. A., C. Gill, et al. (1997). "Validation of dietary assessment methods in the UK arm of EPIC using weighed records, and 24-hour urinary nitrogen and potassium and serum vitamin C and carotenoids as biomarkers." <u>International journal of epidemiology</u> 26(suppl 1): S137.
- Bingham, S. C., J.H. (1983). "The use of 4-aminobenzoic acid as a marker to validate the completeness of 24 h urine collections in man." <u>Clinical Science</u> 64: 629-635.
- Black, A. (2000). "The sensitivity and specificity of the Goldberg cut-off for EI: BMR for identifying diet reports of poor validity." <u>European journal of clinical nutrition</u> 54(5): 395-404.
- Black, A. and T. Cole (2000). "Within-and between-subject variation in energy expenditure measured by the doubly-labelled water technique: implications for validating reported dietary energy intake." European journal of clinical nutrition 54(5): 386-394.
- Bland, J. M. and D. Altman (1986). "Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement." <u>The lancet</u> 327(8476): 307-310.
- Blaustein, M. P., F. H. H. Leenen, et al. (2012). "How NaCl raises blood pressure: a new paradigm for the pathogenesis of salt-dependent hypertension." <u>American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology</u> 302(5): H1031-H1049.
- Block, G. (1989). "Human Dietary Assessment: Methods and Issues." <u>Preventive Medicine</u> 18: 653-660.
- Block, G., P. Wakimoto, et al. (2006). "Validation of a food frequency questionnaire for Hispanics." <u>Prev Chronic Dis</u> 3(3): A77.
- Bloom, D. E., E. Cafiero, et al. (2012). The global economic burden of noncommunicable diseases, Program on the Global Demography of Aging.
- Boeing, H. (2013). "Nutritional epidemiology: New perspectives for understanding the diet-disease relationship?" <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> 67(5): 424-429.
- Bouguerra, R., H. Alberti, et al. (2007). "Waist circumference cut-off points for identification of abdominal obesity among the tunisian adult population." <u>Diabetes</u>, <u>Obesity and Metabolism</u> 9(6): 859-868.

- Brouwer, A. M. and K. E. Mosack (2015). "Expanding the theory of planned behavior to predict healthy eating behaviors: Exploring a healthy eater identity." <u>Nutrition & Food Science</u> 45(1): 39-53.
- Brown, K. A., L. Timotijevic, et al. (2011). "A review of consumer awareness, understanding and use of food-based dietary guidelines." <u>British journal of nutrition</u> 106(01): 15-26.
- Bunce, C. (2009). "Correlation, agreement, and Bland–Altman analysis: statistical analysis of method comparison studies." <u>American journal of ophthalmology</u> 148(1): 4-6.
- Burtis, C. and E. Ashwood (2012). <u>Tietz Textbook of Clinical Chemistry</u>, Saunders.
- Cade, J., Thompson, R., Burley, V. & Warm, D. (2002). "Development, validation and utilisation of food-frequency questionnaires – a review." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u> 5: 567–587.
- Cade, J. E., Burley, V.J., Warm, D., Thompson, R., & Margetts, B.M. (2004). "Foodfrequency questionnaires: a review of their design, validation and utilisation." <u>Nutrition Research Reviews</u> 17: 5–22.
- Cappuccio, F. P. and N. R. Campbell (2016). "Population Dietary Salt Reduction and the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease: A Commentary on Recent Evidence." <u>The Journal</u> of Clinical Hypertension.
- Carithers, T. C., S. A. Talegawkar, et al. (2009). "Validity and calibration of food frequency questionnaires used with African-American adults in the Jackson Heart Study." J Am Diet Assoc 109(7): 1184-1193.
- Carlsen, M. H., I. Lillegaard, et al. (2010). "Evaluation of energy and dietary intake estimates from a food frequency questionnaire using independent energy expenditure measurement and weighed food records." Nutr J 9(1): 37.
- Casey, P. H., S. L. Goolsby, et al. (1999). "The use of telephone interview methodology to obtain 24-hour dietary recalls." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 99(11): 1406-1411.
- CDC. (2016). "Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Webpage." Retrieved 18/01/2016, 2016, from http://www.cdc.gov/brfss/.
- CDC. (2016). "National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey Homepage " Retrieved 18/01/2016, 2016, from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes.htm.
- Cesari, M., S. B. Kritchevsky, et al. (2005). "Sarcopenia, obesity, and inflammation results from the trial of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition and novel cardiovascular risk factors study." <u>The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 82(2): 428-434.
- Charlton, K. E., K. Steyn, et al. (2008). "Development and validation of a short questionnaire to assess sodium intake." <u>Public health nutrition</u> 11(01): 83-94.
- Chedid, R., M.-H. Gannagé-Yared, et al. (2009). "Impact of different metabolic syndrome classifications on the metabolic syndrome prevalence in a young Middle Eastern population." <u>Metabolism</u> 58(6): 746-752.
- Chen, H., M. Montagnani, et al. (2003). "Adiponectin stimulates production of nitric oxide in vascular endothelial cells." Journal of Biological Chemistry 278(45): 45021-45026.
- Chen, Z., Z. Wang, et al. (2007). "Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry is a valid tool for assessing skeletal muscle mass in older women." <u>The journal of nutrition</u> 137(12): 2775-2780.
- Chien, M. Y., T. Y. Huang, et al. (2008). "Prevalence of sarcopenia estimated using a bioelectrical impedance analysis prediction equation in community-dwelling elderly people in Taiwan." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 56(9): 1710-1715.
- Choi, K., K. Lee, et al. (2004). "Relationship between brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity and cardiovascular risk factors of the metabolic syndrome." <u>Diabetes research and</u> <u>clinical practice</u> 66(1): 57-61.

- CITC (2014). The Annual Report of the Communications and Information Technology Commission. Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, The Communications and Information Technology Commission.
- Collaboration, O. i. A. (2007). "Waist circumference thresholds provide an accurate and widely applicable method for the discrimination of diabetes." <u>Diabetes care</u>.
- Combet, E. and M. E. Lean (2014). "Validation of a short food frequency questionnaire specific for iodine in UK females of childbearing age." Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics 27(6): 599-605.
- Conner, M., P. Norman, et al. (2002). "The theory of planned behavior and healthy eating." <u>Health psychology</u> 21(2): 194.
- Conner, M. and P. Sparks (2005). "Theory of planned behaviour and health behaviour." <u>Predicting health behaviour</u> 2: 170-222.
- Conway, J. M., L. A. Ingwersen, et al. (2003). "Effectiveness of the US Department of Agriculture 5-step multiple-pass method in assessing food intake in obese and nonobese women." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 77(5): 1171-1178.
- Cook, N. R., L. J. Appel, et al. (2014). "Lower levels of sodium intake and reduced cardiovascular risk." <u>Circulation</u>: CIRCULATIONAHA. 113.006032.
- Cook, N. R., J. A. Cutler, et al. (2007). "Long term effects of dietary sodium reduction on cardiovascular disease outcomes: observational follow-up of the trials of hypertension prevention (TOHP)." <u>Bmj</u> 334(7599): 885.
- Courneya, K. S. and E. McAuley (1995). "Reliability and discriminant validity of subjective norm, social support, and cohesion in an exercise setting." Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology 17(3): 325-337.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). "Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests." <u>psychometrika</u> 16(3): 297-334.
- CRS (2015). The survey system sample size calculator, Creative Research Systems. 2015.
- Cruz-Jentoft, A. J., J. P. Baeyens, et al. (2010). "Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People." <u>Age and ageing</u>: afq034.
- Czernichow, S., A. P. Kengne, et al. (2011). "Body mass index, waist circumference and waist-hip ratio: which is the better discriminator of cardiovascular disease mortality risk? Evidence from an individual-participant meta-analysis of 82 864 participants from nine cohort studies." Obesity reviews 12(9): 680-687.
- d'Ardenne, J., S. McManus, et al. (2011). "Designing survey questions on food-related issues: Question design toolkit based on a theory of behavioural change." <u>National Centre for Social Research, London, UK</u>.
- Dahl, L. K. (1958). "Salt intake and salt need." N Engl J Med 258(24): 1205-1208 concl.
- Das, S. R., L. S. Kinsinger, et al. (2005). "Obesity prevalence among veterans at Veterans Affairs medical facilities." <u>American journal of preventive medicine</u> 28(3): 291-294.
- Date, C., M. Fukui, et al. (2005). "Reproducibility and validity of a self-administered food frequency questionnaire used in the JACC study." Journal of Epidemiology 15(Supplement_I): S9-S23.
- de Kloet, A. D., E. G. Krause, et al. (2010). "The renin angiotensin system and the metabolic syndrome." <u>Physiology & behavior</u> 100(5): 525-534.
- De Koning, L., A. T. Merchant, et al. (2007). "Waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio as predictors of cardiovascular events: meta-regression analysis of prospective studies." <u>European heart journal</u> 28(7): 850-856.
- DeFronzo, R. A., R. C. Bonadonna, et al. (1992). "Pathogenesis of NIDDM: a balanced overview." <u>Diabetes care</u> 15(3): 318-368.

- Dehghan, M., Al Hamad, N., Yusufali, A., Nusrath, F., Yusuf, S. & Merchant, A.T. (2005).
 "Development of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire for use in United Arab Emirates and Kuwait based on local foods." <u>Nutrition Journal 4(18)</u>: 1-7.
- Dehghan, M., S. del Cerro, et al. (2012). "Validation of a semi-quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire for Argentinean adults." <u>PLoS One</u> 7(5): e37958.
- Dehghan, M., R. Ilow, et al. (2012). "Development, reproducibility and validity of the food frequency questionnaire in the Poland arm of the Prospective Urban and Rural Epidemiological (PURE) study." <u>Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics</u> 25(3): 225-232.
- Dehghan, M., Ilow, R., Zatonska, K., Szuba, A., Zhang, X., Mente, A., & Regulska-Ilow, B. (2012). "Development, reproducibility and validity of the food frequency questionnaire in the Poland arm of the Prospective Urban and Rural Epidemiological (PURE) study." Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics 25: 225–232.
- Dehghan, M. and A. T. Merchant (2008). "Is bioelectrical impedance accurate for use in large epidemiological studies?" <u>Nutrition Journal</u> 7(1): 1.
- Delmonico, M. J., T. B. Harris, et al. (2007). "Alternative definitions of sarcopenia, lower extremity performance, and functional impairment with aging in older men and women." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 55(5): 769-774.
- DeLong, E. R., D. M. DeLong, et al. (1988). "Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: a nonparametric approach." <u>Biometrics</u>: 837-845.
- DeSalvo, K. B., R. Olson, et al. (2016). "Dietary guidelines for Americans." Jama 315(5): 457-458.
- Deurenberg-Yap, M., G. Schmidt, et al. (2000). "The paradox of low body mass index and high body fat percentage among Chinese, Malays and Indians in Singapore." <u>International journal of obesity</u> 24(8): 1011.
- Deurenberg, P. and M. Deurenberg-Yap (2003). "Validity of body composition methods across ethnic population groups." <u>Acta diabetologica</u> 40(1): s246-s249.
- Deurenberg, P., J. A. Weststrate, et al. (1991). "Body mass index as a measure of body fatness: age-and sex-specific prediction formulas." <u>British journal of nutrition</u> 65(02): 105-114.
- Deurenberg, P., M. Yap, et al. (1998). "Body mass index and percent body fat: a meta analysis among different ethnic groups." <u>International journal of obesity</u> 22: 1164-1171.
- Diaz, V., A. r. Mainous, et al. (2007). "How does ethnicity affect the association between obesity and diabetes?" <u>Diabetic medicine</u> 24(11): 1199-1204.
- Dickey, R. A., D. Bartuska, et al. (1998). "AACE/ACE Position statement on the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of obesity (1998 revision)." Endocr Pract 4(5): 297-350.
- Dickinson BD, H. S. (2007). "Reducing the Population Burden of Cardiovascular Disease by Reducing Sodium Intake: A Report of the Council on Science and Public Health." <u>Arch Intern Med</u> 167: 1460-1468.
- Dodd, J. L. (2008). Nutrition in the Adults Years. <u>Krause's Food & Nutrition Therapy</u>. K. L. S.-S. Mahan, S. Canada, SAUNDERS ELSEVIER.
- Dominguez, L. J. and M. Barbagallo (2007). "The cardiometabolic syndrome and sarcopenic obesity in older persons." J Cardiometab Syndr 2(3): 183-189.
- Dridi, S. and M. Taouis (2009). "Adiponectin and energy homeostasis: consensus and controversy." <u>The Journal of nutritional biochemistry</u> 20(11): 831-839.
- Durnin, J. V. and J. Womersley (1974). "Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: measurements on 481 men and women aged from 16 to 72 years." <u>British journal of nutrition</u> 32(01): 77-97.

- Efron, B. (1987). "Better bootstrap confidence intervals." Journal of the American statistical Association 82(397): 171-185.
- Eknoyan, G. (2008). "Adolphe Quetelet (1796–1874)—the average man and indices of obesity." <u>Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation</u> 23(1): 47-51.
- El-Hazmi, M. and A. Warsy (1997). "Prevalence of obesity in the Saudi population." <u>Annals of Saudi medicine</u> 17: 302-306.
- El-Hazmi, M. and A. Warsy (1999). "Hypertension in Saudi Arabia." <u>Saudi Journal of Kidney Diseases and Transplantation</u> 10(3): 365.
- El-Hazmi, M., A. Warsy, et al. (1996). "Diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in Saudi Arabia." <u>Annals of Saudi medicine</u> 16(4): 381-385.
- el-Hazmi, M. A. and A. S. Warsy (2000). "Prevalence of overweight and obesity in diabetic and non-diabetic Saudis." <u>East Mediterr Health J</u> 6(2-3): 276-282.
- El Bcheraoui, C., M. Basulaiman, et al. (2014). "Status of the diabetes epidemic in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 2013." <u>International journal of public health</u> 59(6): 1011-1021.
- El Bcheraoui, C., Z. A. Memish, et al. (2014). "Hypertension and Its Associated Risk Factors in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 2013: A National Survey." <u>International</u> journal of hypertension 2014.
- El Din, A. M. S., M. E. Zaki, et al. (2014). "Cut-Off Values of Anthropometric Indices for the Prediction of Hypertension in a Sample of Egyptian Adults." <u>Macedonian</u> <u>Journal of Medical Sciences</u> 7(1): 89-94.
- Elliott, P. (1988). "Intersalt an International Study of Electrolyte Excretion and Blood-Pressure - Results for 24 Hour Urinary Sodium and Potassium Excretion." <u>British</u> <u>Medical Journal</u> 297(6644): 319-328.
- Elliott, P. and I. Brown (2007). "Sodium intakes around the world." <u>Geneva: World Health</u> <u>Organization</u>.
- Elliott, P., J. Stamler, et al. (1996). "Intersalt revisited: further analyses of 24 hour sodium excretion and blood pressure within and across populations." <u>Bmj</u> 312(7041): 1249-1253.
- Ellis, K. J. and W. W. Wong (1998). "Human hydrometry: comparison of multifrequency bioelectrical impedance with2H2O and bromine dilution." Journal of Applied <u>Physiology</u> 85(3): 1056-1062.
- Elmer, P. J., E. Obarzanek, et al. (2006). "Effects of comprehensive lifestyle modification on diet, weight, physical fitness, and blood pressure control: 18-month results of a randomized trial." <u>Annals of internal medicine</u> 144(7): 485-495.
- Elorriaga, N., V. E. Irazola, et al. (2015). "Validation of a self-administered FFQ in adults in Argentina, Chile and Uruguay." <u>Public health nutrition</u> 18(01): 59-67.
- Engler-Stringer, R. (2010). "Food, cooking skills, and health: a literature review." Canadian journal of Dietetic practice and research 71(3): 141-145.
- Engstrom, C., G. Loeb, et al. (1991). "Morphometry of the human thigh muscles. A comparison between anatomical sections and computer tomographic and magnetic resonance images." Journal of anatomy 176: 139.
- Epuru, S. and A. O. S. AlMuqrn "Nutrition behaviours among female students and their association with BMI, self-perceived health status, Saudi Arabia."
- EUFIC. (2005). "The determinants of food choice: EUFIC Review." 01/10/2016, from http://www.eufic.org/article/en/expid/review-food-choice/.
- FAO (2008). Methods to Monitor the Human Right to Adequate Food Volume II: An Overview of Approaches and Tools. Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations.
- FAO/WHO/UNU (2004). Energy and Protein Requirements. Geneva, World Health Organization/Food and Agriculture Organization/United Nations University.
- Farooqi, I. S. and S. O'Rahilly (2006). "Genetics of obesity in humans." <u>Endocrine</u> <u>Reviews</u> 27(7): 710-718.

- Fernández-Real, J. M. and W. Ricart (2003). "Insulin resistance and chronic cardiovascular inflammatory syndrome." <u>Endocrine reviews</u> 24(3): 278-301.
- Ferreira-Sae, M.-C. S., M.-C. B. Gallani, et al. (2009). "Reliability and validity of a semiquantitative FFQ for sodium intake in low-income and low-literacy Brazilian hypertensive subjects." <u>Public health nutrition</u> 12(11): 2168-2173.
- Ferreira, I., M. B. Snijder, et al. (2004). "Central fat mass versus peripheral fat and lean mass: opposite (adverse versus favorable) associations with arterial stiffness? The Amsterdam Growth and Health Longitudinal Study." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89(6): 2632-2639.
- Fielding, R. A., B. Vellas, et al. (2011). "Sarcopenia: an undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: prevalence, etiology, and consequences. International working group on sarcopenia." <u>Journal of the American Medical</u> <u>Directors Association</u> 12(4): 249-256.
- Flegal, K. M., B. K. Kit, et al. (2013). "Association of All-Cause Mortality With Overweight and Obesity Using Standard Body Mass Index Categories A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis." Jama-Journal of the American Medical <u>Association</u> 309(1): 71-82.
- Forbes, G. B. (2011). <u>Human Body Composition: Growth, Aging, Nutrition, and Activity</u>, Springer New York.
- Fosbøl, M. Ø. and B. Zerahn (2015). "Contemporary methods of body composition measurement." <u>Clinical physiology and functional imaging</u> 35(2): 81-97.
- Fowke, J. H., D. Schlundt, et al. (2004). "Impact of season of food frequency questionnaire administration on dietary reporting." <u>Annals of epidemiology</u> 14(10): 778-785.
- Fowler, P. A., M. F. Fuller, et al. (1991). "Total and subcutaneous adipose tissue in women: the measurement of distribution and accurate prediction of quantity by using magnetic resonance imaging." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 54(1): 18-25.
- Franz, M. J., J. VanWormer, et al. (2007). "Weight-loss outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of weight-loss clinical trials with a minimum 1-year follow-up." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 107(10): 1755-1767.
- Freedman, L. S., J. M. Commins, et al. (2015). "Pooled results from 5 validation studies of dietary self-report instruments using recovery biomarkers for potassium and sodium intake." <u>American journal of epidemiology</u>: kwu325.
- FSA. (2013). "The Eatwell Plate." Retrieved 18/05/2015, 2015, from http://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/multimedia/pdfs/publication/theeatwellpl ate.pdf.
- FSANZ (1998). "The 19th Australian Total Diet Survey: A total diet survey of pesticide residues and contaminants." <u>Australia New Zealand Food Authority</u>.
- Fumeron, F., R. Aubert, et al. (2004). "Adiponectin gene polymorphisms and adiponectin levels are independently associated with the development of hyperglycemia during a 3-year period the epidemiologic data on the insulin resistance syndrome prospective study." <u>Diabetes</u> 53(4): 1150-1157.
- Gallagher, D., M. Visser, et al. (1997). "Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: effects of age, gender, and ethnicity." Journal of Applied Physiology 83: 229–239.
- Garrow, J. S. (1988). Obesity and related diseases, Churchill Livingstone.
- George, G. C., T. J. Milani, et al. (2004). "Development and validation of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire for young adult women in the southwestern United States." <u>Nutrition Research</u> 24(1): 29-43.
- Gibson, R. S. (2005). Anthropometric assessment of body composition. <u>Principles of</u> <u>nutritional assessment</u>. R. S. Gibson. New York, Oxford University Press. Second Edition: 282-285.
- Gibson, R. S. (2005). Validity in dietary assessment methods. <u>Principles of nutritional</u> <u>assessment</u>. R. S. Gibson. New York, Oxford University Press. Second Edition.

- Giles, T. D., B. J. Materson, et al. (2009). "Definition and classification of hypertension: an update." <u>The Journal of Clinical Hypertension</u> 11(11): 611-614.
- Goh, V. H., C. Tain, et al. (2004). "Are BMI and other anthropometric measures appropriate as indices for obesity? A study in an Asian population." Journal of lipid research 45(10): 1892-1898.
- Goldberg, G. R., A. E. Black, et al. (1991). "Critical evaluation of energy intake data using fundamental principles of energy physiology: 1. Derivation of cut-off limits to identify under-recording." <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> 45(12): 569-581.
- Goldman, L. and E. F. Cook (1984). "The decline in ischemic heart disease mortality rates: an analysis of the comparative effects of medical interventions and changes in lifestyle." <u>Annals of internal medicine</u> 101(6): 825-836.
- Gómez-Ambrosi, J., C. Silva, et al. (2012). "Body mass index classification misses subjects with increased cardiometabolic risk factors related to elevated adiposity." <u>International journal of obesity</u> 36(2): 286-294.
- González, A. S., D. Bellido, et al. (2007). "Predictors of the metabolic syndrome and correlation with computed axial tomography." <u>Nutrition</u> 23(1): 36-45.
- Gradmark, A. M., A. Rydh, et al. (2010). "Computed tomography-based validation of abdominal adiposity measurements from ultrasonography, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and anthropometry." <u>British journal of nutrition</u> 104(04): 582-588.
- Group, D. P. P. R. (2002). "Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin." <u>The New England journal of medicine</u> 346(6): 393.
- Gu, J.-W., A. P. Bailey, et al. (2008). "Long-term high-salt diet causes hypertension and decreases renal expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in Sprague-Dawley rats." Journal of the American Society of Hypertension 2(4): 275-285.
- Gu, J.-W., R. D. Manning, et al. (2009). "Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor inhibitor enhances dietary salt-induced hypertension in Sprague-Dawley rats." <u>American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology</u> 297(1): R142-R148.
- Gu, J.-W., E. Young, et al. (2009). "Long-term high salt diet causes hypertension and alters renal cytokine gene expression profiles in Sprague-Dawley rats." <u>Beijing da xue</u> <u>xue bao. Yi xue ban= Journal of Peking University. Health sciences</u> 41(5): 505-515.
- Guillaumie, L., G. Godin, et al. (2010). "Psychosocial determinants of fruit and vegetable intake in adult population: a systematic review." <u>International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity</u> 7(1): 1.
- Gunes, F. E., N. Imeryuz, et al. (2015). "Development and validation of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire to assess dietary intake in Turkish adults." JPMA 65(756).
- Guyton, A. C. (1991). "Blood pressure control--special role of the kidneys and body fluids." <u>Science</u> 252(5014): 1813-1816.
- Han, T. S. and M. Lean (2015). "Metabolic syndrome." Medicine 43(2): 80-87.
- Hastings Jr, C., F. Mosteller, et al. (1947). "Low moments for small samples: a comparative study of order statistics." <u>The Annals of Mathematical Statistics</u>: 413-426.
- He, F. and G. MacGregor (2009). "A comprehensive review on salt and health and current experience of worldwide salt reduction programmes." Journal of human hypertension 23(6): 363-384.
- He, F. J., M. Burnier, et al. (2011). "Nutrition in cardiovascular disease: salt in hypertension and heart failure." <u>European heart journal</u> 32(24): 3073-3080.
- He, F. J., V. Ivkovic, et al. (2015). "Estimation of sodium excretion should be made as simple as possible, but not simpler: misleading papers and editorial on spot urines." <u>Journal of hypertension</u> 33(4): 884-886.

- He, F. J., J. Li, et al. (2013). "Effect of longer term modest salt reduction on blood pressure: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials." <u>BMJ: British Medical Journal</u> 346.
- He, F. J. and G. A. MacGregor (2002). "Effect of modest salt reduction on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Implications for public health." Journal of <u>human hypertension</u> 16(11): 761-770.
- He, F. J. and G. A. MacGregor (2015). "Salt and sugar: their effects on blood pressure." <u>Pflügers Archiv-European Journal of Physiology</u> 467(3): 577-586.
- He, F. J., N. D. Markandu, et al. (2005). "Modest salt reduction lowers blood pressure in isolated systolic hypertension and combined hypertension." <u>Hypertension</u> 46(1): 66-70.
- He, F. J., S. Pombo-Rodrigues, et al. (2014). "Salt reduction in England from 2003 to 2011: its relationship to blood pressure, stroke and ischaemic heart disease mortality." <u>BMJ open</u> 4(4): e004549.
- Heber, D., S. Ingles, et al. (1996). "Clinical detection of sarcopenic obesity by bioelectrical impedance analysis." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 64(3): 472S-477S.
- Hendriksen, M. A., J. M. van Raaij, et al. (2014). "Monitoring salt and iodine intakes in Dutch adults between 2006 and 2010 using 24 h urinary sodium and iodine excretions." Public health nutrition 17(07): 1431-1438.
- Heymsfield, S. (2005). <u>Human Body Composition</u>, Human Kinetics.
- Heymsfield, S. B. and W. T. Cefalu (2013). "Does body mass index adequately convey a patient's mortality risk?" Jama 309(1): 87-88.
- Heymsfield, S. B., R. Smith, et al. (1990). "Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: measurement by dual-photon absorptiometry." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 52(2): 214-218.
- Higgs, S. (2015). "Social norms and their influence on eating behaviours." <u>Appetite</u> 86: 38-44.
- Hill, R. and P. Davies (2001). "The validity of self-reported energy intake as determined using the doubly labelled water technique." <u>British Journal of Nutrition</u> 85(04): 415-430.
- Hirose, H., I. Saito, et al. (2003). "Insulin resistance and hypertension: seven-year followup study in middle-aged Japanese men (the KEIO study)." <u>Hypertension Research</u> 26(10): 795-800.
- Ho-Pham, L. T., L. V. Campbell, et al. (2011). "More on Body Fat Cutoff Points." <u>Mayo</u> <u>Clinic Proceedings</u> 86(6): 584-584.
- Ho-Pham, L. T., L. V. Campbell, et al. (2011). <u>More on body fat cutoff points</u>. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, Elsevier.
- Holbrook, J. T., K. Y. Patterson, et al. (1984). "Sodium and potassium intake and balance in adults consuming self-selected diets." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 40(4): 786-793.
- Hong, S., Y. Choi, et al. (2010). "Development and validation of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire to assess diets of Korean type 2 diabetic patients." <u>Korean</u> <u>diabetes journal</u> 34(1): 32-39.
- Hotamisligil, G. S. and E. Erbay (2008). "Nutrient sensing and inflammation in metabolic diseases." <u>Nature Reviews Immunology</u> 8(12): 923-934.
- Hristova EN, H. J. (2001). Metabolic intermediats. In organic ions and biochemical markers of bone metabolism. <u>Clinical Diagnosis and Management by Laboratory</u> <u>Method.</u> H. JB. London, Saunders: 180–209.
- Hughes, V. A., W. R. Frontera, et al. (2002). "Longitudinal changes in body composition in older men and women: role of body weight change and physical activity." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 76(2): 473-481.

- Huxley, R., W. James, et al. (2008). "Ethnic comparisons of the cross-sectional relationships between measures of body size with diabetes and hypertension." <u>Obesity Reviews</u> 9(s1): 53-61.
- Huxley, R., S. Mendis, et al. (2010). "Body mass index, waist circumference and waist: hip ratio as predictors of cardiovascular risk-a review of the literature." <u>European</u> Journal of Clinical Nutrition 64(1): 16-22.
- Ibrahim, M. M., A. A. Elamragy, et al. (2011). "Cut off values of waist circumference & associated cardiovascular risk in Egyptians." <u>BMC cardiovascular disorders</u> 11(1): 1.
- Imamura, F., K. J. Mukamal, et al. (2013). "Risk Factors for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Preceded by β -Cell Dysfunction, Insulin Resistance, or Both in Older Adults The Cardiovascular Health Study." <u>American journal of epidemiology</u> 177(12): 1418-1429.
- Jaceldo-Siegl, K., S. F. Knutsen, et al. (2010). "Validation of nutrient intake using an FFQ and repeated 24 h recalls in black and white subjects of the Adventist Health Study-2 (AHS-2)." Public health nutrition 13(06): 812-819.
- James, W., R. Jackson-Leach, et al. (2004). Overweight and obesity (high body mass index). In Comparative Quantification of Health Risks: Global and Regional Burden of Disease Attributable to Selected Major Risk Factors. L. A. Ezzati M, Rodgers A et al. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- James, W. P. (2008). "The epidemiology of obesity: the size of the problem." J Intern Med 263(4): 336-352.
- Janssen, I., R. N. Baumgartner, et al. (2004). "Skeletal muscle cutpoints associated with elevated physical disability risk in older men and women." <u>American journal of epidemiology</u> 159(4): 413-421.
- Janssen, I., S. Heymsfield, et al. (2000). "Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18–88 yr." Journal of Applied Physiology 89(1): 81-88.
- Janssen, I., S. B. Heymsfield, et al. (2002). "Body mass index and waist circumference independently contribute to the prediction of nonabdominal, abdominal subcutaneous, and visceral fat." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 75(4): 683-688.
- Janssen, I., S. B. Heymsfield, et al. (2002). "Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 50(5): 889-896.
- Janssen, I., S. B. Heymsfield, et al. (2000). "Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18–88 yr." Journal of applied physiology 89(1): 81-88.
- Janssen, I., P. T. Katzmarzyk, et al. (2004). "Waist circumference and not body mass index explains obesity-related health risk." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 79(3): 379-384.
- Jaworowska, A., T. Blackham, et al. (2012). "Determination of salt content in hot takeaway meals in the United Kingdom." <u>Appetite</u> 59(2): 517-522.
- Jayawardena, R., N. M. Byrne, et al. (2016). "Validity of a food frequency questionnaire to assess nutritional intake among Sri Lankan adults." <u>SpringerPlus</u> 5(1): 1.
- Jensen-Otsu, E. and G. L. Austin (2015). "Antidepressant Use is Associated with Increased Energy Intake and Similar Levels of Physical Activity." <u>Nutrients</u> 7(11): 9662-9671.
- Jerome, N. W., Ricci, J A (1997). "Food and Nutrition Surveillance:an International Overview." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> vol. 65: 1198S-1202S.
- Jerome, N. W. R., J.A. (1997). "Food and Nutrition Surveillance: an International Overview." <u>American Society for Clinical Nutrition</u> 65: 1198S-1202S.
- Ji, C. and F. P. Cappuccio (2014). "Socioeconomic inequality in salt intake in Britain 10 years after a national salt reduction programme." <u>BMJ open</u> 4(8): e005683.

- Johnson, C., T. S. Raj, et al. (2015). "The Science of Salt: A Systematic Review of Clinical Salt Studies 2013 to 2014." <u>The Journal of Clinical Hypertension</u> 17(5): 401-411.
- Johnson, R. K. (2002). "Dietary intake—how do we measure what people are really eating?" <u>Obesity research</u> 10(S11): 63S-68S.
- Kaaks, R. (1997). "Biochemical markers as additional measurements in studies of the accuracy of dietary questionnaire measurements: conceptual issues." <u>The American</u> journal of clinical nutrition 65(4): 1232S-1239S.
- Kabagambe, E. K., A. Baylin, et al. (2001). "Application of the method of triads to evaluate the performance of food frequency questionnaires and biomarkers as indicators of long-term dietary intake." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> 154(12): 1126-1135.
- Kaila, B. and M. Raman (2008). "Obesity: A review of pathogenesis and management strategies." <u>Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology</u> 22(1): 61-68.
- Kamphuis, C. B., K. Giskes, et al. (2006). "Environmental determinants of fruit and vegetable consumption among adults: a systematic review." <u>British Journal of</u> <u>Nutrition</u> 96(04): 620-635.
- Kastorini, C.-M. P., D.B. (2009). "Dietary Patterns and Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes: From Research to Clinical Practice; A Systematic Review." <u>Current Diabetes</u> <u>Reviews</u> 5: 221-227.
- Kaul, S., M. P. Rothney, et al. (2012). "Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry for quantification of visceral fat." Obesity 20(6): 1313-1318.
- Kelly, T. L., K. E. Wilson, et al. (2009). "Dual energy X-Ray absorptiometry body composition reference values from NHANES." <u>PLoS One</u> 4(9): e7038.
- Kelsey, K., B. Kirkley, et al. (1996). "Social support as a predictor of dietary change in a low-income population." <u>Health Education Research</u> 11(3): 383-395.
- Keys, A., F. Fidanza, et al. (1972). "Indices of relative weight and obesity." Journal of <u>chronic diseases</u> 25(6-7): 329-343.
- KFSH&RC. (2002). "Saudi Food Composition: Research Application " Retrieved 25/04/2013, 2013, from http://rc.kfshrc.edu.sa/bssc/SaudiFoods/about.asp.
- Khan, M. (2000). Dietary recommendations, goals and guidelines for health in Saudi Arabia. Pakistan, Allama Iqbal Open University.
- Khatib, O. (2004). "Noncommunicable diseases: risk factors and regional strategies for prevention and care." East Mediterr Health J 10(6): 778-788.
- Khattab, M., M. Abolfotouh, et al. (1999). "Risk factors of coronary heart disease: attitude and behaviour in family practice in Saudi Arabia."
- Kilpi, F. W., L.; Musaigner, A.; Aitsi-Selmi, A.; Marsh, T.; Rtveladze, K.; McPherson, K.; Brown, M. (2014). "Alarming predictions for obesity and non-communicable diseases in the Middle East." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u> 17(5): 1078-1086.
- Kim, B. C., M. K. Kim, et al. (2015). "Low muscle mass is associated with metabolic syndrome only in nonobese young adults: the Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2008-2010." <u>Nutrition Research</u> 35(12): 1070-1078.
- Kim, K. S., K. S. Park, et al. (2014). "Type 2 diabetes is associated with low muscle mass in older adults." <u>Geriatrics & gerontology international</u> 14(S1): 115-121.
- Kim, T. N., M. S. Park, et al. (2011). "Skeletal muscle mass to visceral fat area ratio is associated with metabolic syndrome and arterial stiffness: the Korean Sarcopenic Obesity Study (KSOS)." <u>Diabetes research and clinical practice</u> 93(2): 285-291.
- Kim, T. N., S. J. Yang, et al. (2009). "Prevalence of sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in Korean adults: the Korean sarcopenic obesity study." <u>International Journal of</u> <u>Obesity</u> 33(8): 885-892.
- Kim, Y.-P., J.-Y. Joh, et al. (2014). "The application of different appendicular skeletal muscle cutoff points and research definitions associated with health-related quality of life in Korean older people: data from KNHANES 2008–2011." <u>BMC geriatrics</u> 14(1): 1.

Kirchengast, S. (2010). "Gender differences in body composition from childhood to old age: an evolutionary point of view." J Life Sci 2(1): 1-10.

Knoema (2017). World Data Atlas - Crude death rate - Saudi Arabia, Knoema.

- Ko, G. T., J. C. Chan, et al. (1999). "Prediction of hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidaemia or albuminuria using simple anthropometric indexes in Hong Kong Chinese." <u>International journal of obesity</u> 23(11): 1136-1142.
- Kohara, K., M. Ochi, et al. (2012). "Arterial stiffness in sarcopenic visceral obesity in the elderly: J-SHIPP study." <u>International journal of cardiology</u> 158(1): 146-148.
- Kolodinsky, J., J. R. Harvey-Berino, et al. (2007). "Knowledge of current dietary guidelines and food choice by college students: better eaters have higher knowledge of dietary guidance." Journal of the american Dietetic Association 107(8): 1409-1413.
- Koning, L. C., S.E.; Fung, T.T.; Willett, W.C.; Rimm, E.B. & Hu, F.B. (2011). "Dietquality scores and the risk of type 2 diabetes in men." <u>Diabetes Care 2011</u> <u>May;34(5):1150-6.</u>34(5): 1150–1156.
- Konings, C., J. P. Kooman, et al. (2003). "Influence of fluid status on techniques used to assess body composition in peritoneal dialysis patients." <u>Peritoneal dialysis international 23(2): 184-190.</u>
- Kothe, E. J., B. Mullan, et al. (2012). "Promoting fruit and vegetable consumption. Testing an intervention based on the theory of planned behaviour." <u>Appetite</u> 58(3): 997-1004.
- Kroes R., M., D., Lambe, J., Lowik, M.R.H., van Klaveren, J., Kleiner, J., Massey, R., Mayerh, S., Urieta, I., Verger, P., Visconti, A. (2002). "Assessment of Intake from the Diet." Food and Chemical Toxicology 40: 327–385.
- Kroke A, K.-G. K., Voss A, Möseneder, J., Thielecke, F., Noack, R., & Boeing, H. (1999).
 "Validation of a self-administered food-frequency questionnaire administered in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) Study: comparison of energy, protein, and macronutrient intakes estimated with the doubly labeled water, urinary nitrogen, and repeated 24-h dietary recall methods." American Society for Clinical Nutrition 70: 439-447.
- Krølner, R., M. Rasmussen, et al. (2011). "Determinants of fruit and vegetable consumption among children and adolescents: a review of the literature. Part II: qualitative studies." <u>International Journal of Behavioral nutrition and physical activity</u> 8(1): 1.
- Kushner, R. F. (1992). "Bioelectrical impedance analysis: a review of principles and applications." J Am Coll Nutr 11(2): 199-209.
- Kyle, U. G., I. Bosaeus, et al. (2004). "Bioelectrical impedance analysis—part II: utilization in clinical practice." <u>Clinical nutrition</u> 23(6): 1430-1453.
- Kyrou, I., G. P. Chrousos, et al. (2006). "Stress, visceral obesity, and metabolic complications." <u>Stress, Obesity, and Metabolic Syndrome</u> 1083: 77-110.
- Landis, J. R. and G. G. Koch (1977). "The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data." <u>biometrics</u>: 159-174.
- Larson, N., D. Neumark-Sztainer, et al. (2011). "Young adults and eating away from home: associations with dietary intake patterns and weight status differ by choice of restaurant." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 111(11): 1696-1703.
- Lassale, C., C. Guilbert, et al. (2009). "Estimating food intakes in Australia: validation of the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) food frequency questionnaire against weighed dietary intakes." Journal of human nutrition and dietetics 22(6): 559-566.
- Lau, D. C., J. D. Douketis, et al. (2007). "2006 Canadian clinical practice guidelines on the management and prevention of obesity in adults and children [summary]." <u>CMAJ</u> 176(8): S1-13.
- Lean, M., T. Han, et al. (1996). "Predicting body composition by densitometry from simple anthropometric measurements." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 63(1): 4-14.
- Lean, M., T. Han, et al. (1995). "Waist Circumference as a Measure for Indicating Need for Weight Management." <u>British Medical Journal</u> 311(6998): 158-161.
- Lean ME, H. T., Deurenberg P. (1996). "Predicting body composition by densitometry from simple anthropometric measurements." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 63: 4-14.
- Lean, M. J. and T. S. Han (2002). "Waist worries." <u>The American journal of clinical</u> <u>nutrition</u> 76(4): 699-700.
- Lear, S. A., K. H. Humphries, et al. (2007). "The use of BMI and waist circumference as surrogates of body fat differs by ethnicity." <u>Obesity</u> 15(11): 2817-2824.
- Lear, S. A., K. H. Humphries, et al. (2007). "Visceral adipose tissue accumulation differs according to ethnic background: results of the Multicultural Community Health Assessment Trial (M-CHAT)." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 86(2): 353-359.
- Lebovitz, H. (2001). "Insulin resistance: definition and consequences." <u>Experimental and</u> <u>clinical endocrinology & diabetes</u> 109(Suppl 2): S135-S148.
- Lee, C. M. Y., R. R. Huxley, et al. (2008). "Indices of abdominal obesity are better discriminators of cardiovascular risk factors than BMI: a meta-analysis." <u>Journal of</u> <u>clinical epidemiology</u> 61(7): 646-653.
- Lee, N. R. (2009). Estimating the effects of overweight duration, sodium intake and genetic variants on hypertension risk among Filipino women in Cebu, Philippines, THE UNIVERSITY OF NORTH CAROLINA AT CHAPEL HILL.
- Lee, R. C., Z. Wang, et al. (2000). "Total-body skeletal muscle mass: development and cross-validation of anthropometric prediction models." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 72(3): 796-803.
- Leenders, M., L. B. Verdijk, et al. (2013). "Patients with type 2 diabetes show a greater decline in muscle mass, muscle strength, and functional capacity with aging." Journal of the American Medical Directors Association 14(8): 585-592.
- Lester I H (1994). AUSTRALIA'S Food & Nutrition: 7 Food and nutrition monitoring and surveillance. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Canberra, Australian Government Publishing Service,.
- Lewington, S., R. Clarke, et al. (2002). "Prospective studies collaboration. Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies." <u>Lancet</u> 360(9349): 1903-1913.
- Lewis, S. L., S. R. Dirksen, et al. (2014). <u>Medical-surgical nursing: assessment and</u> <u>management of clinical problems, single volume, Elsevier Health Sciences.</u>
- Li, T., Y. Qin, et al. (2015). "Salt Intake and Knowledge of Salt Intake in a Chinese Population: A Crosssectional Study." <u>Internal Medicine: Open Access</u> 2015.
- Lillioja, S., D. M. Mott, et al. (1988). "Impaired glucose tolerance as a disorder of insulin action." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 318(19): 1217-1225.
- Lim, S., J. H. Kim, et al. (2010). "Sarcopenic Obesity: Prevalence and Association With Metabolic Syndrome in the Korean Longitudinal Study on Health and Aging (KLoSHA)." <u>Diabetes Care</u> 33(7): 1652-1654.
- Lim, S. S., T. Vos, et al. (2013). "A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990– 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010." <u>The</u> <u>lancet</u> 380(9859): 2224-2260.
- Liu, L., P. P. Wang, et al. (2013). "Assessing the validity of a self-administered foodfrequency questionnaire (FFQ) in the adult population of Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada." <u>Nutrition journal</u> 12(1): 1.

- Liu, M. and F. Liu (2010). "Transcriptional and post-translational regulation of adiponectin." <u>Biochemical Journal</u> 425(1): 41-52.
- Liu, P. and J. Kwon (2013). "Perceived availability of and attitudes toward healthy food choices in assisted-living facilities in Kansas." Journal of Foodservice Business Research 16(2): 183-196.
- Livingstone, M., P. Robson, et al. (2003). "An evaluation of the sensitivity and specificity of energy expenditure measured by heart rate and the Goldberg cut-off for energy intake: basal metabolic rate for identifying mis-reporting of energy intake by adults and children: a retrospective analysis." <u>European journal of clinical nutrition</u> 57(3): 455-463.
- Livingstone, M. B. and A. E. Black (2003). "Markers of the validity of reported energy intake." J Nutr 133 Suppl 3: 895S-920S.
- Lukaski, H. C., P. E. Johnson, et al. (1985). "Assessment of fat-free mass using bioelectrical impedance measurements of the human body." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 41(4): 810-817.
- Lumeng, C. N., J. B. DelProposto, et al. (2008). "Phenotypic switching of adipose tissue macrophages with obesity is generated by spatiotemporal differences in macrophage subtypes." <u>Diabetes</u> 57(12): 3239-3246.
- Lwanga S and L. S (1991). Sample size determination in health studies: A practical manual. Geneva, World Health Organisation.
- Mabry, R., M. Reeves, et al. (2010). "Gender differences in prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in Gulf Cooperation Council Countries: a systematic review." <u>Diabetic medicine</u> 27(5): 593-597.
- Macedo-Ojeda, G., B. Vizmanos-Lamotte, et al. (2013). "Validation of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire to assess food groups and nutrient intake." <u>Nutr Hosp</u> 28(6): 2212-2220.
- Mahal, A., A. Karan, et al. (2010). "The economic implications of non-communicable disease for India." <u>Washington: World Bank</u>.
- Makki, K., P. Froguel, et al. (2013). "Adipose tissue in obesity-related inflammation and insulin resistance: cells, cytokines, and chemokines." <u>ISRN inflammation</u> 2013.
- Malavolti, M., C. Mussi, et al. (2003). "Cross-calibration of eight-polar bioelectrical impedance analysis versus dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry for the assessment of total and appendicular body composition in healthy subjects aged 21-82 years." Annals of human biology 30(4): 380-391.
- Malekshah, A., M. Kimiagar, et al. (2006). "Validity and reliability of a new food frequency questionnaire compared to 24 h recalls and biochemical measurements: pilot phase of Golestan cohort study of esophageal cancer." <u>European journal of clinical nutrition</u> 60(8): 971-977.
- Malhotra, N. (2006). Chapter 5: Questionnaire Design and Scale Development <u>The</u> <u>Handbook of Marketing Research: Uses, Misuses, and Future Advances</u>. R. Grover, & Vriens, M. United States of America.
- Männistö, S., M. Virtanen, et al. (1996). "Reproducibility and validity of a food frequency questionnaire in a case-control study on breast cancer." Journal of clinical epidemiology 49(4): 401-409.
- Mansour, A., A. Al-Hassan, et al. (2007). "Cut-off values for waist circumference in rural Iraqi adults for the diagnosis of metabolic syndrome." <u>Rural Remote Health</u> 7(4): 765.
- Mansour, A. A. and M. I. Al-Jazairi (2007). "Cut-off values for anthropometric variables that confer increased risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension in Iraq." <u>Archives of medical research</u> 38(2): 253-258.
- Margetts, B. M. N., M. (1997). Assessment of food consumption and nutrient intake. <u>Design Concepts in Nutritional Epidemiology</u>. B. M. N. Margetts, M., Oxford Scholarship Online.

- Margetts, B. M. N. M. (1997). Overview of the principles of nutritional epidemiology. Design Concepts in Nutritional Epidemiology. M. B. M. N. M.
- Marriott, B. M. and J. Grumstrup-Scott (1992). <u>Body Composition and Physical</u> <u>Performance:: Applications for the Military Services</u>, National Academies Press.
- Maruyama, K., Y. Kokubo, et al. (2015). "The reasonable reliability of a self-administered food frequency questionnaire for an urban, Japanese, middle-aged population: the Suita study." <u>Nutrition Research</u> 35(1): 14-22.
- Mattes, R. and D. Donnelly (1991). "Relative contributions of dietary sodium sources." Journal of the American College of Nutrition 10(4): 383-393.
- Mayén, A.-L., P. Marques-Vidal, et al. (2014). "Socioeconomic determinants of dietary patterns in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review." <u>The American</u> journal of clinical nutrition: ajcn. 089029.
- Mccrory, M. A., C. L. Hajduk, et al. (2002). "Procedures for screening out inaccurate reports of dietary energy intake." <u>Public health nutrition</u> 5(6a): 873-882.
- McCullough, M. L., D. Feskanich, et al. (2002). "Diet quality and major chronic disease risk in men and women: moving toward improved dietary guidance." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 76(6): 1261-1271.
- McDermott, M. S., M. Oliver, et al. (2015). "The theory of planned behaviour and discrete food choices: a systematic review and meta-analysis." <u>International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity</u> 12(1): 1.
- McEachan, R. R. C., M. Conner, et al. (2011). "Prospective prediction of health-related behaviours with the theory of planned behaviour: A meta-analysis." <u>Health</u> <u>Psychology Review</u> 5(2): 97-144.
- McKeown, N. M., N. E. Day, et al. (2001). "Use of biological markers to validate selfreported dietary intake in a random sample of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer United Kingdom Norfolk cohort." <u>The American journal</u> of clinical nutrition 74(2): 188-196.
- McLean, R. M. (2014). "Measuring Population Sodium Intake: A Review of Methods." <u>Nutrients</u> 6(11): 4651-4662.
- McNaughton, S., Ball, K., & Crawford, D. (2007). Research Skills. <u>Public Health</u> <u>Nutrition: From Principles to Practice M. W. Lawrence, T. Australia, Allen & Unwin.</u>
- McNaughton, S. A., G. C. Marks, et al. (2004). "Validation of a food-frequency questionnaire assessment of carotenoid and vitamin E intake using weighed food records and plasma biomarkers: The method of triads model." <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> 59(2): 211-218.
- Memish, Z. A., C. El Bcheraoui, et al. (2014). "Obesity and associated factors--Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 2013." <u>Prev Chronic Dis</u> 11: E174.
- Meneton, P., X. Jeunemaitre, et al. (2005). "Links between dietary salt intake, renal salt handling, blood pressure, and cardiovascular diseases." <u>Physiological Reviews</u> 85(2): 679-715.
- Mente, A., M. O'Donnell, et al. (2016). "Associations of urinary sodium excretion with cardiovascular events in individuals with and without hypertension: a pooled analysis of data from four studies." <u>The Lancet</u>.
- Mente, A., M. J. O'Donnell, et al. (2014). "Association of urinary sodium and potassium excretion with blood pressure." New England Journal of Medicine 371(7): 601-611.
- Michael Nelson, B. M. M. (2003). Design, planning, and evaluation of nutritional epidemiological studies. <u>Design Concepts in Nutritional Epidemiology</u>. B. M. M. a. M. Nelson. New York, Oxford University Press

- Micklesfield, L. K., J. H. Goedecke, et al. (2012). "Dual-Energy X-Ray Performs as Well as Clinical Computed Tomography for the Measurement of Visceral Fat." <u>Obesity</u> 20(5): 1109-1114.
- Miller, A. E. J., J. MacDougall, et al. (1993). "Gender differences in strength and muscle fiber characteristics." <u>European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology</u> 66(3): 254-262.
- Minihane, A. M., S. Vinoy, et al. (2015). "Low-grade inflammation, diet composition and health: current research evidence and its translation." <u>British Journal of Nutrition</u> 114(07): 999-1012.
- Ministry of Economy and Planning (2010). "Population and Housing Characteristics in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: Demographic Survey 2010." <u>Ministry of Economy and Planning: Central Department of Statistics and Information Population and Vital Statistics</u>.
- Ministry of Health (2003). Food and Nutrition Monitoring in New Zealand: Occasional Bulletin No 19. Wellington, Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health (2006). Food and Nutrition Monitoring Report 2006: Public Health Intelligence Monitoring Report 9. Wellington, Ministry of Health,.
- Miranda, J., S. Kinra, et al. (2008). "Non-communicable diseases in low-and middleincome countries: context, determinants and health policy." <u>Tropical Medicine &</u> <u>International Health</u> 13(10): 1225-1234.
- Misra, A., J. S. Wasir, et al. (2005). "Waist circumference criteria for the diagnosis of abdominal obesity are not applicable uniformly to all populations and ethnic groups." <u>Nutrition</u> 21(9): 969-976.
- Mitsiopoulos, N., R. Baumgartner, et al. (1998). "Cadaver validation of skeletal muscle measurement by magnetic resonance imaging and computerized tomography." Journal of applied physiology 85(1): 115-122.
- Miyaki, K., Y. Song, et al. (2013). "Socioeconomic status is significantly associated with dietary salt intakes and blood pressure in Japanese workers (J-HOPE Study)." <u>International journal of environmental research and public health</u> 10(3): 980-993.
- MOEP (2015). Population Statistics Database, Central Department of Statistics and Information, Ministry of Economy and Planning.
- MOEP (2016). Population Statistics Database, Central Department of Statistics and Information, Ministry of Economy and Planning.
- MOH (2012). Dietary Guidelines for Saudis: The healthy Food Palm.
- MOH. (2013). "Health Indicators for the Year of 1432 H." Retrieved 18/02/2015, 2015, from http://www.moh.gov.sa/en/Ministry/Statistics/Indicator/Pages/Indicator-2013-06-19-001.aspx.
- MOH (2014). Diet and Physical Activity Strategy (DPAS). Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, Balanced Diet and Physical Activity Program, Genetic and Chronic Diseases Control Administration, Ministry of Health, Saudi Arabia.
- MOH (2014). Health Awareness, Ministry of Health, Saudi Arabia.
- Molarius, A. and J. C. Seidell (1998). "Selection of anthropometric indicators for classification of abdominal fatness a critical review." <u>International Journal of Obesity</u> 22(8): 719-727.
- Molitch, M. E., W. Fujimoto, et al. (2003). "The diabetes prevention program and its global implications." Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 14(suppl 2): S103-S107.
- MOPM (2014). A Brief History of Oil in Saudi Arabia. T. M. o. P. a. M. Resources, The Ministry of Petroleum and Mineral Resources.
- Moradi-Lakeh, M., C. El Bcheraoui, et al. (2016). "Diet in Saudi Arabia: findings from a nationally representative survey." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u>: 1-7.

- Moshfegh, A. J., D. G. Rhodes, et al. (2008). "The US Department of Agriculture Automated Multiple-Pass Method reduces bias in the collection of energy intakes." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 88(2): 324-332.
- Mozaffarian, D., S. Fahimi, et al. (2014). "Global sodium consumption and death from cardiovascular causes." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 371(7): 624-634.
- Munehiro, Y., F. Tsutomu, et al. (2012). "Correlation between mineral intake and urinary excretion in free-living Japanese young women." Food and Nutrition Sciences 2012.
- Murakami, K., Y. Miyake, et al. (2012). "Characteristics of under-and over-reporters of energy intake among Japanese children and adolescents: The Ryukyus Child Health Study." <u>Nutrition</u> 28(5): 532-538.
- Musaiger, A. and M. Al-Mannai (2001). "Weight, height, body mass index and prevalence of obesity among the adult population in Bahrain." <u>Annals of human biology</u> 28(3): 346-350.
- Musaiger, A. O. (2012). Food composition tables for Arab Gulf countries (in Arabic). <u>Arabic Encyclopedia of Food and Nutrition</u>. A. O. Musaiger. Manama, Bahrain, Arab Center for Nutrition.
- Musaiger, A. O. and H. M. Al-Hazzaa (2012). "Prevalence and risk factors associated with nutrition-related noncommunicable diseases in the Eastern Mediterranean region." <u>Int J Gen Med</u> 5: 199-217.
- Na, Y. J. and S. H. Lee (2012). "Development and validation of a quantitative food frequency questionnaire to assess nutritional status in Korean adults." <u>Nutrition</u> <u>research and practice</u> 6(5): 444-450.
- Naeem, Z. (2012). "Increasing trend of Junk food use in Saudi Arabia and health implications." <u>International journal of health sciences</u> 6(1): V.
- Nelson, M. (1997). The validation of dietary assessment. <u>Design Concepts in Nutritional</u> <u>Epidemiology</u>. B. M. N. Margetts, M., Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Newman, A. B., V. Kupelian, et al. (2003). "Sarcopenia: alternative definitions and associations with lower extremity function." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 51(11): 1602-1609.
- Ng, M., T. Fleming, et al. (2014). "Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013." <u>The Lancet</u> 384(9945): 766-781.
- Ng, S. W., S. Zaghloul, et al. (2011). "The prevalence and trends of overweight, obesity and nutrition-related non-communicable diseases in the Arabian Gulf States." <u>Obes</u> <u>Rev</u> 12(1): 1-13.
- NHMRC (2013). Clinical practice guidelines for the management of overweight and obesity in adults, adolescents and children in Australia. Melbourne, National Health and Medical Research Council
- NHS-NICE (2006). Obesity: The Prevention, Identification, Assessment and Management of Overweight and Obesity in Adults and Children. London, National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence: Guidance.
- NIH-NHLBI (2000). The practical guide: Identification, evaluation and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults. , NHLBI Obesity Education Initiative; National Institutes of Health.
- NIH (2001). Executive summary of the Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Jama, Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. 285: 2486.
- Novotny, J. A., W. V. Rumpler, et al. (2003). "Personality characteristics as predictors of underreporting of energy intake on 24-hour dietary recall interviews." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 103(9): 1146-1151.

- Nutrition, S. A. C. o. (2011). Dietary Reference Values for Energy. London, Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN).
- Nyamdorj, R. (2008). "BMI compared with central obesity indicators in relation to diabetes and hypertension in Asians." <u>Obesity</u> 16(7): 1622-1635.
- O'Brien, E., N. Atkins, et al. (2010). "European Society of Hypertension International Protocol revision 2010 for the validation of blood pressure measuring devices in adults." <u>Blood pressure monitoring</u> 15(1): 23-38.
- O'Leary, Z. (2005). <u>The Essential Guide to Doing Research</u>. London, SAGE Publication Inc.
- Ocke, M. and R. J. Kaaks (1997). "Biochemical markers as additional measurements in dietary validity studies: application of the method of triads with examples from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition." <u>The American</u> journal of clinical nutrition 65(4): 1240S-1245S.
- OECD. (2014). "OBESITY Update." Retrieved 15/01/2016, 2016, from http://www.oecd.org/health/Obesity-Update-2014.pdf.
- Okorodudu, D., M. Jumean, et al. (2010). "Diagnostic performance of body mass index to identify obesity as defined by body adiposity: a systematic review and meta-analysis." <u>International journal of obesity</u> 34(5): 791-799.
- Omar, M. S. and D. E.-S. Desouky (2015). "Environmental, urinary iodine status and prevalence of goitre among schoolchildren in a high altitude area of Saudi Arabia." <u>Pakistan journal of medical sciences</u> 31(2): 414.
- Omari, A. C., I. (2007). Overweight and Obesity. <u>Essentials of Human Nutrition</u>. J. Mann, Truswell A S. Great Britain, Oxford University Press: 233-240.
- Osman, A. and M. Al Nozha (2000). "Risk factors of coronary artery disease in different regions of Saudi Arabia."
- Otto, M., J. Färber, et al. (2015). "Postoperative changes in body composition comparison of bioelectrical impedance analysis and magnetic resonance imaging in bariatric patients." <u>Obesity surgery</u> 25(2): 302-309.
- Overlack, A., M. Ruppert, et al. (1995). "Age is a major determinant of the divergent blood pressure responses to varying salt intake in essential hypertension." <u>American</u> journal of hypertension 8(8): 829-836.
- Padwal, R., W. D. Leslie, et al. (2016). "Relationship Among Body Fat Percentage, Body Mass Index, and All-Cause MortalityA Cohort StudyRelationship Among Body Fat Percentage, Body Mass Index, and Mortality." <u>Annals of internal medicine</u> 164(8): 532-541.
- Pagotto, V. and E. A. Silveira (2014). "Methods, diagnostic criteria, cutoff points, and prevalence of sarcopenia among older people." <u>The Scientific World Journal</u> 2014.
- Palmer, M. A. M., C.L. (2012). "How well are we validating food frequency questionnaires that measure dietary iron intakes of Australian and New Zealand adults?ndi_1588 159." <u>Nutrition & Dietetics</u> 69: 159–166.
- Paquette, M.-C. (2005). "Perceptions of healthy eating: state of knowledge and research gaps." <u>Canadian Journal of Public Health/Revue Canadienne de Sante'e Publique</u>: S15-S19.
- Park, B. S. and J. S. Yoon (2013). "Relative skeletal muscle mass is associated with development of metabolic syndrome." <u>Diabetes & metabolism journal</u> 37(6): 458-464.
- Parmenter, K., J. Waller, et al. (2000). "Demographic variation in nutrition knowledge in England." <u>Health education research</u> 15(2): 163-174.
- Parmenter, K. and J. Wardle (1999). "Development of a general nutrition knowledge questionnaire for adults." <u>European Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 53(4): 298-308.
- Pattersen, R. a. P., P. (2013). Assessment of nutritional status in individuals and populations. <u>Public health nutrition</u>. M. J. Gibney, Margetts, B.M, Keanrney, J.M and Arab, L. . Oxford, Blackwell Scienc Ltd: 66-82.

- Paul, A. and D. A. Southgate (1991). <u>McCance and Widdowson's the composition of foods</u>. United Kingdom, Richard Clay Ltd.
- Peeters, A., S. Tanamas, et al. (2016). "Beyond BMI: How to Capture Influences from Body Composition in Health Surveys." <u>Current Nutrition Reports</u> 5(4): 286-294.
- Pereira, T. S., I. J. Bensenor, et al. (2015). "Sodium and potassium intake estimated using two methods in the Brazilian Longitudinal Study of Adult Health (ELSA-Brasil)." <u>Sao Paulo Med J</u> 133(6): 510-516.
- Petersen, K. F., S. Dufour, et al. (2007). "The role of skeletal muscle insulin resistance in the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> 104(31): 12587-12594.
- PHE (2014). Adult obesity and type 2 diabetes, Public Health England.
- Pickup, J. C. (2004). "Inflammation and activated innate immunity in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes." <u>Diabetes care</u> 27(3): 813-823.
- Pischon, T., C. J. Girman, et al. (2004). "Plasma adiponectin levels and risk of myocardial infarction in men." Jama 291(14): 1730-1737.
- Plank, L. D. (2005). "Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and body composition." <u>Current</u> <u>Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care</u> 8(3): 305-309.
- Posner, B. M., C. L. Borman, et al. (1982). "The validity of a telephone-administered 24hour dietary recall methodology." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 36(3): 546-553.
- Pouliot, M. C., J. P. Despres, et al. (1994). "Waist circumference and abdominal sagittal diameter: best simple anthropometric indexes of abdominal visceral adipose tissue accumulation and related cardiovascular risk in men and women." <u>Am J Cardiol</u> 73(7): 460-468.
- Povey, R., M. Conner, et al. (2000). "The theory of planned behaviour and healthy eating: Examining additive and moderating effects of social influence variables." <u>Psychology & Health</u> 14(6): 991-1006.
- Powles, J., S. Fahimi, et al. (2013). "Global, regional and national sodium intakes in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis of 24 h urinary sodium excretion and dietary surveys worldwide." <u>BMJ open</u> 3(12): e003733.
- Prentice, A. M. and S. A. Jebb (2001). "Beyond body mass index." Obes Rev 2(3): 141-147.
- Psouni, S., M. Chasandra, et al. (2016). "Exercise and Healthy Eating Intentions and Behaviors among Normal Weight and Overweight/Obese Adults." <u>Psychology</u> 7.
- Purdy, J., G. Armstrong, et al. (2002). "The influence of socio-economic status on salt consumption in Northern Ireland." <u>International Journal of Consumer Studies</u> 26(1): 71-80.
- Quigley, R. W., C. (1997). Food Comes First: Methodologies for the National Nutrition Survey of New Zealand. Wellington, New Zealand.
- R., A. (2012). "Validation of the OMRON M6 COMFORT (HEM-7221-E8) Upper Arm blood pressure monitor, for self/home measurement, according to the revised (2010) European Society of Hypertension International Protocol. ." <u>dablEducational Trust</u>.
- Radhika, G., R. Sathya, et al. (2007). "Dietary salt intake and hypertension in an urban south Indian population–[CURES-53]." Journal of Association of Physicians of India 55(6): 405-411.
- Raper, N., B. Perloff, et al. (2004). "An overview of USDA's dietary intake data system." Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 17(3): 545-555.
- Rasmussen, L. B., A. D. Lassen, et al. (2010). "Salt content in canteen and fast food meals in Denmark." Food & nutrition research 54.
- Razak, F., S. S. Anand, et al. (2007). "Defining obesity cut points in a multiethnic population." <u>Circulation</u> 115(16): 2111-2118.

- Rennie, K. L., A. Coward, et al. (2007). "Estimating under-reporting of energy intake in dietary surveys using an individualised method." <u>British Journal of Nutrition</u> 97(06): 1169-1176.
- Resano-Pérez, E., Méndez-Ramírez I, Shamah-Levy T, BSc, Rivera J A, Sepúlveda-Amor J (2003). "Methods of the National Nutrition Survey 1999." <u>Salud Pública de</u> <u>México</u> vol. 45(4): S558-S564.
- Ritchie, S. A., M.-A. Ewart, et al. (2004). "The role of insulin and the adipocytokines in regulation of vascular endothelial function." <u>Clinical Science</u> 107(6): 519-532.
- Robinson, J. G., B. Smith, et al. (2005). "Pleiotropic effects of statins: benefit beyond cholesterol reduction?: a meta-regression analysis." Journal of the American college of cardiology 46(10): 1855-1862.
- Ross, R., L. Leger, et al. (1991). "Adipose tissue volume measured by magnetic resonance imaging and computerized tomography in rats." Journal of Applied Physiology 70(5): 2164-2172.
- Ross, R., L. Leger, et al. (1992). "Quantification of adipose tissue by MRI: relationship with anthropometric variables." Journal of applied physiology 72(2): 787-795.
- Rössner, S., W. Bo, et al. (1990). "Adipose tissue determinations in cadavers--a comparison between cross-sectional planimetry and computed tomography." <u>International journal of obesity</u> 14(10): 893-902.
- Rutishauser, I. H. (2005). "Dietary Intake Measurements." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u> 8(7A): 1100–1107.
- Rutishauser, I. H. E. W. K. a. M., G. (2007). Monitoring the food and nutrition situation of populations. <u>Public Health Nutrition: From principle to practice</u>. L. M. a. W. T. Australia, Allen & Unwin: 273-302.
- SA McNaughton, G. M., P Gaffney, G Williams & A Green (2005). "VALIDITY OF A BRAZILIAN FOOD FREQUENCY QUESTIONNAIRE AGAINST DIETARY RECALLS AND ESTIMATED ENERGY INTAKE." <u>European Journal of Clinical</u> <u>Nutrition</u> 59: 211–218.
- Sacks, F. M., L. P. Svetkey, et al. (2001). "Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet." <u>New England journal of medicine</u> 344(1): 3-10.
- SACN (2003). Salt and Health, Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition.
- Sadler, K., Nicholson, S., Steer, T., Gill, V., Bates, B., Tipping, S., Cox, L., Lennox, A. and Prentice, A. (2012). National diet and nutrition survey: assessment of dietary sodium in adults (aged 19 to 64 years) in England, 2011. England, Department of Health.
- Saeed, A. A. and N. A. Al-Hamdan (2013). "Anthropometric risk factors and predictors of hypertension among Saudi adult population–a national survey." Journal of epidemiology and global health 3(4): 197-204.
- Saeed, A. A., N. A. Al-Hamdan, et al. (2011). "Prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension among Saudi adult population: a national survey." <u>International journal of hypertension</u> 2011.
- Sam, C. H., Skeaff, S. and Skidmore, P ML (2012). "A comprehensive FFQ developed for use in New Zealand adults: reliability and validity for nutrient intakes." <u>Public</u> <u>Health Nutrition</u> 3: 1-10.
- Sampaio, R. A. C., P. Y. S. Sampaio, et al. (2014). "Arterial stiffness is associated with low skeletal muscle mass in Japanese community-dwelling older adults." <u>Geriatrics & Gerontology International</u> 14: 109-114.
- Sanchez-Castillo, C., S. Warrender, et al. (1987). "An assessment of the sources of dietary salt in a British population." <u>Clinical Science</u> 72(1): 95-102.
- Santos, J. R. A. (1999). "Cronbach's alpha: A tool for assessing the reliability of scales." Journal of extension 37(2): 1-5.

- Sasaki, S., J. Ishihara, et al. (2003). "Validity of a self-administered food frequency questionnaire in the 5-year follow-up survey of the JPHC Study Cohort I to assess sodium and potassium intake: Comparison with dietary records and 24-hour urinary excretion level." Journal of Epidemiology 13(1): S102-S105.
- Sasaki, S., R. Yanagibori, et al. (1998). "Self-administered diet history questionnaire developed for health education: a relative validation of the test-version by comparison with 3-day diet record in women." Journal of Epidemiology 8(4): 203-215.
- Sasaki, S., R. Yanagibori, et al. (1998). "Validity of a self-administered diet history questionnaire for assessment of sodium and potassium." Japanese circulation journal 62(6): 431-435.
- Sauvageot, N., A. a. Alkerwi, et al. (2013). "Use of food frequency questionnaire to assess relationships between dietary habits and cardiovascular risk factors in NESCAV study: validation with biomarkers." <u>Nutrition journal</u> 12(1): 143.
- Sawka, M. N. and K. B. Pandolf (1990). "Effects of body water loss on physiological function and exercise performance." <u>Perspectives in exercise science and sports</u> <u>medicine</u> 3: 1-38.
- Schachter, J., P. H. Harper, et al. (1980). "Comparison of sodium and potassium intake with excretion." <u>Hypertension</u> 2(5): 695-699.
- Scharfetter, H., T. Schlager, et al. (2001). "Assessing abdominal fatness with local bioimpedance analysis: basics and experimental findings." <u>International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders</u> 25(4).
- Schofield, C. (1985). "An annotated bibliography of source material for basal metabolic rate data." <u>Hum Nutr Clin Nutr</u> 39 Suppl 1: 42-91.
- Sciarretta, S., F. Palano, et al. (2011). "Antihypertensive treatment and development of heart failure in hypertension: a Bayesian network meta-analysis of studies in patients with hypertension and high cardiovascular risk." <u>Archives of internal</u> <u>medicine</u> 171(5): 384-394.
- Scotia, N. (2010). "Explaining odds ratios." J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 19: 227.
- SCSR/FSA (2011). A survey of 24 hour urinary sodium excretion in a representative sample of the Scottish population as a measure of salt intake, Scottish Centre for Social Research and Food Standards Agency.
- Segal, K. R., B. Gutin, et al. (1985). "Estimation of human body composition by electrical impedance methods: a comparative study." Journal of Applied Physiology 58(5): 1565-1571.
- Serra-Majem, L., Andersen, L.F., Henri'que-Sa'nchez, P., Doreste-Alonso, J., Sa'nchez-Villegas, A., Ortiz-Andrelluchi, A., Negri, E. & Vecchia, C. (2009). "Evaluating the quality of dietary intake validation studies." <u>British Journal of Nutrition</u> 102: S3–S9.
- Shaikh, A. R., A. L. Yaroch, et al. (2008). "Psychosocial predictors of fruit and vegetable consumption in adults: a review of the literature." <u>American journal of preventive medicine</u> 34(6): 535-543. e511.
- Shepherd, R., C. Farleigh, et al. (1985). "Estimation of salt intake by questionnaire." <u>Appetite</u> 6(3): 219-233.
- Shim, J.-S., K. Oh, et al. (2014). "Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies." <u>Epidemiology and health</u> 36.
- SIGN (1996). Obesity in Scotland: integrating prevention with weight management. Edinburgh, United Kingdom, Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network.
- SIGN (2010). Management of obesity: A national clinical guideline. Edinburgh, Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN).
- Sim, J. and C. C. Wright (2005). "The kappa statistic in reliability studies: use, interpretation, and sample size requirements." <u>Physical therapy</u> 85(3): 257-268.

- Simsim, M. T. (2011). "Internet usage and user preferences in Saudi Arabia." Journal of King Saud University-Engineering Sciences 23(2): 101-107.
- Slimani, N., G. Deharveng, et al. (1999). "Structure of the standardized computerized 24-h diet recall interview used as reference method in the 22 centers participating in the EPIC project." <u>Computer methods and programs in biomedicine</u> 58(3): 251-266.
- Snehalatha, C., V. Viswanathan, et al. (2003). "Cutoff values for normal anthropometric variables in Asian Indian adults." <u>Diabetes care</u> 26(5): 1380-1384.
- Snyder, W., M. Cook, et al. (1974). "Report of the task group on reference man." <u>International Commission of Radiological Protection</u> 23: 112.
- Snyder WS CM, N. E., Karhaussen LR, Howells GP, and Tipon IH (1975). Report of the task group on reference man. United kingdom; Pergamon, International Commission on radiological protection. No 23. 1975.
- Soga, Y. and D. K. Pandey (2011). The link between hypertension and stroke: summary of observational epidemiological studies. <u>Hypertension and Stroke</u>, Springer: 21-39.
- Sohlstrom, A., L. O. Wahlund, et al. (1993). "Adipose-Tissue Distribution as Assessed by Magnetic-Resonance-Imaging and Total-Body Fat by Magnetic-Resonance-Imaging, Underwater Weighing, and Body-Water Dilution in Healthy Women." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 58(6): 830-838.
- Sørensen, L. B., P. Møller, et al. (2003). "Effect of sensory perception of foods on appetite and food intake: a review of studies on humans." <u>International journal of obesity</u> 27(10): 1152-1166.
- Springer, F., S. Ehehalt, et al. (2012). "Predicting volumes of metabolically important whole-body adipose tissue compartments in overweight and obese adolescents by different MRI approaches and anthropometry." <u>European journal of radiology</u> 81(7): 1488-1494.
- Srikanthan, P. and A. S. Karlamangla (2011). "Relative muscle mass is inversely associated with insulin resistance and prediabetes. Findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey." <u>The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology</u> <u>& Metabolism</u> 96(9): 2898-2903.
- Srivastava, N., R. Lakhan, et al. (2007). "Pathophysiology and genetics of obesity." <u>Indian</u> <u>Journal of Experimental Biology</u> 45(11): 929-936.
- Staels, B. and J.-C. Fruchart (2005). "Therapeutic roles of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor agonists." <u>Diabetes</u> 54(8): 2460-2470.
- Stare, J. and D. Maucort-Boulch (2016). "Odds Ratio, Hazard Ratio and Relative Risk." <u>Advances in Methodology & Statistics</u> 13(1): 59-67.
- Steinberg, H. O., H. Chaker, et al. (1996). "Obesity/insulin resistance is associated with endothelial dysfunction. Implications for the syndrome of insulin resistance." <u>Journal of Clinical Investigation</u> 97(11): 2601.
- Streiner, D. L., G. R. Norman, et al. (2014). <u>Health measurement scales: a practical guide</u> to their development and use, Oxford University Press, USA.
- Stump, C. S., E. J. Henriksen, et al. (2006). "The metabolic syndrome: role of skeletal muscle metabolism." <u>Annals of medicine</u> 38(6): 389-402.
- Subar, A. F. (2004). "Developing Dietary Assessment Tools." Journal of the American <u>Dietetic Association</u> 104(5): 769-770.
- Subar, A. F., V. Kipnis, et al. (2003). "Using intake biomarkers to evaluate the extent of dietary misreporting in a large sample of adults: the OPEN study." <u>American</u> journal of epidemiology 158(1): 1-13.
- Subar, A. F., F. E. Thompson, et al. (2007). "Formative research of a quick list for an automated self-administered 24-hour dietary recall." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 107(6): 1002-1007.

- Subar, A. F., Thompson, F.E., Kipnis, V., Midthune, D., Hurwitz, P., McNutt, S., McIntosh, A. & Rosenfeld, S. (2001). "Comparative validation of the Block, Willett, and National Cancer Institute food frequency questionnaires: the Eating at America's Table Study." <u>Am. J. Epidemiol.</u> 154: 1089–1099.
- Sung, R. Y. T., C. C. W. Yu, et al. (2007). "Waist circumference and body mass index in Chinese children: cutoff values for predicting cardiovascular risk factors." <u>International Journal of Obesity</u> 31(3): 550-558.
- Systems, C. R. (2015). "The survey system sample size calculator." Retrieved 15/07/2015, 2015.
- Talegawkar, S. A., T. Tanaka, et al. (2015). "Validation of nutrient intake estimates derived using a semi-quantitative FFQ against 3 day diet records in the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging." <u>The journal of nutrition, health & aging</u> 19(10): 994-1002.
- Tanamas, S. K., M. E. Lean, et al. (2015). "Changing guards: time to move beyond body mass index for population monitoring of excess adiposity." <u>OJM</u>: hcv201.
- Tanamas, S. K., J. E. Shaw, et al. (2014). "Twelve-year weight change, waist circumference change and incident obesity: The Australian diabetes, obesity and lifestyle study." <u>Obesity</u> 22(6): 1538-1545.
- Tasevska, N., S. A. Runswick, et al. (2006). "Urinary potassium is as reliable as urinary nitrogen for use as a recovery biomarker in dietary studies of free living individuals." Journal of Nutrition 136(5): 1334-1340.
- Teufel, N. I. (1997). "Development of culturally competent food-frequency questionnaires." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 65(4 Suppl): 1173S-1178S.
- Teufel, N. I. (1997). "Development of culturally competent food-frequency questionnaires." <u>American Society for Clinical Nutrition</u> 65(4): 1173S-1178S.
- The World Bank Group (2017). Population growth (annual %), The World Bank Group.
- Thompson, A. M., T. Hu, et al. (2011). "Antihypertensive treatment and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease events among persons without hypertension: a meta-analysis." Jama 305(9): 913-922.
- Thompson, F. E., Subar, A.F., Loria, C.M., Reedy, J.L. & Baranowski, T. (2010). "Need for Technological Innovation in Dietary Assessment." <u>J Am Diet Assoc.</u> 110(1): 48–51.
- Thompson, F. E. B., T. (1994). "Dietary Assessment Resource Manual." <u>American</u> <u>Institute of Nutrition. J. Nutr.</u> 124: 2245S-2317S.
- Thompson, F. E. S. A. F. (2013). Nutrition in the Prevention and Treatment of Diseases THIRD EDITION. <u>Dietary Assessment Methodology</u>. S. F. N. M. Coulston A.M., Boushey C.J.& Ferruzzi M.G. United Kingdom, Elsevier Inc. 3.
- Timpson, N. J., P. M. Emmett, et al. (2008). "The fat mass-and obesity-associated locus and dietary intake in children." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 88(4): 971-978.
- Trabulsi, J. and D. A. Schoeller (2001). "Evaluation of dietary assessment instruments against doubly labeled water, a biomarker of habitual energy intake." <u>American</u> <u>Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism</u> 281(5): E891-E899.
- Tsigos, C., V. Hainer, et al. (2008). "Management of obesity in adults: European clinical practice guidelines." <u>Obes Facts</u> 1(2): 106-116.
- Tuan, N. T., L. S. Adair, et al. (2008). "Optimal cutoff values for overweight: using body mass index to predict incidence of hypertension in 18-to 65-year-old Chinese adults." <u>The Journal of nutrition</u> 138(7): 1377-1382.
- Tuomilehto, J., J. Lindström, et al. (2001). "Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance." <u>New England</u> <u>Journal of Medicine</u> 344(18): 1343-1350.
- Umemura, S., N. Nyui, et al. (1997). "Plasma angiotensinogen concentrations in obese patients." <u>American journal of hypertension</u> 10(6): 629-633.

- USDA. (2005). "MyPyramid." Retrieved 18/05/2015, 2015, from http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/mypyramid.
- USDA (2015). 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. <u>8th ed.</u> Washington, DC, US Department of Health and Human Services; US Department of Agriculture.
- Van Dam, R. M. and D. Hunter (2013). Biochemical indicators of dietary intake. <u>Nutritional Epidemiology</u>. W. Willett: 174-243.
- Van Harmelen, V., P. Ariapart, et al. (2000). "Increased adipose angiotensinogen gene expression in human obesity." <u>Obesity</u> 8(4): 337.
- Vasan, R. S., M. G. Larson, et al. (2001). "Impact of high-normal blood pressure on the risk of cardiovascular disease." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 345(18): 1291-1297.
- Vikram, N. K., R. M. Pandey, et al. (2003). "Non-obese (body mass index< 25 kg/m 2) Asian Indians with normal waist circumference have high cardiovascular risk." <u>Nutrition</u> 19(6): 503-509.
- Villela, N. R., L. G. Kramer-Aguiar, et al. (2009). "Metabolic disturbances linked to obesity: the role of impaired tissue perfusion." <u>Arquivos Brasileiros de Endocrinologia & Metabologia</u> 53(2): 238-245.
- Vlassopoulos, A., E. Combet, et al. (2013). "Changing distributions of body size and adiposity with age." International Journal of Obesity: 1–8.
- Wang, J., J. C. Thornton, et al. (1994). "Asians have lower body mass index (BMI) but higher percent body fat than do whites: comparisons of anthropometric measurements." <u>The American journal of clinical nutrition</u> 60(1): 23-28.
- Wang, Z., M. Visser, et al. (1996). "Skeletal muscle mass: evaluation of neutron activation and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry methods." Journal of Applied Physiology 80(3): 824-831.
- Wang, Z., S. Zhu, et al. (2003). "Whole-body skeletal muscle mass: development and validation of total-body potassium prediction models." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 77(1): 76-82.
- Ward, L., N. Byrne, et al. (1997). "Reliability of multiple frequency bioelectrical impedance analysis: an intermachine comparison." <u>American Journal of Human Biology</u> 9(1): 63-72.
- Wardle, J., K. Parmenter, et al. (2000). "Nutrition knowledge and food intake." <u>Appetite</u> 34(3): 269-275.
- Warsy, A. and M. El Hazmi (1999). "Diabetes mellitus, hypertension and obesity-common multifactorial disorders in Saudis." <u>East Mediterr Health J.</u> 5(6): 1236-1242.
- Weisberg, S. P., D. McCann, et al. (2003). "Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue." <u>The Journal of clinical investigation</u> 112(12): 1796-1808.
- Welborn, T., A. Breckenridge, et al. (1966). "Serum-insulin in essential hypertension and in peripheral vascular disease." <u>The Lancet</u> 287(7451): 1336-1337.
- Weng, X., Y. Liu, et al. (2006). "Use of body mass index to identify obesity-related metabolic disorders in the Chinese population." <u>European Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 60(8): 931-937.
- West, C. E. S., W.A. (2009). Food consumption, nutrient intake, and the use of food composition tables. <u>Design concepts in nutritional epidemiology</u>. B. M. Margetts and M. Nelson, Oxford University Press, USA.
- Westerterp, K. R. G., A.H.C. (2002). "Validity of the assessment of dietary intake: problems of misreporting." <u>Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care</u> 5: 489-493.
- WHO-STEPwise (2005). Country-Specific STANDARD REPORT; Saudi Arabia, Ministry of Health, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in collaboration with World Health Organization /Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean.

- WHO (2000). <u>The Asia-Pacific perspective: redefining obesity and its treatment</u>, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2000). "Obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic Introduction." <u>Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic</u> 894: 1-253.
- WHO (2000). Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation on obesity. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2000). Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic. Report of WHO Consultation on Obesity. Geneva, Switzerland.
- WHO (2003). Globalization, diets and noncommunicable diseases.
- WHO (2003). WHO Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health: Eastern Mediterranean Regional Consultation Meeting Report. Geneva.
- WHO (2007). Prevention of cardiovascular disease: pocket guidelines for assessment and management of cardiovascular risk, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2008). Waist Circumference and Waist-Hip Ratio Report of a WHO Expert Consultation. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2011). "Causes of death 2008: data sources and methods." <u>World Health</u> <u>Organization: Geneva, Switzerland</u>.
- WHO (2011). WHO Global status report on non-communicable diseases 2010 (GSR 2010). Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2012). <u>Guideline: sodium intake for adults and children</u>, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2012). Maternal, Newborn & Child Survival, World Health Organization, Statistics and Monitoring Section / Policy and Practice.
- WHO (2013). Country Cooperation Strategy for WHO and Saudi Arabia 2012–2016 World Health Organization.
- WHO (2013). A global brief on hypertension: Silent killer, global public health crisis. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2014). "BMI Classification " Retrieved 05/02/2014, 2014, from http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro_3.html.
- WHO (2014). Noncommunicable Diseases Country Profiles: Mexico, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2014). Obesity and Overweight, Fact Sheet World Health Organization. No. 311.
- WHO. (2015). "Noncommunicable diseases: fact sheet." Retrieved 05/04/2015, 2015, from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs355/en/.
- WHO (2015). Global Health Observatory Data Repository, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2015). Global Health Observatory Data Repository: Raised blood pressure (SBP \geq 140 OR DBP \geq 90), crude (%) Estimates by country, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2016). Global Health Observatory (GHO) data. Life expectancy. Geneva, World Health Organization. 20.
- WHO (2016). Global Health Observatory data repository: Diabetes, deaths per 100 000 Data by country, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2016). Global report on diabetes Geneva, Switzerland, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2016). Obesity and Overweight, Fact Sheet World Health Organization. No. 311.
- WHO (2016). WHO methods and data sources for country-level causes of death 2000–2015. <u>Global Health Estimates Technical Paper WHO/HIS/IER/GHE/2016.3</u>. Geneva, Department of Information, Evidence and Research, World Health Organization.
- WHO Expert Consultation (2004). "Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies." Lancet 363(9403): 157-163.
- WHO/EMRO (2013). Report on the Consultation on developing strategic directions for salt and fat reduction in the Eastern Mediterranean Region, World Health Organization / Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean.

- WHO/FAO (2003). Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases, World Health Organization / Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations WHO Technical Report Series 916.
- WHO/ISH (2003). "2003 World Health Organization (WHO)/International Society of Hypertension (ISH) Statement on Management of Hypertension." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Hypertension</u> 21: 1983-1992.
- WHOSTEPwise (2005). Country-Specific STANDARD REPORT; Saudi Arabia, Ministry of Health, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in collaboration with World Health Organization /Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean.
- Wild, S. R., G.; Green, A.; Sicree, R. & King, H. (2004). "Global Prevalence of Diabetes: Estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030 " <u>Diabetes Care</u> 27(5): 1047– 1053.
- Wilken, K. G. and V. Juneja (2008). Medical Nutrition Therapy for Renal Disorders. <u>Krause's Food, Nutrition, & Diet Therapy</u>. L. K. Mahan, Stump, S.E. Philadelphia, Saunders 12.
- Willett, W. (2013). Policy Applications. <u>Nutritional Epidemiology</u>. W. Willett, Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Willett, W. C. (1998). Overview of Nutritional Epidemiology. <u>Nutritional Epidemiology</u>.W. C. Willett, Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Willett, W. C. (2009). Food Frequency Methods. <u>Nutritional Epidemiology</u>. W. C. Willett, Oxford Schoraship Online.
- Willett, W. C. (2012). Food Frequency Methods. <u>Nutritional Epidemiology</u>. W. C. Willett, Oxford Schoraship Online.
- Willett, W. C. (2013). Issues in Analysis and Presentation of Dietary Data. <u>Nutritional</u> <u>Epidemiology</u>. W. C. Willett, Oxford University Press.
- Willett, W. C. H., F.B. (2007). "Letters to the Editor: The Food Frequency Questionnaire." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2007;16:</u> 16: 182-183.
- Willett, W. C. L., E. (2012). Reproducibility and Validity of Food Frequency Questionnaires. <u>Nutritional Epidemiology</u>. W. C. Willett, Oxford Scholarship Online.
- Yamaoka, K. and T. Tango (2012). "Effects of lifestyle modification on metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis." <u>BMC medicine</u> 10(1): 138.
- Yokota, R. T. d. C., E. S. Miyazaki, et al. (2010). "Applying the triads method in the validation of dietary intake using biomarkers." <u>Cadernos de Saúde Pública</u> 26(11): 2027-2037.
- Yu, C., T. Teoh, et al. (2006). "Review article: obesity in pregnancy." <u>BJOG: An</u> <u>International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology</u> 113(10): 1117-1125.
- Zamboni, M., E. Zoico, et al. (2003). "Body composition changes in stable-weight elderly subjects: the effect of sex." <u>Aging clinical and experimental research</u> 15(4): 321-327.
- Zeng, Q., Y. He, et al. (2014). "Optimal cut-off values of BMI, waist circumference and waist:height ratio for defining obesity in Chinese adults." <u>Br J Nutr</u> 112(10): 1735-1744.
- Zhao, Y., H. Yan, et al. (2016). "Status of cardiovascular health among adults in a rural area of Northwest China: Results from a cross-sectional study." <u>Medicine</u> 95(28).
- Zhou, B., J. Stamler, et al. (2003). "Nutrient intakes of middle-aged men and women in China, Japan, United Kingdom, and United States in the late 1990s: the INTERMAP study." Journal of human hypertension 17(9): 623-630.
- Zhu, S., S. Heshka, et al. (2004). "Combination of BMI and waist circumference for identifying cardiovascular risk factors in whites." <u>Obesity research</u> 12(4): 633-645.
- Zhuang, M., Z. Yuan, et al. (2012). "Reproducibility and relative validity of a food frequency questionnaire developed for adults in Taizhou, China." <u>PLoS One</u> 7(11): e48341.

Appendices:

Appendix1: Ethical Approval

			6		
Kingdom d	of Sau	di Arabia	14	ة المربية السمودية	الملك
Saudi Food	& Drug	a Authority	SFDA		ātī All
Jugarter	(255)	granding	/		<u> </u>
Dr	ug Secto	1r		وطاءالدواء	
		INSTIT	UTIONAL REVIEW	/ BOARD IDUM	
Dat	te :	(G) 08 June 2014 (H) 10 Sha'ban 1435		2	
To:		Mr. MAJID ALKHALAF Principle Investigator PhD Candidate Human Nutrition Departu School of Medicine, Un	ment iversity of Glasgow		
Fro	om:	Prof. SALEH ABDULLA Chairman Institutional Review Boa	H BAWAZIR		
Sub	bject:	New proposal: "Planning for the develo reliability and validity"	pment of nutritional and di	etary assessment methods:	
Thi cor asp Thi	is is in ra mmittee o pects of th is is to acl Proje Proc. Cons Parti Sauc Multi Dem Instru	eference to your subj on the 28 th of May 20 the proposal, you are gr knowledge that we rec act proposal. ication form for ethical edures manual for diet sent form. cipant information sher di food frequency ques iple pass 24 hours diet iographic, blood press uctions for 24-hours ur	ect proposal, which ha D14. Following the revi- ranted permission to cor- elived and approved the approval (University of 0 and nutrition survey. et (English & Arabic ver- tionnaire. ary recall forms. ure and anthropometric - tine collection (English 8	s been reviewed by the IRB ew of the IRB on the ethical iduct your study. following documents: Glasgow). sion). questionnaire.	
TE	RMS OF	APPROVAL:			
	1. Ann subr repo also adve	ual reports: continu mission of an annual r ort determined by the submit the final reporterse effects to SFDA/IF	ed approval of this report. Please provide t date of your letter of a ort of the study outcom RB committee.	project is dependent on the he IRB committee with annual pproval. In addition, the PI will e plus immediate reporting of	

۱۳۹۹۲ الطريق الدائري الشمالي - حي النفل - الرياض ١٣٦١٢ - ١٣٦٢ - ١٢٨٨ العربية السعودية - هاتف، ٢٠٢٨٢٢٢ ١ ٢٢٩ + هاكس، ١٣٦٢ 3292 Northern Ring Rd. - Al Nafal District - Riyadh 13312-6288 - Kingdon G Saudi Arabia - Tel.: +966 1 2038222 - Fax: +966 1 2057633

vww.sfda.gov.s



Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Saudi Food & Drug Authority

Drug Sector

المملكة العربية السعودية الهيئة العامة للغذاء والحواء قطاع الدواء

 Amendment to the approved project: changes to any aspects of the project require the submission of a request for amendment to IRB committee and must not begin without an approval from SFDA /IRB committee. Substantial variations may require a new application.

- Monitoring: Projects may be subject to an audit or any other form of monitoring by SFDA/IRB committee at any time.
- Retention and storage of the data: the PI is responsible for the storage and retention of the original data pertaining to project for a minimum period of five years.

Upon the above permission the PI should contact the IRB committee for any further clarification through E-mail: IRB@sfda.gov.sa or Telephone: 011-2038222 Ext: 2342

We wish you every success in your research endeavors.

۲۳۹۲ الطريق الدائري الشمالي - حي النفل - الرياض ١٣٦٢ - ٦٣٨٨ - الملكة العربية السعودية - هاتف، ٢٠٢٢٢٢٢ ١ ٢٦٦ + هلكس، ٦٣٩٢ ٢٢٦ + ٢٠ 3292 Northern Ring Rd. - Al Nafal District - Riyadh 13312-6288 - Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - Tel.: +966 1 2038222 - Fax: +966 1 2057633 www.sfda.gov.sa

Appendix2: Consent Form



الهيئة الصامة للضخاء والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority 2

المسح الغذائي والتغذوي

DIET AND NUTRITION SURVEY

هى مدينټ الرياض

IN RIYADH CITY

CONSENT FORM

نموذج إقرار

Title of Project: DIET AND NUTRITION SURVEY IN RIYADH CITY Name of Researcher: Majid M. Alkhalaf

PhD Student, Human Nutrition Department, School of Medicine, University of Glasgow

عنوان المشروع المسح الغذائي والتغذوي في مدينة الرياض.

الباحث ماجد مقبل الخلف.

طالب دكتوراه، قسم تغذية الإنسان، كلية الطب، جامعة جلاسكو.

- I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet for the above study and have had the
 opportunity to ask questions.
- I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.
- 3. I agree to take part in the above study.
 - 1 أقر بقراءة و فهم جميع ما ورد في ورقة المعلومات المتعلقة بالمشاركة في الدراسة المذكورة أعلاه، كما أتيحت في الفرصة لطرح الأسئلة حول ذلك.
 - 2 أعلم أن مشاركتي تطوعية، ولي الحق في الانسحاب من الدراسة في أي وقت ومن دون توضيح الأسباب، كما أن مشاركتي ليس لها تأثير على حقي في الرعاية، الصحية، أو حقوقي القانونية.
 - 3 أوافق على المشاركة في الدراسة المشار لها أعلاه.



Appendix3: Saudi-FFQ

University Section of	الهيئة الصامة للضخاء والدواء
of Glasgow Human Nutrition	Saudi Food & Drug Authority
DIET AND NUTRITION VALIDATION SURVEY	المسح الغذائي والتغذوي
IN RIYADH CITY	في مدينة الرياض
Date of Interview	Participant's Code

Saudi Food Frequency Questionnaire

الحليب ومنتجاته : 1. Dairy Products

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following, dairy foods? (Please check the appropriate box)

Code	Food Item	Per day (times) 6+ 4-5 2-3 once				H	Per we	ek	Per 1 or N	nonth Never		Measure	Code (office use only)
		6+	4-5	2-3	once	5-6	2-4	once	1-3	Less than once			
1.1	Milk: حليب												
1.1.1	Whole كامل الدسم												
1.1.2	Low Fat قليل الاسم												
1.1.3													
	Skimmed منزوع الدسم												
1.2	لين:Laban												
1.2.1	Whole كامل الدسم												
1.2.2	Low Fat قليل الدسم												
1.2.3													
	Skimmed منزوع الدسم												
1.3	برڭ،كرافت):Cream Cheese	والغراعي،	ة للدهن(مثل	كريمة القابل	جبنة ا						1		
1.3.1	Whole كامل الدسم												
1.3.2	Low Fat قليل الدسم												
1.4	White cheese (Feta, Mozzarella and Spread Cheeses) الجبنة البيضاء(ليتاء مرزاريت، الجبنة قابلة الدهن)												
1.5	Cheddar Cheese جبنة التشيير												
1.6	زبادي/روب:Yogurt		-										
1.6.1	Whole كامل الدسم												
1.6.2	Low Fat قليل الاسم										1		
1.6.3											1		
	Skimmed منزوع الدسم												
1.7	لېنە:Labnah		_	_									
1.7.1	Wholeكامل الدسم												
1.7.2	Low Fat قليل الاسم												
1.8	آيس کريم :Ice cream												
1.9	Quashta (Cream) فتطة/قير Gaymar/												





2. Fruits: الفواكه

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following fruits? (please check the appropriate box)

(For seasonal fruits marked *, please estimate your average use when the fruit is in season) (للفواكه الموسمية ذات العائمة *، يرجى تقدير متوسط استهاتكك لها في الموسم)

Code	Food Item	I	Per day	y (time	es)		Per w	reek		Per 1 or N	nonth Never		Measure	Code (office use only)
		6+	4-5	2-3	once	5-	5 2-4	once		1-3	Less than once			
2.1	سلطة فراكه Fresh Fruit Salad طازجه											1		
2.2	Tinned Fruits (all kinds) فراکه معلیه											1		
2.3	ثناج Apple													
2.4	Bananas بوز								1					
2.5	*Strawberry, raspberries فراولة، توت													
2.6	Oranges and Mandarin برتقال ،يوسفي													
2.7	جريب فررت Grapefruit]					
2.8	Plums, Peaches /Nectarines, or Apricots برقرق، بخاری،خوخ او مشش													
2.9	تەر:Dates								-					
2.9.1	عبر (Tammer) عبر													
2.9.2	Fresh Dates (Ruttab, refriger.) تىر بىرد													
2.9.3	*Fresh (Ruttab or Fresh) رطب (duttab or Fresh													
2.10	Pears, Pineapple, Kiwi, Figs, Cherries، کفری، آناناس کیری، تین، کرز													
2.11	Grapes 🛶]]		
2.12	زيترن Olives													
2.13	Dried Fruits (e.g. Figs, Apricots, Raisins, Peaches) فراکه مجتندانین،شندش، زیب، خرخ)													
2.14	*Watermelon بطيخ								1			1		
2.15	*Other melons (e.g. Canteloupe, Galia or Honeydew) ثمار/بطيخ اصفر													
2.16	Mango ملجر								1			1		
2.17	ومان Pomegranate]]		

Please, make sure you have given an answer for every line before leaving this page

Majid Alkhalaf





<u>Vegetables</u>: الخضروات

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following vegetables? (please check the appropriate box)

Code	Food Item		Per da	ay (tin	nes)		I	er we	ek		Per n or N	nonth lever	Measure	Code (office use only)
		6 +	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once		1-3	Less than once		
3.1	ملفرت/کرنب :Cabbage					1				1				
3.1.1	Fresh طازج]]				
3.1.2	Cooked مطبوخ					1				1				
3.2	Mixed Vegetable Salad (fresh) سلطة مشكلة													
3.3	Mixed Vegetables (cooked) خضبار مشكلة مطبوخة													
3.4	Cauliflower, Broccoli or Brussels sprouts (cooked) زهرة، القرنيط المطبوخ أو كرنت													
3.5	تبرئة Tabouleh					1				1				
3.6	Green leafy vegetables (Molokhia & spinach) - الورقيات النضراء (المونية، سبانخ), Okra & Green Beans باسيا، لوبا													
37	فاصولیا خضراء Paga (pagkad)/	<u> </u>					<u> </u>			{				
2.7	بازلاء مطبرخة (bazelah)													
3.8	جزر Carrots					1				1				
3.9	طماطع Tomatoes					1				1				
3.10	فطر (مشروم) Mushrooms					1				1				
3.11	کراٹ Leeks					1				1				
3.12	خيار Cucumber					1]				
3.13	خس Lettuce]]				
3.15	نرب Sweetcorn]]				
3.16	بصل Onion]]				
3.17	Beans (fava, red, white and Soya beans), lentils, Pigeon, Chick & cow peas) (cooked) فران مسرغان فاصرایا الصریا،فاصرایا بحصر(یلیا) فاصرایا													
3.18	فاصرليا حلرة Baked beans					1				1				
3.19	بطاطس Boiled potatoes بطاطس مطبوخة (مسلوقه)													
3.20	Fried potatoes (French fries)(بطاطس مقلية (اصابع													
3.21	Potato crisps بطاطس نٹییس (مٹل برینقلز او لیز)													



الهيئة الصامة للضخاء والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority

Meat, Fish and Eggs: لحوم، أسماك وبيض

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following meat, fish, eggs etc.? (please check the appropriate box)

Code	Food Item	Per day (times) 6+ 4-5 2-3 once				P	er we	ek		Per i or l	nonth Never	Measure	Code (office use only)	
		6+	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once		1-3	Less than once		
4.1	بيض سلرق Boiled Egg] [
4.2	Fried eggs, Scrambled eggs or omelets ، بيض مثلي،													
4.3	Chicken or turkey (boiled, grilled or fried) دومی(سلوق،شتوی،هتلی) رومی(سلوق،شتوی،هتلی													
4.4	Lamb or mutton as a mixed dish (e.g. Kabsah, stew, casserole, Spaghetti, lasagne etc. لنجر ضان مضاله ناطباق مشكله كيسة لنحر التارامين.													
4.5	لمباعيس ولاراميا باللحر Lamb or mutton as a main dish (eg. Steak,													
	roast, in gravy etc.) لحم ضنان طبق أساسي، ستيك، اضلاع مشري أو في مرق/ايدام													
4.6	Beef as a or mixed dish (e.g. Kabsah, stew, casserole, Spaghetti, lasgne etc. في طبق المارية (كمانيام/ مترع من المور البقرية (كمانيام/ مرق، سياغتي، لاز آنيا)													
4.7	Beef as a main dish (eg. Steak, roast, in gravy etc.) لم بقرى كطبق السامي سنيك، الضلاع مشوى أو في اينام/مرق													
4.8	لحم جان Camel Meat									┥╽				
4.9	burgers (oeer burger or Chicken Burger) برجر (لحم بقري او نجاج)													
4.10	سەكەنقى Fried fish													
4.11	Grilled or steamed fish بىلەك بالىخار													
4.12	Canned tuna, salmon, mackerel, or sardine نونه مربع مايين الارامي													
4.13	Prawn or Shrimps جنيري دريان													
4.14	Mussels, oysters, scallops or cockles بلح البحر، المدار، اسكارب، الصدفيات													
4.15	Organ meat (liver,brain,heart) (لحرم الاحشاء(كبد، مخ ألب													





Mixed Dishes: أطباق مختلطة

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following mixed dishes? (please check the appropriate box)

Code	Food Item	I	er da	y (tim	es)		I	ek	Per n or N	ionth ever	Measure	Code (office use ouly)	
		6+	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once	1-3	Less than once		
5.1	شررية خضار Vegetable soup												
5.2	thicken soup with cream شرربة الدجاج بالكريمة												
5.3	شرربة عس Lentil soup					Γ							
5.4	شررية الشرفان Oat meal Soup					Γ							
5.5	Jareesh (gerish), Marqooq, harees, mataziz, or Qorsan جریش،مرفرق، هریس،مطاطیز ،فرصان												
5.6	سليق/رز طايفي Saleeq					Γ							
5.7	Marasia (Marassia) مراصيع												
5.8	Aseeda (Asseda) <u>محس</u> د					F							
5.9	Rice (Kabsah, Beriani, Bukhari or mandi) without meat ارز (کیسةبریاتی بنجاری،سندی)بدرن لدم												
5.10	Rice with Vegetables (Maqloobah) without meat أرز بالخضار (سلرق) بدرن لم												
5.11	Kebbah 🏎					Γ							
5.12	Mottabaque W/ egg (Muttabagh) سطيق بالبيض												
5.13	Stuffed vegetables (Vine leaves, cabbage, squash) خضراوات محتية روفي عنيسالمترف،كوس)												
5.14	Eggplant (aubergine), Zucchini (Marrow) (cooked) (Mussakaah OR Moussaka) بانتجان کر سازمصنه)												
5.15	لازانيا Lasagne												

Breads, Cereals and Starches: مخبوزات، حبوب ونشويات

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following Breads, cereals and starches? (Please check the appropriate box)

Code	Food Item	Per day (times)]	Per we	ek	Per n or N	nonth ever	Measure	Code (office use only)
		6 +	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once	1-3	Less than once		
7.1	Breakfast cereals (corn رقانق للنر،: (کررن فلکس) (
7.2	White bread (Samoli, tabonah, tannor, toast, pita) خبز ابيض(صافرلي، تقرر ، ترمت												
7.3	Brown bread (Samoli, Tabonah, toast, pita) خبز بر (صابولي، ترست)												

in U	niversity Section of Glasgow Human Nutr	ition	S	م للضخاء والحو audi Food & Dr	ug Authority 🏸
7.4	Tamees or Irani bread with تەيس او خېز ايرانې مع السسېچsesam				
7.5	Pasta spaghetti and Macaroni (مکرونه (باستامیباغتر)				
7.6	بسكرت بالتعر Dates Biscuits				
7.7	Other Biscuits and crackers کل انواع البسکویت				

7. <u>Beverages, Juices and Drinks</u>: العصائر والمشروبات

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following beverages?

Code	Food Item	F	er da	y (tin	nes)		Per week			Per n or N	nonth ever	Measure	Code (office use only)
		6+	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once	1-3	Less than once		
8.1	Regular Coffee and Instant coffee (e.g. Nescafe) القهرة السوداء والتركية مثل النسكافيه												
8.2	فهرة عربية Arabic Coffee												
8.3	Coffee Whitnesrs e.g. coffee- mate(القيوة (كرفي است)												
8.4	Regular fizzy soft drink (e.g. Cola, lemonade, etc.) مشروبات												
8.5	Low calorie (diet) fizzy soft drink (e.g. Cola, lemonade, etc.) مشروبات غازیه (بندن سکر)												
8.6	شاي اسود Black Tea												
8.7	شاي لفضر Green Tea												
8.8	العشرويات Fruit squash or cordial العشرويات المضاف لها ماء (تلتج أو فيعتو)												
8.9	اهرت Hot chocolate/ Cocoa drinks تشرکلیت												
8.10	Horlicks/Ovaltine/ Nesquik/ Milo بودرة معززة الطعم تضناف للطيب أو الماء الساخن (تسكويك أو مايلو)												
8.11	Mineral water (not in other drinks) (sehha) هياه الشرب المجاة أو العياه المعننية												
8.12	Tap water (not in other drinks) ماء الصنبور أو الحنفية												
8.13	Pure fruit juice (orange, apple,etc.) عصبر الفاكهه (برنقال، نفاح أو غيرها)												
8.14	مشروبات الطاقة Energy Drinks												

8. <u>Sweets</u>: الحلويات

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following sweet baked goods? (please check the appropriate box)

Code	Food Item	P	'er da	y (tim	ies)]	Per we	ek	Per r or N	nonth lever	Measure	Code (office use only)
		6+	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once	1-3	Less than once		
9.1	کریم کر امیل Cream caramel					1							
9.2	Halawah Tahinah (Tahini) طحينية]							

Please, make sure you have given an answer for every line before leaving this page

6

😲 U	Iniversity Section of Glasgow Human Nutrit	ion				elg Sa	ച ud	ذاء وا Food i	ت للض Dru & Dru	نام ور	الهيئت الح Authority	K
9.3	درنات Doughnuts			1								
9.4	Basbousah and Konafah بسيرسة وكذفه											
9.5	Mohallabiah مهليبة			1								
9.6	Klijah & Lugimat Al-Ghadi (Lugimat) کلیبه و لقیمات			1								
9.7	Cake (All) کیک											
9.8	Arabic sweets Baklawa حاريات عربية (بقاترة)											
9.9	شکولاته Chocolate			1								
9.10	Honey			1								
9.11	مربى Jam			1								
9.12	جلی Jellies, All Kinds			1								

9. <u>Seeds and Nuts</u>: المكسرات والبذور

During the past year, on average, how often have you consumed the following seeds? (please check the appropriate box)

Code	Food Item	Per day (times)			Per week			Per month or Never			Measure	Code (office use only)		
		6 +	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once	1-3	Less than once			
10.1	اللوز Almond													
10.2	كاجر/سن العجوز. Cashew nuts													
10.3	فول سوداني Peanut													
10.4	فستق Pistachio													
10.5	جوز Walnut													
10.6	بندق Hazelnuts													
10.7	عين الجەل Pecan nut													
10.8	أبو فروه Chest nut													
10.9	مكسرات مشكله Mixed nuts													
10.10	Seeds (sunflower, melon, sesame seeds) بذور الحبحب، القرع أو درَّار الشمس													
10.11	زيدة الفول السوداني Peanut butter													

10.How often do you eat meals at a fast food/non-fast food restaurant? في الغالب، ما هو محل استهلاكك للوجبات الغذائية خارج المنزل سواء من مطاعم الوجبات السريعة أو غيرها؟

	Average Frequency												
I	er da	y (tim	es) Per week			Per month			Office use only				
6+	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once		1-3	Never, less than once/ month			

المحليات الاصطناعية :Artificial Sweeteners

🗆 No Y نعم Yes 🗆

Please, make sure you have given an answer for every line before leaving this page

7





If Yes, what kind (including brand name) and how often do you consume.

إذا كانت الإجابة بنعم، ما هو نوع هذا المحلى الاصطناعي (بما في ذلك الاسم/العلامة التجارية) وكم الكمية المستهلكة في الغالب؟

Artificial Sweetener	r	Average Frequency											
Name &Brand	Dose]	Per day (times)				Per week			Per month			Code (office use only)
		6+	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once		1-3	Never, less than once/ month	
]							
]							

نعم Yes 🛛

12. Vitamins and Minerals: الفيتامينات والمعادن

Do you take supplements such as vitamins or minerals regularly?

هل تنْحَذ المكمانات الغذائية مثل الفيتامينات أو المعادن بانتظام؟

D No Y

If Yes, what kind (including brand name) and how often do you consume.

المعالية المحمد المعالية المعامين المعامين المعالية المعامين المعالية المعامين المعالية المستهلكة في الغالب؟ إذا كانت الإجابة بنعم، ما هو نوع المكمل الغذائي (بما في ذلك الاسم/العائمة التجارية) وكم الكمية المستهلكة في الغا

Supplement			Average Frequency											
Name &Brand Dose			Per da	y (tim	es)		3	Per we	ek		P	er month		Code (office use only)
		6+	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once		1-3	Never, less than once/ month		
]]				
]]				
						1				1			1	
						1				1			1	
						1				1			1	
						1				1			1	
]]				

الدهون، الزيوت والسكر : 13. Fats, Oils and Sugar

A. Spreads and Oils: (الدهون والزيوت القابلة للدهن، عدا التي تستخدم في الطبخ)

Do you use any butter, margarine or other spread or oil on bread?

هل تستخدم الزيدة، السمن، المارجرين أو الزيوت على الخبز؟	
نعم No لا No لا No	
If yes, please give full details of the type(s) you use most often? إذا كانت الإجابة ينعم، يرجى إعطاء التفاصيل الكاملة للأنواع التي تستخدم في معظم الأحيان؟	
	Office code
Please, make sure you have given an answer for every line before leavin	g this page







If yes, how many <u>teaspoons</u> of ن أو الزيوت الأخرى التي استخدمتها على الخبز ؟	butter, margarine or othe) م تستخدم يومياً من الزيدة، المرجرين، السم	r spread did you use <u>each day</u> on bread? إذا كان الجواب نعم، كم ملعقة شاو
السُنَّى :B. Sugar Do you add sugar on your tea No کا 🗆	یکن أو غیر ما الغاصة بك؟ ?or coffee نعم Yes لنع	هل تقرم بإضافة السكر على الشاي، القهرة، الكورن ق
If yes, what type of sugar you سُتُّر أبيض White الم الما (غير ۵۸) Others (غير ۵۸)	هو نوع السكر المستخدم ?are using سُكَّر بَنَّى Brown ا	إذا كان الجواب نعم، فما (include brand names please)
How many <u>teaspoons</u> of table با كل يوم في المشروبات، الكورن فليكس وغيرها	sugar did you use <u>each da</u> ن ملعقة شاي من سكر المائدة التي تستخدم 	(بما في ذلك الإسم او العاصم التجارية) y in drinks and on cereals or deserts? إذا كان الجواب نعم، كم ه
(If you did not use any table s	ىع (0)(0) ugar, please enter	(إذا كنت لا تستخدم أي كمية من سكر المائدة، من فضلك ض
دلع الطعام :C. Salt Do you add Salt to food while ☐ Never کا عادۂ Usually	إلى طعامك أنشاء الطيخ؟ ? cooking نادر أ Rarely [دائما ً Always [هل تقوم بإضافة الملح أحياناً Sometimes □
Do you add Salt to any food a □ Never 일	t the table (while eating)? الدرأ Rarely	هل تقوم بإضافة الملح إلى طعامك أنتاء الأكل؟ أحياناً Sometimes ا
عادة Usually عادة	دائما [*] Always	
Do you regularly use a salt sul □ No 것 If yes, which brand?	ولت)؟ ?(bstitute (e.g. LoSalt نعم Yes ل	«ل تستخدم بدائل الملح بانتظام (على سبيل المثال: لو س
طبی)الطبخ :D.Cooking fats and oils Do you use any fat or oil for h No کا D	دهون وزیوت ال ن؟ ?ome frying or cooking نحم Yes ل	هل تستخدم أي دهون أو زيت للقلي أو الطبخ في المنز

Please, make sure you have given an answer for every line before leaving this page





If yes, what type of cooking oil is usually used at home and what is the frequency of consumption? (إذا كانت الإجابة بنعر، ما هو نوع زيت الطبهي/الطبخ المستخدم عادة في المنزل وما هو محل الاستهلاك؟

	1 10 3 303 10 1					•								
Code	Food Item	Per day (times)				Per week			Per month or Never			Measure	Code (office use only)	
		6+	4-5	2-3	once		5-6	2-4	once		1-3	Less than once		
15.1	زيدة Butter													
15.2	زېدة نباتية (مارجارين) Margarine													
15.3	Animal Fat (Tallow or Drinning) for any													
15.4	Vegetable Oils (Represent. for Sunflower, Canola, Corn, Cottonseed, Palm and Soybean Oils) زیرت نبانه													
15.5	زیت زیترن Olive oil									[
15.6	Ghee (represent. palm and سەن ئباتى أو حيرانى (butter													
15.7	Mayonnaise مايرنيز													

THANK YOU FOR ANSWERING THESE QUESTIONS

شكراً جزيلاً على الإجابة

Appendix4: 24- hours Urine Collection Record

Unive of Gla	ersity Section of sgow Human Nutrition		الهيئة الصامة للضخاء والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority
D	ET AND NUTRITION		المسح الغذائب والتغذوي
SU	JRVEY IN RIYADH CITY		هي مدينة الرياض
	<u>24- h</u> يتر	ours Urine Collection Reco سجل جمع البول خلال <u>24</u> ساء	ord
	العمرا		الاسفرا
	الجنس، ذكر/أنثى		تاريخ بداية الجمع
	وقت الانتهاء من الجمع		وقت بداية الجمع
	Comments	Volume	Time
	ملاحظات	الكمية	الوقت
			ا: منAM/م PM
			PM هر AM/ه PM
			PM/م PM/م PM
			: م_AM/م PM
			: M_م PM/م PM
			: PM/م PM
			:[] مرAM/م PM
			: M_م PM/م PM
			: PM م PM
			: PM/م PM
			: PM/م PM
			PM م PM/م PM
			: M_م PM/م PM
			PM م PM
Please report	on the following , specimens (how many times and in what t	me?)	جي الإجابة عن ما يلي؛ هل فقدت أي عينات من البول (كم مره و في أي وقت؟)
2. Any b	lood and/or faeces dropped in urine during	collection (how many times and what time	هل وقع أي دم أو براز هي البول خلال عملية الجمع ؟?(! كم مره و هي أي وقت؟)
3. Any med	lication or supplements taken during the ur	ine collection (name & amount): (الاسم و الكميتر)؛	هل تناولت أي دواء أو مكمل غذائي خلال جمع البول؟
The time	at which the PABA tablets been taken:		ما هي أوفات تناول اقراص فينامين البابًا:
	القطورBreakfast	القداءLunch	Dinner,s (mat)
	م AM/می AM:	م PM/مین AM	م PM/من AM:

PLEASE RETURN COMPLETED COLLECTION RECORD WITH THE URINE SPECIMEN الرجاء إعادة سجل جمع البول بعد تعبئته مع وعاء حفظ البول

Appendix5: Estimation of mis-reporters of Actual Energy Intake (AEI):

In chapter 3, we have implemented arbitrary energy cut-offs (<500 kcal/day or >5,000 kcal/day) were suggested by Walter Willet (Willett 2012) and implemented by several studies (Larson, Neumark-Sztainer et al. 2011; Liu, Wang et al. 2013; Jensen-Otsu and Austin 2015; Zhao, Yan et al. 2016). Any subject have daily energy intake below 500 or above 5,000 kcal was considered with an implausible energy intake and was excluded from the analysis. However, in this appendix, we have added our analysis regarding indirect measurement of Basal Metabolic Rate (BMR) using the Schofield prediction equations based on age, body weight (in kg) and sex (Schofield 1985), as adopted by the FAO (Food Organization), WHO and Agricultural (World Health Organization) (2004) (FAO/WHO/UNU 2004) and the Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (2011) (Nutrition 2011). These equations are shown in Table 2.4-4. Estimated BMR was multiplied by a physical activity level (PAL) value of 1.2 to calculate estimated energy requirement per day. This PAL value (1.2) corresponds to the value to be multiplied with the BMR of totally inactive dependent person (bed bound or chair bound) with no strenuous or leisure activity (Goldberg, Black et al. 1991; FAO/WHO/UNU 2004).

To identify the mis-reporting status of Actual Energy Intake (AEI), the ratio of reported AEI to estimated Basal Metabolic Rate (BMR) (AEI:BMR) was calculated for each individual and compared with cutoff values for EI:BMR (Livingstone and Black 2003). Then, the study subjects were categorised as under-reporters (AEI:BMR <0.76), plausible reporters (AEI:BMR = 0.76-1.24), or over-reporters (AEI:BMR >1.24) of AEI. These definitions are partly based on the 95% confidence limits of agreement between AEI and EE measured by the double labeled water method as proposed by Black and Cole (Black and Cole 2000). This approach for identifying the mis-reporting of AEI has been adopted and used in several studies (Black 2000; Mccrory, Hajduk et al. 2002; Livingstone, Robson et al. 2003; Timpson, Emmett et al. 2008; Carlsen, Lillegaard et al. 2010; Murakami, Miyake et al. 2012). However, the investigated outliers and potential under-, plausible and under-reporters were reviewed for coding errors but were not excluded in this chapter.

Sex	Age	BMR [*] (Kcal/day)								
Males	18-30	15.057 weight (kg) + 692.2								
	31-60	11.472 weight (kg) + 873.1								
Females	18-30	14.818 weight (kg) + 486.6								
	31-60	8.126 weight (kg) + 845.6								
Source: (FAO/WHO/UNU 2004, Page 37, Table 5.2 and Scientific Advisory										
Committee on Nutrition 2011, Page 105, Table 17)										

Table 0-1 Schofield prediction equations for estimating basal metabolic rate (BMR) (kcal/day)

* BMR: Basal metabolic rate = weight coefficient x weight (kg) + constant

Mis-reporting results of Actual Energy Intake (AEI):

Table 3.3-4 shows the percentages of under-reporters, plausible reporters and over-reporters in the study sample for both Saudi-FFQ and 24-HDR methods. The percentages of under-reporters, plausible reporters and over-reporters from the Saudi-FFQ method were 15%, 35% and 50%, respectively. Furthermore, the percentages of under-reporters, plausible reporters and over-reporters from the 24-HDR method were 55%, 39% and 6% respectively.

1.1.1.1 Gender and Mis-reporting:

Women tend to under-report their intake than men in both 24-HDR and FFQ methods. The magnitude of the difference in under-reporting of dietary intake between women and men using Saudi-FFQ methods was statistically significant (chi-square=8.33, p=0.004). However, the magnitude of the difference in under-reporting of dietary intake between women and men using 24-HDR method was not statistically significant (chi-square=0.004, p=0.947). Furthermore, men tend to over-report their intake than women using both methods. The magnitude of the difference in over-report their intake between women and men using Saudi-FFQ method was statistically significant (chi-square=11.1, p=0.001). However, the magnitude of the difference in over-reporting of dietary intake between women and men using 24-HDR method was not statistically significant (chi-square=11.1, p=0.001). However, the magnitude of the difference in over-reporting of dietary intake between women and men using 24-HDR method was not statistically significant (chi-square=3.36, p=0.067). **Tabele 6** shows the general characteristic of under-, plausible and over-reporters by gender for Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia based on MP-24-Hour Dietary Recall and Saudi-FFQ methods.

1.1.1.2 Adiposity and Mis-reporting

Obese participants (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) tend to under-report their intake than non-obese participants (BMI<30 kg/m²) using FFQ method. The magnitude of the difference in

under-reporting of dietary intake between obese and non-obese using Saudi-FFQ method was statistically significant (chi-square=6.27, p=0.012). However, participants with Risk2 WC (females, >88cm, males >102cm) tend to not under-report their intake than non-Risk2 WC participants (females, \leq 88cm, males \leq 102cm) using FFQ method. The magnitude of the difference in under-reporting of dietary intake between Risk2 WC and non-Risk2 WC using Saudi-FFQ method was not statistically significant (chi-square=0.023, p=0.495).

Participants with elevated BMI ($\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) tend to under-report their intake than participants with Normal BMI ($< 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) using FFQ method. The magnitude of the difference in under-reporting of dietary intake between participants with elevated BMI ($\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) and with normal BMI ($< 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) using Saudi-FFQ method was statistically significant (chi-square=16.48, p=0.0001). However, participants with elevated WC (females, >80cm, males >94cm) tend to not under-report their intake than Non-elevated WC (females, ≤ 80 cm, males ≤ 94 cm) using FFQ method. The magnitude of the difference in under-reporting of dietary intake between participants with elevated WC (females, >80cm, males >94cm) and participants with non-elevated WC (females, ≤ 80 cm, males ≤ 94 cm) using Saudi-FFQ method was not statistically significant (chi-square=3.73, p=0.054).

1.1.1.3 Age and Mis-reporting

Young participants aged 19-29 years tend to under-report their energy intake than other participants using FFQ method. The magnitude of the difference in under-reporting of energy intake between young participants aged 19-29 years and the participants aged 30-60 years using Saudi-FFQ method was statistically significant (chi-square= 4.34, p=0.037).

Table 0-2: Medians (IQR) of intake and urinary excretions of energy, macro- and micronutrients obtained from the Saudi-FFQ (n=601), repeated MP-24-Hour Dietary Recalls (24-HDRs) (n=213) and 24-hour urinary excretions (n=23) among Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia.

Nutrionta	Soudi FI	EQ (n=601)	Repeated	MP-24-Hour	24-Hour Urinary			
Inutrients	Saudi-F1	FQ (II=001)	Dietary Re	ecall (n=2013)	excret	tion (n=23)		
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR	Median	IQR		
Energy (Kcal)	2346	(1766-3208)	1419	(1024-1809)	-	-		
Fat (g)	93	(65-134)	50	(33-69)	-	-		
Protein (g)	86	(62-116)	51	(33-69)	105	(89-118)		
CHO (g)	298	(217-418)	184	(134-249)	-	-		
Fibre (g)	23	(15-35)	11	(8-17)	-	-		
Retinol (µg)	550	(363-807)	380	(207-660)	-	-		
B-Carotene (µg)	2451	(1338-3760)	741	(370-1459)	-	-		
Thiamin (mg)	1.3	(0.8-8.4)	0.5	(0.4-0.8)	-	-		
Riboflavin (mg)	2.7	(1.9-3.7)	1.2	(0.8-2.3)	-	-		
Vitamin C (mg)	103	(54-169)	23	(11-63)	-	-		
Sodium (mg)	3457	(2298-4696)	2217	(1380-3261)	3366	(2564-3877)		
Salt (g/day)	8.7	(5.8-11.9)	5.6	(3.5-8.2)	9	(7-10)		
Potassium (mg)	5345	(3253-8159)	2070	(1241-4233)	1639	(1275-1934)		
Calcium (mg)	782	(531-1113)	300	(182-473)	-	-		
Phosphorous (mg)	1755	(1246-2331)	951	(637-1379)	-	-		
Iron (mg)	35.8	(20.4-55.9)	14.7	(7.8-34.8)	-	-		
Water (ml)	1932	(1355-2626)	976	(730-1350)	-	-		

Table 0-3: General characteristic of under- , plausible and over-reporters by gender for Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia based on MP-24-Hour Dietary Recall (n=213) and Saudi-FFQ (601) methods

Gender ^a	Under (AEI:]	-reporters FEE<0.76)	Plausible-ro (EI:TEE 0.'	eporters 76-1.24)	Over-re (EI:TEI	Over-reporters (EI:TEE >1.24)		
	FFQ (n=601)	24-HDR (n=213)	FFQ (n=601)	24- HDR (n=213)	FFQ (n=601)	24- HDR (n=213)		
Men (n(%))	26/265 (10)	51/104 (49)	86/265 (32)	44/104 (42)	153/265 (58)	9/104 (9)		
Women (n(%))	61/336 (18)	65/109 (60)	127/336 (38)	40/109 (37)	148/336 (44)	4/109 (4)		
All (n(%))	87/601 (15)	116/213 (55)	213/601(35)	84/213 (39)	301/601 (50)	13/213 (6)		

^a These definitions are partly based on the 95% confidence limits of agreement between AEI and EE measured by the double labeled water method as proposed by Black and Cole (Black and Cole 2000). TEE: Total Energy Expenditure (Basal metabolic rate * 1.2); AEI: Actual Energy Intake.

Gender ^a	Under (AEI:7	-reporters FEE<0.76)	Plausible-r (EI:TEE 0.	eporters 76-1.24)	Over-reporters (EI:TEE >1.24)			
	FFQ (n=601)	FQ (n=601) 24-HDR (n=213)		24-HDR (n=213)	FFQ (n=601)	24-HDR (n=213)		
19-29 (n(%))	54/311 (17)	53/98 (54)	103/311 (33)	39/98 (40)	154/311 (50)	6/98 (6)		
30-39 (n(%))	16/152 (11)	36/60 (60)	54/152 (35)	21/60 (35)	82/152 (54)	3/60 (5)		
40-49 (n(%))	10/80 (13)	13/31 (42)	30/80 (37)	15/31 (48)	40/80 (50)	3/31 (10)		
50-60 (n(%))	7/58 (12)	14/24 (58)	26/58 (45)	9/24 (38)	25/58 (43)	1/24 (4)		
All (n(%))	87/601 (15)	116/213 (55)	213/601(35)	84/213 (39)	301/601 (50)	13/213 (6)		

Table 0-4: General characteristic of under- , plausible and over-reporters by age group for Riyadh city adults, Saudi Arabia based on MP-24-Hour Dietary Recall (n=213) and Saudi-FFQ (601) methods

^a These definitions are partly based on the 95% confidence limits of agreement between AEI and EE measured by the double labeled water method as proposed by Black and Cole (Black and Cole 2000). TEE: Total Energy Expenditure (Basal metabolic rate * 1.2); AEI: Actual Energy Intake.

Appendix6: Questionnaire of knowledge and perceptions of Saudi adults towards food and health



Introduction:

You have been invited to participate in a research study. Before you decide whether or not to take part in the study, it is important for you to understand why theresearch is being done, and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Please ask the researcher(s) if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information, and take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part. What is the purpose of the study? Saudi Arabia (SA) suffers from a high burden of health issues such as cardiovascular diseases, hypertension and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Many research studies have found that eating behaviours are determinant of health status, and these behaviours are largely modifiable. However, changing these behaviours is a complex challenge and there is a lack of information in Saudi Arabia regarding the underlying belief structures that influence these behaviours. Therefore, this study wants to explore peoples' views on food and how it relates to their health status. In particular, this study aims to explore the influencing factors on changes in food choices and food behaviours.

Taking part in this study is entirely voluntary. If you do decide to take part, you will be asked to keep this information sheet and to sign a consent form. You will receive a copy of your signed consent form. If you do decide to take part, you are free to withdraw from the study at any time without providing an explanation. Any information collected from you would then be destroyed. All information collected about you during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential. You will be identified by an ID number, and any information about you will have your name and address removed so that you cannot be recognised by it. You will also have the opportunity to provide us with a contact number should you be willing to take part in a short phone interview on the same subject in the future. If you would like to discuss anything further, please contact Mr. Majid Alkhalaf via the following contact details:

Mobile (KSA): 0505199739 Mobile (UK): 00447864741438 Email: <u>m.alkhalaf.1@research.gla.ac.uk</u> & <u>mmkhalaf@sfda.gov.sa</u>



الهيئة الصامة للضخا، والدواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority المقدمة:

أنت مدعو للمشاركة في دراسة بحدّية لتقييم تصورات وآراء البالغين حول الغذاء والصحة والعوامل التي تؤثّر على التغيير من نمط الحياة لديهم في المملكة العربية السعودية. قبل أن تقرر، من المهم بالنسبة لك أن تعرف لماذا يُجري هذا البحت وماذا سوف سيترتب على مشاركتك في هذه الدراسة. يرجى أخذ الوقت الكافي لقراءة المعلومات التالية بعناية ومناقشتها مع الباحتين إذا كنت ترغب في ذلك. الرجاء السؤال إذا كان كنت ترغب في مزيد من المعلومات.

ما هو الغرض من الدراسة؟ وجدت العديد من الدراسات البحتية أن سلوكيات الإستهلاك الغذائي والعادات الغذائية هي العامل المحددة للحالة الصحية للفرد والمجتمع. ومع ذلك، فإن تغيير هذه السلوكيات يعد معقد وتحدي للتحكم بالأمراض غير المزمنة. هذاك نقص في المعلومات في المملكة العربية السعودية التي الاعتقادات والعوامل السائدة والتي بدورها تؤدي إلى هذه السلوكيات. لذلك، فإن هذه الدراسة تسعى لاستكشاف وجهات نظر المجتمع على الغذاء ومدى ارتباطه بحالتهم الصحية. على وجه الخصوص، فإننا نريد استكشاف العوامل التي تؤتر على التغيرات في الاختبارات الغذائية والسلوكيات الغذائية. ومن المأمول أن النتائج المستخلصة من هذا البحت ستؤدي إلى تحسين أساليب ودقة التدخلات والسياسات الغذائية. والتغذوية في المملكة العربية السعودية.

تعتبر المساركة في هذه الدراسة عمل تطوعي، إذا قررت المساركة، سوف يطلب منك أن تُبقي ورقة المعلومات هذه, والتوقيع على استمارة الموافقة (نسختين)، حيت ستعطى نسخة من استمارة الموافقة التي وقعت عليها. إذا قررت المساركة فأنت حر في الانسحاب من الدراسة في أي وقت، دون تقديم أي ميرر لذلك. كا سيتم التخلص من جميع المعلومات المرتبطة بك التي تم جمعها حال إنسحابك من الدراسة. ستبقى جميع المعلومات التي تم جمعها عنك أتناء البحت في سرية تامة. سيتم التعرف عليك من قبل رقمك التسلسلي في البحت (Code)، وسيتم از الة أية معلومات تحتوي على اسمك وعنوانك بحيت لا يمكن التعرف عليك عن طريقها.

سيكون لديك أيضا فرصة لتزويدنا بأرقام الإتصال الخاصة بك إذا كنت ترغب المسّاركة في مقابلة هاتفية قصبيرة حول نفس الموضوع في المستقبل. إذا كنت ترغب في مناقسة أي سيء آخر، يرجى الاتصال بالأستاذ ماجد الخلف عبر عناوين التواصل التالية:

2
University Section of of Glasgow Human Nu	utrition	داعمانة الصامة للضخاء والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority
tion 1: Demographic Me	easurements: ديموغرافية	المعلومات ال
use tell us a bit about yourself	من فضلك قل لنا قليلا عن نفسك	
l. Age (العمر):	ears/آستة)	
2. Gender: الجنس		
ذکر Male 🛛		أنتى Female
3. What is your nationality?	مــا هــي جنســينك؟?	
e Saudi Arabian حودي		غير سعودي Not Saudi Arabian
4. Which region you are fro	في أي منطقة تعيش ؟ ?m	-lis -l - li
ــة الوسـطى Central region المنطقة الوسـطى Eastern region	Western region 4 المنطق	المنطقة الغريب
لمنطف السيمانية Eastern region الم	المنط (المنط	المصف البور
Which city or villageyou	are living in, please specif	في أي مدينــة أن قريــة تعيـش؟ الرجــاء ? y
 5. Which city or village you التحديد؟ ٥. Marital Status: الجنماعية ٥. Never Maried ٥. Maried منذ م ملكة مع 	are living in, please specif	في أي مدينــة أن قريــة تعيــش؟ الرجــاء ? y مطلق Divorced أو ها، Widowed
 Which city or villageyou التحديد: متربه Marital Status: أعزب Never Maried أعزب Maried 	are living in, please specif	في أي مدينة أن قريبة تعييش؟ الرجياء ? y مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed
 5. Which city or village you التحديث ملكة الإجتماعية : 6. Marital Status : أعزب 6. Marital Status : أعزب 6. Marital Status : متزوج 7. Family members : أمار members : 	are living in, please specif الم	قي أي مدينة أو قريبة تعيش؟ الرجباء ?y مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed
 5. Which city or villageyou التحديد؟ 5. Marital Status: التحديدة 5. Marital Status: أعزب Maried أعزب Maried 7. Family members: المنابع family members lame household? 	are living in, please specif العا العا العد أقر live with you in the	في أي مدينة أن قريسة تعينش؟ الرجناء ?y مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed
 5. Which city or village you التحديد. التحديد التحديد عن التحديد التحديد عن التحديد عن التحديد التحديد عن التحديد الت عداد التحديد التحدي التحديد التحديد التحديد التحديد التحديد التحديد التحديد التحديد الت عداد التحديد الت عداد التحديد التحد عداد التحديد التحدي عداد التحديد التحد التحديد التحديد التحديد التحد عديد التحديد التحديد	are living in, please specif الحا عدد أقر live with you in the 	قــي أي مدينــة أن قريــة تعيـش؟ الرجــاء ? y مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed
 5. Which city or village you التحديث التحديث المة الإجتماعية : Marital Status أعزب Never Maried أعزب Married متزوج Married أر اد العثلة : Family members I same household? المانيان يسكنون معك في نفس المنزل؟ 3. Do you have children (18 	are living in, please specif الم عدد أقر live with you in the محد أقر اد الـ years old and less)? في أبناء؟	قي أي مدينة أل قرية تعيش الرجاء ? y مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed أرمل منا
 5. Which city or village you التحديد. التحايث: التحديد. 6. Marital Status: أعزب 6. Marital Status: أعزب Maried أعزب Maried راد العللة 7. Family members: المنابع معالية والذين يسكنون معالية في نفس المنزل? 8. Do you have children (18 2. Yes نعم عليه المعالية إلى المنابع المنابع المنابع المنابع المنابع المنابع المنابع المنابع المعالية إلى المنابع المعالية إلى المنابع المعالية إلى المنابع المابع ال	are living in, please specif الحا عدد أقر live with you in the کم عدد أقراد ال years old and less)? بالا ال	قــي أي مدينــة أي قريــة تعيــش؟ الرجــاء ? y مطلق Divorced ارمل Widowed فرمل Widowed مل عندا مل عندا
 5. Which city or village you التحديث. التحديث التحديث. مالة الإجتماعية : 6. Marital Status: أعزب أعرب أمريح Maried راد العثلة : 7. Family members I same household? تعم household? 8. Do you have children (18 Yes نعم المترابي والتين بين مناسبة المناسبة (18) 9. How many children (18) 	are living in, please specif الحا الحا عدد أفر live with you in the کم عدد أفر اد ال years old and less)? بالا ال الا العادي الا ال	ني أي مدينة أي قريبة تعين الرجباء ? (مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed أرمل Widowed معندم الأملي الار كم عندم ؟ Pur household, please specify
 5. Which city or village you التحديث. التحديثان التحديثان التحديذي التحديثان التحديثان التحديثان التحديان التحديثان التحديان ال	are living in, please specif الحا عدد أفر عدد أفر الا ال بوars old and less)? بعند أفر الا ال الا No لا الا and under) live in you الا معالى بحيشون معالى	في أي مدينة أي قريبة تعين الرجاء ? ن مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed أرمل Widowed معددمر؟ معددمر؟ وur household, please specify?
 5. Which city or village you التحديث. التحديث: التحديث: ٥. Marital Status: بالتحديث: ٥. Marital Status: متزوج Maried بالمثلة: 7. Family members: Jame household? ٢. Family nembers: Jame household? ٩. Do you have children (18 ٩. Yes نحم ينم المنزل، برجى التحديث؟ ٩. How many children (1 في المنزل، برجى التحديث؟ 	are living in, please specif الحا عدد أقر الع أبناء؟ (years old and less): معدد أقراد ال years old and less) لا الما الا المالية الا and under) live in you	في أي مدينة أو قريبة تعييش؟ الرجباء ? بن مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed أرمل Widowed معدمي؟ Mow many? كم عددمي؟ Our household, please specify?
 5. Which city or village you التحديث. التحديث التحديث. متروبة Marital Status: أعزب أعرب أعرب أعرب أعرب أعرب أعرب أعرب أعر	الحا الحا الحا الحا العامين المالي النوين المالي	في أي مدينــة أو قريــة تعيـش؟ الرجــاء ? بز مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed أرمل Widowed من عندا مل عندا من مديم؟ Mow many? الم عندا كم عديم؟ بو مديم؟ بو مديم؟ بو مديم؟ بر ما الرجــاء ? بز مرابع الرجــاء ? بر مرابع الرجــاع ؟ بر مرابع الرجــاع ؟ بر مرابع الرجــاع ؟ بر المان الرجــاع ؟ بر المان الرجــاع ؟ بر الرجــاع ؟ بر مرابع الرجــاع ؟ بن مرابع الرجــاع ؟ بر الرمان الرجــاع ؟ بن مرابع الرجــاع ؟ بر المان الرجــاع ؟ بن المان الرجــاع ؟ بن المان الرجــاع ؟ بن
 Which city or village you التحديث. التحديث التحديث. المالة الإجتماعية : التحديث من المحرفي المعتمانية : المعتمانية عنه المعتمانية : المعتمانية عنه المعتمانية معتمانية معت معتمانية معتمانية معتمانية	are living in, please specif الحا عدد أفر عدد أفر النوبينية: ? (years old and less: الا مراحية: ? (years old and less) الا مراحية: ? (الا الم المحديث محلك الا مراحية واقبل) يجيئسون محلك (18 مساعة وأقبل) يجيئسون محلك مط over) live in your	في أي مدينة أو قريبة تعييش؟ الرجباء ? بن مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed أرمل Widowed مع مديم؟ Mow many? معددمم؟ معددمم؟ pur household, please specify? كم عدد الأطفيال (bousehold, please specify? كام عدد الأطفيال (كام عدر الأطفيال ال
 Which city or village you التحديث: التحديث: التحديثا: الله الإجتماعية : التحديث: Marital Status: أعزب Maried أعزب Maried أعزب Maried أوراد العثلة : Family members: Family members: المتدون محله في نفس المنزل؟ Family members: التحديث المتدون محله في نفس المنزل؟ Do you have children (18 Yes نحم Yes نحم المتدول، يرجى التحديث؟ How many children (1 في المنزل، يرجى التحديث؟ How many adults (19 سنة وأكتر) يحيشون مع 	are living in, please specif	في أي مدينة أو قريبة تعييش؟ الرجباء ? بن مطلق Divorced أرمل Widowed أرمل How many? معددم؟ Pur household, please specify? كم عدد الأطفيال (كم عدد الأطفيال ا كم عدد الأطفيال ا

What kind of accommodation do yo	ما هو نـوع السكن الـذي تعيِسَ فيـه؟ ?nu live in
سکن مشترک Nwn room in flat/house share سکن مشترک سکن طبخت	ظ⊥دق B&B/hostel التـدق المكن مؤقت مـح قريب أو محديق Sofa surfing □
یے یہ مسیناجر n own rented home	ير ذلك، بـرجي التحبيد؟ (Other: (please specify 🗆
n own purchased home (mortgaged or	
red outright)	
مع من تعيش؟ ?Who do you live with	
زوج/زوجة lusband/wife Parents الحدين	ا Alone وحدي Other: (nlease specify) □ Other:
With friends/flatmates/housemates	
مىـــدىق/ز	
What kind of kitchen equipment do	you have access to?
غلاب ttle	فـرن الميكـروويف Microwave oven 🗆
محمصے خیز کھریائیے aster	غاز/مرجل الطبخ Hob □
upment: cutlery, crockery and kitchenuten من الملك الملك الملك	الانسينطيع الوصيول Oven □ Voe □ ان الانسينطيع الوصيول No kitchen access
ن المصريب وردورت المسبيح المحتات الدورت المحتاد. تلاجـــة idge	ي المطبيخ ''ع
تلاجمة التجميد: الفريزر eezer	
A very on the main grocery sherper	م بر مربق فراند من الم
البقالـــة فـــى المـــتزل؟ البقالــة فـــى المـــتزل؟	الريسيي من من الك المسوق (المتعامية المالية)
نتم Yes	🗆 No У
	atus? ما هو العمل الذي تزاوله؟
Please indicate your occupational st	
Please indicate your occupational st Employee موطف	أبحث عن عمل Unemployed أبحث عن عمل
Please indicate your occupational st Employee مرطف Student طالب	أبحث عن عمل Unemployed أبحث عن عمل Retired
Please indicate your occupational st موظف Employee Student طالب Household ربة منزل	أبحث عن عمل Unemployed أبحث عن عمل Retired
Please indicate your occupational st موطف Employee علیه Student مطلب Household ریةمنزل Please indicate your <u>monthly</u> income? يو?	أبحت عن عمل Unemployed منتاعد Retired يرجى اختيار دخلـ 14 الشـ هر
Please indicate your occupational st مرطق Employee Student طالب Household ربة منزل Please indicate your <u>monthly</u> income? ي No income لا يوجد دخل	أبحث عن عمل Unemployed متناعد Retired يسرجي اختيار دخلية الشهر
Please indicate your occupational st موطف Employee علله Student علله Household ربة منزل Please indicate your <u>monthly</u> income? ي: No income لا يوجد دخل Less than 3500 SR permonth	أبحث عن عمل Unemployed متناعد Retired يسرجى اختيار فخلـ 14 الشـ هن من 3500 ريال
Please indicate your occupational st مرطق Employee طالب Student رية منزلHousehold رية منزلPlease indicate your <u>monthly</u> income? ي: No income لا يوجد دخل No income ن سيريا أقال Eess than 3500 SR permonth Between 3500 SR To 8500 SR permonth	أبحث عن عمل Unemployed ا منتاعد Retired ا يرجى اختيار دخلـ 14 الشـهن يسرجى 3500 ريال يسـن 3500-8500 ريال شـهريا
Please indicate your occupational st مرطف Employee طالب Household ربة منزل Please indicate your <u>monthly</u> income? ي ي بوجد دخل No income لا يوجد دخل Less than 3500 SR per month Between 3500 SR To 8500 SR per month More than 8500 SR per month	أبحث عن عمل Unemployed المحت عن عمل Retired المحت من عمل Retired المحتاط المحت الم محت المحت ا
Please indicate your occupational st	

Liniversity Costion of		المعالم الفضال قطامال قليهال 🗢
of Glasgow Human Nutritic	n	Saudi Food & Drug Authority
18. How many years of schooling	(education) have you con	pleted?
نه والتعوم التي المعلية (المعلوى للعومي): أمي Illiterate أمي Read and Write الإبتدائية elementary الابتدائية Intermediate	حم عدد سنوات اشر ا 	الکلیے أو دبلوم College or Diploma الکلیے أو دبلوم بکالوریوس Bachelor ا ماجستیں Master
المنوسطة Intermediate ال		دخلوراه او اعلی rnD or nigner ا
19. Education background:	الخلفية التعليمية برمالي معنية التعليمي	
علوم الأغذية Food Sciences الأغذية Food Sciences الما ال Health Sciences (ie: medicine, nu حية: الطب، والتمريض، والمسيدلة None of them لا أحد منهم	ل Nutrition Sciences - rsing, midwifery, pharmacy) العلوم الص	تغذيـــة ـــريرية Dietetics 🔲 علــوم التغذي
مسحى :Are you covered by private insurance? هل تمتلك تامينا صحيا؟	التـــأمين اله medical □ Ye:	لا № ا ا نعم ۶
ع حا ?21. Are you pregnant?	مل؟هل أند	
نعم Yes 🗆	□ № У	In which month?
22. Are <u>currently</u> breast feeding?	طفلك رضاعة طبيعية، حالياً؟	هل ترضيعين.
نعم Yes نعم		□ No У
	5	

University | Section of of Glasgow | Human Nutrition

الهيئة الصامة للضخاء والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority

Section 2: Your opinions on food and food choices آرانکم حول الغذاء والخيارات الغذانية

Please select the option that most closely reflects the extent to which you agree or disagree with the following statements:

الرجاء تحديد الخيار الذي يعكس بشكل دقيق إلى أي مدى توافق أو لا توافق على العبارات التالية:

1. What I eat now plays an important part in reducing my risk of developing chronic diseases in later life (eg. cancer, heart disease, diabetes or stroke)

ما أستهلكة الآن من مواد غذائية يلعب دورا هاما في الحد من تعرضي لفطر الإصابة بأمراض مزمنية في المراحل اللاحقية من (على سيبيل المسال: السرطان وأمسراض القلب والسكري والسكتة الدماغية) الحيساة

		-			
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدري

The way I eat can change my well-being in the short term عُر بنسة أدلس الآن محمد أن تغيير مستوى عسمتى على المدى التعسير

16	طريسة الدني الأن ممتسن ان تغيير متستوى تمستني فسي المستى								
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A			
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري			

The way I eat can change my appearance طريقة أكلي الآن يمكن أن تغير مظهري القسارجي

1			_			
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
	غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري

Changing the way I eat will have an impact on my immediate well-being ر طريقة أكلب من الممكن أن يكون لهما تمأثير على مستوى عسمتوى يتسخل فحري

کل د	تغيير طريقسه أكلبي من الممكسن أن يكسون لهسا تساتير خلبى معسقون عستقى يشبكل د								
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A			
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري			
	میر موالی بسده	مير مواطئ ت		مواعق ت	مواطئ يسده	د شري ا			

 Changing the way I eat will reduce my risk of developing chronic diseases in later life لمراحل اللاهشة من الحياة تغيير طريقية أكلي مسوق تقلل من خطر إعسابتي يسلامراض المرمنية في ا

-	إحسايني يسالاهراص المزه	للن من خطر	لسي معنوها ده	ر طریفسه اد	رحصه من الحيادتعين	لمراهل الا
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى

Good health is just a matter of luck الصحة الجيدة هي مجرد مسألة حظ

	-				
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى

University | Section of of Glasgow | Human Nutrition

دالحينة الصامة للضخاء والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority

Tt's important to me to just enjoy my food, regardless of whether it's good for me لتسبية ليي أم لامن المهم بالنسبة لي أن استمتع بطعنامي، يغنض النظير عصا إذا كالت جيدة ب

5	التسبية ليني أم لامن المهم بالتسبية لي أن استمتع يطعناهي، يعتص التطس عمنا إذا كاست								
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A			
	غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	مواقق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى			

It's important to me to eat a broad range of food rich in nutrients and in the correct amounts النسبية ليي أن أسستهلك مجموعة واسسعة من الأطعسة القيسة بالخاصس الغائيسة ويكميسات صسحيدتهن المهم ب

1		يستعدر				0.0
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدرى

The kind of food I eat does not matter, it's just fuel and fill my empty stomach لا أهتم يتراعية الطعام التي آكلها، مجرد طاقة وسد للجوع

Commentation and a state of the								
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A			
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدرى			

10. Being aware of what you eat is only important if you want to lose weight ليس من المهم لدي معرضة نوعيسة الطعنام إلا إذا أردت انقساص ورزنسي فقط

Î	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدرى

11. I'm not sure if I eat a balanced diet with the right nutrients so I take supplements as an insurance أنسا لمت متأكدا مما إذا كنت أنتساول غذاء متموازن يعتمون على الممواد المغذيسة المسحيحة لمذلك أنسا أنتساول المكسلات الغذائيسة يمثابسة تسأمين عين النقسص

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري

Taking supplements reduces my risk of having a heart attack or stroke تتساول المحسان الغذائيسة تقلسل خطس الاعسابة بالنويسة القلبيسة أن المستقلة الدمائيسة

يتساول المحمسارك الكاليسة تغنسن خطسن الأصسابة بالتويسة الغنيسة او المسخل									
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A				
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدرى				

13. As long as I take supplements I don't need to worry about what I eat and its effect on my health الغذائية قبلا ماعين القليق حيان بسا أكليه وتباثل و علي مستقر طالسا أنيش أنتياول المكميلات

1	العدانيسة فسلا داعني للفلسق تسول منا اللبنة وتسابيره على صبيحتي طالمنا استي انساول ا										
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A					
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدرى					



الهيئة الصامة للضخاء والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority

l4. I spend as little as possible on food على الطعام أننا أصرف أقل منالإقدر الإمكنان

• • •		<u> </u>				
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
	غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى

University Section of والحواء والحواء والحواء والعواء وال									
Section 3: Wh	at influences	your op	inion	s on fo	od and foo	d choi	ces?		
ديسة وخيسار أتكم الغانيسة؟منا هي العوامل الذي تؤشر على أرائكم حول الأع									
Please select the option that most closely reflects the extent to which you agree or disagree with the following statements									
	العبارات التالية:	ٍ لا توافق على	ل توافق أو	إلى أي مدو	بعكس بشكل دقيق	خيار الذي	الرجاء تحديد ال		
1. I am intere	 I am interested in reading articles about food and health أنا مهتم في قراءة المقالات حول الغذاء والصحة 								
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A			
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدري			
2. Watching] بي الخذائيـــة	FV shows about fo بَـــر علــــى خيـــار انّې	od and hea والصبحة تؤ	alth infl الغــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	uences tl بــــة عــــن	he food choice اــــبرامج التلفزيون	es I make نــــاهدنی ل	8 54		
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A			
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدري			
3. I need to ch ، مسجئی	nange the way I ea ی تئسح بالقلق إزاء	t because ı وجي/زوجــَدَ	nypart لأن ز	ner/hush ریقے آکا	and/wife is co له إلــــى تغيـــير ط	ncerned	l about my healtl ំ	h	
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A			
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى			
4. I take more ال	لــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ								
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A			
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	مسوافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى			

5. I take more interest in food and health since someone close to me got ill تقدر أصبحت الآن أكثر الهتمانيا في الفذاء والصبحة يسبب من ش شخص

0	ة يسيب مـرض شــحد	ذاء والصب	اقسي الغ	ئر اهتمام	أصليحت الآن أكلة	يب متي	ق
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A	
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدرى	

I always check nutritional information labels before I buy any food
 الثما التحقق من المجل مات الغذائية والبطاقة الغذائية على المنتجات قبل ثير الثما

منتجات فين سرائها	دائما النطق من المعلومات العدائية والبطاقة العدائية على الملتجات قبل سرائها										
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Strongly agree	N/A							
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري						

🚮 Universit	V Section of				، والحواء	بة للضخا	ملعينة الصاه	2
💆 of Glasgov	🗴 Human Nutriti	on			Saudi Fo	od & Dru	ıg Authority 🖊	2
7 Informati	on about food and	health fro	m officis	lsource	s influences m	v food cl	hoices	
(eg: Depart	ment of Health, do	ctor, public	healtha	dverts)	is influences in	yioouci	loices	
مــن المصـــادر الرســم	عمن الغذاء والصمحة،)المعلومــات ‹ حامــــة	ے ســيرل مــــحة ال	ــدي (علــ لانـــات ال	ــارات الغذائيــــة لـ مة، الطنيـــــ، الاع	الـــــى الخيــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	يـــة تؤتـــر ء (المتـــال: مز	
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A	,	
	غير موافق يشدة	تھیر موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدرى		
8. Information (eg: magaz	on about food and ines, newspapers, o	health in t nline, TV)	he media	a influe	nces my food c	hoices		
شبكات التواصل	المُثال: ألمجَّلات والصُحف	لدُي (علَّى سبيل	ارات الغذائية	ر على الخيا	ة في وسائل الإعلام تؤة	فذاء والصنحة فان	المطومات عن ال الاحتماد ، مالتا	
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A		
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى		
			_					
9. When eating (eg: on mer	ng out, my choice nus in restaurants a	of food is i ndca fes)	nfluence	ed by nu	tritionalinfor	mation p	rovided	
ام في المطاعم والمقاهي)	ى سبيل المثال، قائمة الطع	بة المقدمة (علي	لومات الغذائب	ذغذية بالمعا	ۆل، يتأثر اختياري للا	امخارج المن	عند تتاول الطع	
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A		
	غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	مسوافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري		
10. When in th	e supermarket.I	will alway	s buv spe	ecialoff	ers regardless	of the nu	tritional content	
of the food	l 	- 	s asstration a	di la si	and stated as	<	ā. 1811. sta	
المحقوى العدالي في هذه	، انحاضته بعض انتصر حن	دات العروص	والا العدانية	م پس اء الم	ت الى البقالة، دالله اللو،	اسويرمارك	المواد المواد	
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A		
	غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	مسوافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى		
11 I mainly b	w from the value	hrand/ora	antia la m	nace				
11.1 manny 0	ية المخفضية	العلامة التجاري	فذائبة ذات ا	م المواد ال	أنا دائما أقوم بسرا			
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A		
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدري		
12 Twee been	abt up to always f	inich tha f	and on m	wnlate	and still do			
12.1 was prou	لت أفعل ذلك	ي الإناء وما زا	نى أمامى في	، الطعام الذ	لقد تربيث على إنها:			
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A		
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى		
			10					
			10					



دالحواء والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority

13. I'd never use a food bank because of what other people would think of me

) يسيب تظرة الناس لي	بمعنات القيرية	لمقدم من الج	م (الطعام ا	أيدا ياستخدام يتك الطعا	لا أقوم
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى

University | Section of of Glasgow | Human Nutrition |

تغيير خياراتك الغذانية Section 4: Changing your food choices

Please select the option that most closely reflects the extent to which you agree or disagree with the following statements: الرجاء تحديد الخيل الذي يعكس بشكل دقيق إلى أي مدى توافق أو لا توافق على الجارات التالية:

ىرىچە ئىكىرد الكول الذي يغدس بىسدن دقوق إلى اي مدى تواقق اق 1 تواقق على الغيارات التاتوم.

I'd like to pay more attention to food and health but my lifestyle doesn't allow for it يودي أن أيذل مزيدا من الاهتمام حول الغذاء والصحة ولكن نمط حياتي لا يسمح لي

9 Cure Gree									
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A				
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري				

There are no nutritionally balanced options available for lunch when I'm at work لا يرجد هناك مواد غذائية ذات قيمة تغذوية متوازنة أثاء جودي في وقت العمل الرسمي

		~~~~	-	- <b>v</b> -	
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري

### I don't have time to eat a nutritionally balanced diet, I just "grab and go" ليس لدى وقت لاتياع نظام غذائي متوازن، فقط "أشتري غذاء جاهزوأذهب"

			<u> </u>		
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري

## 4. Nutritionally balanced foods are so much more expensive

الأعصمة داعا التيمة المحوية المعواركة حالية جدا							
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A		
غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري		

#### I like my food too much to much to worry about food and health أنا أحب الطعاد حدا قلب. هناك باعي للتلذي حدار الطعاد والصحة.

الله العب المعام جدا تنيش فلت درجي ملتى هون المنام والمحد							
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A		
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري		

# 6. Nutritionally balanced food is boring and tasteless

الحاء الموارن ممن ومدمه مير جيد								
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A			
غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدري			

Universit	V Section of				ا، والدوا،	ة للضد	الهيئة الصام
of Glasgov	🕅 Human Nutriti	on			Saudi Foo	od & Dru	g Authority
7. There are	no nutritionally ba	lancedor	tions ava	ailablev	when I eat out		
	لعام خارج المنزل	فدما أتتاول الط	زنة تغذويا ة	أطعمة متوا	لا يہجد هذاك		
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A	
	غير موافق بشدة	غير موافق	محايد	مسوافق	موافق بشدة	لا أدري	
3. I go throug	h phases of eating	a nutritic	nallyha	lanced	diet and then I s	vive in t	o temptation
	الاخير استسلمت للاغراءان	ازنة ولكني في	التغذوية المتو	ات القيمة ا	كَبِير في اتباع الأغذية ذ	ظعت شوط	<b>,</b>
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A	
	غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	مسوافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى	
. I can only	eat a nutritionally	balanced	diet whe	n I wan	t to lose weight		
	، وڏني	دما أريد انقاص	ي متوازن تل	نظام غذائر	يمكنني أن اتيع		
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A	
	غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	مسوافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى	
0.I can't sav	no to my children	when they	want to	eatsna	cks between m	eals	
	ات خفيفة بين ألوجيات	أن يأكلوا وجد	تقدما يريدون	لا لأطقالي ا	لا أستطيع أن أقول ا		
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A	
	غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	مسوافق	موافق يشدة	لا أدرى	
1.I usually fi	nish what my chile	d/children	leave on	their p	late(s)		
-	a. 1 r	ستون أيقالي محد	المتيقي في ه	أنهي الأكل •	عادة	27/1	
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A	
	غير موافق يشدة	غير موافق	محايد	موافق	موافق يشدة	لاادرى	
		Ш	Ш	Ш	Ш	Ш	
2. If my part	ner/friends/childre	en are hav	ing desse	ert, I usu	ually have one t	ioo, evei	n if I'm full
ان	نهم ذلك، حتى ولو. كنت شيع : د. داد سيسان	تقادة ما اشارك منات	نلوی آمام <i>ی،</i> در معمد	تقاولو) الد م	بتي / الأصدقاء /اطقالي استنساري	زوج <i>ي ا</i> زو. مرتد	
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	iveutral	Agree	Strongly agree	N/A	
	عير موافق يسده	عير موافق	محايد	مواعق	مواقق يسده	لاقرى	
	U				L	ш	
			13				
			13				

of Glasgow Human Nutrition		مرابعة الصامة للضخاء والحواء Saudi Ecod & Drug Authority
ection 5: How much do you know	w about what is a nut	ritionally balanced diet?
ase say whether you think the following	g statements are true or fal	e and fill in the blanks
لَّكَ يَبْخَيَار أَحَدَ الْمَرِيعَاتَ الَّتِي أَمَامُهَا	ت التالية سواء صحيحة أن خاطئة وذلَّ	يرجى إعطاء رأيك حول العيارا
<ol> <li>Starchy foods such as bread, cere a nutritionally balanced diet تكون هي المكون الرئيس للغاء المتوازن</li> </ol>	eals, rice, pasta and potat والأرز والمعكرونة واليطاطا يجب أن	oes should be the main component الأطعمة التشرية مثل الغيز والحيوب
مىتى True مىت	غير صحيح False 🗖	لا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم
2. What percentage of the food we e (eg: bread, cereals, rice, pasta, pota تتكون من الأطعة التشوية؟ والمكريةة والبطاط)	at should be made up of atoes) منوية من الطعام الذي تاكله يجب از سيل المثل: الخبز والحيوب والأرز و	starchy foods? ما هي التعبة اا (تغلى
(%)		
<ol> <li>It is more important to eat a wide كثر من القواكة</li> </ol>	e variety of vegetables th: ان تاكل تشكيلة واسعة من القضار ا	an fruits من المهم
True	غير صحيح False	Not sure N
4. How many portions of fruit and v الفاكهة والفضراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها كل يوم؟ nu(عدد)	vegetables should we eat o کم عدد حصص mber)	each day?
<ul> <li>4. How many portions of fruit and v الفکهة والخصراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها کل يوم؟ /nu/عدد)</li> <li>5. How many grams should one por م غرام تحتوي کل حصة من الفکهة أو الخضر وات؟ /gr/جرام)</li> </ul>	vegetables should we eat کم عند حصص mber) rtion of fruit or vegetable دکی rams)	each day? s weigh?
<ol> <li>How many portions of fruit and v الفکهة والخضراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها کل يرم؟ /nur عدد)</li></ol>	vegetables should we eat کم عدد حصص mber) rtion of fruit or vegetable وک ams) tant for health as eating منجو تنون السمالة الأبيض منج	each day? s weigh? oily fish such as salmon
<ul> <li>4. How many portions of fruit and v الفاكهة والمضراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها كل يوم؟ /mu</li> <li>5. How many grams should one por م غرام تحتوي كل حصة من الفاكهة أو المضروات؟</li> <li>6. Eating white fish is just as impor للصحة كاهمية تناول الأسماك الزينية مثل السلمون</li> </ul>	vegetables should we eat کم عدد حصص mber) rtion of fruit or vegetable رد rams) tant for health as eating تقدر صحيح False تقرر صحيح	each day? s weigh? Dily fish such as salmon
<ul> <li>4. How many portions of fruit and v الفکهة والفضراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها کل يرم؟ /mu</li> <li>4. How many grams should one por م غرام تحتوي کل حصة من الفکهة أو الخضروات؟</li> <li>5. How many grams should one por م غرام تحتوي کل حصة من الفکهة أو الخضروات؟</li> <li>6. Eating white fish is just as impor للصحة كامية تناول الأسماك الزيتية متل السلمون</li> <li>6. Eating white fish is just as impor</li></ul>	vegetables should we eat کم عدد حصص mber) rtion of fruit or vegetable رو ams) tant for health as eating of تقول السمالة الأبيض مهم False تقول السمالة الأبيض d we eat each week? کم عد nber)	each day? s weigh? Dily fish such as salmon
<ul> <li>4. How many portions of fruit and v الفکهة والفضراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها کل يوم؟ /mu</li> <li>5. How many grams should one por م غرام تحتوي کل حصة من الفکهة أو الخضروات؟</li> <li>6. Eating white fish is just as impor للصحة كاهمية تتاول الأسماك الزيتية مثل السلمون</li> <li>6. Eating white fish is just as impor</li> <li>د</li></ul>	vegetables should we eat معند حصص کم عند حصص mber) rtion of fruit or vegetable رد arms) tant for health as eating م تقر محيح False عبر محيح dwe eat each week? کم عند particular of the false state of the false particular of the false state	each day? s weigh? Dily fish such as salmon
<ul> <li>4. How many portions of fruit and v [الفكهة والمضراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها كل يوم؟ /mu</li> <li>4. How many grams should one por م غرام تحتوي كل حصة من الفكية أو المضروات؟</li> <li>5. How many grams should one por /g/ جرام)</li></ul>	vegetables should we eat م عند حصص mber) rtion of fruit or vegetable ر rams) tant for health as eating of تناول السمك الأبيض مهم d we eat each week? م عند p fish? mber) we fat as possible from o التريل الدهون والتحوم من نقل	each day? s weigh? oily fish such as salmon الا أعلم Not sure الا
<ul> <li>4. How many portions of fruit and v الفلكهة والمضراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها كل يوم؟ /mu</li> <li>4. How many grams should one por م غرام تحتوي كل حصة من الفلكية أو المضروات؟</li> <li>5. How many grams should one por mg/جرام)</li></ul>	vegetables should we eat a عد عصص کم عد عصص mber) tion of fruit or vegetable دی :ams) tant for health as eating a تقر محیح False تقریل السمال الأبیض مهم d we eat each week? تقر محیح dweeat each week? مر عد per) y fish? mber) y fish? mber) tch fat as possible from o نیا آن تزیل الدهن والنحرم من نظا	each day? s weigh? oily fish such as salmon الا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم ur diet بجب ا
<ul> <li>4. How many portions of fruit and y الفکهة والخصراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها کل يوم؟ المعنه الفصراوات التي يجب أن نتناولها کل يوم؟ م غرام تحتوي کل حصة من الفکهة أو الخضروات؟</li> <li>5. How many grams should one por م غرام تحتوي کل حصة من الفکهة أو الخضروات؟</li> <li>6. Eating white fish is just as impor للصحة كافعية تقاول الأسماك الزيتية مثل السلمون للصحة كافعية تقاول الأسماك الزيتية مثل السلمون معني True محموم من الأسماك والمالي المسوح؟</li> <li>7. How many portions of fish should should specific fish is just 20 أسبوع؟</li> <li>8. How many of these should be oily المعني عنه الغالي قدر الإمكان منا الغالي قدر الإمكان منا الغالي قدر الإمكان</li> </ul>	vegetables should we eat a عد مصص کم عد مصص (mber) rtion of fruit or vegetable (مرك tant for health as eating a تقری معیع False تقریل السمال الأبیض مج d we eat each week? مح م عد per) y fish? mber) y fish? mber) tch fat as possible from o نقر محیح False تقریل الدهون والشحوم من نظا	each day? s weigh? oily fish such as salmon oily fish such as salmon view of the sure المنابع المنابع المنابع المنابع المنابع منابع منابع المنابع المنابع المنابع المنابع ال

5 8	unuori	Saudi Food & Drug Authority >
0. A diet with lots of high sugar	foods is ok as long as it is low in calor	ries
الماأنها منخفضة في السعرات الحرارية. منحاج مديرته ال	محتوي على كميات عالية من السكر غير مضرة ط غير صحيع ممادي 🔲	Not auro sisi N
	La raise	
1. What is the maximum red ل السكر للبالغين، في اليوم (غرام / يوم)	commended intake of sugar for a ما هو الحد الاقصني الموصني به من تناو (grams/day) .	dults, in grams/day
2. What is the maximum red ول الملح للبالغين، في اليوم (غرام / يوم)	commended intake of salt for adu ما هو الحد الاقصى الموصى به من تناو (grams/day) .	ults, in grams/day
3. Most of the salt in our die ، و الأفل	t comes from what is added to fo نظم الملح في طعامنا يأتي من الملح المضاف أنشا:	od at the table
صحيع True 🗆	غير صحيح False 🗆	لا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم
<b>4. Fizzy drinks contribute to</b> م من السوائل يوميا	o daily fluid intake just as much a زية كبديل للماء، تساهم في تضفية ما يحتاجه الجس	as water المشروبات الغا
صحيح True 🗆	غير صحيح False 🗆	لا أعلم Not sure ا
نظیة ما یحتاجه الجسم من السوائل یومیا True 6. Maintaining a healthy we	الشاى والقيوة كبديل للماء، تساهم في ت False Fight is important to reduce the ri	□ Not sure
diabetes and some types o	fcancer	······································
	من خطر الاصانية تتعض الامراض تقر المعدية كا	
السرطان و ارتفاع صنعط الدم والسدري منحد مد مد T D		المحفاظة على الورّن الصحي مهمة جدا للحد لا أعاد مسمع Not sure
العرفان و ارتفاع عنظ الذم والعدري صحيح True 🗌	غير صحيح False	المعقاقة على الوزن الصحي مهمة جدا للحد لا أعلم Not sure 🗌
السرطان و ارتفاع صفعا الذم والسفري صحيح True تراسط المعامة 7. Reduce or avoid the high: hypertension, strokes and ال الإصابية بالجلطات الدماغية, أمراض القلب والذيصة الصدرية	غير صحيح False المحافظ	المحفاظة على الوزن الصحي مهمة جدا للحد لا أعلم Not sure o reduce the risk of developing يل أن تجنب تدلول المنتجات الغائلية ذات المحتوى ال
السرطان و ارتفاع صفع الدم والسفري صحيح True معيد 7. Reduce or avoid the high hypertension, strokes and ر الإصابة بالجلطات الدمائية أمراض القلب والذيعة الصدرية صحيح True صحيح True	تغير صحيح False تغير صحيح salt food products is important to lother heart diseases لعالي من الملح والصوديوم مهمة جداً للحد من خط غير صحيح False [	المحفاظة على الوزن الصحي مهمة جدا للحد لا أعلم Not sure من من م
السرطان و ارتفاع صفط الدم والسفري صحيح True المراغي True القلب والدائقية أمراض القلب والذيعة الصدرية عصيح True محيح 8. Mono-sodium glutamate مرازي بديل مناسب (صحي) لملح الطعام	تغير صحيح False المحاف على المحاف محاف محاف المحاف محاف محاف محاف محاف محاف محاف محاف	المحفظة على الوزن الصحي مهمه جدا للحد لا أعلم Not sure   يل أن تجنب تداول المنتجات الغائية ذات المحتوى ال لا أعلم Not sure   e of healthy salt alternatives?
السرطان و ارتفاع منط الذم والسفري عسيع True - عسيع True - الماني الدماغية أمراض القلب والذيمة الصدرية محيع True - القلب والذيمة الصدرية 8. Mono-sodium glutamate بوتي بديل مناسب (مسمي) لملح الطعام 	تغير صحيح False غير صحيح salt food products is important to l other heart diseases غير صحيح False (agina moto) is considered as one غير صحيح False الماني الماني الماجي الأبيش (نجينا، False غير صحيح False	المحاطة على الوزن الصحي مهمه جدا للحد لا أعلم Not sure يل أي تجنب تدليل المنتجات الغذائية ذات المحتوى ال لا أعلم Not sure vot sure لا أعلم of healthy salt alternatives? تغير مادة أحا Not sure لا أعلم Not sure
السرعان و ارتفاع معط الام والسفري عسيع True تربيعا المربع المربع المعرفي المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع المربع	تقير صحيح False تقير صحيح salt food products is important to lother heart diseases لعالي من الملح والصوديوم مهمة جداً للحد من خط False تقير صحيح False [ [ منابع الأبيض ( بيناه الماجي الأبيض ( بيناه الماجي الأبيض ( بيناه الماجي الأبيض ( بيناه ne of healthy salt alternatives?	المحفظة على الوزن الصحي مهمه جدا للحد لا أعلم Not sure   بل أن تجنب تدول المنتجات الغائية ذات المحتوى ال الا أعلم Not sure   vot sure المعتوي المنتجات الغائية ذات المحتوى ال لا أعلم Not sure   تعتير مادة أحا لا أعلم Not sure   لا أعلم Not sure
السرطان و ارتفاع فعظ الذم والسفري عسيع True 7. Reduce or avoid the high: hypertension, strokes and ن الإصابية بالجلطات الدماغية, أمراض القلب والذيعة الصدرية عسيع True 8. Mono-sodium glutamate بوتي) بديل مناسب (صحي) لملح الطعام True 9. Sea salt is considered as o يحري بديل مناسب (صحي) لملح الطعام True 1. True 9. Sea salt is considered as o محيح True	تغير صحيح False تغير صحيح salt food products is important to lother heart diseases تغير صحيح False تغير صحيح (agina moto) is considered as one تغير صحيح False تغير صحيح False يافيين (نجينه) one of healthy salt alternatives? يغير صحيح False ا	المحفظة على الوزن العصفي مهمه جدا للحد لا أعلم Not sure الله تجنب تدلول المنتجات الغذائية ذات المحتوى ال الله أعلم Not sure لا أعلم of healthy salt alternatives? الا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم لا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم
السرعان و ارتفاع فعظ الذم والسفري عسيع True - مسيع True - التاب والذيبة إسراض التاب والذيبة المسنوية التاب والمسنوية التاب والذيبة المسنوية التاب والذيبة المسنوية التاب والذيبة المسنوية التاب والمسنوية التاب والمسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنويم المسنوية المسنوية المسنوية المسنو	غير صحيح False غير صحيح salt food products is important to lother heart diseases لعالي من الملح والصوديوم مهمة جداً للحد من خط False عني صحيح False الماجي الأبيض (أيبينه) (ويناه مع الماجي الأبيض (أيبينه) False عني صحيح False الماجي الأبيض (أيبينه) والماجي الأبيض الملح ال	المحاطة على الوزن الصحي مهمه جدا للحلا Not sure لا أعلم Not sure ي يل أن تجنب تداول المنتجات الغذائية ذات المحتوى ال Not sure لا أعلم Not sure ي تعتير مادة أحا Not sure لا أعلم Not sure ي لا أعلم Not sure ال
السرطان و ارتفاع فعلم الذم والسفري عسجيع True 7. Reduce or avoid the high: hypertension, strokes and ن الإصابية بالجلطات الدماغية, أمراض القلب والذيعة الصدرية 8. Mono-sodium glutamate مسيع True 9. Sea salt is considered as o محيع مدين مناسب (صحي) لملح الطعام 9. Sea salt is considered as o محيح True 0. Spices and condiments ar Expo shall condiments ar Expo shall	تغير صحيح False تغير صحيح salt food products is important to lother heart diseases تغير صحيح False تغير صحيح False اللحد من خط (agina moto) is considered as one تغير صحيح False الماجي الأبيض (بيناه من الملح الا جماد الماجي الأبيض (بيناه من الملح الا حمد الماجي الأبيض الملح ال False تغير صحيح False الماجي الملح الو يعني الملح ال	المحفظة على الوزن الصحي مهمه جدا للحلا Not sure لا أعلم o reduce the risk of developing الل أعلم Not sure لا أعلم المنتجات الغائلية ذات المحتوى ال Not sure لا أعلم Not sure المحتوى الا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم الا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم
السرعان و ارتفاع فعظ الذم والسفري عسيع True	غير صحيح False غير صحيح salt food products is important to lother heart diseases لعالي من الملح والصوديوم مهمة جداً للحد من خط False عن صحيح False الماجي الأبيض (أجيناه (agina moto) is considered as one غير صحيح False الماجي الأبيض (أجيناه False يغير الملح ال False يغير الملح ال False عن صحيح false الماجي الأبيض المناجع ال False عن صحيح false الماجي الأبيض المناجع ال False يغير الملح ال False الماجي الأبيض (أجيناه e of healthy salt alternatives? عن صحيح False الماجي الماجي الماجي الماجع المحادي محيح False الماجي الملح ال جمع من الملح ال محيح المناجع الماجي الماجي الماجي الماجي الماجي الملح ال مالي محيح false الماجي الملح ال جمع المناجع ال جمع المناجع الماجي الملح ال مالي والمادي من محيح false محيح false مالي والمادين مي جزء مهم من الن المادين مي جزء مهم من الن المادين مي جزء مهم من ال	المحاطة على الوزن الصحي مهمه جدا للحلا Not sure لا أعلم بل أن تجنب تداول المنتجات الغذائية ذات المحتوى ال بل أن تجنب تداول المنتجات الغذائية ذات المحتوى ال Not sure لا أعلم Not sure المحتوى مادة أحا المعلم مادة أحا Not sure لا أعلم Not sure لا أعلم المعلم الحالي المحتوي المحتوي المعلم مادة المحتوى المحتوي المحتوى المحتوي المحتوى المحتولي المحتوى المحتوى المحتوى المحتوي المحتوى ا
السرعان و ارتفاع فعلم الذم والسفري عسيع True   المرعان المائع المعري المرعاني المرياض المرياض المحمي المرياض المحمي المرياض المحمي المرياض المحمي المرياض المحمي المرياض المحمي المرياض المحمي	تغير صحيح False الله المادي الأبيض (ميناه العالي من الملح والصوديوم مهمة جداً للحد من خط العالي من الملح والصوديوم مهمة جداً للحد من خط False تغير صحيح False المادي الأبيض (بيناه الدي جلوتامات الصوديوم أن المادي الأبيض (بيناه الدي جلوتامات الصوديوم أن المادي الأبيض (بينام الدي جلوتامات الصوديوم أن المادي الأبيض (بينام الدي جلوتامات الصوديوم أن المادي المادي الملح ال بعتير الملح ال False تغير صحيح False المادين هي جزء مهم من الن تغير صحيح False المادي المعادن هي جزء مهم من الن	المعاطة على اورن الصحي مهمه جدا للحلا Not sure من المحتوي المعنوي المعنوي المحتوي ال عل أي تجنب تداول المنتجات الغذائية ذات المحتوي ال Not sure من المحتوي المعنوي المعنوي المعنوي المعنوي المعنوي Not sure من المعنوي المعنوي المعنوي المعنوي المعنوي Not sure من المعنوي المعن



University	Section Human	of Nutrition
Sasgow 1	numan	Nutrition

الهيئة الصامة للضخاء والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority

6. If you have already made significant changes to your diet in the last 3 months please give details of what these changes were and why you made them
إذا كات قد قمت بالقبل بتغيير نظامك الغالي إلى غذاء أكثر توازنا خلال 3 أشهر الماضية، يرجى إعطاء تقاصيل عن ماهية هذه التغييرات وماذا نعات خلالها?




	نم Yes لنع	LI No Y
7. Please	نية؛  specify which ones you take?	الرجاء تحديد هذه الفيتامينات والمعادن والمكملات الغذا
•••••		
8. Please	give brief details of why you take	لماذا تأخذ هذة المكملات ، رجى تقديم تفصيل موجز؟ . them
••••••		
9. Smok	ing:	
Are yo	(من أنت u	
LI Curren	itsmoker مدخن حاليا For	است مدخنا Not smoking مدخن سابق mer Smoker
LI Curren	tt smoker المحقق حاليا For	است مدخنا Not smoking مدخن سابق mer Smoker
10. How p	الله البدني؟ (hysically active are you	است منځنا Not smoking مدخن سابق mer Smoker
10. How p	it smoker المحقق حاليا For الطلة البدني؟ ?hysically active are you ما (أمشى فقط) (nactive (walking only)	است مدخنا Not smoking مدخن سابق mer Smoker یف ند غیر نشطة إلى حد
10. How p	الله البدني؟ (hysically active are you) ما (أمشى فقط) (nactive (walking only)	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking الست منظا عيف نش غير نشطة إلى حد م vise that raises heart rate less than 3 times ner week)
L Curren 10. How p □ Fairly ii □ Moder: في الأسبوع)	بندين حاليا For ماطلة البدني؟ ?hysically active are you (أمشى فقط) ما (أمشى فقط) (nactive (walking only) ately active (occasionally take exerc	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking الست مدخن عيف ند غير نشطة إلى حد م خير نشطة إلى حد م نشطة بشكل متوسط (أحيانا أعمل رياض
L Curren 10. How p □ Fairly ii □ Moder: في الأسبوع)	مدخن حاليا For الملك البدني؟ ?hysically active are you ما (أمسَى فقط) (nactive (walking only) ately active (occasionally take exerc بة تر فع مدل ضريات القلب، أقل من 3 مرات	الست مدخن سابق Not smoking الست مدخن سابق Not smoking كيف تش غير نشطة إلى حده غير نشطة إلى حده نشطة بشكل متوسط (أحيانا أعمل رياض
10. Howp □ Fairly ii □ Moder: في الأسبوع) Very ac	مدخن حاليا For hysically active areyou (مسَى فقط) ما (أمسَى فقط) (nactive (walking only) ately active (occasionally take exercise له تر فع محل ضريك القلب، أقل من 3 مراك ctive (regularly take exercise thatra	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking الست مدخن عيد تشطة إلى حد غير نشطة إلى حده tise that raises heart rate, less than 3 times per week) نشطة بشكل متوسط (أحيانا أعمل رياض ises heart rate 3 time a week or more)
10. How p □ Fairly in □ Moder: في الأسبوع) Very ac في الأسبوع)	للعنية: ? For الملك البدتي؟ ? hysically active are you ما (أمتسى فقط) (homoustive (walking only) ately active (occasionally take exercise take exercise thatra التلب، أقل من 3 مرات التلب، أكثر من 3 مرات التلب، أكثر من 3 مرات	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking لست مدخن کیف تش غیر نشطة إلی حده فیر نشطة إلی حده نشطة بشکل متوسط (أحیانا أعمل ریاضه ises heart rate 3 time a week or more) نشطة جدا (بشکل منتظم أعمل ریاضه
L Curren 10. How p □ Fairly ii □ Moder: في الأسبوع) Very a( في الأسبوع)	للغة البدني؟ ? hysically active areyou للغة البدني؟ ? hysically active areyou ما (أمشى فقط) ( المشى فقط) ( أمشى فقط) ( أمشى فقط) ما زأمشى فقط) ( ately active (occasionally take exercise tately active (occasionally take exercise thatra ية ترفع محل ضريات القلب، أكثر من 3 مرات نترفع محل ضريات القلب، أكثر من 3 مرات	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking الست مدخن عيد نشطة إلى حد غير نشطة إلى حده فير نشطة إلى حده نشطة بشكل متوسط (أحيانا أعمل رياض ises heart rate 3 time a week or more) نشطة جدا (بشكل منتظم أعمل رياضه
10. Howp □ Fairly ii □ Moder: في الأسبوع) Very ac في الأسبوع) 11. Whicl ي المعتاد؟	مدخن حاليا For hysically active areyou (ملك البدني؟ ما (أمكسي فقط) (home (walking only) ately active (occasionally take exerc له تر فع محل ضريك القلب، أقل من 3 مراك ctive (regularly take exercise thatra ان رفع محل ضريك القلب، أكثر من 3 مراك h of the following best descri ) الأرصاف التالية، ما أقرب رصف انظامك الغائي	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking لست منطق عقد الله عنه فير نشطة إلى حده فير نشطة إلى حده فير نشطة إلى حده ises heart rate 3 time a week or more) نشطة جدا (بشكل منتظم أعمل رياضه bes your usual diet?
ال Curren     ال      ال     ال	للع البنتي؟ ? hysically active are you الملك البنتي؟ ? hysically active are you ما (أمتى فقط) ( home active (walking only) ( أمتى فقط) ( مراك من 3 مراك بة ترفع محل ضريك القلب، أقل من 3 مراك القلب، أقل من 3 مراك انترفع محل ضريك القلب، أكثر من 3 مراك المنائي وما التالية، ما قرب وصف النظامك العنائي ( وما فا التالية ما قرب وصف النظامك العنائي و العنائي و منا من الما و من 3 مراك العنائي و منا من التالية ما قرب وصف النظامك العنائي و منا من الما من 3 مراك التالية ما قرب وصف النظامك العنائي و منا ما التالية ما قرب وصف النظامك العنائي و منا ما من 3 مراك التالية ما قرب وصف النظامك العنائي و منا من 3 مراك العنائي و منا من 3 من 3 مراك العنائي و من 3 من 3 من 3 مراك من 3 مراك التالية ما قرب وصف النظام و من 3 من 3 مراك العنائي و من 3 من 3 من 3 مراك العنائي و من 3 من 3 من 3 مراك من 3 من 3 مراك من 3 مراك من 3 من 3 مراك مراك من 3 مراك مراك من 3 مراك مراك من 3 مراك 3 مراك مراك من 3 مراك مراك من 3 مراك من 3 مراك 3 مراك مراك 3 محل من مراك من 3 مراك 3 مرك 3 مراك 3 مراك 3 مر	ست مدخن سابق Not smoking لست مدخن سابق محف نشطة إلى حد م غير نشطة إلى حد م نشطة بشكل متوسط (أحيانا أعمل رياض ises heart rate 3 time a week or more) نشطة جدا (بشكل منتظم أعمل رياضة bes your usual diet?
ال Curren	الله البدني؟ ? hysically active are you الله البدني؟ ? hysically active are you ما (أمتى فقط) (homoustice (walking only) (ما أمتى فقط) (ما أمتى فقط) (من 3 مراث من 3 مراث القلب، أقل من 3 مراث مراث القلب، أقل من 3 مراث القلب، أكثر من 3 مراث التولب، أكثر من 3 مراث التولب، أكثر من 4 مراث ومراث القلب، أكثر من 4 مراث ومراث القلب، أكثر من 4 مراث ومراث التولب، أكثر من 4 مراث ومراث ومراث التولب، أكثر من 4 مراث ومراث ومراث ومراث ومراث ومراث ومراث التولب، أكثر من 3 مراث ومراث و	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking لست منطق عيد نشطة إلى حد غير نشطة إلى حد فير نشطة إلى حد فير نشطة إلى حد ises heart rates heart rate, less than 3 times per week) نشطة بشكل متوسط (أحياتا أعمل رياضه ises heart rate 3 time a week or more) نشطة جدا (بشكل منتظم أعمل رياضه bes your usual diet?
ال Curren	مدخن حاليا For hysically active areyou? سطة البدني؟ ما (أمتى فقط) (horactive (walking only) ately active (occasionally take exercise take exercise thatra ية ترفع محل ضريك القلب، أقل من 3 مراك ctive (regularly take exercise thatra ن ترفع محل ضريك القلب، أكثر من 3 مراك tregularly take exercise thatra مراك محل ضريك القلب، أكثر من 3 مراك h of the following best descri or الأرصاف القالية، ما أثر برصف انظامك الغائي ecial diet نبائي خاص treduction diet نيذاني خاص	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking لست مدخن سابق کیف نشط غیر نشطه إلی حده غیر نشطه إلی حده نشطه بشکل متوسط (أحیاتا أعمل ریاض ises heart rate 3 time a week or more) نشطه جدا (بشکل منتظم أعمل ریاضه bes your usual diet? من Low Fat / Cholesterol diet (to lower blood fat) حمیه قلیله الدهون/قلیله التولسترول (لمحلوله خفض نسبه
ال Curren 10. How p Fairly in And derse in Moderse in Moderse in Very ac Very ac Very ac Very ac in Very ac in Ve	الله البدني؟ ? hysically active are you الملك البدني؟ ? hysically active are you ما (أمتى فقط) (homouse (walking only) ما (أمتى فقط) ( أمتى فقط) ( أمتى فقط) ( مراك من 3 مدل ضريات القلب، أقل من 3 مرات مدل مرات القلب، أقل من 3 مرات القلب، أكثر من 3 مرات ( مرات ( مرات القلب، أكثر من 3 مرات ( مرات ( مرات القلب، أكثر من 3 مرات ( م مرات ( مرات (مرات	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking للست مدخن على تشطة إلى حد غير تشطة إلى حد فير تشطة إلى حد فير تشطة إلى حد ises heat raises heartrate, less than 3 times per week) ises heart rate 3 time a week or more) imada جدا (بتكل منتظم أعمل رياضه bes your usual diet? له Low Fat / Cholesterol diet (to lower blood fat) حمية قليلة الدهن/قليلة الكرلسترول (لمحالة خفض نسبة الدهن في الدم) Other special diet please specify:
ال Curren 10. How p Fairly in Fairly in Moder: في الأسبوع) Very ac Very ac Very ac Very ac No spe No spe Veget: Weight Diabe Lows	العنه البنتي؟ (For الملكي حاليا For الملكي البنتي؟ (hysically active are you ما (أمتى فقط) (hactive (walking only) (أمتى فقط) (أمتى فقط) (من 3 مدل مريك القلب، أقل من 3 مرك مدل صريك القلب، أقل من 3 مرك مرك الناب (regularly take exercise thatra ترفع محل صريك القلب، أكثر من 3 مرك مرك (مرك الناب القلب، أكثر من 3 مرك مرك ومرك الناب (مراك العلام) ومرك القلب، أكثر من 3 مرك مرك ومرك الناب العلم مدل مريك القلب، أكثر من 3 مرك ومرك الناب العلام العلام العلم المرك العلام العلام منافى المرك العلام المرك العلام العلام من 3 مرك الناب العلم محل مريك القلب، أكثر من 3 مرك ومرك الناب العلام من 3 مرك محل مريك القلب، أكثر من 3 مرك مرك محل مريك القلب، أكثر من 3 مرك الناب العلام المركم محل مريك القلب الملح المرح الملح ملولي الملح مالح مرم ملح الملح ملح ملح الملح ملح الملح ملح ملح ملح ملح ملح ملح ملح ملح ملح	mer Smoker مدخن سابق Not smoking للبت منطق على تشطة إلى حد م غير نشطة إلى حد م فير نشطة إلى حد م فير نشطة إلى حد م فير نشطة إلى حد م نشطة بشكل متوسط (أحيانا أعمل رياضا ises heart rate 3 time a week or more) ises heart rate 3 time a week or more) imade جدا (بشكل منتظم أعمل رياضا ises <b>your usual diet?</b> bes your usual diet? الدهون إلى المعارلة خفض نسبة الدهون في الدم) other special diet, please specify: is 3 تاكم من الحمية، يرجى التحديد

University   Section of	< الهيئة الحامة للضذاء والدواء
of Glasgow Human Nutrition	Saudi Food & Drug Authority
12. Have heard about or read the following guid	elines?
هل سمت بـ أو اطلت على الألة الإرسادية التالية؟	
(1) Dietary Guidelines for Saudis: "Healthy Food Palm"	No ⊥نعم Yes ک
ً الدليل الغذائي السعودي "النخلة الغذائي ألصحية" `	Υ Υ
(2) Diet and Physical Activity strategy (DPAS)	No⊥ نبد Ves
"دليل العمل الوطني السعودي للغذاء الصبحي"	
(3) Other guidelines such as Eat Well Plate or Food Guide	Pyramidetc 🛛 Ves 🖬 🗖 No
تل "الصحن الصحي البريطاني" أو الهرم الخذائي الأمريكي" أو غيرها	لا مالكان من المالية المركبة المركبة المركبة المركبي المركبة المركبي المركبة المركبة المركبة المركبة المركبة ا
12 If yes Ave you following envene of them and what is ye	un opinion about it?
rs. 11 yes, Are you following anyone of them and what is yo جابة ينعم، هل تثبع أحد هذة الأدلة في نظامك الغذائي وماهو رأيك حولها؟	וער מאוווא אווא אווי אין אוויא אוויא אווי אין א אווי אווי אווי אין אין אווי אין אין אין
يرجى تقديم تفصيل موجز ؟	
••••••	

University   Section of of Glasgow   Human Nutrition Section 8: Anthropometric 1	n Saudi Food & Drug Authority الهيئة الحامة للخذا، والحواء Saudi Food & Drug Authority القياسات الجسمية
Do you know your body measur	هل تعرف قياساتك الجسمية؟ ?rements
نعم Yes نعم	□ № У
If yes, please indicate in th         إذا كانت الإجابة بنعم، الرجاء التحرير         أمر التحرير         أمر التحرير         weight:         ألوزن         العلول         العلول         العلول         العلول         العلي التحرير         العلول         العلول	he following boxes: سنتیم کیلوج کیلوج کیلوج مانیویز cm سنتیمتر م <i>مطو</i> مات اتصال للتواصل مستتجلا <i>interview</i> مستجلا التواصل مستجلا <i>interview</i> مستجلا <i>interview</i> مستجلا <i>interview</i> (all data will remain anonymous): الا كنت تر غبان نتواصل معد لإجراء مقابلة هاتفیة قصیرة كمتابعة لهذه الاراسة، یرجی تقدیم تفاص
نهاية الاستبيان	The End of Questionnaire
	شكر آجزيلاً لكم
	21